ABR Information Services, Inc. Form S-4 July 30, 2008 <u>Table of Contents</u>

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 30, 2008

Registration No. 333

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM S-4

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

Delaware (State or Other Jurisdiction of

Incorporation or Organization)

8742 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) 41-1981625 (I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

3311 East Old Shakopee Road

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425

(952) 853-8100

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number,

including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

Michael W. Sheridan

Executive Vice President, General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

3311 East Old Shakopee Road

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425

(615) 370-7000

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number,

including area code, of agent for service)

See Table of Additional Registrants Below

Copies to:

Todd R. Chandler, Esq.

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

767 Fifth Avenue

New York, New York 10153

(212) 310-8000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale of the securities to the public:

As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

If the securities being registered on this form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box.

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, a ccelerated filer and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer " Non-accelerated filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Accelerated filer " Smaller reporting company "

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE CHART

Title of Each Class of	A	Proposed Maximum	Proposed Maximum	A
Securities to be Registered	Amount to be Registered	Offering Price Per Unit (1)	Aggregate Offering Price (1)	Amount of Registration Fee
11 ¹ /4% Senior Notes due 2015	\$825,000,000	100%	\$825,000,000	\$32,422.50
Guarantees of 11 ¹ /4% Senior Notes due 2015				(2)
12 ¹ /4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due 2015	\$475,000,000	100%	\$475,000,000	\$18,667.50
Guarantees of 12 ¹ /4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due				
2015				(2)

(1) Estimated solely for the purposes of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(f)(2) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

(2) The Additional Registrants will guarantee the payment of the 11¹/4% Senior Notes due 2015 and the 12¹/4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due 2015. Pursuant to Rule 457(n) of the Securities Act, no separate registration fee for the guarantees is payable.

The Registrants hereby amend this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrants shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

Table of Additional Registrants

Exact Name of

Registrant as

Specified in its Charter (Or Other Organizational Document) ABR Information Services, Inc.	State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization Florida	I.R.S. Employer Identification Number (If None, Write N/A) 59-3228107	Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number 8742	Address, Including Zip Code, of Registrant s Principal Executive Offices 3201 34 th Street South	Telephone Number, Including Area Code, of Registrant s Principal Executive Offices (727) 864-3300
				St. Petersburg, FL 33711	
ABR Properties, Inc.	Florida	59-3359093	8742	3201 34 th Street South	(727) 864-3300
				St. Petersburg, FL 33711	
Ceridian Benefits Services, Inc.	Florida	59-3424469	8742	3201 34th Street South	(727) 864-3300
				St. Petersburg, FL 33711	
Ceridian Canada Holdings, Inc.	Delaware	41-1902672	8742	3311 East Old Shakopee Road	(952) 853-8100
				Minneapolis, MN 55425	
Ceridian Recruiting Solutions, Inc.	Delaware	84-1541643	8744	6300 South Syracuse Way, Suite 100, Greenwood Village, CO 80111	(303) 779-2900
Ceridian Retirement Plan Services, Inc.	California	94-2268840	8742	3201 34th Street South	(727) 864-3300
				St. Petersburg, FL 33711	
Ceridian Tax Service, Inc.	Delaware	41-1902914	8742	17390 Brookhurst Street, Suite 100	(714) 963-1311
				Fountain Valley, CA 92708	
Comdata Network, Inc.	Maryland	62-0813252	6199	5301 Maryland Way	(615) 370-7000
				Brentwood, TN 37027	
Comdata Network, Inc. of Australia	Tennessee	02-0686814	6199	5301 Maryland Way	(615) 370-7000
				Brentwood, TN 37027	
Comdata Network, Inc. of California	California	62-1455497	7389	5301 Maryland Way	(615) 370-7000
				Brentwood, TN 37027	
Comdata Processing Systems, Inc.	Delaware	41-2045710	6199	101 Bullitt Lane,	(502) 326-4600
				Suite 305	
				Louisville, KY 40222	
Comdata Stored Value Solutions, Inc.	Delaware	34-1830553	6199	101 Bullitt Lane,	(502) 326-4600
Solutions, Inc.				Suite 305	

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

				Louisville, KY 40222	
Comdata	Delaware	62-1605719	4813	5301 Maryland Way	(615) 370-7000
Telecommunications Services, Inc.					
bervices, me.				Brentwood, TN 37027	
FTB Insurance Agency, Inc.	Minnesota	74-3036452	6411	3311 East Old Shakopee Road	(952) 853-8100
				Minneapolis, MN 55425	
Intertax, Inc.	Minnesota	41-1790303	8721	13911 Ridgedale Drive	(952) 512-9000

Minnetonka, MN 55305

The name, address and telephone number of agent for service for each of the Additional Registrants is:

Michael W. Sheridan

Ceridian Corporation

3311 East Old Shakopee Road

Minneapolis, MN 55425

(615) 370-7000

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED JULY 30, 2008

PROSPECTUS

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

OFFERS TO EXCHANGE

All Outstanding

11¹/4% Senior Notes due 2015

and

 $12\,{}^1\!/\!4\,\%/13\,\%$ Senior Toggle Notes due 2015 (together the Restricted Notes)

for

11¹/4% Senior Notes due 2015

and

12¹/4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due 2015

the issuance of each of which has been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (together, the Exchange Notes and, collectively with the Restricted Notes, the notes). We refer herein to the foregoing offers to exchange together as the exchange offers.

The exchange offers will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on and absolute discretion.

, 2008, unless we extend the exchange offers in our sole

Material Terms of the Exchange Offers

The only conditions to completing the exchange offers are that the exchange offers not violate applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission, which we refer to as the SEC or the Commission; no action or proceeding shall have been instituted or threatened in any court or by any governmental agency which might materially impair our ability to proceed with the exchange offers and no material adverse development shall have occurred in any existing action or proceeding with respect to us; and all governmental approvals shall have been obtained, which approvals we deem necessary for the consummation of the exchange offers.

We will exchange all outstanding Restricted Notes that are validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to the expiration or termination of the exchange offers for an equal principal amount of the applicable Exchange Notes.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

You may withdraw tenders of Restricted Notes at any time prior to the expiration or termination of the exchange offers.

Restricted Notes may be tendered only in integral multiples of \$1,000 principal amount.

The terms of the Exchange Notes are substantially identical in all material respects to those of the applicable outstanding Restricted Notes, except that transfer restrictions, registration rights and additional interest provisions relating to the Restricted Notes do not apply to the Exchange Notes.

We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offers. **Results of the Exchange Offers**

The Exchange Notes may be sold in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions or through a combination of such methods. We do not plan to list the Exchange Notes or Restricted Notes on a national market.

All outstanding Restricted Notes not tendered will continue to be subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth in the outstanding Restricted Notes in the indenture. In general, outstanding Restricted Notes may not be offered or sold, unless registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.

Other than in connection with the exchange offers, we do not plan to register the outstanding Restricted Notes under the Securities Act.

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account pursuant to the exchange offers must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes. The letter of transmittal states that by so acknowledging and by delivering a prospectus, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by a broker-dealer in connection with resales of Exchange Notes received in exchange for Restricted Notes where such Restricted Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. We have agreed that, for a period of 90 days after the expiration date of the exchange offers, we will make this prospectus available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. See Plan of Distribution.

Consider carefully the <u>Risk Factors</u> beginning on page 15 of this prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is , 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Prospectus Summary	1
<u>Risk Factors</u>	15
Forward-Looking Statements	30
<u>The Exchange Offers</u>	31
Use of Proceeds	37
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	37
CAPITALIZATION	38
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated S tatement of Operations	39
Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data	42
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	43
Business	82
MANAGEMENT	103
Executive Compensation	108
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners	133
Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions	136
Description of Other Indebtedness	138
Description of the Notes	140
Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations	196
Plan of Distribution	197
Legal Matters	198
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	198
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	198
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-1

i

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Information regarding the market share and market position of our businesses contained in this prospectus consists of our estimates based on data and reports compiled by industry analysts and on our management sknowledge of our business and markets.

Although we believe that the third-party sources upon which we have relied are reliable, we have not independently verified market industry data provided by third parties. Similarly, while we believe our management s estimates with respect to our industry are reliable, our estimates have not been verified by any independent sources.

TRADEMARKS

We own or have the rights to various trademarks, trade names and service marks, including the following: Ceridian[®], Comchek[®], Comdata[®] and LifeWorks[®], and various logos used in association with these terms. The trademarks American Express[®], Discover[®], MasterCard[®], Visa[®], Cirrus[®] and Maestro[®] referred to in this prospectus are the registered trademarks of others.

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. It may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You should read the entire prospectus, including the section entitled Risk Factors, our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto and the other documents to which this prospectus refers, before deciding to participate in the exchange offers.

Unless otherwise noted, references to (i) Ceridian, our company, we, us and our refer to Ceridian Corporation and its direct and indirect subsidiaries; (ii) fiscal year refers to the twelve months ended December 31 of the year referenced; and (iii) pro forma means after giving effect to the Transactions (as defined under Recent Transactions) and the adjustments set forth under Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Our Company

We are a provider of outsourced processing services to a diverse customer base in a wide range of industries. We have market positions in large and growing markets and expect to benefit from the long-term trend towards outsourcing. We operate through three principal business segments, Human Resource Solutions (HRS), Stored Value Solutions (SVS) and Comdata. HRS offers a broad range of human resource (HR) outsourcing services built around a core capability of payroll processing. SVS sells stored value cards and provides card-based services primarily to retailers in the form of gift cards, credits for product returns and retail promotions. Comdata is a provider of credit and debit cards, including fuel cards and employer pay cards, and a processor of card transactions for various industries in the United States, including the transportation industry.

Our mission is to help our customers maximize the power of their people, lower their costs and focus on what they do best. We seek to accomplish this by leveraging our processing platforms and infrastructure to deliver timely, accurate and high volume transaction processing services to our customers. These capabilities have been developed over several decades and can handle additional capacity with modest incremental cost, enabling us to increase our cash flow and operating margins as we grow. By focusing on servicing our customers mission-critical needs, we have been able to develop strong, long-term customer relationships across our businesses. Our revenue retention rates and recurring transaction-based business model have provided us with a stable base of revenue.

Our Segments

Human Resource Solutions

Our HR solutions are designed to help companies more easily and effectively manage their workforce and the information integral to HR processes while reducing costs and enabling them to focus on their core businesses. We offer a broad range of HR outsourcing services built around a core capability of payroll processing. Over time we have complemented our payroll processing services by adding additional HR outsourcing services, including benefits administration and integrated health and productivity services. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, HRS generated \$1,132.5 million and \$295.5 million of revenue, respectively.

U.S. Payroll Processing, Tax Filing and Related HR Services (U.S. Payroll)

Our U.S. Payroll operating unit provides a wide range of services including payroll processing, collecting and remitting funds for payroll taxes, filing applicable returns, furnishing employee payroll checks and direct deposit advices and other related HR services. Included in our U.S. Payroll revenue is the investment income we

earn on customer funds before those funds are remitted to taxing authorities, customer employees or other third parties. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, U.S. Payroll generated \$554.6 million and \$140.2 million of revenue, respectively.

Other U.S. HRS Services

Benefits Administration Services (Benefits)

Our Benefits operating unit provides integrated employee health and welfare benefits administration services for active, former and retired employees. Benefits offers services including annual health plan enrollment, ongoing employee enrollment, benefits continuation, eligibility services and flexible spending accounts. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, Benefits generated \$140.4 million and \$32.0 million of revenue, respectively.

Work-Life, Employee Assistance, Health and Wellness and Productivity Solutions (LifeWorks)

Our LifeWorks operating unit provides fully integrated health and productivity services ranging from employee assistance programs to work-life, health coaching and absence management solutions. These services address employee effectiveness issues and seek to improve customer employee retention rates and productivity, reduce absenteeism and health care costs and enhance recruitment success. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, LifeWorks generated \$128.2 million and \$41.0 million of revenue, respectively.

Human Resource Outsourcing (HRO)

Our HRO operating unit assumes responsibility for our customers entire human resources department. HRO focuses on companies with 3,000 to 15,000 employees, providing them with a comprehensive suite of modular, fully managed HRS products. HRO revenue is reported within the U.S. Payroll, Benefits and LifeWorks operating units.

International HRS

Our International HRS operating unit is comprised of Ceridian Canada Ltd. (Ceridian Canada) and Ceridian UK Limited (Ceridian UK) and provides payroll processing services, human resource information system solutions, tax filing services (in Canada only), work-life, employee assistance programs and recruitment services. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, Ceridian UK generated \$98.3 million and \$23.5 million of revenue, respectively. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, Ceridian Canada generated \$211.0 million and \$58.8 million of revenue, respectively.

SVS

SVS is a provider and processor of stored value cards to customers principally in the retail, restaurant, airline, hospitality and entertainment, and service industries in the United States. SVS provides stored value card programs to merchants for use as gift cards, credits for returned products and retail promotions. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and three months ended March 31, 2008, SVS generated \$177.2 million and \$21.0 million of revenue, respectively.

Comdata

Comdata is a provider of credit and debit cards, including fuel cards and employer pay cards, and a processor of card transactions for various industries in the United States, including the transportation industry. We provide these services primarily through the use of our Comdata Card, a payment card with credit and debit capabilities. The Comdata Card enables companies to authenticate, authorize and control employee purchases and provide payroll and cash advances to their employees. We also provide detailed information to our customers that enables them to control their spending and secure discounts that we are able to negotiate with fuel providers. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, Comdata generated \$335.2 million and \$90.0 million of revenue, respectively.

Our Strengths

Our competitive strengths include:

Large and Growing Markets. We benefit from operating in large markets with strong and consistent historical and projected growth.

Market Positions. We believe that our size, scale and market positions will enable us to continue to capitalize on the growth within our markets.

Stable, Recurring Revenue. Our business model is predicated on providing our customers with transaction-based, core services that are recurring in nature. The services that we provide, such as enabling HRS customers to pay their employees and transportation customers to purchase fuel, are generally essential to our customers businesses. We also benefit from employers unwillingness to take risks in switching providers due to potential business interruptions and the relatively low cost of our services.

Strong Cash Flow. Our capital expenditures for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, were approximately 4% and 3% of sales, respectively. We benefit from our scalable operating platforms, which enable us to generate additional revenue with modest incremental capital investment. We expect that the strong historic retention of our revenue base along with our disciplined approach toward spending will enable us to continue generating consistent cash flow.

Well-Diversified Customer Base. We benefit from a large customer base with limited customer concentration. We believe this customer diversity reduces our reliance on any single customer.

Highly Experienced Management Team. Kathryn V. Marinello joined Ceridian as President and Chief Executive Officer in October 2006 from General Electric (GE) where she was President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Fleet Services. Since joining us, Ms. Marinello has significantly strengthened our senior management team by hiring Gregory J. Macfarlane, Perry H. Cliburn, Michael F. Shea and Kairus K. Tarapore.

Unique Private Equity/Corporate Sponsorship. We benefit from the ownership and support of Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. (THL Partners) and Fidelity National Financial, Inc. (FNF). Both THL Partners and FNF have significant experience investing in businesses similar to Ceridian. In addition to the financial expertise that THL Partners and FNF provide, FNF also brings meaningful operational expertise. FNF also brings cross-selling and distribution opportunities. We expect that THL Partners and FNF s unique combination of financial and operational expertise will continue to enable us to execute our strategic plan.

Our Strategy

Our goals are to continue to increase the value we deliver to our customers, streamline our operations and grow our business profitably. We intend to execute our goals through the following business strategies:

Capitalize on Our Market Positions. We believe our market positions will enable us to benefit from the growth opportunities available in our markets. As a payroll provider, we should benefit from the continued trend toward payroll and HR outsourcing. Accordingly, we intend to use our position to attract new customers to our core payroll business while further growing our Benefits, LifeWorks and HRO operating units. In Comdata, we will continue to expand our product offerings, services and network to increase our customer base and enable our customers to control their spending on a wider range of goods and services. In SVS, we intend to continue to grow our global market share in this industry and win large accounts that other providers may not be as well-situated to handle.

Execute U.S. HRS Operating Improvement Plan. Our U.S. HRS operating unit has specific initiatives underway to improve its margins while also improving customer service quality. With relatively lower margins than our competitors such as ADP and Paychex, Inc. and our own Ceridian Canada operating unit, we believe there is significant potential to increase U.S. HRS margins. This margin differential is largely due to a decentralized and multi-layered organization with duplicative headcounts, technology platforms and manual processes. Our operating improvement plan consists of several initiatives to significantly improve results, including workforce reduction, reduction in SG&A expenses, streamlined technology spending and business process improvements, including transferring certain processes offshore. We believe our operating improvement plan will make U.S. HRS a more efficient and streamlined business, providing better customer service and more capable of capturing the growth opportunities available in the market.

Improve Customer Service and Retention Rates. Our primary focus is on providing timely and reliable service to our customers. We believe our operating improvement plan will further enhance customer service by creating a leaner and more efficient company. For example, through more efficient work flow management, we plan to reduce our call center wait times leading to quicker and more reliable customer service. Also, we plan to streamline certain areas of our organization to place senior executives in a position to be closer and more responsive to customers and their needs. We believe that better customer service will further improve retention rates, yielding stronger revenue growth and margins.

Increase Sales through Improved Sales Force and Sales Processes and New Distribution Partners. We have executed an upgrade of our U.S. Payroll sales force by replacing underperformers with new hires. As the new sales force continues to mature, we expect new sales order improvements and better customer service. We are also targeting new sales channels by developing distribution relationships with new partners including banks, credit unions, affinity partnerships, third-party administrator networks and insurance brokers. We intend to leverage FNF s extensive relationships as part of this strategy.

Expand into Complementary Markets. We intend to expand our offering of processing services to companies and industries with similar needs as our core customers. For example, U.S. Payroll is targeting the small market segment through our newly developed Freedom product, which provides increased functionality on a web based system. In addition, we have been pursuing distribution opportunities to enable us to better reach this market. In Comdata, we plan to continue expansion by offering processing services to industries such as aviation and construction that have similar needs as our core transportation customers. In SVS, we are also seeking to grow our international presence by selling stored value cards to existing customers with international operations and foreign locations.

Cross-Sell Our Products. Historically, our business segments, and even the operating units within HRS, have operated as stand-alone operations with little cross-selling. We have begun to focus on more effective

selling of our services across the customer bases of our operating units. We believe that effectively cross-selling our service offerings will strengthen our relationships with existing customers, help us attract new customers and increase our revenue growth and profitability.

Recent Transactions

On November 9, 2007, affiliates of THL Partners and FNF (together, the Sponsors) and their co-investors acquired all the outstanding equity of Ceridian. Under the terms of the agreement, the Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired the equity of Ceridian for \$36.00 per share or a total equity purchase price of approximately \$5.3 billion (the Acquisition). Prior to the Acquisition, Ceridian s common stock was listed on the New York Stock Exchange (CEN).

The Acquisition, including related fees and expenses, was financed through (i) \$346.7 million of available cash on hand, (ii) \$2,250.0 million of borrowings under a senior secured term loan facility (together with a revolving facility providing for borrowings up to \$300.0 million, the senior secured credit facilities), (iii) \$1,300.0 million of senior notes and (iv) an equity investment of approximately \$1,600.0 million by the Sponsors and their co-investors. The Acquisition, the related financing (including the issuance of the Restricted Notes) and the application of proceeds therefrom are referred to herein as the Transactions.

The following chart summarizes our corporate structure and principal indebtedness.

- (1) Foundation Holdings, Inc. guarantees the credit facilities, but not the notes.
- (2) Represents the sum of cash equity investments of approximately \$1,600.0 million made by the Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management.
- (3) Subsequent to the Acquisition, during the fourth quarter of 2007 and first quarter of 2008, certain of our employees purchased an aggregate of approximately \$2.5 million of the common stock of our parent, Ceridian Holding, and approximately \$0.6 million of the preferred stock of our intermediate holding company, Ceridian Intermediate.
- (4) Our senior secured credit facilities provide for a \$300.0 million revolving credit facility. As of March 31, 2008, no amounts were outstanding under the revolving credit facility.
- (5) The non-U.S. subsidiaries of Ceridian do not guarantee the notes due to the adverse tax consequences of non-U.S. subsidiaries providing guarantees of indebtedness of U.S. entities. In addition, subsidiaries that are

not directly or indirectly wholly owned by Ceridian or that are not otherwise required to guarantee the senior secured credit facilities do not guarantee the notes. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, the subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes accounted for approximately \$314.7 million and \$84.9 million of our total revenue, respectively. As of March 31, 2008, the subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes accounted for approximately \$2,105.8 million of our total assets, and approximately \$1,448.1 million of our total liabilities.

The Sponsors

The acquisition of Ceridian marks the third investment partnership between THL Partners and FNF. THL Partners and FNF have partnered together in the past, co-investing in Sedgwick CMS, a North American provider of innovative claims and productivity management solutions, and Fidelity National Information Services, Inc. (FIS), a provider of core financial institution processing, card issuer and transaction processing services. THL Partners and FNF believe that their partnerships have been successful due to the unique combination of financial and operational expertise provided by THL Partners and FNF, respectively. In acquiring Ceridian, the Sponsors are continuing to build upon this unique private equity/strategic investment partnership.

THL Partners

THL Partners is one of the oldest and most successful private equity firms in the United States and currently manages approximately \$20 billion of committed capital. Since its founding in 1974, THL Partners has become the pre-eminent growth buyout firm, investing approximately \$12 billion of equity capital in more than 100 businesses with an aggregate purchase price of more than \$125 billion, completing more than 200 add-on acquisitions for portfolio companies and generating superior returns for its investors and partners. THL Partners identifies and acquires substantial ownership positions in large growth-oriented companies through acquisitions, recapitalizations and direct investments. THL Partners invests in companies with leading market positions, proven and experienced management teams, recognized brand names and well-defined business plans, which include opportunities for growth and expansion in their core and related businesses. THL Partners has had recent successes in business services, through its investments in The Nielsen Company (formerly VNU), West Corporation, Experian, FIS and Sedgwick CMS.

Fidelity National Financial

FNF is a provider of title insurance, specialty insurance, claims management services and information services. FNF is one of the nation s largest title insurance companies through its title underwriters Fidelity National Title, Chicago Title, Ticor, Ticor Title, Security Union Title and Alamo Title that issue approximately 27% of all title insurance polices in the United States. FNF also provides flood insurance, personal lines insurance and home warranty insurance through its specialty insurance business. FNF also is a provider of outsourced claims management services to large corporate and public sector entities through its minority-owned subsidiary, Sedgwick CMS. FNF is also a leading information services company in the human resource, retail and transportation markets through another minority-owned subsidiary, Ceridian Corporation. FNF generated revenue of approximately \$5.5 billion in 2007 and has a current market capitalization of approximately \$2.7 billion as of July 25, 2008.

FNF has a consistent track record of managing business transformation and achieving significant cost synergies in past acquisitions. FNF acquired Alltel Information Services, a business similar to Ceridian, in 2003 and used it as the cornerstone in building FIS, a company with an approximate \$3.9 billion market capitalization as of July 25, 2008. We believe that FNF will provide valuable expertise in executing our cost savings and technology strategies.

Our Executive Offices

Our principal executive offices are located at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425, and our telephone number at that address is (952) 853-8100. Our web site is located at *www.ceridian.com*. The information on our web site is not part of this prospectus.

Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Offers

On November 9, 2007, in connection with the Transactions, we completed the private offering of \$825,000,000 aggregate principal amount of $11^{1}/4\%$ Senior Notes due 2015 (the Senior Cash Pay Restricted Notes) and \$475,000,000 aggregate principal amount of $\sqrt[1]{2\%}/13\%$ Senior Toggle Notes due 2015 (the Senior Toggle Restricted Notes and, together with the Senior Cash Pay Restricted Notes, the Restricted Notes). We refer to the issuance of the Restricted Notes in this prospectus as the original issuance. The initial purchasers of the Restricted Notes in the original issuance were Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Banc of America Securities LLC.

At the time of the original issuance, we entered into a registration rights agreement with the initial purchasers of the Restricted Notes in which we agreed to, among other things, complete exchange offers for the Restricted Notes. We refer to the Senior Cash Pay Exchange Notes and the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes (each as defined below) as the Exchange Notes. You are entitled to exchange your Restricted Notes in the exchange offers for Exchange Notes with identical terms, except that the Exchange Notes will have been registered under the Securities Act and will not bear legends restricting their transfer. Unless you are a broker-dealer or unable to participate in the exchange offers, we believe that the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offers may be resold by you without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act. You should read the discussions under the headings The Exchange Offers and Description of the Notes for further information regarding the Exchange Notes.

Registration Rights Agreement	Under the registration rights agreement, we are obligated to offer to exchange the Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes with substantially identical terms. The exchange offers are intended to satisfy that obligation. After the exchange offers are complete you will no longer be entitled to any exchange or registration rights with respect to your Restricted Notes.
The Exchange Offers	We are offering to exchange up to:
	$$825,000,000$ aggregate principal amount of $11^{1}/4\%$ Senior Exchange Notes due 2015 (the Senior Cash Pay Exchange Notes and, together with the Senior Cash Pay Restricted Notes, the Senior Cash Pay Notes); and
	\$475,000,000 aggregate principal amount of $12^{1}/4\%/13\%$ Senior Toggle Exchange Notes due 2015 (the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes and, together with the Senior Toggle Restricted Notes, the Senior Toggle Notes)
	for a like principal amount of the respective Restricted Notes to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement.
	In order to be exchanged, Restricted Notes must be properly tendered and accepted. All Restricted Notes that are validly tendered and not validly withdrawn will be accepted and exchanged.
	We will issue the Exchange Notes promptly after the expiration of the exchange offers.

Resales of the Exchange Notes	We believe that the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offers may be offered for resale, resold and otherwise transferred by you without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act if, but only if, you meet the following conditions:
	the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers are acquired in the ordinary course of your business;
	at the time of the commencement of the exchange offers you have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers in violation of the Securities Act;
	you are not our affiliate, as that term is defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act);
	if you are a broker-dealer, you are not engaging in, and do not intend to engage in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers;
	if you are a participating broker-dealer that will receive Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for the Restricted Notes that were acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities, that you will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes; and
	you are not acting on behalf of any persons or entities who could not truthfully make the foregoing representations.
	Our belief is based on interpretations by the staff of the SEC, as set forth in no-action letters issued to third parties unrelated to us. The staff has not considered the exchange offers in the context of a no-action letter, and we cannot assure you that the staff would make a similar determination with respect to the exchange offers.
	If you do not meet the above conditions, you may not participate in the exchange offers or sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any Restricted Notes unless (i) they have been registered for resale by you under the Securities Act and you deliver a resale prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act or (ii) you sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Exchange Notes in accordance with an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.
	Each broker-dealer that received Exchange Notes in the exchange offers for its own account in exchange for Restricted Notes that were acquired by that broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any of its results of those Exchange Notes. A broker-dealer may use this prospectus to offer to resell, resell or otherwise

offer to resell, resell or otherwise

Table of Contents	
	transfer those Exchange Notes. See Plan of Distribution. A broker- dealer may use this prospectus for an offer to resell or to otherwise transfer those Exchange Notes for a period of 90 days after the expiration of the exchange offers.
Expiration Date	The exchange offers will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on , 2008, unless we decide to extend the exchange offers. We do not intend to extend the exchange offers, although we reserve the right to do so. If we determine to extend the exchange offers, we do not intend to extend it beyond , 2008.
Conditions to the Exchange Offers	The only conditions to completing the exchange offers are that:
	the exchange offers do not violate applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the SEC;
	no action or proceeding shall have been instituted or threatened in any court or by any governmental agency which might materially impair our ability to proceed with the exchange offers, and no material adverse development shall have occurred in any existing action or proceeding with respect to us; and
	all governmental approvals shall have been obtained, which approvals we deem necessary for the consummation of the exchange offers.
	See The Exchange Offers Conditions.
Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes	Except as described in the section titled The Exchange Offers Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes, a tendering holder must, on or prior to the expiration date, transmit an agent s message to the exchange agent at the address listed in this prospectus. In order for your tender to be considered valid, the exchange agent must receive a confirmation of book entry transfer of your Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at The Depository Trust Company (DTC) prior to the expiration or termination of the exchange offers.
Special Procedures for Beneficial Owner	If you are the beneficial owner of Restricted Notes and they are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, and you wish to tender your Restricted Notes, you should promptly contact the person in whose name your Restricted Notes are registered and instruct that person to tender on your behalf. Any registered holder that is a participant in DTC s book-entry transfer facility system may make book-entry delivery of the Restricted Notes by causing DTC to transfer the Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account.
Acceptance of Restricted Notes and Delivery of Exchange Notes	Except under the circumstances described above under Conditions to the Exchange Offers, we will accept for exchange any and all Restricted Notes which are properly tendered in the exchange offers

Table of Contents	
	prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. The Restricted Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers will be delivered promptly following the expiration date. See The Exchange Offers Terms of the Exchange Offers.
Withdrawal	You may withdraw the tender of your Restricted Notes at any time prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. We will return to you any Restricted Notes not accepted for exchange for any reason without expense to you as promptly as we can after the expiration or termination of the exchange offers.
Use of Proceeds	We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offers.
Exchange Agent	Wells Fargo Bank, National Association is serving as the exchange agent in connection with the exchange offers.
Consequences of Failure to Exchange	If you do not participate in the exchange offers, upon completion of the exchange offers, the liquidity of the market for your Restricted Notes could be adversely affected. See The Exchange Offers Consequences of Failing to Exchange Restricted Notes.
Federal Income Tax Consequences	The exchange of Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes will not be a taxable event for federal income tax purposes. See Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.

Summary of the Terms of the Exchange Notes

The following summary contains basic information about the Restricted Notes and is not intended to be complete. It does not contain all the information that is important to you. For a more complete understanding of the Exchange Notes, please refer to the section of this prospectus entitled Description of the Notes.

Issuer	Ceridian Corporation.
Exchange Notes Offered	\$1,300,000,000 of Exchange Notes, comprised of \$825,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 11 ¹ /4% Senior Notes due 2015 and \$475,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 12 ¹ /4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due 2015.
Maturity	The Exchange Notes will mature on November 15, 2015.
Interest	Interest on the Senior Cash Pay Exchange Notes will accrue in cash at a rate of 11 ¹ /4% per annum.
For any interest payment prior to November 15, 201	1, we may elect to pay interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes, at our option either (i)

For any interest payment prior to November 15, 2011, we may elect to pay interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes, at our option either (i) entirely in cash (cash interest), (ii) entirely by increasing the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes (PIK interest) or (iii) by paying half of the interest on the principal amount of Senior Toggle Exchange Notes in cash interest and half in PIK interest. After November 15, 2011, all interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will be payable in cash. Cash interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will accrue at a rate of 12¹/4% per annum, and PIK interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will accrue at a rate of 13% per annum. If we elect to pay PIK interest, we will increase the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes in an amount equal to the amount of PIK interest for the applicable interest payment period (rounded up to the nearest \$1,000 in the case of global notes) due to holders of Senior Toggle Exchange Notes on the relevant record date. The Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will bear interest on the increased principal amount thereof from and after the applicable interest payment date on which a payment of PIK interest is made. We must elect the form of interest payment for the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes with respect to each interest period prior to the beginning of the applicable interest period. In the absence of such an election or proper notification of such election to the trustee, interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will be in the form specified in the most recent interest election we delivered.

Interest on the Exchange Notes will be payable on May 15 and November 15 of each year.

Original Issue Discount

We have the option to pay interest on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes in cash interest or PIK interest. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, the existence of this option means that none of the interest payments on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will be qualified stated interest even if we never exercise the option to pay interest in

<u></u>	
	the form of PIK interest. Consequently, the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes will be treated as issued with original issue discount and U.S. holders will be required to include such discount in gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes in advance of the receipt of cash payments on the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes. See Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations.
Guarantees	The Exchange Notes will be guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior, unsecured basis by ABR Information Services, Inc., ABR Properties, Inc., Ceridian Benefits Services, Inc., Ceridian Canada Holdings, Inc., Ceridian Recruiting Solutions, Inc., Ceridian Retirement Plan Services, Inc., Ceridian Tax Service, Inc., Comdata Network, Inc., Comdata Network, Inc., of California, Comdata Processing Systems, Inc., Comdata Stored Value Solutions, Inc., Intertax, Inc. and each of our future subsidiaries who guarantee the Exchange Notes pursuant to the terms of the indenture.
Ranking	The Exchange Notes will be our unsecured senior obligations and will:
	rank senior in right of payment to our future debt and other obligations that are, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Exchange Notes;
	rank equally in right of payment to all of our existing and future debt and other obligations that are not, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Exchange Notes; and
	be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt, and be structurally subordinated to all obligations of each of our subsidiaries that is not a guarantor of the Exchange Notes.
	Similarly, the guarantees of the Exchange Notes will be senior unsecured obligations of the guarantors and will:
	rank senior in right of payment to all of the applicable guarantor s future debt and other obligations that are, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Exchange Notes;
	rank equally in right of payment to all of the applicable guarantor s existing and future debt and other obligations that are not, by their terms, expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Exchange Notes; and
	be effectively subordinated in right of payment to all of the applicable guarantor s existing and future secured debt, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt, and be structurally subordinated to all obligations of any subsidiary of a guarantor if that subsidiary is not also a guarantor of the notes.

Table of Contents	
	As of March 31, 2008, we had \$2,250.0 million of secured debt, excluding up to \$300.0 million available to borrow under our senior secured revolving facility, to which the Exchange Notes would be effectively subordinated and that our subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the Exchange Notes had liabilities of \$1,448.1 million.
Optional Redemption	Prior to November 15, 2011, we may redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount plus an applicable make-whole premium (as described in Description of the Notes Optional Redemption) plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. Beginning on November 15, 2011, we may redeem some or all of the Exchange Notes at the redemption prices listed under Description of the Notes Optional Redemption plus accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date.
Optional Redemption After Certain Equity Offerings	At any time (which may be more than once) until November 15, 2010, we can choose to redeem up to 35% of the outstanding notes of either series with money that we raise in certain equity offerings, so long as:
	we pay 111.25% of the face amount of the Senior Cash Pay Exchange Notes or 112.25% of the face amount of the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes, as applicable, plus accrued and unpaid interest;
	we redeem the Exchange Notes within 180 days of completing such equity offering; and
	at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the applicable series of Exchange Notes remains outstanding afterwards.
Change of Control Offer	If we experience a change in control, we must give holders of the Exchange Notes the opportunity to sell us their notes at 101% of their face amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
	We might not be able to pay you the required price for Exchange Notes you present to us at the time of a change of control, because we might not have enough funds at that time.
Asset Sale Proceeds	If we or our subsidiaries engage in asset sales, we generally must either invest the net cash proceeds from such sales in our business within a period of time, prepay senior debt or make an offer to purchase a principal amount of the Exchange Notes equal to the excess net cash proceeds. The purchase price of the Exchange Notes will be 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Certain Covenants	The indenture governing the Exchange Notes contains covenants, including, among others, covenants limiting our ability and the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to:
	incur additional debt or enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

pay dividends or distributions on our capital stock or repurchase our capital stock;

issue stock of subsidiaries;

make certain investments;

create liens on our assets;

enter into transactions with affiliates;

incur restrictions on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or to make other payments to us;

merge or consolidate with another company; and

transfer and sell assets.

These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. Risk Factors

Investing in the Exchange Notes involves a high degree of risk. Please see Risk Factors immediately following this summary for a discussion of risks relating to an investment in the Exchange Notes and participation in the exchange offers.

RISK FACTORS

Participating in the exchange offers and investing in the notes involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this prospectus, before making your decision to participate in the exchange offers or invest in the notes. Any of the following risks, as well as other risks and uncertainties, could harm the value of the notes directly, or our business and financial results and thus indirectly cause the value of the notes to decline. The risks described below are not the only ones that could impact our company or the value of the notes. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. As a result of any of these risks, known or unknown, you may lose all or part of your investment in the notes.

Risks Related to the Notes

Our substantial indebtedness could adversely affect our operations and your investment in the notes.

As a result of the Transactions, we have a significant amount of indebtedness. As of March 31, 2008, we had outstanding total indebtedness of approximately \$3,551.4 million. In addition, as of March 31, 2008, we had available \$300.0 million of additional borrowing capacity under our senior secured revolving credit facility.

Our substantial level of indebtedness and other financial obligations increase the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay, when due, the principal of, interest on, or other amounts due, in respect of our indebtedness, including the notes. Our substantial debt could also have other significant consequences. For example, it could:

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic, competitive and industry conditions;

limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate purposes or other purposes on satisfactory terms or at all;

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of our indebtedness, thereby reducing the funds available to us for operations and any future business opportunities;

expose us to the risk of increased interest rates as certain of our borrowings, including borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities, which are at variable rates of interest;

restrict us from making strategic acquisitions or cause us to make non-strategic divestitures;

limit our planning flexibility for, or ability to react to, changes in our business and the industries in which we operate;

limit our ability to adjust to changing market conditions; and

place us at a competitive disadvantage with competitors who may have less indebtedness and other obligations or greater access to financing.

If we fail to make any required payment under our senior secured credit facilities or to comply with any of the financial and operating covenants included in the senior secured credit facilities, we will be in default. Lenders under such facilities could then vote to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and foreclose upon our and our subsidiaries assets securing such indebtedness. Other creditors might then accelerate other indebtedness. If any of our creditors accelerate the maturity of their indebtedness, we may not have sufficient assets to satisfy our obligations

under the senior secured credit facilities or our other indebtedness, including the notes offered hereby.

Despite current indebtedness levels, we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur substantially more debt. This could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial leverage.

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. Although the indenture governing the notes offered hereby and our senior secured credit facilities contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, these restrictions are subject to a number of qualifications and exceptions, and the indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial. For example, we have up to \$300.0 million of borrowings available under our senior secured revolving credit facility. In addition, we may, at our option subject to certain conditions, increase the senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$300.0 million. Any additional borrowings would be effectively senior to the notes and the related guarantees to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness. Moreover the indenture governing the notes offered hereby does not impose any limitation on our incurrence of liabilities that are not considered indebtedness under the indenture, and does not impose any limitation on liabilities incurred by our subsidiaries, if any, that might be designated as unrestricted subsidiaries. If we incur additional debt above the levels in effect upon the closing of the Transactions, the risks associated with our substantial leverage would increase.

Our ability to generate the significant amount of cash needed to pay interest and principal on the notes and service our other debt and financial obligations and our ability to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness or obtain additional financing depends on many factors beyond our control.

Our ability to make payments on and refinance our debt, including the notes, amounts borrowed under our senior secured credit facilities and other financial obligations, and to fund our operations will depend on our ability to generate substantial operating cash flow. Our cash flow generation will depend on our future performance, which will be subject to prevailing economic conditions and to financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

Our business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations and future borrowings may not be available to us under our senior secured credit facilities or otherwise in amounts sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness, including the notes and borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities or to fund our other liquidity needs. If we cannot service our debt, we will have to take actions such as reducing or delaying capital investments, selling assets, restructuring or refinancing our debt or seeking additional equity capital. Any of these remedies may not, if necessary, be effected on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Also, the indenture governing the notes and the credit agreement for our senior secured credit facilities may restrict us from adopting any of these alternatives. In addition, the customer funds held by us in trust or otherwise, which are reflected as assets on our balance sheet, may not be legally available to service our indebtedness and fund our other liquidity needs. Because of these and other factors beyond our control, we may be unable to pay the principal, premium, if any, interest or other amounts on the notes.

The notes are effectively subordinated to our secured indebtedness.

The indenture governing the notes permits us to incur certain secured indebtedness, including indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities is secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets, including pledges of all or a portion of the capital stock of our subsidiaries. The notes are unsecured and are, therefore, effectively subordinated to our secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness. Accordingly, if we or a subsidiary guarantor are involved in a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding or upon a default in payment on, or the acceleration of, any indebtedness will be available to pay obligations on the notes only after all indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other notes only after all indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness under our senior secured credit facilities or other secured indebtedness will be available to pay obligations on the notes only after all indebtedness remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the notes then outstanding. As of March 31, 2008, we had secured indebtedness of \$2,250.0 million under our senior secured credit facilities, and \$1.4 million of capital lease obligations. In addition, as of March 31, 2008, we had available \$300.0 million of additional borrowing capacity under our senior secured revolving credit facilities.

The notes are structurally subordinated to the liabilities of our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes. Your right to receive payments on the notes could be adversely affected if any of our non-guarantor subsidiaries or less than wholly-owned subsidiaries declare bankruptcy, liquidate or reorganize.

Not all of our subsidiaries guarantee the notes. As a result, the notes are also structurally subordinated to all existing and future obligations, including indebtedness, of our subsidiaries that do not guarantee the notes, and the claims of creditors of these subsidiaries, including trade creditors, will have priority as to the assets of these subsidiaries. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of our non-guarantor subsidiaries, holders of their indebtedness and their trade and other creditors will generally be entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of those subsidiaries before any assets are made available for distribution to us and in turn to our creditors.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, the non-guarantor subsidiaries accounted for approximately \$314.7 million and \$84.9 million of our total revenue, respectively. As of March 31, 2008, the non-guarantor subsidiaries accounted for approximately \$2,105.8 million, or 20.2%, of our total assets, and approximately \$1,448.1 million, or 16.1%, of our total liabilities.

If a bankruptcy petition were filed by or against us, you may receive a lesser amount for your claim than you would be entitled to receive under the indenture governing the notes.

If a bankruptcy petition were filed by or against us under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code after the issuance of the notes, the claim by any holder of the notes for the principal amount of the notes may be limited to an amount equal to the sum of:

the original issue price for the notes; and

that portion of the original issue discount that does not constitute un-matured interest for purposes of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Any original issue discount that was not amortized as of the date of the bankruptcy filing would constitute un-matured interest. Accordingly, holders of the notes under these circumstances may receive a lesser amount than they would be entitled to under the terms of the indenture governing the notes, even if sufficient funds are available.

Restrictive covenants in the senior secured credit facilities and the indenture may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.

Our senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes offered hereby contain a number of restrictive covenants that impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and may limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term best interests. These agreements governing our indebtedness include covenants restricting, among other things, our ability to:

incur or guarantee additional debt or issue certain preferred stock;

pay dividends or make distributions on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock, subordinated debt and certain other debt;

make certain investments;

create liens on our or our subsidiary guarantors assets to secure debt;

create restrictions on the payment of dividends or other amounts to us from our restricted subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the notes;

make capital expenditures;

enter into transactions with affiliates;

merge or consolidate with another person or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets;

sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries;

alter the business that we conduct; and

designate our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

If we fail to make any required payment under our senior secured credit facilities or to comply with any of the covenants included in the senior secured credit facilities, we will be in default. Lenders under such facilities could then vote to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and foreclose upon our and our subsidiaries assets securing such indebtedness. Other creditors might then accelerate other indebtedness. If any of our creditors accelerate the maturity of their indebtedness, we may not have sufficient assets to satisfy our obligations under the senior secured credit facilities or our other indebtedness, including the notes offered hereby. In addition, a default under the indenture governing the notes would cause a default under the indenture governing the notes (assuming the amount of that debt is in excess of \$50.0 million). The lenders under our senior secured credit facilities also have the right upon an event of default thereunder to terminate any commitments they have to provide further borrowings. Further, following an event of default under our senior secured credit facilities, the lenders under such facilities or the notes offered hereby were to be accelerated to them to secure that debt. If the debt under our senior secured credit facilities, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full that debt or any other debt that may become due as a result of that acceleration.

Notwithstanding the restrictions on our ability to pay dividends, redeem or purchase capital stock and make certain other restricted payments, the indenture governing the notes allows us to make significant restricted payments in certain circumstances. See Description of the Notes Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments and Covenant Suspension.

We may not be able to fulfill our repurchase obligations in the event of a change of control.

Upon the occurrence of any change of control, we will be required to make a change of control offer to repurchase the notes at a price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of repurchase. Any change of control also would constitute a default under our senior secured credit facilities. Therefore, upon the occurrence of a change of control, the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities. Also, our senior secured credit facilities generally prohibit us from purchasing any notes if we do not repay all borrowings under such facilities first or obtain the consent of the lenders under such facilities. Accordingly, unless we first repay all such borrowings or obtain the consent of such lenders, we will be prohibited from purchasing the notes upon a change of control.

In addition, if a change of control occurs, there can be no assurance that we will have available funds sufficient to pay the change of control purchase price for any of the notes that might be delivered by holders of the notes seeking to accept the change of control offer and, accordingly, none of the holders of the notes may receive the change of control purchase price for their notes. Our failure to make the change of control offer or to pay the change of control purchase price with respect to the notes when due would result in a default under the indenture governing the notes. See Description of the Notes Events of Default and Remedies.

Federal and state statutes allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and require note holders to return payments received from guarantors.

Under the federal bankruptcy law and comparable provisions of state fraudulent transfer laws, a guarantee could be voided, or claims in respect of a guarantee could be subordinated to all other debts of that guarantor if, among other things, the guarantor, at the time it incurred the indebtedness evidenced by its guarantee:

intended to hinder, delay or defraud creditors; or

received less than reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for the incurrence of such guarantee; and

was insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of such incurrence; or

was engaged in a business or transaction for which the guarantor s remaining assets constituted unreasonably small capital; or

intended to incur, or believed that it would incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature. In addition, any payment by that guarantor pursuant to its guarantee could be voided and required to be returned to the guarantor, or to a fund for the benefit of the creditors of the guarantor.

The measures of insolvency for purposes of these fraudulent transfer laws will vary depending upon the law applied in any proceeding to determine whether a fraudulent transfer has occurred. Generally, however, a guarantor would be considered insolvent if:

the sum of its debts, including contingent liabilities, was greater than the then fair saleable value of all of its assets; or

if the present fair saleable value of its assets was less than the amount that would be required to pay its probable liability on its existing debts, including contingent liabilities, as they become absolute and mature; or

it could not pay its debts as they become due.

We believe that each guarantor, after giving effect to its guarantee of each series of notes, was not insolvent, did not have unreasonably small capital for the business in which it is engaged and did not have incurred debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as they mature. There can be no assurance, however, as to what standard a court would apply in making such determinations or that a court would agree with our or any guarantor s conclusions in this regard.

You will be required to pay U.S. federal income tax on the senior toggle notes even if we do not pay cash interest.

None of the interest payments on the Senior Toggle Notes will be qualified stated interest for U.S. federal income tax purposes, even if we never exercise the option to pay PIK interest, because the Senior Toggle Notes provide us with the option to pay cash interest or PIK interest for any interest payment period through November 15, 2011. Consequently, the Senior Toggle Notes will be treated as issued with original issue discount (OID) for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and U.S. holders will be required to include the OID in gross income on a constant yield to maturity basis, regardless of whether interest is paid currently in cash and regardless of their regular method of tax accounting.

We will only be entitled to deduct a portion of any interest or OID on the Senior Toggle Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and only at such time as such interest or OID is considered paid in cash.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

The Senior Toggle Notes constitute applicable high yield discount obligations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As such, any interest deductions with respect to any OID relating to the Senior Toggle Notes will be deferred until paid in cash, and will be disallowed to the extent the yield to maturity on the Senior Toggle Notes

exceeds six percentage points over the applicable federal rate (as determined under the Internal Revenue Code) in effect for the calendar month in which the Senior Toggle Notes were issued. The deferral and disallowance of deductions for payments of interest or OID on the Senior Toggle Notes will reduce the amount of cash available to us to meet our obligations under the notes.

Risks Relating to the Exchange Offers

Your Restricted Notes will not be accepted for exchange if you fail to follow the exchange offers procedures.

We will not accept your Restricted Notes for exchange if you do not follow the exchange offers procedures. We will issue Exchange Notes as part of the exchange offers only after a timely receipt of your Restricted Notes, a properly completed and duly executed letter of transmittal and all other required documents. Therefore, if you wish to tender your Restricted Notes, please allow sufficient time to ensure timely delivery. If we do not receive your Restricted Notes, letter of transmittal and other required documents by the time of expiration of the exchange offers, we will not accept your Restricted Notes for exchange. We are under no duty to give notification of defects or irregularities with respect to the tenders of Restricted Notes for exchange. If there are defects or irregularities with respect to your tender of Restricted Notes, we will not accept your Restricted Notes for exchange.

If you do not exchange your Restricted Notes, there will be restrictions on your ability to resell your Restricted Notes.

Following the exchange offers, Restricted Notes that you do not tender or that we do not accept will be subject to transfer restrictions. Absent registration, any untendered Restricted Notes may therefore be offered or sold only in transactions that are not subject to, or that are exempt from, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws.

An active trading market may not develop for these notes.

Each series of Exchange Notes are new issue of securities, and there is no established trading market for the Exchange Notes. We do not intend to apply to list the notes for trading on any securities exchange or to arrange for quotation on any automated dealer quotation system. As a result of this and the other factors listed below, an active trading market for the Exchange Notes may not develop, in which case the market price and liquidity of the Exchange Notes may be adversely affected.

In addition, you may not be able to sell your Exchange Notes at a particular time or at a price favorable to you. Future trading prices of the Exchange Notes will depend on many factors, including:

our operating performance and financial condition;

our prospects or the prospects for companies in our industry generally;

our ability to complete the exchange offers;

the interest of securities dealers in making a market in the notes;

the market for similar securities;

prevailing interest rates; and

the other factors described in this prospectus under Risk Factors.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Historically, the market for non-investment grade debt has been subject to disruptions that have caused volatility in prices. It is possible that the market for the Exchange Notes will be subject to disruptions. A disruption may have a negative effect on you as a holder of the Exchange Notes, regardless of our prospects or performance.

Risks Relating to our Business and our Industry

Our ability to implement and execute our strategic plans may not be successful and, accordingly, we may not be successful in achieving our strategic goals.

We may not be successful in developing and implementing our strategic plans for our businesses or the operational plans that have been or need to be developed to implement the strategic plans may not produce the revenue, margins, earnings or synergies that we need to be successful. In addition, these strategic plans and operational plans need to continue to be assessed and reassessed to meet the challenges and needs of our businesses in order for us to remain competitive. Further, the execution of the strategic plans will, to some extent, be dependent on external factors that we cannot control.

We may not realize the anticipated cost savings related to our U.S. HRS operating improvement plan pursuant to the anticipated timetable or at all. We also cannot assure you that we will not exceed one-time costs associated with implementing our cost savings initiatives.

We have specific initiatives underway to improve margins in our U.S. HRS business. The operating improvement plan consists of several initiatives to significantly improve results including workforce reduction, SG&A spending rationalization, streamlined technology spending and business process improvements. The success of our U.S. HRS operating improvement plan will depend on our ability to realize anticipated cost savings. In addition, we estimate that this cost savings plan will require us to incur approximately \$50 million in one-time costs by the end of 2008. Our ability to successfully realize cost savings and the timing of any realization may be affected by a variety of factors including, without limitation, our ability to reduce our purchasing expenditures, consolidate and integrate our information technology infrastructure and otherwise execute our plan, retain personnel necessary to execute our plan, respond to negative customer or supplier reactions to our plan, extend our offshoring programs and reduce other SG&A expenses. The one-time costs associated with implementing our U.S. HRS operating improvement plan may exceed the anticipated amounts. We may not achieve the anticipated cost savings and we may not achieve the cost savings within the time we currently expect.

Economic and governmental factors may adversely affect our business and operating results.

Economic conditions, trade, monetary and fiscal policies and governmental regulations may substantially change, with corresponding impacts on the industries that we serve. Changing overall economic conditions could affect:

interest rates, with a corresponding impact on investment income from invested customer funds which are held pending remittance to taxing authorities, customer employees and other third parties;

decreased employment levels, as well as slowed economic conditions, could negatively affect wage and bonus payments, orders and the timing of product installations, and negatively impact the operating results of our HRS business;

fuel prices, with falling fuel prices negatively impacting Comdata s revenue and rising fuel prices increasing the working capital requirements and subjecting Comdata to greater credit or bad debt risks with respect to its customers that purchase fuel using a Comdata payment method; and

the level of activity in the transportation and retail industries impacting the respective revenues of Comdata and SVS. Changes in or the elimination of governmental regulations may adversely affect our revenue and earnings and the way in which we conduct our business. Changes in governmental regulations are difficult to predict and could be significant. For example, the timing and amount of remittances associated with the investment of customer funds, a reduction in the period of time we are allowed to hold remittances as well as the amount of such remittances, may decrease our revenue and earnings. As another example, the extent and type of benefits

that employers are required to or may choose to provide to employees and/or the amount and type of federal or state taxes employers and employees are required to pay will affect the revenue and earnings associated with the products or services that we may sell. As a third example, Comdata is currently licensed on the state level by the banking or financial institutions departments of numerous states. Continued licensing by these states is subject to ongoing satisfaction of compliance requirements regarding safety and soundness. Changes in this regulatory environment, including the implementation of new or varying measures by the government, may significantly affect or change the manner in which we currently conduct some of the aspects of our business. Regulatory changes may also restrict or eliminate present and future business opportunities available to us.

If we are unable to respond to changing economic factors and timely and appropriately comply with existing or changed government regulations, there may be an adverse affect on our financial results and we may be subject to injunctions, other sanctions and the payment of fines and penalties.

Our future revenue and revenue growth will depend on our ability to retain our existing customers, sell additional products and services to our existing customers, introduce new or enhanced products and services and attract and retain new customers.

Customer retention is an important factor in the amount and predictability of revenue in each of our businesses. Our ability to retain our customers depends on a number of factors, including:

customer satisfaction;

new product and service offerings;

customer service levels;

price;

customer viability; and

competition. We expect that a portion of our anticipated future revenue growth may be derived from:

price increases;

the continued selling of products and services to our existing customers;

the selling of additional products and services to our existing customers;

the successful introduction of new or enhanced products and services by our businesses, and the adoption and use of such new or enhanced products and services by customers;

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

the selling of products and services to new customers; and

acquisitions of complementary businesses.

Our ability to retain existing customers, attract new customers and grow revenue will depend on a variety of factors, including:

customer willingness to accept any price increases;

the quality and perceived value of our product and service offerings by existing and new customers;

effective sales and marketing efforts;

our speed to market and avoidance of difficulties or delays in development of new products and services;

the level of market acceptance of new products and services;

actions or reactions of our competitors;

our ability to integrate technology into our products and services to avoid obsolescence and provide scalability;

the successful implementation of products and services for new and existing customers;

the regulatory needs and requirements facing us and our customers; and

our ability to meet increased customer regulatory requirements, including our customers that are governmental agencies or entities. There can be no assurance that we will achieve our revenue objectives from our up-selling efforts and selling of new products and services. The inability to up-sell our products and services, retain existing customers, attract new customers or successfully develop and implement new and enhanced products and services could adversely affect our businesses.

Our ability to improve operating margins will depend on the degree to which and the speed with which we are able to make investments in our business to improve our business performance, make investments to improve the performance of our technology, and reduce operating costs.

We have ongoing and continuing initiatives to invest in and improve the performance of our businesses. These initiatives include:

improving our customer service model;

improving customer retention;

continuing product enhancements;

improving our return on information technology (IT) investments;

investing in and improving our return on process improvements;

consolidating and improving efficiencies at our processing centers;

increasing the effectiveness of our direct sales efforts and account management programs; and

integrating acquisitions.

The profitability of certain elements of our business can also vary from year-to-year due to either external or internal factors. We may not be able to improve the performance of the elements of the business that lose money or are less profitable than others. Further, each business and operating function requires substantial ongoing investment in maintaining and improving infrastructure and product solutions. We may not have sufficient financial resources to fund all of the desired or necessary investments.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

We have ongoing and continued initiatives to invest in and improve the performance of IT systems and technology based products and services. These initiatives include:

standardizing the IT development process;

enhancing data processing systems and/or software that process customer data;

integrating new technology into our products and services to avoid obsolescence;

providing scalability; and

upgrading our financial systems.

We cannot assure you that our efforts will be successful or that the amount we invest in this process will improve the performance of our technology or improve our ability to compete in the markets we serve. Problems or delays with the installation or initial operation of new or enhanced systems could disrupt or increase costs in connection with our delivery of services and with our operations planning, financial reporting and management. If these initiatives are unsuccessful or less successful than planned, or the level of investment needs to be increased, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

We may face delays or difficulties in implementing product, process and system improvements which could adversely affect the timing or effectiveness and margin improvement efforts in our business and our ability to successfully compete in the markets we serve.

Our strategy to make acquisitions of and investments in complementary businesses, products and technologies may not be successful and involves risks that could adversely affect our business and operating results.

One of our growth strategies is to make acquisitions of and investments in complementary businesses, products and technologies that will enable us to add products and services for our core customer base and for adjacent markets, and to expand each of our businesses geographically. Our ability to make these acquisitions and investments will depend on a number of factors, including:

the availability of suitable acquisition candidates and investments at acceptable costs;

complete financial information to make informed investment decisions;

our ability to compete effectively for these acquisition candidates and investments;

the availability of capital to complete these acquisitions and investments; and

the proper allocation of resources to value, negotiate, acquire and integrate the acquisition or investment into our business segments. A number of these factors are outside our control. In addition, implementation of this strategy entails a number of other risks, including:

inaccurate assessment of undisclosed liabilities;

entry into markets in which we may have limited or no experience;

potential loss of key employees or customers of the acquired businesses;

difficulties in assimilating the operations and products of an acquired business or in realizing projected efficiencies and cost savings;

reallocation of significant amounts of capital from operating initiatives to acquisitions; and

increase in our indebtedness and a limitation in our ability to access additional capital when needed.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

In addition, from an accounting perspective, most acquisitions and investments involve periodic assessments of the recoverable value of goodwill and other intangible assets. Such assessments could result in an impairment of the goodwill or other intangible assets recorded which may have an adverse impact on our financial condition or operating results.

These risks could be heightened if we complete several acquisitions or investments within a relatively short period of time. The benefits of an acquisition or investment may often take considerable time to be realized, or may never be realized, and we cannot guarantee that any acquisition or investment will in fact produce the revenue, earnings or business synergies that we anticipated at the time of the transaction.

Any breach of our IT security or loss of customer data could adversely affect our businesses.

Any security breach in our business processes and/or systems has the potential to impact our customer information and our financial reporting capabilities which could result in the potential loss of business and our ability to accurately report financial results. In addition, any issue of data privacy as it relates to unauthorized access to or loss of customer and/or employee information could result in the potential loss of business, damage to our market reputation, litigation and regulatory investigation and penalties. We cannot assure you that our continued investment in the security of our IT systems, continued efforts to improve the controls within our IT systems, business processes improvements, and the enhancements to our culture of information security will prevent attempts to breach our security or unauthorized access to confidential, sensitive or proprietary information. If our security is breached or confidential information accessed, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our success will depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights.

The success of our business will depend, in part, on:

preserving our trade secrets and maintaining the security of our know-how and data; and

operating without infringing upon patents and proprietary rights held by third parties.

We rely on a combination of contractual provisions, confidentiality procedures and copyright, trademark, service mark and trade secret laws to protect the proprietary aspects of our brands, technology, data and estimates. These legal measures afford only limited protection, and competitors or others may gain access to our intellectual property and proprietary information. Our trade secrets, data and know-how could be subject to unauthorized use, misappropriation, or disclosure, despite having required our employees, consultants, customers, and collaborators to enter into confidentiality agreements. Our trademarks could be challenged, forcing us to re-brand our products or services, resulting in loss of brand recognition and requiring us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands. Furthermore, litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets and to determine the validity and scope of our proprietary rights.

There can be no assurance that the intellectual property laws and other statutory and contractual arrangements we currently depend upon will provide sufficient protection in the future to prevent the infringement, use or misappropriation of our trademarks, data, technology and other products and services. In addition, the growing need for global data, along with increased competition and technological advances, puts increasing pressure on us to share our intellectual property for client applications. Any future litigation, regardless of outcome, could result in substantial expense and diversion of resources with no assurance of success and could adversely affect our business, results of operation and financial condition.

Our systems may be subject to disruptions that could adversely affect our business and reputation.

Our business is dependent on our payroll, transaction, financial, accounting and other data processing systems. We rely on these systems to process, on a daily basis, a large number of complicated transactions. If any of these systems fail to operate properly or become disabled even for a brief period of time we could potentially lose control of customer data and we could suffer financial loss, a disruption of our businesses, liability to clients, regulatory intervention or damage to our reputation. In addition, in the event of a catastrophic occurrence, either natural or man-made, our ability to protect our infrastructure, including client data, and maintain ongoing operations could be significantly impaired. We cannot assure you that our business continuity and disaster recovery plans and strategies will be successful in mitigating the effects of a catastrophic occurrence. We could potentially lose control of customer and other data and may experience significant interruptions of our operations and service to our customers.

The failure of our HRS business to comply with applicable laws could result in substantial taxes, penalties and liabilities that could adversely affect our business.

Our HRS customers remit employer and employee tax funds to our HRS businesses. Our HRS business processes the data received from its customers and remits the funds along with a tax return to the appropriate taxing authorities when due. Under various service agreements with its customers, our HRS business assume financial responsibility for the payment of the taxes, penalties and liabilities assessed against its customers arising out of the failure of our HRS business to fulfill its obligations under its agreements with these customers, unless these taxes, penalties or liabilities are attributable to the customer s failure to comply with the terms of the agreement the customer has with our HRS business. These taxes, penalties and liabilities could, in some cases, be substantial and could adversely affect its business and operating results. Additionally, the failure of our HRS business to fulfill its obligations under its customer agreements could adversely affect our reputation, its relationship with our customers and its ability to gain new customers. Mistakes may occur in connection with this service. Our HRS business and its customers may be subject to penalties imposed by tax authorities for late filings or underpayment of taxes.

As a result of the services our Benefits operating unit provides, it may be subject to potential legal liability as a provider of portability compliance services. As a provider of COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act) compliance services, our Benefits operating unit is subject to excise taxes and penalties for noncompliance with provisions of COBRA. In addition to the excise tax and penalty liabilities that may be imposed on our Benefits operating unit, substantial excise taxes and penalties may be imposed under COBRA on our customers. In addition, as a provider of HIPAA (Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996) compliance and administration services, our benefit services subsidiary may be subject to ERISA (Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974) penalties for noncompliance with various provisions of HIPAA.

As a result of work-life and employee assistance programs currently provided to the Federal Government, we are required to comply with applicable Federal contracting regulations. Non-compliance with required reporting and performance activities subjects us to penalties and legal liabilities imposed by regulatory authorities.

Litigation and governmental inquiries, investigations and proceedings may adversely affect our financial results.

Our future operating results may be adversely affected by adverse judgments, settlements, unanticipated costs or other effects of legal and administrative proceedings now pending or that may be instituted in the future, or from investigations by the Commission and other administrative agencies. From time to time, we have had inquiries from regulatory bodies relating to the operation of our business. It has been our practice to cooperate with such inquiries. Such inquiries may result in various audits, reviews and investigations. An adverse outcome of any investigation by the Commission or other inquiries from regulatory bodies could have a material adverse effect on us and result in:

the institution of administrative or civil proceedings;

sanctions and the payment of fines and penalties;

changes in personnel; and

increased review and scrutiny of us by our customers, regulatory authorities, the media and others. We are also subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings, customer disputes and tort claims. Responding to such

Table of Contents

claims may be difficult and expensive, and we may not prevail. In some proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial expenditures on our part. There can be no certainty that we may not ultimately incur charges in excess of presently or established future financial accruals or insurance coverage, or that we would prevail. Whether we prevail or not, such litigation may have a material adverse effect on our business. See Business Legal Proceedings

Our success is dependent on the retention and acquisition of talented people and the skills and abilities of our management team and key personnel.

Our business depends on the efforts, abilities and expertise of our senior executives. These individuals are important to our success because they have been instrumental in setting our strategic direction, operating our business, identifying, recruiting and training key personnel and identifying business opportunities. The loss of one or more of these key individuals could impair our business and development until qualified replacements are found. We cannot assure you that these individuals could quickly be replaced with persons of equal experience and capabilities. Although we have employment agreements with certain of these individuals, we cannot prevent them from terminating their employment with us.

We must continue to attract, hire, train, develop and retain talented people to fill the key roles within the organization. We must provide challenging roles, with accountability and commensurate rewards, to attract and retain the appropriate individuals to the organization. If we are unable to attract and retain talented employees who work effectively as members of teams, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Our ability to remain competitive depends on our speed to market with new or enhanced technology.

As a provider of information management and data processing services, we need to rapidly adapt and respond to the technological advances offered by our competitors and the technological requirements of our customers in order to maintain or improve upon our competitive position. There can be no assurance that we will develop and release new products and services or product and service enhancements within the required time frames and within targeted costs. Significant delays, difficulties or added costs in introducing new products and services or enhancements, either through internal development, acquisitions or cooperative relationships with other companies, could adversely affect the market acceptance of our products and services and our operating results.

The markets we serve are highly competitive and may attract new competitors or cause current competitors to focus more on these markets, which could adversely affect our business.

The markets for our businesses are highly competitive. We face a variety of competitors, and some of our competitors have substantially greater financial resources than us. In addition, new competitors could decide to enter the markets we serve or current competitors could decide to focus greater resources on these markets, which could intensify the highly competitive conditions that already exist. These new entrants and existing competitors could offer or introduce new technologies or a different service model, or could treat the services to be provided by one of our businesses as one component of a larger product or service offering. These developments could enable these new and existing competitors to offer similar products or services at reduced prices and/or increased service levels. Any of these or similar developments could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Our U.S. HRS business is subject to the risks associated with contracting with the government.

Our U.S. HRS business provides certain services to various government agencies or parties, and, therefore, is exposed to risks associated with government contracting which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Although we generally seek multi-year contracts from the government, funds are generally appropriated on a fiscal year basis even though the contract may continue for several years. Consequently, government contracts are often only partially funded initially and additional funds are committed only with further appropriations. The termination of funding for a particular government contract would result in a loss of anticipated future revenue attributable to that program which could have a negative impact on our operations.

Generally, government contracts contain provisions permitting the government to terminate the contract at its convenience, in whole or in part, without prior notice, and to provide for payment of compensation only for work done and commitments made at the time of termination. Though terminations for convenience are rarely issued, we cannot guarantee that any of our government contracts will not be terminated under these circumstances.

As a result of contracting with the government, we may be subject to audits, cost reviews and investigations by contracting oversight agencies. During the course of an audit, the oversight agency may disallow costs. Such cost disallowances may result in adjustments to previously reported revenue. In addition, our failure to comply with the terms of one or more of our government contracts, other government agreements, or government regulations and statutes could result in our being suspended or barred from future government projects for a significant period of time and possible civil or criminal fines and penalties and the risk of public scrutiny of our performance which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We generally obtain government contracts through a competitive bidding process. We cannot provide assurance that we will win competitively awarded contracts and that such contracts will be profitable. In addition, if we failed to obtain a renewal or follow-on contract as to a particular government contract, there could be an adverse effect on our business. For example, we currently provide customized work-life and employee assistance services to U.S. Armed Services personnel under a contract with the U.S. Department of Defense. Our original contract with the U.S. Department of Defense expired in early 2006. From early 2006 until the end of June 2007, we operated under a series of short-term contract extensions. On June 28, 2007, we were awarded a new contract with the U.S. Department of Defense. The term of this new contract is from July 1, 2007 through September 30, 2008. We anticipate that there will be a competitive bidding process prior to the expiration of this new contract.

Furthermore, government contracts may be subject to protest or challenge by unsuccessful bidders or to termination, reduction or modification in the event of changes in government requirements, reductions in federal spending or other factors beyond our control.

We expect to submit a proposal in connection with the bidding process for a new government contract. There can be no assurance that we will be successful obtaining the award of a new contract, or if successful, that the new contract would be awarded on economic and other terms more favorable than those under which we presently provide such work-life and employee assistance services. Failure to retain this business upon substantially similar terms as presently exist will have a significant impact on the revenues of our LifeWorks operating unit.

We are subject to risks related to our international operations, which may adversely affect our operating results.

Approximately 27.3% of HRS revenue in 2007 was obtained from our international operations. Our Ceridian Canada operations provide certain HRS services for our Canadian customers, and our Ceridian UK subsidiary primarily provides certain HRS services in the United Kingdom. We are beginning to expand our international HRS business into other countries by engaging a partner within a country to provide us with payroll administration and processing services for that country. Comdata also has operations in Canada, and is expanding its transportation businesses internationally. SVS is also expanding its business internationally. Approximately 5% of SVS and less than 2% of Comdata s revenues in 2007 were derived from customers outside of the United

States. In addition to the risks otherwise described herein, our international operations are subject to further additional risks that could adversely affect those operations or our business as a whole, including:

costs of customizing products and services for foreign customers;

difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

difficulties with or inability to engage global partners;

reduced protection for intellectual property and other legal rights in some countries;

longer sales and payment cycles;

the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;

exposure to legal jurisdictions that may not recognize or interpret customer contracts in predictable ways;

exposure to local economic and political conditions; and

unfavorable currency exchange rates.

In addition, we anticipate that customers and potential customers may increasingly require and demand that a single vendor provide HRS solutions and services for their employees in a number of countries. If we are unable to provide the required services on a multinational basis, there may be a negative impact on our new orders and customer retention, which would negatively impact revenue and earnings. Although we have a multinational strategy, substantial additional investment and efforts may be necessary to ensure success.

Our business and results of operations are dependent on several vendors, suppliers and other third-parties, the loss of whom could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations.

Our business is dependent on several vendors, suppliers and other third-parties, the loss of whom could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations. In particular, Comdata s current business relies upon its relationships with suppliers and other third-parties, such as MasterCard, to effect and support transactions, including access to the Cirrus ATM network, the Maestro point-of-sale debit network and MasterCard s credit network. The ability of Comdata to continue to provide some of its services in the manner in which it currently delivers them may be affected by actions taken by suppliers and other third-parties, including MasterCard. Any adverse change in Comdata s relationship with these parties or Comdata s inability to timely and effectively establish alternatives to these relationships could likely adversely affect Comdata s business and results of operations and could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations as well.

We are controlled by the Sponsors, whose interests may not be aligned with ours or yours.

We are controlled by the Sponsors, which have the power to control our affairs and policies, including entering into mergers, sales of substantially all of our assets and other extraordinary transactions as well as decisions to issue shares, declare dividends, pay advisory fees and make other decisions. The interests of the Sponsors as our equity holders could conflict with your interests as a holder of our debt in material respects. Furthermore, the Sponsors are in the business of making investments in companies and may from time to time acquire and hold interests in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us, as well as businesses that represent major customers of our businesses. The

Sponsors may also pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our business, and as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. So long as the Sponsors continue to own a significant amount of our outstanding capital stock, they will continue to be able to strongly influence or effectively control our decisions.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws, which involve risks and uncertainties. You can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as believes, expects, may, will, should, seeks, approxima estimates, or anticipates or similar expressions that concern our strategy, plans or intentions. All statements we make relating to intends. plans, expected cost savings, margins growth, cash flows, capital expenditures, market and industry growth rates and trends (including trends towards outsourcing), product line and market expansion, market share, operational improvements (including head count, technological, customer service and business improvement initiatives), retention rates, demand for our products, litigation results and financial results are forward-looking statements. In addition, we, through our senior management, from time to time make forward-looking public statements concerning our expected future operations and performances and other developments. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may change at any time and, therefore, our actual results may differ materially from those that we expected. We derive many of our forward-looking statements from our operating budgets and forecasts, which are based upon many detailed assumptions. While we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that it is very difficult to predict the impact of known factors, and it is impossible for us to anticipate all factors that could affect our actual results.

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations (cautionary statements) are disclosed under Risk Factors and elsewhere in this prospectus, including, without limitation, in conjunction with the forward-looking statements included in this prospectus. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements.

The matters referred to in the forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus may not in fact occur. Accordingly, we caution you against relying on forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law.

THE EXCHANGE OFFERS

Purpose and Effect

We issued the Restricted Notes on November 9, 2007 in a transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act. In connection with the original issuance, we entered into an indenture and a registration rights agreement. The registration rights agreement requires that we file a registration statement under the Securities Act with respect to the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offers and, upon the effectiveness of the registration statement, offer you the opportunity to exchange your Restricted Notes for a like principal amount of Exchange Notes. Except as set forth below, these Exchange Notes will be issued without a restrictive legend and, we believe, may be reoffered and resold by you without registration under the Securities Act. After we complete the exchange offers, our obligations with respect to the registration of the Restricted Notes and the Exchange Notes will terminate. A copy of the registration rights agreement has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this prospectus, the exchange offers are not being made to you, and you may not participate in the exchange offers, if (a) you are our affiliate within the meaning of Rule 405 of the Securities Act or (b) you are a broker-dealer that acquired Restricted Notes directly from us.

Based on interpretations by the staff of the Commission set forth in no-action letters issued to third parties unrelated to us, we believe that the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers may be offered for resale, resold and otherwise transferred by you, without compliance with the registration and prospectus delivery provisions of the Securities Act, unless you are a broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes in exchange for Restricted Notes acquired by you as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities. This interpretation, however, is based on your representation to us that:

the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers are acquired in the ordinary course of your business;

at the time of the commencement of the exchange offers you have no arrangement or understanding with any person to participate in the distribution (within the meaning of the Securities Act) of the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers in violation of the Securities Act;

you are not an affiliate (as defined in Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act) of us;

if you are a broker-dealer, you are not engaging in, and do not intend to engage in, a distribution of the Exchange Notes to be issued to you in the exchange offers;

if you are a participating broker-dealer that will receive Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for the Restricted Notes that were acquired as a result of market-making or other trading activities, that you will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of the Exchange Notes; and

you are not acting on behalf of any persons or entities who could not truthfully make the foregoing representations. If you have any of the disqualifications described above or cannot make each of the representations set forth above, you may not rely on the interpretations by the staff of the Commission referred to above. Under those circumstances, you must comply with the registration and prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act in connection with a sale, transfer or other disposition of any notes unless you are able to utilize an applicable exemption from all of those requirements. In addition, each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes in the exchange offers for its own account in exchange for Restricted Notes that were acquired by the broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resales of those Exchange Notes. See Plan of Distribution.

You will not have the right to require us to register your Restricted Notes under the Securities Act. See Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes below.

Terms of the Exchange Offers

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus, we will accept any and all Restricted Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn prior to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date. We will issue \$1,000 principal amount of Exchange Notes in exchange for each \$1,000 principal amount of Restricted Notes accepted in the exchange offers. You may tender some or all of your Restricted Notes pursuant to the exchange offers. However, Senior Cash Pay Restricted Notes may be tendered only in integral multiples of \$1,000 principal amount.

The form and terms of the Exchange Notes are substantially the same as the form and terms of the Restricted Notes, except that the Exchange Notes to be issued in the exchange offers have been registered under the Securities Act and will not bear legends restricting their transfer. The Exchange Notes will be issued pursuant to, and entitled to the benefits of, the indenture. The indenture also governs the Restricted Notes. Each series of Exchange Notes and Restricted Notes will be deemed a single issue of the respective series of notes under the indenture.

As of the date of this prospectus, \$25,000,000 aggregate principal amount of $11^{1}/4\%$ Senior Notes due 2015 are outstanding and \$475,000,000 aggregate principal amount of $12^{1}/4\%/13\%$ Senior Toggle Notes due 2015 are outstanding. This prospectus is being sent to all registered holders and to others believed to have beneficial interests in the Restricted Notes. We intend to conduct the exchange offers in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission promulgated under the Exchange Act.

We will be deemed to have accepted validly tendered Restricted Notes when, as, and if we have given oral or written notice of our acceptance to the exchange agent. The exchange agent will act as our agent for the tendering holders for the purpose of receiving the Exchange Notes from us. Any Restricted Notes not accepted for exchange for any reason will be returned without expense to an account maintained with DTC as promptly as practicable after the expiration or termination of the exchange offers.

You will not be required to pay brokerage commissions or fees or, except as set forth below under Transfer Taxes, transfer taxes with respect to the exchange of your Restricted Notes in the exchange offers. We will pay all charges and expenses, other than applicable taxes, in connection with the exchange offers. See Fees and Expenses below.

Expiration Date; Amendments

The exchange offers will expire at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on , 2008 unless we determine, in our sole discretion, to extend the exchange offers, in which case, it will expire at the later date and time to which it is extended. We do not intend to extend the exchange offers, although we reserve the right to do so. If we extend the exchange offers, we will give oral or written notice of the extension to the exchange agent and give each registered holder notice by means of a press release or other public announcement of any extension prior to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the next business day after the scheduled expiration date. We will not extend the exchange offers past , 2008.

We also reserve the right, in our sole discretion,

- (1) subject to applicable law, to extend the exchange offers and delay accepting any Restricted Notes or, if any of the conditions set forth below under Conditions have not been satisfied or waived, to terminate the exchange offers by giving oral or written notice of the delay or termination to the exchange agent, or
- (2) to amend the terms of the exchange offers in any manner, by complying with Rule 14e-1(d) under the Exchange Act to the extent that rule applies. If we make any material amendment to the terms of the exchange offers or waive any material condition, we will keep the exchange offers open for at least five business days after we notify you of such change or waiver. If we make a material change to the terms of the exchange offers, it may be necessary for us to provide you with an amendment to this prospectus reflecting that change. We may only delay, terminate or amend the offer prior to its expiration.

We acknowledge and undertake to comply with the provisions of Rule 14e-l(c) under the Exchange Act, which requires us to return the Restricted Notes surrendered for exchange promptly after the termination or withdrawal of the exchange offers. We will notify you as promptly as we can of any extension, termination or amendment.

Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes

You may only tender your Restricted Notes by book-entry transfer of the Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at DTC. The tender to us of Restricted Notes by you, as set forth below, and our acceptance of the Restricted Notes will constitute a binding agreement between us and you, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this prospectus. Except as set forth below, to tender Restricted Notes for exchange pursuant to the exchange offers, you must transmit an agent s message to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as exchange agent, at the address listed below under the heading Exchange Agent. In addition, the exchange agent must receive, on or prior to the expiration date, a timely confirmation of book-entry transfer (a book-entry confirmation) of the Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at DTC.

The term agent s message means a message, transmitted to DTC and received by the exchange agent and forming a part of a book-entry transfer.

If you are a beneficial owner whose Restricted Notes are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, and wish to tender, you should promptly instruct the registered holder to tender on your behalf. Any registered holder that is a participant in DTC s book-entry transfer facility system may make book-entry delivery of the Restricted Notes by causing DTC to transfer the Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account.

We or the exchange agent, in our sole discretion, will make a final and binding determination on all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility (including time of receipt) and acceptance of Restricted Notes tendered for exchange. We reserve the absolute right to reject any and all tenders not properly tendered or to not accept any tender which acceptance might, in our judgment or our counsel s, be unlawful. We also reserve the absolute right to waive any defects or irregularities or conditions of the exchange offers as to any individual tender before the expiration date (including the right to waive the ineligibility of any holder who seeks to tender Restricted Notes in the exchange offers). Our or the exchange agent s interpretation of the terms and conditions of the exchange offers as to any particular tender either before or after the expiration date will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of Restricted Notes for exchange must be cured within a reasonable period of time, as we determine. We are not, nor is the exchange agent or any other person, under any duty to notify you of any defect or irregularity with respect to your tender of Restricted Notes for exchange, and no one will be liable for failing to provide such notification.

By delivering an agent s message, a beneficial owner (whose Restricted Notes are registered in the name of a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee) or holder will be deemed to have irrevocably appointed the exchange agent as its agent and attorney-in-fact (with full knowledge that the exchange agent is also acting as an agent for us in connection with the exchange offers) with respect to the Restricted Notes, with full power of substitution (such power of attorney being deemed to be an irrevocable power coupled with an interest subject only to the right of withdrawal described in this prospectus), to receive for our account all benefits and otherwise exercise all rights of beneficial ownership of such Restricted Notes, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the exchange offers.

Each beneficial owner or holder will also be deemed to have represented and warranted to us that it has authority to tender, exchange, sell, assign and transfer the Restricted Notes it tenders and that, when the same are accepted for exchange, we will acquire good, marketable and unencumbered title to such Restricted Notes, free and clear of all liens, restrictions, charges and encumbrances, and that the Restricted Notes tendered are not subject to any adverse claims or proxies. Each beneficial owner and holder, by tendering its Restricted Notes, also agrees that it will comply with its obligations under the registration rights agreement.

Acceptance of Restricted Notes for Exchange; Delivery of Exchange Notes

Upon satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions to the exchange offers, we will accept, promptly after the expiration date, all Restricted Notes properly tendered and will issue the Exchange Notes promptly after acceptance of the Restricted Notes. See Conditions to the Exchange Offers. For purposes of the exchange offers, we will be deemed to have accepted properly tendered Restricted Notes for exchange if and when we give oral (confirmed in writing) or written notice to the exchange agent.

The holder of each Restricted Note accepted for exchange will receive the applicable Exchange Note in the amount equal to the surrendered Restricted Note. Holders of Exchange Notes on the relevant record date for the first interest payment date following the consummation of the exchange offers will receive interest accruing from the most recent date to which interest has been paid on the Restricted Notes or, if no interest has been paid, from the issue date of the Restricted Notes. Holders of Exchange Notes will not receive any payment in respect of accrued interest on Restricted Notes otherwise payable on any interest payment date, the record date for which occurs on or after the consummation of the exchange offers.

In all cases, issuance of Exchange Notes for Restricted Notes that are accepted for exchange will be made only after timely receipt by the exchange agent of an agent s message and a timely confirmation of book-entry transfer of the Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at DTC.

If any tendered Restricted Notes are not accepted for any reason set forth in the terms and conditions of the exchange offers or if Restricted Notes are submitted for a greater principal amount than the holder desires to exchange, such unaccepted or non-exchanged Restricted Notes will be returned without expense to an account maintained with DTC promptly after the expiration or termination of the exchange offers.

Book-Entry Transfers

The exchange agent will make a request to establish an account for the Restricted Notes at DTC for purposes of the exchange offers within two business days after the date of this prospectus. Any financial institution that is a participant in DTC s systems must make book-entry delivery of Restricted Notes by causing DTC to transfer those Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at DTC in accordance with DTC s procedures for transfer. This participant should transmit its acceptance to DTC on or prior to the expiration date. DTC will verify this acceptance, execute a book-entry transfer of the tendered Restricted Notes into the exchange agent s account at DTC and then send to the exchange agent confirmation of this book-entry transfer. The transmission of the Restricted Notes and agent s message to DTC and delivery by DTC to and receipt by the exchange agent of the related agent s message will be deemed to be a valid tender.

Withdrawal Rights

For a withdrawal of a tender of Restricted Notes to be effective, the exchange agent must receive a valid withdrawal request through the Automated Tender Offer Program system from the tendering DTC participant before the expiration date. Any such request for withdrawal must include the VOI number of the tender to be withdrawn and the name of the ultimate beneficial owner of the related Restricted Notes in order that such notes may be withdrawn. Properly withdrawn Restricted Notes may be re-tendered by following the procedures described under Procedures for Tendering Restricted Notes above at any time on or before 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on the expiration date.

We will determine all questions as to the validity, form and eligibility, including time of receipt, of notices of withdrawal. Any Restricted Notes so withdrawn will be deemed not to have been validly tendered for exchange. No Exchange Notes will be issued unless the Restricted Notes so withdrawn are validly re-tendered.

Conditions

Notwithstanding any other provision of the exchange offers and subject to our obligations under the registration rights agreement, we will not be required to accept for exchange, or to issue Exchange Notes in exchange for, any Restricted Notes and may terminate or amend the exchange offers, if at any time before the acceptance of any Restricted Notes for exchange any of the following events occur:

- (1) the exchange offers violate applicable law or any applicable interpretation of the staff of the Commission;
- (2) an action or proceeding has been instituted or threatened in any court or by any governmental agency that might materially impair our ability to proceed with the exchange offers and any material adverse development shall have occurred in any existing action or proceeding with respect to us; and
- (3) all governmental approvals have not been obtained, which approvals we deem necessary for the consummation of the exchange offers;

These conditions are for our sole benefit and we may assert them regardless of the circumstances giving rise to them, subject to applicable law. We also may waive in whole or in part at any time and from time to time any particular condition in our sole discretion. If we waive a condition, we may be required in order to comply with applicable securities laws, to extend the expiration date of the exchange offers. Our failure at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights will not be deemed a waiver of these rights and these rights will be deemed ongoing rights that may be asserted at any time (in the case of any condition involving governmental approvals necessary to the consummation of the exchange offers) and from time to time prior to the time of expiration (in the case of all other conditions).

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any Restricted Notes tendered, and no Exchange Notes will be issued in exchange for any of those Restricted Notes, if at the time the notes are tendered any stop order is threatened by the Commission or in effect with respect to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part or the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

The exchange offers are not conditioned on any minimum principal amount of Restricted Notes being tendered for exchange.

Exchange Agent

We have appointed Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as exchange agent for the exchange offers. Questions, requests for assistance and requests for additional copies of the prospectus and other related documents should be directed to the exchange agent addressed as follows:

By Registered, Certified or Overnight Mail:

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

Corporate Trust Services

45 Broadway 14th Floor

New York, New York 10006

Attn: Julie Salovitch-Miller

or

By Facsimile Transmission:

212-515-1589

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

For information call:

212-515-1575

The exchange agent also acts as trustee under the indenture.

Fees and Expenses

The principal solicitation is being made through DTC by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as exchange agent. We will pay the exchange agent customary fees for its services, reimburse the exchange agent for its reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the provision of these services and pay other registration expenses, including registration and filing fees, fees and expenses of compliance with federal securities and state blue sky securities laws, printing expenses, messenger and delivery services and telephone, fees and disbursements to our counsel, application and filing fees and any fees and disbursement to our independent registered public accounting firm. We will not make any payment to brokers, dealers or others soliciting acceptances of the exchange offers. We will pay the estimated cash expenses to be incurred in connection with the exchange offers.

Additional solicitation may be made by telephone, facsimile or in person by our and our affiliates officers and regular employees and by persons so engaged by the exchange agent.

Transfer Taxes

You will not be obligated to pay any transfer taxes in connection with the tender of Restricted Notes in the exchange offers unless you instruct us to register Exchange Notes in the name of, or request that Restricted Notes not tendered or not accepted in the exchange offers be returned to, a person other than the registered tendering holder. In those cases, you will be responsible for the payment of any applicable transfer tax.

Accounting Treatment

We will record the Exchange Notes at the same carrying value as the Restricted Notes, as reflected in our accounting records on the date of the exchange. Accordingly, we will not recognize any gain or loss for accounting purposes as the terms of the Exchange Notes are substantially identical to those of the Restricted Notes. The expenses of the exchange offers will be amortized over the terms of the Exchange Notes.

Consequences of Failing to Exchange Restricted Notes

If you do not exchange your Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes in the exchange offers, your Restricted Notes will continue to be subject to the provisions of the indenture regarding transfer and exchange of the Restricted Notes and the restrictions on transfer of the Restricted Notes imposed by the Securities Act and state securities law. These transfer restrictions are required because the Restricted Notes were issued under an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, except under an exemption from, or in a transaction from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registered under the Securities Act, except under an exemption from, or in a transaction from, or in a transaction not subject to, the Securities laws. We do not plan to register the Restricted Notes under the Securities Act.

If you do not exchange your Restricted Notes in the exchange offers, you will continue to be entitled to all the rights and limitations applicable to the Restricted Notes as set forth in the indenture, but we will not have any further obligation to you to provide for the exchange and registration of the Restricted Notes under the registration rights agreement. Therefore, the liquidity of the market for your Restricted Notes could be adversely affected upon completion of the exchange offers if you do not participate in the exchange offers.

Participating Broker-Dealers

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes for its own account in exchange for Restricted Notes, where such Restricted Notes were acquired by such broker-dealer as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities, must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus in connection with any resale of such Exchange Notes. See Plan of Distribution.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The exchange offers are intended to satisfy our obligations under the registration rights agreement. We will not receive any proceeds from the exchange offers.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

		Predec	essor	Successo	r	
Year Ended December 31,				Period from	Period from	Three Months
		January 1 to	November 10 to	Ended		
2003	2004	2005	2006	November 9, 2007	December 31, 2007	March 31, 2008
7.7x	2.9x	8.5x	12.1x	9.2x	N/A	N/A

Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges for the successor period from November 10 to December 31, 2007, and for the three months ended March 31, 2008, by \$19.0 million and \$28.9 million, respectively.

CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents and our capitalization as of March 31, 2008. You should read this table in conjunction with Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

		As of March 31, 2008 (unaudited)		
	(dollar	(dollars in millions)		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	150.7		
Current portion of long-term debt		5.6		
Current portion of capital lease obligations		1.4		
Long-term debt				
Senior secured credit facilities:				
Revolving credit facility ⁽¹⁾				
Term loan		2,244.4		
Senior Notes		1,300.0		
Total long-term debt		3,544.4		
Total stockholders equity		1,474.1		
Total capitalization	\$	5,025.5		

(1) Our senior secured credit facilities provide for a \$300.0 million revolving credit facility, none of which was outstanding as of March 31, 2008.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations have been developed by applying pro forma adjustments to the historical audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Ceridian and subsidiaries appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations give effect to the Transactions as if it they occurred on January 1, 2007. Assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes, which should be read in conjunction with these unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based upon available information and certain assumptions that are factually supportable and that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations is presented for informational purposes only. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations does not purport to represent what our actual consolidated results of operations or the consolidated financial condition would have been had the Transactions actually occurred on the dates indicated, nor are they necessarily indicative of future consolidated results of operations or consolidated financial condition. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated Financial Condition with the information contained in Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data, Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the audited consolidated financial statements and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the notes to our unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations.

Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries

Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

(dollars in millions)

	Hi Period from January 1 to through November 9, 2007	storical Period fron November 10 December 3 2007	, to	Pro Forma
Revenue	\$ 1,407.9	\$ 237	7.0 \$	\$ 1,644.9
Cost of revenue	782.0	128	3.2	910.2
Selling, general and administrative	451.3	70).8 (16.0) ^{(a}) 524.7
			88.0 _(b)	
			4.1 _(c)	
			$(27.2)^{(d)}$	1)
			$(46.3)^{(e)}$)
Research and development	26.7	2	l.0	30.7
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments	2.0	(().1)	1.9
Operating income	145.9	34	.1 (2.6)	177.4
Other (income) expense, net	(9.7)	e	5.4	(3.3)
Interest income	(18.0)	(3	3.4) 19.0 _(f)	(2.4)
Interest expense	5.3	50).3 292.1 _(g)	347.7
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	\$ 168.3	\$ (19	9.2) \$ (313.7)	\$ (164.6)
See Assemblying Notes to the Unoud	tad Dea Forma Condonaad (Concolidated St	atomant of Onanations	

See Accompanying Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations

Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations

(dollars in millions)

- (a) Represents the adjustment to SG&A expenses relating to our employee benefit plans for the impact of purchase accounting on our pension and OPEB expense. The adjustment primarily consists of the elimination of historical amortization of unrecognized actuarial losses and prior service costs. Such obligations have been recorded in purchase accounting in accordance with GAAP as determined by actuarial valuations. Additionally, for purposes of the pro forma statement of operations, we have applied the entire pro forma impact to SG&A expenses, whereas a portion of the adjustment likely relates to direct cost of revenue.
- (b) Represents change in amortization based upon appraised estimates of fair values and useful lives of identified intangible assets.
- (c) Reflects the adjustment to SG&A expense for the annual monitoring fee of \$4.9 that we will pay to the Sponsors. Transaction adjustment reflects the annual monitoring fee less the \$0.8 recorded from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007. See Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions.
- (d) Reflects the elimination of accelerated non-cash stock-compensation costs as a result of the Transactions.
- (e) Reflects the elimination of transaction costs recognized in our historical operating results as a result of the Transactions.
- (f) Reflects pro forma adjustment to interest income to reflect use of cash in connection with the Transactions. The adjustment assumes an opening cash balance of \$50.0 and an interest rate or investment return comparable to the historical period. To the extent average cash balances are greater or less than \$50.0 or the average interest rate or investment return differs from historical returns, pro forma interest income will differ from the amounts presented above.
- (g) Reflects pro forma interest expense resulting from our new capital structure using applicable LIBOR rates as follows:

	Ended I	elve Months December 31, 2007	
Notes and term loan facility ⁽¹⁾	\$	336.6	
Revolving credit facility ⁽²⁾			
Other ⁽²⁾		2.0	
Total cash interest expense		338.6	
Amortization of capitalized debt issuance costs ⁽³⁾		9.1	
Total pro forma interest expense		347.7	
Less: historical interest expense		(55.6)	

Net adjustment to interest expense

\$

- (1) Reflects pro forma interest expense on the notes and term loan facility at an assumed weighted average interest rate of 9.48%.
- (2) Pro forma interest expense assumes no outstanding balance on the \$300.0 revolving credit facility. The other interest expense component represents commitment fees of 0.5% on the assumed \$300.0 undrawn balance of the revolving credit facility and interest expense related to capital lease obligations.
- (3) Represents debt issuance costs associated with the new bank facilities amortized over six years for the revolving facility, seven years for term loan facilities and eight years for the notes using the effective interest rate method.

Λ	1
4	T

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected historical consolidated financial data of Ceridian as of the dates and for the periods indicated. The selected historical financial data for, and as of, the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Ceridian. The selected historical financial data for, and as of, the three-month periods ended March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2008 are derived from the unaudited consolidated financial statements of Ceridian. In the opinion of management, the interim data reflects all adjustments consisting only of normal and recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods. The selected historical financial data as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 and for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and as of March 31, 2008 and for each of the three-month periods ended March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2008 are included elsewhere in this prospectus. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for future periods and operating results for the three-month period ended March 31, 2008 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2008. The selected historical consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by reference to,

Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the consolidated financial statements and included elsewhere in this prospectus.

		Yea	r Ended I		redecessor ember 31,			Period from January 1 to			uccessor Period from vember 10 to	Three Months Ended March 31,				
	2	003	2004 2005			2006		November 9, 2007		December 31, 2007		2007		2008		
Statement of Operations:		000		2001		2000		2000		2007		2007		2007		2000
Revenue	\$1,	213.9	\$ 1	1,320.4	\$	1,459.0	\$	1,565.1	\$	1,407.9	\$	237.0	\$	405.8	\$	406.5
Operating expenses	1,	063.6		,250.9		1,283.0		1,323.8		1,262.0		202.9		345.3		356.2
Operating income		150.3		69.5		176.0		241.3		145.9		34.1		60.5		50.3
Other (income) expense, net		(2.5)		26.5		4.5		(10.5)		(9.7)		6.4		(1.3)		3.2
Interest income		(2.0)		(2.6)		(7.8)		(13.5)		(18.0)		(3.4)		(4.4)		(2.0)
Interest expense		4.6		4.4		5.5		6.0		5.3		50.3		1.5		78.3
Earnings (loss) before income taxes		150.2		41.2		173.8		259.3		168.3		(19.2)		64.7		(29.2)
Income tax provision (benefit)		51.4		4.3		45.9		85.7		72.8		(6.8)		24.6		(7.1)
r · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·												()				
Net income (loss)	\$	98.8	\$	36.9	\$	127.9	\$	173.6	\$	95.5	\$	(12.4)	\$	40.1	\$	(22.1)
Balance Sheet Data (at period end):																
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	149.5	\$	234.3	\$	362.9	\$	294.7			\$	98.6	\$	377.3	\$	150.7
Total assets	5,	206.1	6	5,225.6		6,653.4		6,934.4				9,966.8		7,701.7	1	0,445.1
Total debt		163.5		100.7		106.5		100.5				3,534.7		92.1		3,534.0
Total stockholders equity	1,	245.2	1	1,295.7		1,291.8		1,371.2				1,487.4		1,479.8		1,474.1
Statement of Cash Flows Data:																
Net cash flows from:																
Operating activities	\$	63.0	\$	240.8	\$	299.3	\$	161.7	\$	208.4	\$	(50.7)	\$	58.2	\$	66.9
Investing activities		(34.4)		(68.0)		(43.1)		(74.1)		(50.1)		(4.8)		(23.9)		(12.9)
Financing activities		(37.5)		(93.5)		(129.8)		(157.2)		3.0		(302.1)		48.3		(1.4)
2				. ,								. ,				. ,
Other Financial Data:																
Capital expenditures ⁽¹⁾	\$	57.5	\$	65.8	\$	64.2	\$	53.0	\$	54.0	\$	8.1	\$	16.1	\$	12.5

(1) Capital expenditures primarily consist of property and equipment and software and development costs.

MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the factors described in Risk Factors and elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the information included under the captions Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements and Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this prospectus. Reference to the year ended December 31, 2007 include the period from January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 combined with the period from November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007. U.S. dollars are expressed in millions.

Overview

On November 9, 2007, Foundation Holdings, Inc. (Foundation Holdings) and Foundation Merger Sub Inc., affiliates of the Sponsors, completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Ceridian Corporation (the Merger). Upon the consummation of the Merger, Ceridian Corporation merged with and into Foundation Merger Sub Inc. and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foundation Holdings, a company whose common stock is owned by Ceridian Intermediate Corp. (Ceridian Intermediate). Ceridian Intermediate common stock is owned by Ceridian Holding. The Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired 13% cumulative preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate (approximately 19% of the combined equity value) and common stock of Ceridian Holding (approximately 81% of the combined equity value). The preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate will be senior to the common stock of Ceridian Holding in terms of dividends and upon liquidation.

Although we continued as the same legal entity after the Merger, the application of push down accounting represents the termination of the old accounting entity and the creation of a new one. As a result, the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholder s equity and comprehensive income are presented for two periods: Predecessor and Successor, which related to the period preceding the Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, respectively.

We are an information services company principally in the human resource, transportation and retail markets. We are comprised of three business segments: Human Resource Solutions (HRS), Stored Value Solutions (SVS) and Comdata. The HRS segment enables customers to outsource a broad range of employment processes, such as payroll, tax filing, human resource information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits administration, employee assistance and work-life programs, recruitment and applicant screening, and post-employment health insurance portability compliance. We have HRS operations primarily in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. The SVS business segment sells stored value cards and provides card-based services primarily to retailers in the form of gift cards, credits for product returns and retail promotions. The Comdata business segment provides transaction processing, financial services and regulatory compliance services primarily to transportation industries. SVS and Comdata s operations are located primarily in the United States.

Factors Affecting Our Results

Over the last several years, several factors have significantly affected our results of operations, including the Merger, accounting for Merger, stock-based compensation expense, interest expense and general expenses. Other factors that have affected our results of operations over the last several years include the levels of customer funds we hold, transaction volumes, price increases, diesel fuel and gasoline prices, exchange rates, customer employment levels and unusual items, such as a reorganization of our HRS business and acquisitions and dispositions.

Operating Improvement Plan

We launched a four-point cost reduction plan in early 2007 aimed at achieving \$100.0 in annualized savings by the end of 2008. As of March 31, 2008, annualized savings of \$61.0 have been achieved, and another \$39.0 in savings have been identified, in process or executed. The four cost initiatives are categorized as follows:

workforce reduction;

technology simplification;

general expense rationalization; and

core operations productivity.

We effectively completed the workforce reduction during 2007 by reducing the HRS U.S. and Ceridian Corporate operations workforce by 10%, as of March 31, 2008. This action generated annualized savings of \$41.0. Importantly, this initiative had minimal impact on customer facing activities, because it was primarily focused on removing reporting layers and reducing back-office and middle-office positions.

Technology simplification projects completed in 2007 included renegotiation of vendor contracts, off-shoring development and support activities, and consolidating or eliminating a variety of software applications and platforms. These efforts resulted in annualized savings of approximately \$7.0.

Expense rationalization efforts have generated \$9.0 of annualized savings. Savings so far have come primarily from consolidation of facilities, improved sourcing capabilities, and additional buying power gained by partnering with the Sponsors.

Core operations productivity improvements have contributed annualized savings of \$4.0, primarily through streamlining customer implementation processes. Substantial additional savings will be generated over the next two years through off-shoring efforts that are expected to impact approximately 500 positions.

Business Segment Results

Our business is classified into three reportable segments; HRS, SVS and Comdata. We measure business segment results by reference to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) because interest income and interest expense are not allocated to our segments. Revenue between business segments is not material and is eliminated upon consolidation. Expenses incurred by corporate center operations are directly charged or otherwise allocated to the business segments. Corporate center costs include medical, workers compensation, casualty and property insurance, retirement plan expenses, treasury services, tax services, audit services, accounting services, general management services, other corporate overhead such as occupancy and aircraft costs and certain one-time costs such as expenses related to the Merger. Certain of these costs are charged to the business segment based on usage or direct costs and the remainder is allocated on a consistent basis based on a percentage of revenue.

Description of Key Line Items

Revenues

HRS s primary sources of revenue are service fees, interest earned on invested customer funds, software maintenance and subscription fees, fees for delivery of professional services and shipments of materials. Many of the service fees HRS collects are transaction based and increase with transaction volume. SVS s primary sources of revenue are sales of and services for stored value cards and the processing of transactions related to such cards. Comdata s primary sources of revenue are processing fees, sales of and services for its cards, funds transfer transactions, the discounted purchase of accounts receivables owed by manufacturers and shippers and the sale to fueling centers of products and services such as point-of-sale systems and pay at the pump systems. For more information concerning our revenue, see Revenue Recognition.

Cost of Revenue

For HRS, cost of revenue consists primarily of customer service staff costs, customer service technical support costs, consulting and purchased services, delivery services, royalties, depreciation and amortization of tangible and software assets, rentals of facilities and equipment and direct and incremental costs associated with deferred implementation revenue. For SVS and Comdata, cost of revenue consists primarily of customer services staff costs, banking fees, telecommunications costs, amortization of tangible and software assets and rentals of facilities and equipment. For more information concerning our cost of revenue, see Note 2, Accounting Policies, to our audited consolidated financial statements.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense relates primarily to the cost of maintaining a direct marketing infrastructure, sales force and other direct marketing, the cost of maintaining our infrastructure that is not directly related to delivery of products and services or selling efforts, provision for doubtful accounts receivable, amortization of other intangible assets and net periodic pension costs.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development (R&D) expense primarily relates to the costs of maintaining a technical workforce for software development purposes.

Loss on Derivative Instruments

We include in loss on derivative instruments the change in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as economic hedges, which are derivatives that do not meet the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 133 criteria for hedge accounting treatment. We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that meets the SFAS 133 hedge accounting requirements is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income.

Other (Income) Expense, net

We include in other (income) expense, net the results of transactions that are not appropriately classified in another category and that generally are not recurring. Those transactions might relate to litigation and contract settlements, currency exchange, asset sales, exit activities and impairment of asset values (asset write-downs).

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

We measure business segment results by reference to EBIT because interest income and interest expense are not allocated to our segments. Revenue between business segments is not material and is eliminated upon consolidation. Expenses incurred by corporate center operations are directly charged or otherwise allocated to the business segments. Corporate center costs include medical, workers compensation, casualty and property insurance, retirement plan expenses, treasury services, tax services, audit services, accounting services, general management services and other corporate overhead such as occupancy and aircraft costs. Certain of these costs are charged to the business segment based on usage or direct costs and the remainder are allocated on a consistent basis based on a percentage of revenue.

Income Taxes

We base our provision for income taxes on income recognized for financial statement purposes, which includes the effects of temporary differences between financial statement income and income recognized for tax return purposes. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended March 31, 2008 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2007

A number of events or transactions occurred during the periods covered by this discussion that had a significant effect on the comparisons of our financial condition and performance, including:

Accounting for Merger. Beginning on November 10, 2007, we accounted for the Merger as a purchase in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 54, Application of Pushdown Basis of Accounting in Financial Statements of Subsidiaries Acquired by Purchase that resulted in a new valuation for our assets and liabilities based upon the fair values as of the date of the Merger.

Revenue. We had a revenue reduction of \$30.4 in the first quarter of 2008 related to the Merger as a result of the application of Emerging Issue Task Force Issue (EITF) No. 01-3, Accounting in a Business Combination for Deferred Revenue of an Acquiree, which requires companies with deferred revenue to retain only those deferred amounts that the company has a continuing legal performance obligation. As such, the majority of the Company s existing deferred revenue balances prior to the Merger were eliminated, which resulted in a reduction in the Successor Period revenue (Deferred Revenue Adjustment).

Cost of Revenue. We had a cost of revenue reduction of \$17.5 in the first quarter of 2008 as a result of the impact of applying SFAS No. 141 to the deferred costs that were recorded on our consolidated balance sheet (Deferred Cost Adjustment).

Depreciation and Amortization Expense. We recognized an increase in depreciation and amortization expense post Merger as a result of the revaluation of assets through the application of purchase accounting. Depreciation and amortization expense was \$44.5 for the first quarter of 2008 and was \$21.8 for the first quarter of 2007.

Pension Expense. We had a reduction in net periodic pension and postretirement plan expense of \$4.0 in the first quarter of 2008 as a result of the elimination of the net unrecognized pension and post-retirement costs through the application of purchase accounting.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. Stock-based compensation expense was \$0.5 for the first quarter of 2008 and was \$5.2 for the first quarter of 2007.

Interest Expense. We recognized an increase in interest expense post Merger as a result of the issuance of debt in connection with the Merger. Interest expense for the first quarter of 2008 was \$78.3 and was \$1.5 in the first quarter of 2007.

General Expenses. In the first quarter of 2007, we incurred one-time expense of \$11.8 related to the evaluation of strategic alternatives for the Company, the 2007 proxy, lease termination costs and executive separations.

Consolidated Results

	Successor An	Predecessor mount		decessor Increa (Decre		Successor % of]	Predecessor Revenue
	2008		2007	\$	%	2008	2007
Revenue	\$ 406.5	\$	405.8	0.7	0.2	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	224.0		216.8	7.2	3.3	55.1	53.4
SG&A expense	125.0		120.2	4.8	3.9	30.7	29.6
R&D expense	7.2		6.7	0.5	7.6	1.8	1.7
Loss on derivative instruments			1.6	(1.6)	NM		0.4
Other (income) expense, net	3.2		(1.3)	4.5	NM	0.8	(0.3)
Interest income	(2.0)		(4.4)	(2.4)	(54.6)	(0.5)	(1.1)
Interest expense	78.3		1.5	76.8	NM	19.3	0.4
Total costs and expenses	435.7		341.1	94.6	27.7	107.2	84.1
-							
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	(29.2)		64.7	(93.9)	(145.2)	(7.2)	15.9
Income tax provision (benefit)	(7.1)		24.6	(31.7)	(129.1)	(1.8)	6.1
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.1)	\$	40.1	(62.2)	(155.1)	(5.4)	9.9

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

Consolidated revenue increased \$0.7 to \$406.5, or 0.2%, in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$405.8 in the first quarter of 2007. Revenue in HRS increased \$7.1 and Comdata increased \$9.8 while revenue in SVS decreased \$16.2 in the first quarter of 2008. Within those changes, revenue was negatively affected by \$30.4 in the first quarter of 2008 by the Deferred Revenue Adjustment.

Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased to 55.1% in the first quarter of 2008 from 53.4% in the first quarter of 2007. This was driven by increased amortization expense as a result of the Merger, lower investment income without significant incremental costs on our invested customer funds and increased promotion expense on a government contract, and the net impact of the Deferred Cost Adjustment and the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. Partially offsetting those increases in cost of revenue as a percent of revenue were cost reduction efforts in HRS.

SG&A expense increased \$4.8, or 3.9%, to \$125.0 in the first quarter of 2008 from \$120.2 in the first quarter of 2007. This increase was driven by the impact of the strengthening of the Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar and increased amortization expense as a result of the Merger, partially offset by a reduction of one-time costs related to our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy costs, lease termination charges and executive separations in the first quarter of 2007, cost reduction efforts in HRS, and lower pension expense as a result of the application of purchase accounting.

R&D expense in the first quarter of 2008 increased \$0.5, or 7.6%, to \$7.2, from \$6.7 in the first quarter of 2007 due primarily to new project spending.

The loss on derivative instruments was \$1.6 in the first quarter of 2007. The loss in the prior year period resulted from an increase in diesel fuel prices in relation to the derivative instrument commodity price.

Interest income in the first quarter of 2008 decreased \$2.4 to \$2.0 compared to \$4.4 in the first quarter of 2007. The decrease was driven by a lower average level of cash and equivalents. Interest expense increased \$76.8 to \$78.3 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to the first quarter of 2007 as a result of the debt issued in connection with the Merger.

Income taxes decreased \$31.7 to a benefit of \$7.1 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to a provision of \$24.6 in the first quarter of 2007 primarily due to the reduction in earnings.

HRS

	Successor Ai	Predecessor mount		Predecessor Amount					eased eased)	Successor % of]	Predecessor Revenue
	2008	1	2007	\$	%	2008	2007				
Revenue	\$ 295.5	\$	288.4	7.1	2.5	100.0	100.0				
Cost of revenue	163.2		157.8	5.4	3.5	55.2	54.7				
SG&A expense	96.6		96.6			32.7	33.5				
R&D expense	5.4		4.9	0.5	10.2	1.8	1.7				
Other (income) expense, net	3.2		(1.1)	4.3	NM	1.1	(0.4)				
EBIT	\$ 27.1	\$	30.2	(3.1)	(10.3)	9.2	10.5				

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

HRS revenue increased \$7.1, or 2.5%, to \$295.5 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$288.4 in the first quarter of 2007. Revenue from U.S. operations decreased \$1.9 or 0.9%, from \$215.0 to \$213.1, revenue from Canadian operations increased \$9.1, or 18.3%, from \$49.7 to \$58.8, and revenue from the U.K. operations decreased \$0.1 or 0.5%, from \$23.6 to \$23.5.

The decrease in revenue from U.S. operations in 2008 was due to a \$8.7 decrease in payroll processing, tax filing and other human resource services (Payroll and Tax Services) and a \$1.6 decrease from benefits administration services (Benefit Services), partially offset by a \$8.4 increase in work-life and employee assistance programs (LifeWorks). The decrease in Payroll and Tax Services U.S. operations revenue was mainly driven by a reduction in interest income earned on invested customer funds of \$4.9 due to a lower average yield and a \$4.1 reduction of revenue due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. The decrease in Benefit Services revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in the customer base. The LifeWorks revenue increase was primarily from an increase in our governmental business as a result of a promotional campaign.

The Ceridian Canada revenue increase of \$9.1 included \$8.7 from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar with the remainder of the increase attributed to growth in the payroll base and price increases, partially offset by a decrease of \$0.4 due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. The Ceridian U.K. revenue decreased by \$0.1 due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment of \$1.4 partially offset by increased sales to existing customers.

HRS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased to 55.2% in the first quarter of 2008 from 54.7% in the first quarter of 2007 mainly due to increased amortization expense as a result of the Merger and increased promotion expense on a government contract in LifeWorks, partially offset by cost reduction efforts in Payroll and Tax Services.

SG&A expense for HRS remained flat at \$96.6 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to the first quarter of 2007 resulting from a decrease of \$2.8 in selling expense and an increase of \$2.8 in general and administrative expense. Selling expense primarily decreased due to a one-time charge for lease terminations relating to sales offices that occurred in the first quarter of 2007 partially offset by the impact of the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar. The increase in general and administrative expense was due to the impact of the strengthening of the Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar and increased amortization expense related to the Merger, partially offset by cost reduction efforts, the decrease of allocated one-time costs related to our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy costs and executive separations in the first quarter of 2007, and lower pension expense as a result of the application of purchase accounting.

R&D expense for HRS increased \$0.5, or 10.2%, to \$5.4 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$4.9 in the first quarter of 2007. This increase was due to new project costs.

Other expense, net for the first quarter of 2008 was \$3.2 and relates to a \$3.2 foreign currency remeasurement loss on debt at Ceridian Canada that will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. Other income, net for the first quarter of 2007 of \$1.1 primarily resulted from gains on sales of marketable securities and other assets of \$1.2.

HRS EBIT decreased \$3.1, or 10.3%, to \$27.1 or 9.2% of revenue in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$30.2 or 10.5% of revenue in the first quarter of 2007. This decrease was primarily due to increased amortization expense related to the Merger, a foreign currency remeasurement loss and the net impact of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment, partially offset by an improvement in operating performance in the U.S. operations due to cost reduction efforts and reduced one-time costs related to our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy costs, lease terminations and executive separations in the first quarter of 2007.

SVS

	Successor A	Predecessor Amount		ecessor Increa (Decrea		Successor % of	Predecessor Revenue
	2008	20	007	\$	%	2008	2007
Revenue	\$ 21.0	\$	37.2	(16.2)	(43.7)	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	19.2		29.8	(10.6)	(35.7)	91.5	80.2
SG&A expense	4.5		4.5			21.4	12.2
R&D expense	0.5		0.4	0.1	38.9	2.5	1.0
Other (income) expense, net					NM		
EBIT	\$ (3.2)	\$	2.5	(5.7)	(230.7)	(15.4)	6.6

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

SVS revenue decreased \$16.2, or 43.7%, to \$21.0 in the first quarter of 2008 from \$37.2 in the first quarter of 2007. This decrease was due a reduction of \$23.6 due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment, partially offset by increased revenue due to higher levels of retail cards in use, greater transaction volume and the addition of new customers through internal growth and a prior acquisition.

Revenue from retail services is generally deferred and recognized largely over a six-month period following the activation of a card, which typically takes place about eight months after the shipment of the card to the retailer. Cards delivered increased by approximately 6.8% and transactions processed increased approximately 14.8% in comparison of 2008 over 2007.

SVS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue in the first quarter of 2008 increased to 91.5% compared to 80.2% in the first quarter of 2007. The increase was due to the net negative impact of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment, partially offset by a margin improvement on card shipments.

SG&A expense remained flat at \$4.5 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to the first quarter of 2007. This was due to amortization expense and a reduction of allocated one-time charges related to the evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy costs and executive separations that occurred in the first quarter of 2007 offset by general spending increases.

R&D expense of \$0.5 in the first quarter of 2008 was relatively flat compared to \$0.4 in the first quarter of 2007.

SVS EBIT decreased \$5.7 to a loss of \$3.2 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to earnings of \$2.5 in the first quarter of 2007. This was primarily due to the net impact of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment.

Comdata

	Successor A	Predecessor mount		Increased (Decreased)		Successor % of	Predecessor Revenue
	2008	2	2007	\$	%	2008	2007
Revenue	\$ 90.0	\$	80.2	9.8	12.3	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	41.6		29.2	12.4	42.6	46.2	36.4
SG&A expense	23.9		19.1	4.8	25.1	26.6	23.8
R&D expense	1.3		1.4	(0.1)	(7.2)	1.4	1.8
Loss on derivative instruments			1.6	(1.6)	NM		2.0
Other (income) expense, net			(0.2)	0.2	NM		(0.3)
EBIT	\$ 23.2	\$	29.1	(5.9)	(20.4)	25.8	36.3

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

Comdata revenue increased \$9.8 or 12.3%, to \$90.0 in the first quarter of 2008 from \$80.2 in the first quarter of 2007. This increase was due primarily to a \$4.8 increase in the long haul business that resulted from a higher average cost of fuel and an increase in transactions on the Comdata Card, a \$4.1 increase in the local fleet business due largely to increased utilization by local fleet customers of the Comdata Card and other products and services, and a \$0.4 increase in regulatory compliance services due to the addition of new business through an acquisition that was completed in the first quarter of 2007 and to an increase in transactions from new customers. Included within these increases was a reduction in revenue of \$0.9 due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment.

Comdata cost of revenue as a percent of revenue in the first quarter of 2008 increased to 46.2% compared to 36.4% in the first quarter of 2007. The increase was due to increased amortization expense related to the Merger, significant growth in revenue coming from a lower margin market segment, increased payroll related costs due to an acquisition completed in the first quarter of 2007 as well as the negative impact of the net result of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment.

SG&A expense increased \$4.8, or 25.1%, to \$23.9 in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$19.1 in the first quarter of 2007. This increase was primarily due to increased amortization expense related to the Merger and increased litigation expense, partially offset by reduced allocated one-time charges related to our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy costs and executive separations in the first quarter of 2007.

R&D expense remained relatively flat in the first quarter of 2008 compared to the first quarter of 2007.

The loss on derivative instruments was \$1.6 in the first quarter of 2007. The loss in the prior year period resulted from an increase in diesel fuel prices in relation to the derivative instrument commodity price.

Other income, net in the first quarter of 2007 primarily reflects a \$0.3 gain from the settlement of lawsuits.

Comdata EBIT decreased \$5.9 to \$23.2, or 25.8% of revenue, in the first quarter of 2008 compared to \$29.1, or 36.3% of revenue, in the first quarter of 2007. This was primarily due to higher cost of sales and increased amortization expense related to the Merger, partially offset by the increase in revenue.

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to December 31, 2006

Overview

Our accounting for the Merger follows the requirements of SAB No. 54 and SFAS No. 141, which require that purchase accounting treatment of the merger be pushed down, resulting in the adjustment of all of our net assets to their respective fair values as of the Merger date. Although we continued as the same legal entity after the Merger, the application of push down accounting represents the termination of the old accounting entity and the creation of a new entity. As a result, our consolidated financial statements are presented for two periods: Successor and Predecessor, which relate to the period succeeding the Merger and period preceding the Merger, respectively. We have prepared our discussion of the results of operations by comparing the mathematical combination of the 2007 Successor Period from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007, the Predecessor Period from January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007 with the prior twelve month period in 2006. We refer to the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 as the 2007 Combined Period. Although this presentation does not comply with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), we believe the combination of the 2007 periods provides a meaningful comparison to the 2006 period. The combined operating results have not been prepared as pro forma results under applicable regulations and may not reflect the actual results we would have achieved absent the Merger and may not be predictive of future results of operations.

A number of events or transactions occurred during the period covered by this discussion that had a significant effect on the comparisons of our financial condition and performance, including:

Merger. Under the terms of the Merger, Predecessor Ceridian Corporation stockholders received \$36.00 in cash, without interest, for each share of Predecessor Ceridian Corporation common stock that they held for a total of \$5,305.3. Ceridian Corporation common stock ceased trading on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and has been delisted from the NYSE. The sources and uses of funds in connection with the Merger are summarized below:

Sources:	
Equity investment	\$ 1,600.0
Senior secured credit facility	2,250.0
Senior notes	1,300.0
Cash from Predecessor Ceridian Corporation	346.7
Total sources	\$ 5,496.7
Uses:	
Payment consideration to predecessor stockholders	\$ 5,305.3
Transaction costs	191.4
Total uses	\$ 5,496.7

Accounting for Merger. Beginning on November 10, 2007, we accounted for the Merger as a purchase in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 54, Application of Pushdown Basis of Accounting in Financial Statements of Subsidiaries Acquired by Purchase which resulted in a new valuation for our assets and liabilities based upon the fair values as of the date of the Merger.

The following summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price of the Merger based on estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of November 10, 2007. We engaged outside appraisal firms to assist in determining the fair value of certain long-lived, tangible and identifiable intangible assets and used these appraisals for the purchase price allocation. This allocation is subject to further refinement until all pertinent information is obtained for the restructuring reserve and the final valuation of identifiable intangible assets.

Purchase Price:	
Fair market value of Ceridian Corporation common stock	\$ 5,305.3
Direct costs related to the Merger	4.5
Aggregate Purchase Price	\$ 5,309.8
Purchase Price assigned:	
Net working capital	\$ 650.7
Property, plant and equipment	88.0
Goodwill	3,544.5
Identifiable intangible assets	1,470.3
Other non-current assets	40.1
Deferred income taxes	(345.4)
Non-current liabilities and other	(138.4)
Total Purchase Price Assigned	\$ 5,309.8

Stock-Based Compensation Expense. All stock options, restricted stock units and restricted stock awards outstanding before the Merger became fully vested. Stock-based compensation expense for the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 was \$45.0.

Amortization Expense. We will recognize an increase in amortization expense post Merger as a result of the revaluation of assets through the application of purchase accounting. Amortization expense for the period November 10 to December 31, 2007 was \$18.3.

Interest Expense. We will recognize an increase in interest expense post Merger as a result of the issuance of debt in connection with the Merger. Interest expense for the period November 10 to December 31, 2007 was \$50.3.

General Expenses. Prior to the Merger, we incurred the following expenses that were significant to the comparison of the periods:

Expenses of \$46.3 were incurred related to the evaluation of strategic alternatives for the Company, the 2007 proxy and fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred;

Expenses for severance and lease terminations of \$15.9 due to the Company s execution of its operating improvement plan; and

Expenses for executive separations of \$4.5.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Adoption of SFAS 123R. The comparison of SG&A and R&D for 2006 to 2005 was significantly affected by adoption SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment. The principal effect of SFAS No. 123R was to require the inclusion in our earnings of compensation expense for employee services obtained through stock-based payment transactions that previously were only reported as a disclosure in a note to our consolidated financial statements. Total costs and expenses for stock-based compensation in 2006 equaled \$21.0 compared to \$2.5 in 2005. The adoption of this pronouncement is discussed further in Note 11, Stock-Based Compensation Plans, to our audited consolidated financial statements.

Income tax matters. In the 2007 period after the Merger, we increased our income tax benefit by \$3.2 as a result of a favorable tax rate change enacted in Canada. In the 2007 period before the Merger, we increased our income tax provision by \$5.5 for the expenses related to the Merger that were not deductible for tax purposes and by \$4.8 for additional tax expense related to foreign earnings

repatriation. In 2006, the expiration of the statute of limitations on an international tax contingency and a Canadian tax rate reduction resulted in a reduction in our income tax expense of \$8.6 and \$2.8, respectively. During 2005, we reduced our income tax provision by \$24.5 due primarily to the settlement of specific tax matters and the expiration of the statute of limitations in various jurisdictions. In addition, in 2005 we repatriated \$130.3 of accumulated earnings from Ceridian Canada under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, resulting in an additional tax expense of \$5.2.

Consolidated Results

	2007 Combined Period	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007	Predecessor Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007
Revenue	\$ 1,644.9	\$ 237.0	\$ 1,407.9
Cost of revenue	910.2	128.2	782.0
SG&A expense	522.1	70.8	451.3
Research and development (R&D) expense	30.7	4.0	26.7
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments	1.9	(0.1)	2.0
Other income, net	(3.3)	6.4	(9.7)
Interest income	(21.4)	(3.4)	(18.0)
Interest expense	55.6	50.3	5.3
Total costs and expenses	1,495.8	256.2	1,239.6
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	149.1	(19.2)	168.3
Income tax provision (benefit)	66.0	(6.8)	72.8
Net earnings (loss)	\$ 83.1	\$ (12.4)	\$ 95.5

	Am	Incre (Decre		% of Re	vonuo	
	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006	\$	%	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006
Revenue	\$ 1,644.9	\$ 1,565.1	79.8	5.1	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	910.2	852.4	57.8	6.8	55.3	54.5
SG&A expense	522.1	440.1	82.0	18.6	31.7	28.1
R&D expense	30.7	28.6	2.1	7.4	1.9	1.8
Loss on derivative instruments	1.9	2.7	(0.8)	(31.9)	0.1	0.2
Other income, net	(3.3)	(10.5)	7.2	68.7	(0.2)	(0.7)
Interest income	(21.4)	(13.5)	(7.9)	58.7	(1.3)	(0.9)
Interest expense	55.6	6.0	49.6	832.8	3.4	0.4
Total costs and expenses	1,495.8	1,305.8	190.0	14.5	90.9	83.4
Earnings before income taxes	149.1	259.3	(110.2)	(42.5)	9.1	16.6
Income tax provision	66.0	85.7	(19.7)	(22.9)	4.0	5.5
Net earnings	\$ 83.1	\$ 173.6	(90.5)	(52.2)	5.1	11.1

(1) 2007 amounts refer to the 2007 Combined Period; this is a Non-GAAP presentation.

Consolidated revenue increased \$79.8, or 5.1%, to \$1,644.9 in 2007 from \$1,565.1 in 2006. Revenue in HRS increased \$32.7, SVS increased \$23.4, and Comdata increased \$23.7 in 2007. Within those increases, revenue was negatively affected by \$24.0 in the Successor Period after the Merger as a result of the application of EITF No. 01-3, Accounting in a Business Combination for Deferred Revenue of an Acquiree , which

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

requires companies with deferred revenue to retain only those deferred amounts that the company has a continuing legal performance obligation. As such, the majority of the Company s existing deferred revenue balances prior to the Merger were eliminated, which resulted in a reduction in the Successor Period revenue (Deferred Revenue Adjustment).

The HRS revenue increase was primarily due to higher interest income on invested customer funds resulting from both higher interest rates and an increased customer float balance, and growth in our core payroll business. These increases were partially offset by the loss of revenue associated with the sale of a major portion of our 401(k) recordkeeping and administration business in the third quarter of 2006, a write-down on an investment within our customer funds, lower revenue in our government lifeworks business, the strengthening of the British pound sterling and Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar and the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. Our SVS revenue increase was driven by higher levels of retail cards in use offset by the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. Our Comdata revenue increase was driven by higher volume of transactions in our local and long haul fleet businesses and increased volume within regulatory compliance services, partially offset by the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment are discussed below under Business Segment Results.

Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased to 55.3% in 2007 from 54.5% in 2006. This was driven by an increase in SVS s cost of revenue due to increased vendor card costs, increased transaction based bank fees in Comdata and increased payroll related costs due to acquisitions, as well as higher severance and stock-based compensation expenses primarily in HRS and increased amortization expense related to the Merger. Partially offsetting those increases in cost of revenue as a percent of revenue were higher investment income without significant incremental costs on our invested customer funds, cost containment efforts in HRS and the impact of applying SFAS No. 141 to the deferred costs that were recorded on our consolidated balance sheet (Deferred Cost Adjustment). As such, the majority of the Company s existing deferred cost balances prior to the Merger were reversed, which resulted in a reduction in the Successor Period cost of revenue.

SG&A expense increased \$82.0, or 18.6%, to \$522.1 in 2007 from \$440.1 in 2006. This was primarily due to charges totaling \$46.3 for our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy-related costs and fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred, \$19.5 in increased stock-based compensation expense, \$9.9 in increased severance charges and lease termination charges prior to the Merger due to execution of our operating improvement plan, \$7.0 in increased amortization expense related to the purchase price allocated to intangible assets as a result of the Merger, \$4.5 in expenses for executive separations and the strengthening of the British pound sterling and Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar and higher payroll costs as a result of merit increases. Partially offsetting these increases were reduced litigation expenses and general spending reductions in HRS.

R&D expense increased \$2.1 or 7.4% to \$30.7 in 2007. This was driven by new project costs and increased stock-based compensation expense.

In 2007, the loss on derivative instruments amounted to \$1.9 compared to a loss of \$2.7 in 2006. The loss in both periods resulted from an increase in diesel fuel prices in relation to the derivative instrument commodity price. If diesel fuel prices are higher than the derivative instrument, a loss results. If diesel fuel prices are lower than the derivative instrument, a gain results.

Other income, net for 2007 primarily relates to the gain on the sale of marketable securities, a sale of a business and sales of other assets, partially offset by a foreign currency remeasurement loss due to debt in Ceridian Canada that will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. Other income, net in 2006 primarily relates to the gain on the sale of marketable securities, sale of other assets, and gain from the settlement of a lawsuit.

Interest income in 2007 increased \$7.9 to \$21.4 compared to \$13.5 in 2006. The increase was driven by a higher average level of cash and equivalents and higher interest rates. Interest expense increased \$49.6 to \$55.6 in 2007 compared to 2006 as a result of the debt issued in connection with the Merger.

Income tax provision decreased \$19.7 to \$66.0 in 2007 compared to \$85.7 in 2006. Our effective tax rate for 2007 was 44.3% compared to 33.1% for 2006. The effective tax rate for 2007 was unfavorably impacted by \$5.5 for expenses related to the Merger that are not deductible for tax purposes and additional tax expense of \$4.8 related to foreign earnings repatriation. In addition, the 2007 effective tax rate was favorably impacted by \$3.2 of tax rate changes enacted in Canada which reduced our deferred income tax liability.

The effective tax rate for 2006 was favorably impacted by the expiration of the statute of limitations on an international tax contingency and a Canadian tax rate reduction. The statute expiration resulted in an \$8.6 decrease in income tax expense. The Canadian tax rate change impacted our deferred income tax balance and reduced income tax expense by \$2.8.

HRS

	2007 Combined Period	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007	Predecessor Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007
Revenue	\$ 1,132.5	\$ 175.6	\$ 956.9
Cost of revenue	633.5	89.1	544.4
SG&A expense	411.9	50.0	361.9
R&D expense	22.0	2.2	19.8
Other income, net	(2.1)	6.4	(8.5)
EBIT	\$ 67.2	\$ 27.9	\$ 39.3

	Increase					
	Amount		(Decrease)		% of Revenue	
	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006	\$	%	$2007^{(1)}$	2006
Revenue	\$ 1,132.5	\$ 1,099.8	32.7	3.0	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	633.5	630.0	3.5	0.6	55.9	57.3
SG&A expense	411.9	360.1	51.8	14.3	36.3	32.7
R&D expense	22.0	21.1	0.9	4.6	1.9	1.9
Other income, net	(2.1)	(9.6)	(7.5)	(78.4)	(2.1)	(0.9)
EBIT	\$ 67.2	\$ 98.2	(31.0)	(31.5)	5.9	8.9

(1) 2007 amounts refer to the 2007 Combined Period; this is a Non-GAAP presentation.

HRS revenue increased \$32.7, or 3.0%, to \$1,132.5 in 2007 compared to \$1,099.8 in 2006. Revenue from U.S. operations increased \$0.8, or 0.1%, from \$822.4 to \$823.2, revenue from Canadian operations increased \$28.4, or 15.5%, from \$182.6 to \$211.0, and revenue from the U.K. operations increased \$3.5, or 3.7%, from \$94.8 to \$98.3.

The increase in revenue from U.S. operations in 2007 was due to a \$27.7 increase in Payroll and Tax Services, partially offset by a \$13.6 decrease from Benefit Services and a \$13.1 decrease in LifeWorks. The increase in Payroll and Tax Services U.S. operations revenue in 2007 was mainly driven by growth in the business due to increased sales to existing customers and addition of new customers, and increases in interest income earned on invested customer funds of \$8.7, of which \$5.6 was from a higher average yield and \$3.1 was from a higher average invested balance, partially offset by a decrease of \$3.0 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. The decrease in Benefit Services revenue of \$13.6 was primarily driven by the reduction of revenue of \$12.1 due to the sale of major portion of the 401(k) recordkeeping and administration business in the third quarter of 2006 and a decrease of \$0.6 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. The LifeWorks revenue decrease of \$13.1 was primarily due to price reductions in our governmental business and a decrease of \$2.6 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment.

The Canadian revenue increase of \$28.4 included \$12.3 due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar, \$7.2 from additional interest income primarily resulting from a higher average invested balance, with the remainder of the increase attributed to growth in the payroll base and price increases, partially offset by a decrease due to a \$5.1 write-down in a customer fund investment and related interest receivable and

\$0.7 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. The U.K. revenue increase of \$3.5 was due to the strengthening of the British Pound Sterling against the U.S. dollar partially offset by lower pricing on customer renewals and \$0.6 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment.

HRS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue decreased to 55.9% in 2007 from 57.3% in 2006 mainly due to increased interest income on invested customer funds without significant incremental costs and cost reduction efforts in Payroll and Tax Services, partially offset by increased service delivery costs in Benefits Services to improve service levels, increased stock-based compensation expense and higher severance costs.

SG&A expense for HRS increased \$51.8, or 14.3%, to \$411.9 in 2007 compared to \$360.1 in 2006 resulting from an increase of \$52.8 in general and administrative expense and a decrease of \$1.0 in selling expense. The increase in general and administrative expense was due to allocated charges of \$31.6 for our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy-related costs, fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred, \$7.8 of increased stock based compensation expense, \$4.9 of increased severance expenses, \$3.1 in expenses for executive separations incurred prior to the Merger, the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling and the Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar and increased intangible amortization expenses partially offset by a charge for lease terminations relating to sales offices incurred prior to the Merger and the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling to sales offices incurred prior to the Merger and the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling to sales offices incurred prior to the Merger and the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling to sales offices incurred prior to the Merger and the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling to sales offices incurred prior to the Merger and the impact of the strengthening of the British pound sterling and the Canadian Dollar against the U.S. dollar.

R&D expense for HRS increased \$0.9, or 4.6%, to \$22.0 in 2007 compared to \$21.1 in 2006. This increase was due to new project costs and higher stock-based compensation expense.

Other income, net for 2007 was \$2.1 and relates primarily to gains on the sale of marketable securities of \$6.2 and gains on the sale of businesses of \$2.0 partially offset by a \$6.6 foreign currency remeasurement loss on debt at Ceridian Canada that will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. Other income, net in 2006 of \$9.6 primarily resulted from a gain of \$5.8 on the sale of a major portion of our 401(k) recording keeping and administration business and gains on sales of marketable securities and other assets of \$3.4.

HRS EBIT decreased \$31.0, or 31.5%, to \$67.2 or 5.9% of revenue in 2007 compared to \$98.2 or 8.9% of revenue in 2006. This decrease was primarily due to one-time charges related to our evaluation of strategic alternatives and proxy-related costs, severance charges and executive separations incurred prior to the Merger, fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred, as well as higher stock-based compensation expense, partially offset by an improvement in operating performance in U.S. operations and Ceridian Canada.

SVS

	2007 Combined Period	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007	Predecessor Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007
Revenue	\$ 177.2	\$ 15.2	\$ 162.0
Cost of revenue	154.1	16.5	137.6
SG&A expense	13.7	1.2	12.5
R&D expense	2.0	0.4	1.6
Other income, net	(1.0)		(1.0)
EBIT	\$ 8.4	\$ (2.9)	\$ 11.3

	Increase					
	Am	ount	(Deci	ease)	% of Revenue	
	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006	\$	%	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006
Revenue	\$177.2	\$ 153.8	23.4	15.2	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	154.1	122.6	31.5	25.7	87.0	79.7
SG&A expense	13.7	13.5	0.2	1.5	7.7	8.8
R&D expense	2.0	1.9	0.1	5.2	1.1	1.2
Other income, net	(1.0)		(1.0)	NM	(0.5)	0.0
EBIT	\$ 8.4	\$ 15.8	(7.4)	(46.8)	4.7	10.3

(1) 2007 amounts refer to the 2007 Combined Period; this is a Non-GAAP presentation.

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

SVS revenue increased \$23.4, or 15.2%, to \$177.2 in 2007 from \$153.8 in 2006. This increase was primarily due to higher levels of retail cards in use, greater transaction volume and the addition of new customers through internal growth and an acquisition, partially offset by a decrease of \$15.3 from the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment. Revenue from retail services is generally deferred and recognized largely over a six-month period following the activation of a card, which typically takes place about eight months after the shipment of the card to the retailer. Cards delivered increased by approximately 6.1% and transactions processed increased approximately 9.9% in comparison of 2007 over 2006.

SVS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue for 2007 increased to 87.0% compared to 79.7% in 2006. The increase was due to increased vendor card costs, the entry into a lower margin market segment through a fourth quarter 2006 acquisition, higher payroll costs related to the fourth quarter 2006 acquisition and the loss of a relatively high margin contract in the legacy smart card electronic benefits business, which were offset by the effects of the Deferred Cost Adjustment.

SG&A expense increased \$0.2 to \$13.7 in 2007 compared to \$13.5 in 2006. This increase was primarily due to increased stock based compensation expense, increased intangible amortization expense related to the Merger and a fourth quarter 2006 acquisition, partially offset by reduced administration expenses.

R&D expense increased \$0.1, or 5.2%, to \$2.0 in 2007 compared to \$1.9 in 2006 primarily due to higher spending on projects.

Other income, net in 2007 reflects a \$1.0 gain from the sale of a customer portfolio.

SVS EBIT decreased \$7.4 to \$8.4, or 4.7% of revenue, in 2007 compared to \$15.8, or 10.3% of revenue, in 2006. This was primarily due to the higher cost of sales and the impact of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment.

Comdata

	2007 Combined Period	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007	Predecessor Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007
Revenue	\$ 335.2	\$ 46.2	\$ 289.0
Cost of revenue	122.6	22.6	100.0
SG&A expense	96.5	19.6	76.9
R&D expense	6.7	1.4	5.3
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments	1.9	(0.1)	2.0
Other income, net	(0.2)		(0.2)
Earnings before interest and taxes	\$ 107.7	\$ 2.7	\$ 105.0

	Increase							
	Amount		(Decrease)		% of Re	evenue		
	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006	\$	%	2007 ⁽¹⁾	2006		
Revenue	\$ 335.2	\$ 311.5	23.7	7.6	100.0	100.0		
Cost of revenue	122.6	99.8	22.8	22.8	36.6	32.1		
SG&A expense	96.5	66.5	30.0	45.1	28.8	21.3		
R&D expense	6.7	5.6	1.1	19.6	2.0	1.8		
Loss on derivative instruments	1.9	2.7	(0.8)	(29.6)	0.6	0.9		
Other income, net	(0.2)	(0.9)	(0.7)	(77.8)	(0.1)	(0.3)		
EBIT	\$ 107.7	\$137.8	(30.1)	(21.8)	32.1	44.2		

(1) 2007 amounts refer to the 2007 Combined Period; this is a Non-GAAP presentation.

Comdata revenue increased \$23.7, or 7.6%, to \$335.2 in 2007 from \$311.5 in 2006. This increase was due to a \$9.3 increase in the long haul business due to higher volume primarily driven by increased transactions on the Comdata Card and a higher average cost of fuel, a \$8.4 increase in the local fleet business due largely to increased utilization by local fleet customers of the Comdata Card and private label products and services, and a \$7.3 increase in regulatory compliance services due the addition of new business through an acquisition that was completed in the first quarter of 2007 and to an increase in transactions from new customers. Offsetting these increases was a reduction in revenue of \$1.3 due to the effects of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment.

Comdata cost of revenue as a percent of revenue for 2007 increased to 36.6% compared to 32.1% in 2006. The increase was due to significant growth in revenue coming from a lower margin market segment, increased transaction based bank fees and customer rebates, increased payroll related costs due to an acquisition completed in the first quarter of 2007, increased intangible asset amortization expense related to the Merger as well as the negative impact of the net result of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and the Deferred Cost Adjustment.

SG&A expense increased \$30.0, or 45.1%, to \$96.5 in 2007 compared to \$66.5 in 2006. Selling expense increased \$1.9 as a result of increases in sales commissions due to higher sales and general salary increases. General and administrative expense increased \$28.1 due to allocated charges primarily for our evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy-related and fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred of \$14.7, increased stock-based compensation expense of \$7.9, increased intangible asset amortization expense of \$5.8 related to acquisitions in the first quarter of 2007 and to the Merger, higher payroll costs as a result of merit increases, increased severance expenses incurred prior to the Merger and increased bad debt expense, partially offset by reduced legal fees and litigation expense of \$7.8.

R&D expense increased \$1.1, or 19.6%, to \$6.7 in 2007 compared to \$5.6 in 2006 primarily due to new project spending.

The net loss on the diesel fuel price derivative instruments in 2007 was \$1.9 compared to \$2.7 in 2006. The net losses for the respective periods are the result of the increase in diesel fuel prices in relation to the derivative instrument commodity price. During early 2007, we acquired diesel fuel price derivative instruments covering approximately 30% of our anticipated 2007 diesel fuel price related earnings exposure. During early 2006, we acquired diesel fuel price derivative instruments covering approximately 80% of our anticipated 2006 diesel fuel price related earnings exposure.

Other income, net in 2007 primarily reflects a \$0.3 gain from the settlement of lawsuits. Other income, net in 2006 primarily reflects a \$1.0 gain from the settlement of a lawsuit.

Comdata EBIT decreased \$30.1 to \$107.7, or 32.1% of revenue, in 2007 compared to \$137.8, or 44.2% of revenue, in 2006. This was primarily due to higher cost of sales; increased allocated one-time charges related to evaluation of strategic alternatives, proxy-related costs, and the Merger; increased stock-based compensation expense; and increased payroll related costs and amortization related to acquisitions and the Merger; partially offset by reduced legal fees and litigation expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to December 31, 2005

Consolidated Results

	Increase					
	Amo	ount	(Decr	ease)	% of R	evenue
	2006	2005	\$	%	2006	2005
Revenue	\$ 1,565.1	\$ 1,459.0	106.1	7.3	100.0	100.0
Cost of revenue	852.4	793.2	59.2	7.5	54.5	54.4
SG&A expense	440.1	449.5	(9.4)	(2.1)	28.1	30.8
R&D expense	28.6	28.7	(0.1)	(0.3)	1.8	2.0
Loss on derivative instruments	2.7	11.6	(8.9)	(76.4)	0.2	0.8
Other (income) expense, net	(10.5)	4.5	(15.0)	(330.6)	(0.7)	0.3
Interest income	(13.5)	(7.8)	(5.7)	71.8	(0.9)	(0.5)
Interest expense	6.0	5.5	0.5	7.3	0.4	0.4
Total costs and expenses	1,305.8	1,285.2	20.6	1.6	83.4	88.1
Earnings before income taxes	259.3	173.8	85.5	49.2	16.6	11.9
Income tax provision	85.7	45.9	39.8	86.8	5.5	3.1
Net earnings	\$ 173.6	\$ 127.9	45.7	35.7	11.1	8.8

Consolidated revenue increased \$106.1, or 7.3%, to \$1,565.1 in 2006 from \$1,459.0 in 2005. HRS revenue increased \$49.7 in 2006 primarily due to higher interest income on invested customer funds resulting from higher interest rates and increased customer float balances, higher customer employment levels, the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar and increased customer demand partially offset by incremental revenue deferrals. SVS revenue increased \$28.0 primarily due to higher customer demand. Comdata revenue increased \$28.4 in 2006 due to higher customer demand, the benefit of higher fuel prices and the impact of price increases. Results for our HRS, SVS and Comdata segments are discussed below under Business Segment Results.

Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue increased slightly to 54.5% in 2006 from 54.4% in 2005. This included increased costs in the HRS segment related to our government contracts and an increase in stock-based compensation expense, offset by increased interest income on invested customer funds without significant incremental costs and reduced costs through reorganization efforts principally in our HRS segment.

SG&A expense decreased \$9.4, or 2.1%, to \$440.1 in 2006 from \$449.5 in 2005. This decrease was primarily due to cost savings resulting through reorganization efforts in our HRS segment, reductions in medical and post-retirement expenses and lowered pension expense primarily due to the pension remeasurement in 2006. These expense reductions were partially offset by increased stock-based compensation expense and general expense increases.

R&D expense decreased \$0.1 to \$28.6 in 2006 compared to \$28.7 in 2005. External consulting costs were lower partially offset by increases in internal cost and increased stock-based compensation.

In 2006, the loss on derivative instruments amounted to \$2.7 in 2006 compared to a loss of \$11.6 in 2005. The decreased loss included the impact of a \$2.3 loss from the sale of our interest rate derivative instruments in February 2005 while the remaining reduction of \$6.6 million resulted from the diesel fuel derivative instruments.

Other (income) expense, net for 2006 primarily relates to gain on the sale of marketable securities, sale of other assets and gain from the settlement of a lawsuit. Other (income) expense, net in 2005 resulted from asset impairments, partially offset by gain on sale of marketable securities and other assets.

Interest income in 2006 increased \$5.7 to \$13.5 compared to \$7.8 in 2005. The increase was driven by a higher average level of cash and equivalents and higher interest rates. Interest expense increased \$0.5 in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily driven by higher average interest rates.

Income taxes increased \$39.8 to \$85.7 in 2006 compared to \$45.9 in 2005. Our effective tax rate for 2006 was 33.0% compared to 26.4% for 2005. The effective tax rate for 2006 was favorably impacted by the expiration of the statute of limitations on an international tax contingency and a Canadian tax rate reduction. The statute expiration resulted in an \$8.6 decrease in income tax expense. The Canadian tax rate change impacted our deferred income tax balance and reduced income tax expense by \$2.8. The effective rate and income tax expense for 2005 were favorably impacted by a settlement of a tax matter that reduced income tax expense by \$13.0, the settlement of an audit of a former affiliate that resolved our potential obligation that reduced our tax expense by \$5.9, the expiration of the statute of limitations in various jurisdictions and other adjustments to our contingent tax liabilities that reduced income tax expense by \$5.6. In addition, in 2005 we repatriated foreign earnings from Ceridian Canada under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 resulting in an additional tax expense of \$5.2.

HRS

		Increase							
		Amount		(Decrease)		% of Revenue			
	2	006	2005	5	\$	%	2006	2005	
Revenue	\$1,	099.8	\$ 1,05	0.1	49.7	4.7	100.0	100.0	
Cost of revenue		630.0	60	2.9	27.1	4.5	57.3	57.4	
SG&A expense		360.1	37	3.7	(13.6)	(3.6)	32.7	35.6	
R&D expense		21.1	2	2.1	(1.0)	(4.6)	1.9	2.1	
Loss on derivative instruments				2.3	(2.3)	(100.0)		0.2	
Other (income) expense, net		(9.6)		4.5	(14.1)	(313.3)	(0.9)	0.4	
EBIT	\$	98.2	\$ 4	4.6	53.6	119.9	8.9	4.3	

HRS revenue increased \$49.7, or 4.7%, to \$1,099.8 in 2006 compared to \$1,050.1 in 2005. Revenue from U.S. operations increased \$22.6, or 2.8%, from \$799.8 to \$822.4, revenue from the Canadian operations increased \$24.5, or 15.5%, from \$158.1 to \$182.6, and revenue from the U.K. operations increased \$2.6, or 2.8%, from \$92.2 to \$94.8.

The increase in revenue from U.S. operations in 2006 included a \$26.2 increase in Payroll and Tax Services and a \$2.9 increase from Benefit Services, partially offset by a \$6.5 decrease in LifeWorks. The increase in Payroll and Tax Services revenue in 2006 was mainly driven by increases in interest income earned on invested customer funds of \$20.2, of which \$17.0 was from a higher average yield and \$3.2 was from a higher average invested balance. The increase in Benefit Services revenue of \$2.9 was primarily driven by increased customer employee participation and higher interest rates on invested customer funds. LifeWorks revenue decrease of \$6.5 was primarily from a reduction in business volume and lower pricing due to the competitive environment.

The Canadian revenue increase of \$24.5 included \$11.3 due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar, \$6.3 from additional interest income primarily resulting from a higher average invested balance, with the remainder of the increase attributed to growth in the payroll base and price increases. The U.K. revenue increase of \$2.6 was due to the strengthening of the British Pound Sterling against the U.S. dollar and increased volume.

HRS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue decreased to 57.3% in 2006 from 57.4% in 2005 mainly due to increased interest income on invested customer funds without significant incremental costs and reduced costs through reorganization efforts principally in our Payroll and Tax Services business, offset by an increase in expenses related to our LifeWorks business and an increase in stock-based compensation expense of \$2.6.

SG&A expense for HRS decreased \$13.6, or 3.6%, to \$360.1 in 2006 compared to \$373.7 in 2005 resulting from a decrease of \$11.6 in selling expense and of \$2.0 in general and administrative expense. The decrease in selling expense of \$11.6 was primarily the result of a U.S. Payroll reorganization and reduced headcount of

approximately \$16.0, partially offset by \$1.8 from additional stock-based compensation expense, \$1.3 due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar and general expense increases. The decrease in general and administrative expense of \$2.0 was primarily due to a \$5.7 reduction in medical and post-retirement expenses, a \$4.8 reduction related to a pension remeasurement in the second quarter of 2006, a \$4.7 reduction in severance charges and reduced professional fees of \$3.4, partially offset by \$8.5 of additional stock-based compensation expense, \$2.9 due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar and British pound sterling against the U.S. dollar, \$0.9 related to legal accruals and the remaining due to compensation and benefit increases.

R&D expense for HRS decreased \$1.0, or 4.6%, to \$21.1 in 2006 compared to \$22.1 in 2005. This decrease was a result of a large consulting project in 2005 that was not duplicated in 2006 partially offset by additional stock-based compensation expense of \$0.5 in 2006.

We maintained interest rate derivatives for the purpose of mitigating interest rate risk on customer funds until February 2005. In the first quarter of 2005, we recorded a loss of \$2.3 associated with the disposition of these derivative instruments. We held no interest rate derivatives in 2006.

Other (income) expense, net for 2006 primarily relates to a \$5.8 gain on the sale of a major portion of our 401(k) recordkeeping and administration business and a gain on sale of marketable securities and other assets of \$3.4. Other (income) expense, net in 2005 resulted from asset impairments of \$9.1, partially offset by a \$4.3 gain of sale of marketable securities and other assets.

HRS EBIT increased \$53.6, or 119.9%, to \$98.2 or 8.9% of revenue in 2006 compared to \$44.6 or 4.3% of revenue in 2005. The increase was primarily due to an improvement in operating performance in the U.S. HRS business driven by increased revenue, higher other income and a reduction in SG&A expenses.

SVS

		Increase						
	Amo	ount	(Decrease)		% of Revenue			
	2006	2005	\$	%	2006	2005		
Revenue	\$ 153.8	\$ 125.8	28.0	22.3	100.0	100.0		
Cost of revenue	122.6	100.0	22.6	22.6	79.7	79.6		
SG&A expense	13.5	6.8	6.7	98.5	8.8	5.4		
R&D expense	1.9	1.0	0.9	99.6	1.2	0.8		
EBIT	\$ 15.8	\$ 18.0	(2.2)	(12.2)	10.3	14.3		

SVS revenue increased \$28.0, or 22.3%, to \$153.8 in 2006 from \$125.8 in 2005. The increase was primarily due to higher levels of retail cards in use, greater transaction volume and the acquisition of HQ Giftcards, LLC (HQ Giftcards), a provider of mall gift card program management services, in the fourth quarter of 2006. SVS revenue is generally deferred and recognized largely over a six-month period following the activation of a card, which typically takes place about seven months after the shipment of the card to the retailer. Cards delivered increased 15.6% while transactions processed increased approximately 16.5% in 2006 over 2005.

SVS cost of revenue as a percent of revenue for 2006 increased to 79.7% compared to 79.6% in 2005 due to increased vendor card costs.

SG&A expense increased \$6.7 to \$13.5 in 2006 compared to \$6.8 in 2005. The increase is due to higher stock based compensation expenses, higher legal fees and litigation accruals, and an increase in selling expense due to growth in revenue and an increase in amortization expense related to acquisitions, partially offset by a reduction in medical and post-retirement expenses, a reduction in pension expense related to the pension remeasurement in the second quarter of 2006 and reduced other professional fee expenses.

R&D expense increased \$0.9 to \$1.9 in 2006 compared to \$1.0 in 2005 primarily due to staffing additions to develop new service offerings.

SVS EBIT decreased \$2.2 or 12.2%, to \$15.8 or 10.3% of revenue in 2006 compared to \$18.0 or 14.3% of revenue in 2005. This decrease was primarily due to the increases in SG&A expenses mainly due to higher legal fees and litigation expense as well as increased amortization expense related to acquisitions partially offset by increased revenue.

Comdata

		Increase					
	Amo	ount	(Decr	ease)	% of Revenue		
	2006	2005	\$	%	2006	2005	
Revenue	\$ 311.5	\$ 283.1	28.4	10.0	100.0	100.0	
Cost of revenue	99.8	90.3	9.5	10.5	32.1	31.8	
SG&A expense	66.5	69.0	(2.5)	(3.6)	21.3	24.4	
R&D expense	5.6	5.6			1.8	2.0	
Loss on derivative instruments	2.7	9.3	(6.6)	(70.6)	0.9	3.3	
Other income, net	(0.9)		(0.9)	NM	(0.3)		
EBIT	\$ 137.8	\$ 108.9	28.9	26.5	44.2	38.5	

NM represents comparisons that are not meaningful to this analysis.

Comdata revenue increased \$28.4, or 10.0%, to \$311.5 in 2006 from \$283.1 in 2005. This increase related primarily to revenue from the long haul business, which increased \$14.9, including a \$5.0 increase resulting from higher fuel prices. The remaining long haul revenue increase of \$9.9 primarily resulted from an increase in transaction volume in 2006 over 2005, reflecting in part the continued growing use of the Comdata Card. Local fleet revenue increased \$8.6 due to \$7.2 from new customers and greater utilization by major local fleet customers of Comdata s products and services, including the Comdata Card and a \$1.4 increase resulting from higher fuel prices. The remaining increase of \$4.9 is primarily from regulatory compliance services which increased \$5.2 due largely to price increases and improved delivery of services.

Comdata cost of revenue as a percent of revenue for 2006 increased to 32.1% compared to 31.8% in 2005. Cost of revenue included an increase in stock-based compensation expense. Cost of revenue as a percent of revenue was reduced by the benefit from higher fuel prices without significant incremental cost.

SG&A expense decreased \$2.5, to \$66.5 in 2006 compared to \$69.0 in 2005. The decrease is due to a reduction in bad debt expense of \$6.1 due to higher charges in 2005, a reduction in medical and postretirement expenses, a reduction in pension expense related to the pension remeasurement in the second quarter of 2006, and reduced other professional fee expenses. This was partially offset by litigation accruals, an increase in selling expense due to growth in revenue and increased stock-based compensation expense.

R&D expense remained flat at \$5.6 in 2006 in comparison to 2005.

The net loss on the diesel fuel price derivative instruments in 2006 was \$2.7 compared to \$9.3 in 2005. The net losses for the respective periods are the result of the increase in diesel fuel prices in relation to the derivative instrument commodity price. During late 2005 and early 2006, we acquired diesel fuel price derivative instruments covering approximately 80% of our anticipated 2006 diesel fuel price related earnings exposure with an average strike price of \$2.55 per gallon. During 2005, we covered approximately 100% of our diesel fuel price risk for the full year with a combination of instruments with an average strike price of \$1.92 per gallon.

Other income, net primarily reflects a \$1.0 gain from the settlement of a lawsuit.

Comdata EBIT increased \$28.9, or 26.5%, to \$137.8 or 44.2% of revenue in 2006 compared to \$108.9 or 38.5% of revenue in 2005 primarily due to a continued increase in customer demand, the benefit of higher fuel prices, and the reduced loss on diesel fuel price derivative instruments partially offset by increased litigation accruals.

Balance Sheets

Our consolidated balance sheets reflect operating assets and liabilities, as well as assets and liabilities related to customer funds. Customer funds assets primarily arise from amounts that our customers have advanced to us to pay their employees, remit to taxing authorities, or pay for benefits services to other third parties. Customer funds obligations primarily represent our liability to pay the amounts due to these third parties on behalf of our customers. Customer funds assets are held substantially in trust accounts and are invested in high-quality short-term investments or highly-rated fixed income securities and are not utilized in our operations except for earnings from those investments that are included in our revenue. Additional information on customer funds assets and liabilities can be found in Note 6, Customer Funds, to our audited consolidated financial statements.

Total assets before customer funds increased \$83.2 during the first quarter of 2008 as current assets increased \$127.3 and noncurrent assets decreased \$44.1. Our current asset increase was due to an increase of \$55.1 in trade and other receivables, net due primarily to growth in our Comdata and SVS businesses, an increase in cash and equivalents of \$52.1 and an increase of \$21.0 in prepaid assets primarily due to an increase in deferred costs. We discuss changes in cash and equivalents below in Cash Flows.

Total assets before customer funds increased \$3,774.0 during 2007 as current assets decreased \$133.7 and noncurrent assets increased \$3,907.7. The increase in noncurrent assets was driven by an increase of \$2,552.1 in goodwill and \$1,338.8 in intangible assets primarily as a result of the application of purchase accounting related to the Merger. Our current assets decrease was due to a decrease in cash and equivalents of \$196.1 partially offset by an increase of \$121.6 in trade and other receivables, net due to growth in our Comdata and SVS businesses. We discuss changes in cash and equivalents below in Cash Flows.

Current liabilities increased \$136.9 during the first quarter of 2008, due mainly to an increase in drafts and settlements payable of \$69.6, an increase in accrued interest of \$35.0 and an increase in deferred revenue of \$21.7. The increase in drafts and settlements payable occurred primarily at our Comdata business due to increases in transactions on the Comdata Card. The increase in accrued interest is due the timing of the interest payments and the increase in deferred revenue was largely due to the customer billings subsequent to the Merger that require deferral treatment due to our revenue recognition accounting policy.

Current liabilities decreased \$76.2 during 2007 due mainly to a decrease in deferred revenue of \$109.3 primarily due to the application of purchase accounting. Noncurrent liabilities increased \$3,754.5 due primarily to the increase in debt of \$3,448.2 that was used in the financing of the Merger. Stockholders equity increased \$116.2 as we received \$1,544.5 in net additional paid in capital as a result of the Merger, which was offset by the elimination of the preexisting stockholder s equity prior to the Merger.

Cash Flows

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Highlights

	S	uccess	or	Period	Predecessor Year l	Ended
	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Period from November 10 to December 31, 2007		from January 1 to November 9, 2007	Decem 2006	ber 31, 2005
Operating activities	\$ 66.9	\$	(50.7)	\$ 208.4	\$ 161.7	\$ 299.3
Investing activities	(12.9)		(4.8)	(50.1)	(74.1)	(43.1)
Financing activities	(1.4)		(302.1)	3.0	(157.2)	(129.8)
Effect of exchange rate on cash	(0.5)		(1.0)	1.2	1.4	2.2
Net cash flows provided (used)	52.1	\$	(358.6)	\$ 162.5	\$ (68.2)	\$ 128.6
Cash and equivalents at end of period <i>Operating Activities</i>	\$ 150.7	\$	98.6	\$ 457.2	\$ 294.7	\$ 362.9

Cash flows from operating activities provided cash of \$66.9 in the first quarter of 2008 primarily driven by cash inflows from working capital and net earnings adjusted for depreciation and amortization. Cash flows from operating activities provided cash of \$58.2 in the first quarter of 2007 primarily due to net earnings and the adjustment for depreciation and amortization.

Cash flows from operating activities in 2007 provided cash of \$157.7 compared to the cash provided of \$161.7 for 2006. The decrease of \$4.0 in operating cash flows in 2007 compared to 2006 largely reflected in a reduction net earnings of \$90.5 partially offset by a pension contribution of \$75.0 in 2006 that was not repeated in 2007.

Cash flows from operating activities in 2006 provided cash of \$161.7 compared to cash provided of \$299.3 for 2005. The decrease of \$137.6 in operating cash flows in 2006 compared to 2005 largely reflected the \$75.0 contribution to the U.S. defined benefit pension plan and an increase in working capital requirements of \$113.6 primarily due to higher fuel prices and extended payment terms for customers at Comdata, partially offset by higher earnings in 2006 compared to 2005 and an increase in deferred revenue.

Investing Activities

		Successor			Predecessor Year I Decem	
	Months Ended March 31, 2008	Period from November 10 to December 31, 2007		from January 1 to November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Capital expenditures	\$ (12.5)	\$	(8.1)	\$ (54.0)	\$ (53.0)	\$ (64.2)
Acquisitions of investments and businesses	(0.5)			(10.4)	(41.1)	(10.4)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	0.1		3.3	14.3	20.0	31.5
Net cash flows used	\$ (12.9)	\$	(4.8)	\$ (50.1)	\$ (74.1)	\$ (43.1)

Cash flows from investing activities used cash of \$12.9 for the first quarter of 2008, compared to cash used of \$23.9 for the first quarter of 2007. During the first quarter of 2008, our capital expenditures included \$4.4 for property and equipment and \$8.1 for technology. During the first quarter of 2007, our capital expenditures included \$10.9 for property and equipment, \$9.9 for acquisitions and \$5.2 for technology.

Table of Contents

During 2007, cash outflow from investing activities was \$54.9. Our capital expenditures included \$37.1 for property and equipment and \$25.0 for technology costs. Our expenditures for acquisitions of investments and

businesses (net of cash acquired) were \$10.4 primarily for one acquisition in Comdata for \$9.9. Cash inflows from sales of businesses and assets amounted to \$17.6 primarily from sales of our marketable securities, a sale of payroll platform in our HRS business segment and receipt of a contingent payment on a prior period sale.

During 2006, our capital expenditures included \$30.3 for property and equipment and \$22.7 for technology costs. Our expenditures for acquisitions of investments and businesses (net of cash acquired) were \$41.1 for two acquisitions in the fourth quarter of 2006. Cash inflows from sales of businesses and assets amounted to \$20.0 primarily from \$11.1 related to the sale of the major portion of our 401(k) recordkeeping and administration business in our HRS business segment in the third quarter of 2006 as well as the sale of marketable securities.

During 2005, our capital expenditures included \$31.4 for property and equipment and \$32.8 for technology costs. Our expenditures for acquisitions of investments and businesses (net of cash acquired) included the purchase of Tranvia, Inc., a provider of merchant card processing services, by Comdata for \$8.2 and \$1.8 in contingent payments made for previous acquisitions. Cash inflows from sales of businesses and assets amounted to \$31.5 including \$21.0 from the disposition of our HRS interest rate derivative instruments, \$7.8 from the sale of land and \$2.7 from the sale of marketable securities.

Financing Activities

	iccessor	Predecessor Period Year Ended				
	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Period from November 10 to December 31, 2007	from January 1 to November 9, 2007	Decem		
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net	\$	\$	\$ (94.0)	\$ (7.5)	\$ 11.5	
Repayment of other long-term obligations	(2.9)	(1.7)	(9.1)	(5.8)	(11.2)	
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation			30.7	22.1		
Proceeds from stock option exercises			75.4	150.8	92.2	
Acquisition of Ceridian Corporation		(5,305.3)				
Repurchase of common stock				(316.8)	(222.3)	
Proceeds from debt issuance		3,550.0				
Payment of debt issuance costs		(84.8)				
Payment of equity issuance costs		(60.3)				
Stock issuance	1.5	1,600.0				
Net cash flows provided (used)	\$ (1.4)	\$ (302.1)	\$ 3.0	\$ (157.2)	\$ (129.8)	

Cash flows from financing activities used cash of \$1.4 in the first quarter of 2008. We made principal payments of \$1.2 and \$1.7 on capital leases and a minimum royalty obligation, respectively and received \$1.5 of stock issuance proceeds from Ceridian Holding.

Cash flows from financing activities provided cash of \$48.3 for the first quarter of 2007. Proceeds from exercises of stock options amounted to \$48.5. We reduced Ceridian Canada s borrowings under our \$250.0 revolving credit facility by \$7.3, and we made principal payments of \$1.1 and \$1.6 on capital leases and a minimum royalty obligation with Ultimate, respectively.

Net cash outflows from financing activities totaled \$299.1 in 2007. We issued long-term debt of \$3,550.0 and issued stock for \$1,600.0 related to the Merger. We paid \$5,305.3 for the acquisition of Ceridian Corporation common stock. We repaid our pre-existing outstanding long-term obligations before the Merger; paid \$84.8 for debt issuance costs associated with the Merger, paid \$60.3 for equity issuance costs, including a payment of \$55.8 to the Sponsors; and made principal payments of \$4.4 on capital leases and \$6.4 on a royalty obligation during 2007. The benefit of tax deductions in excess of that recognized on share-based compensation expense is

classified as a financing cash flow, and accordingly, \$30.7 was reclassified from operating activities in accordance with the requirements of SFAS 123R. Proceeds from exercises of stock options and sales of stock to employees amounted to \$75.4.

Net cash outflows from financing activities amounted to \$157.2 in 2006. Included in revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net are payments of \$29.6 on our \$250.0 revolving credit facility offset by borrowings of \$27.0 on our Comdata receivables securitization facility to fund the acquisition of HQ Giftcards. We made principal payments of \$4.9 on capital leases and \$5.8 on a guaranteed minimum royalty obligation during 2006. We repurchased 13,046,500 shares of our common stock for \$316.8 on the open market at an average net price of \$24.27 per share. The benefit of tax deductions in excess of that recognized on share-based compensation expense is classified as a financing cash flow, and accordingly, \$22.1 was reclassified from operating activities in accordance with the requirements of SFAS 123R. Proceeds from exercises of stock options and sales of stock to employees amounted to \$150.8.

Our financing activities in 2005 resulted in cash outflows of \$129.8. In connection with the repatriation of funds from Ceridian Canada to the United States, Ceridian Canada borrowed \$40.6 under the Ceridian subfacility of our 2005 revolving credit facility. We reduced the amount outstanding on our Comdata receivables securitization facility by \$20.0 and the Ceridian U.K. overdraft facility by \$9.0 of which \$8.3 was attributable to debt reduction and \$0.7 was due to the foreign currency translation effect. In connection with the sale of our SourceWeb Assets in 2004, we accrued a liability of \$19.2 representing the fair value of an associated guaranteed future minimum royalty obligation. We made principal payments of \$5.3 related to the minimum royalty obligation during 2005. During 2005, we repurchased 10,736,450 shares of our common stock on the open market or from private parties at an average net price of \$20.71 per share, resulting in financing cash outflows of \$222.3 for settled trades. Proceeds from exercises of stock options and employee stock plan purchases amounted to \$92.2 during 2005.

For further information on financing cash flows, see Note 9, Financing, to our audited consolidated financial statements and below under Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We expect to meet our liquidity needs from existing cash balances, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities. We expect to use our cash flows for capital expenditures, investments in technology, potential acquisitions of complementary businesses to our existing operations and repayment of debt. Cash balances and cash flows are discussed under Cash Flows. Cash flows from operations are primarily influenced by the same factors that influence revenue and expense as discussed above in Results of Operations.

In connection with the Acquisition, Ceridian Intermediate issued 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock at \$10 per share. Subsequent to the Acquisition, Ceridian Intermediate issued 56,997 shares of preferred stock at \$10 per share. This preferred stock has a 13% cumulative dividend rate and we expect to fund the payment in future periods at the request of Ceridian Intermediate. As of March 31, 2008, Ceridian Intermediate had accrued and cumulative unpaid dividends of \$15.6.

Merger

In connection with the Merger, we executed the following financing arrangements: the senior secured credit facility, the 11 ¹/4% senior notes due 2015 and the 12 ¹/4%/13% senior toggle notes due 2015. These financial arrangements are summarized below. In addition, prior to the consummation of the Merger, we terminated our previous financing arrangements: the \$250.0 revolving five-year credit facility dated November 18, 2005 and the \$150.0 Comdata Receivables Securitization Facility. In connection with the debt issuance, we paid \$84.8, of which \$66.9 was recorded as deferred financing fees and \$17.9 as a debt discount. The debt discount and deferred financing fees will be amortized using the interest method over the term of the related debt.

Successor

Long-Term Debt

We incurred a substantial amount of indebtedness in connection with the Transactions. As of March 31, 2008, we had \$3,551.4 of debt outstanding.

The senior secured credit facilities that we entered into in connection with the Transactions consist of

a revolving credit facility of up to \$300.0 in revolving credit loans, swingline loans and letters of credit; and

a term loan facility of \$2,250.0, the entire amount of which was drawn concurrently with the consummation of the Transactions. In addition, we may, at our option, increase the senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$300.0 without the consent of any person other than the institutions agreeing to provide all or any portion of such increase.

We also issued in connection with the Transactions \$1,300.0 in aggregate principal amount of notes. For more information on the notes, see Description of the Notes.

For more information relating to our senior secured credit facilities see Description of Other Indebtedness Our ability to comply with our covenants under those facilities can be affected by events beyond our control. A breach of any covenant contained in either our senior secured facilities or the indenture governing the notes could result in a default under those agreements. If any such default occurs, the lenders under our senior secured credit facilities or the holders of the notes may elect (after the expiration of any applicable notice or grace periods) to declare all outstanding borrowings, together with accrued and unpaid interest and other amounts payable thereunder, to be immediately due and payable. In addition, a default under the indenture governing the notes would cause a default under the senior secured credit facilities, and the acceleration of debt under the senior secured credit facilities or the failure to pay debt when due would cause a default under the indenture governing the notes of \$50.0). The lenders under our senior secured credit facilities also have the right upon an event of default thereunder to terminate any commitments they have to provide further borrowings. Both the senior secured credit facilities and the indenture governing the notes restrict our ability to incur or guarantee additional debt or issue certain preferred stock; pay dividends or make distributions on our capital stock or redeem, repurchase or retire our capital stock or subordinated and certain other debt; make certain investments; create liens on our or subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the notes; make capital expenditures; enter into transactions with affiliates; merge or consolidate with another person or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; sell assets, including capital stock of our subsidiaries; alter the business that we conduct; and designate our subsidiaries as unrestricted subsidiaries.

If we fail to make any required payment under our senior secured credit facilities or to comply with any of the financial and operating covenants included in the senior secured credit facilities, we will be in default. Lenders under such facilities could then vote to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness and foreclose upon our and our subsidiaries assets securing such indebtedness. Other creditors might then accelerate other indebtedness. If any of our creditors accelerate the maturity of their indebtedness, we may not have sufficient assets to satisfy our obligations under the senior secured credit facilities or our other indebtedness, including the notes offered hereby. In addition, a default under the indenture governing the notes would cause a default under the senior secured credit facilities, and the acceleration of debt under the senior secured credit facilities or the failure to pay that debt when due would cause a default under the indenture governing the notes (assuming the amount of that debt is in excess of \$50.0). The lenders under our senior secured credit facilities also have the right upon an event of default thereunder to terminate any commitments they have to provide further borrowings.

Further, following an event of default under our senior secured credit facilities, the lenders under these facilities will have the right to proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that debt, which includes the available cash of our subsidiaries that guarantee the senior secured credit facilities. If the debt under our senior secured credit facilities or the notes offered hereby were to be accelerated, our assets may not be sufficient to repay in full that debt or any other debt that may become due as a result of that acceleration.

Our liquidity requirements increased significantly as a result of the Transactions, primarily due to the increased debt service requirements and financing costs relating to the indebtedness incurred in connection with the Transactions.

Fair Value of Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities, the fair value of long-term debt is \$3,304.8 at December 31, 2007 and the carrying value is \$3,532.1.

Priority of Debt

In the event of liquidation, the senior secured credit facility has priority over the Notes with respect to the proceeds of Collateral.

Other Debt Financing

At December 31, 2007, Ceridian U.K. maintained two overdraft facilities totaling £7.5 million. There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2007. The £6.5 million overdraft facility has been extended to March 2009 and the £1.0 million overdraft facility expired in March 2008. Our practice has been to renew these facilities on an annual basis.

In addition to the facilities described in this section above, Ceridian Canada had available at December 31, 2007 a committed bank credit facility that provided up to CDN \$5.0 million for issuance of letters of credit and it is renewed annually at the option of the bank. The amounts of letters of credit outstanding under this facility were CDN \$3.7 million (\$3.7) at December 31, 2007.

Capital Lease Obligations

Our capital lease obligations are \$2.6 at December 31, 2007. The remaining payments are due in 2008.

Predecessor

Revolving Credit Facility

The domestic revolving credit facility that we entered into on November 18, 2005 (2005 Revolving Credit Facility) provided up to \$250.0 (subject to possible increase, at our request as authorized by our Board of Directors and upon bank approval, up to \$400.0) in a combination of advances and letters of credit until November 18, 2010. This facility included a sublimit for \$25.0 for swingline loans, a \$100.0 U.S. dollar equivalent sublimit for loans made in Canadian dollars to Ceridian Canada (Canadian subfacility), and a \$50.0 U.S. dollar equivalent sublimit for multicurrency borrowings in certain currencies. The Canadian subfacility was used to meet the ongoing working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate needs of Ceridian Canada. The interest rate on the Canadian subfacility was the Eurocurrency Rate plus 115.0 basis points. As of December 31, 2006, there were no borrowings against this subfacility. Advances under the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility were unsecured. The terms of the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility required that our consolidated debt must not exceed 50% of our consolidated net worth, as defined in the agreement, as of the end of any fiscal quarter and the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense on a rolling four quarter basis must

be at least 2.75 to 1. The 2005 Revolving Credit Facility also contained covenants that, among other things, limit liens, subsidiary debt, contingent obligations, operating leases, minority equity investments and divestitures. The 2005 Revolving Credit Facility was terminated prior to the Merger.

Ceridian Canada s net borrowing under the Canadian subfacility was repaid as of September 30, 2007, and \$11.6 was outstanding as of December 31, 2006. The carrying amount approximated fair value.

Comdata Receivables Securitization Facility

In June 2007, Comdata renewed its existing \$150.0 receivables securitization facility by amending the agreements to extend the maturity date to June 12, 2010 with similar terms. Under this facility, Comdata sold receivables to a special purpose subsidiary, Comdata Funding Corporation, which resold the receivables to a third party commercial paper conduit (Conduit). The interest rate paid by Comdata was typically equal to the Conduit s pooled A-1/P-1 commercial paper rate (5.9% at September 30, 2007) plus program fees. However, in the event the Conduit was unable to sell commercial paper, the rate becomes the Prime rate or LIBOR plus 1.5% at Comdata s option. The amount outstanding at December 31, 2006 was \$82.0. The carrying amount approximated fair value. The aggregate amount of receivables serving as collateral amounted to \$307.1 at December 31, 2006. The amount outstanding is accounted for as long-term debt and the receivables remain on our consolidated balance sheet even though the receivables, up to the amount outstanding, are not available to satisfy claims of creditors. This facility was subject to financial covenants similar to those included in the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts outstanding under this facility were repaid and the facility was terminated prior to the Merger.

Equity Activities

In the period from January 1 to November 9, 2007, we did not repurchase any of our common stock on the open market. During 2006, we repurchased 13,046,500 shares of our common stock for \$316.7 on the open market at an average net price of \$24.27 per share.

We issued 3,998,858 shares in the period from January 1 to November 9, 2007, in connection with the exercise of stock options and granting of restricted stock awards from treasury stock at a cost of \$94.3 and a weighted average price of \$23.58 per common share. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we issued 8,656,078 shares in connection with the exercise of stock options and granting of restricted stock awards from treasury stock at a cost of \$196.1 and weighted average price of \$22.66 per common share.

Other Debt Financing

At December 31, 2006, Ceridian U.K. maintained two overdraft facilities totaling £7.5 million. There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2006. The £6.5 million overdraft facility has been extended to March 2009 and the £1.0 million overdraft facility expired in March 2008. Our practice has been to renew these facilities on an annual basis.

In addition to the facilities described in this section above, Ceridian Canada had available at December 31, 2006 a committed bank credit facility that provided up to CDN \$5.0 million for issuance of letters of credit and it is renewed annually at the option of the bank. The amounts of letters of credit outstanding under this facility were CDN \$3.9 million (\$3.3) at December 31, 2006.

Capital Lease Obligations

Our capital lease obligations were \$6.9 at December 31, 2006.

Financial Covenant Compliance

Our senior secured credit facility contains a covenant that requires Ceridian, the U.S. Borrower, and its restricted subsidiaries to maintain a maximum ratio of adjusted consolidated secured debt to EBITDA as defined in the senior secured credit facility (Credit Facility EBITDA) of 6.5 to 1.0, calculated for the trailing four quarters (as determined under our senior secured credit facility), commencing with the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2008. For the test periods commencing:

- (1) between January 1, 2008 and September 30, 2009, the maximum ratio is 6.50 to 1.0;
- (2) between October 1, 2009 and September 30, 2010, the maximum ratio is 6.25 to 1.0;
- (3) between October 1, 2010 and September 30, 2011, the maximum ratio is 6.00 to 1.0;
- (4) between October 1, 2011 and September 30, 2012, the maximum ratio is 5.75 to 1.0;
- (5) between October 1, 2012 and September 30, 2013, the maximum ratio is 5.50 to 1.0;
- (6) between October 1, 2013 and September 30, 2014, the maximum ratio is 5.25 to 1.0; and

(7) after October 1, 2014, the maximum ratio is 5.00 to 1.0.

Failure to comply with this covenant would result in an event of default under our senior secured credit facility unless waived by our senior security lenders. An event of default under our senior secured credit facility can result in the acceleration of our indebtedness under the facility, which in turn would result in an event of default and possible acceleration of our indebtedness under the agreement governing our other debt. As our failure to comply with the covenant described above can cause us to go into default under the agreements governing our indebtedness, management believes that our senior secured credit facility and this covenant is material to us. As of March 31, 2008, the Company was in compliance with the covenants described above.

We also measure the ratio of adjusted consolidated total debt to Credit Facility EBITDA because our senior secured credit facility contains a provision that will result in a decrease of the applicable interest rate of 0.25% if the ratio is lower than 6.25.

EBITDA is defined as net income plus interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is a measure used by management to measure operating performance. EBITDA is also used by investors to measure a company s ability to service its debt and meet its other cash needs. Management believes EBITDA is helpful in highlighting trends because EBITDA excludes the results of decisions that are outside the control of operating management and can differ significantly from company to company depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital structure, the tax jurisdictions in which companies operate and capital investments. In addition, EBITDA provides more comparability between the historical results of Ceridian and operating results that reflect purchase accounting and the new capital structure. Management compensates for the limitations of using non-GAAP financial measures by using them to supplement GAAP results to provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting the business than GAAP results alone.

Credit Facility EBITDA is defined as EBITDA further adjusted to exclude unusual items and other adjustments required or permitted in calculating covenant compliance under the indentures governing the notes and our new senior secured credit facilities. Credit Facility EBITDA is also used by management to measure operating performance and by investors to measure a company s ability to service its debt and meet its other cash needs. Management believes that the inclusion of the adjustments to EBITDA applied in presenting Credit Facility EBITDA are appropriate to provide additional information to investors about certain material non-cash items and about unusual items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

EBITDA and Credit Facility EBITDA are not recognized terms under GAAP. Accordingly, they should not be used as indicators of, or alternatives to, operating income and net income as measures of operating performance or cash flow from operating activities as a measure of liquidity. Additionally, EBITDA and Credit

Facility EBITDA are not intended to be measures of free cash flow available for management s discretionary use, as they do not consider certain cash requirements such as interest payments, tax payments and debt service requirements. Our presentation of EBITDA and Credit Facility EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools, and people who use the financial statements should not consider them in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Because the definitions of EBITDA and Credit Facility EBITDA (or similar measures) may vary among companies and industries, they may not be comparable to other similarly-titled measures used by other companies.

The senior secured credit facility agreement requires a calculation of Credit Facility EBITDA for the trailing four quarters on a quarterly basis. The following is a reconciliation of our net loss, for the trailing four quarters ending March 31, 2008, to Credit Facility EBITDA as defined above per our senior secured credit facility:

	Qua	ailing Four rters Ended rch 31, 2008
Net income	\$	20.9
Interest income		(19.0)
Interest expense		132.4
Income tax provision		34.3
Depreciation and amortization		122.2
EBITDA		290.8
Transaction costs ^(a)		41.6
Stock-based compensation		40.6
Purchase accounting impacts ^(b)		25.5
Severance ^(c)		12.3
Foreign currency remeasurement loss ^(d)		9.8
Customer fund investment write-down ^(e)		6.6
Litigation costs ^(f)		5.2
Asset sales ^(g)		(8.3)
Other ^(h)		16.7
Credit Facility EBITDA	\$	440.8

(a) Transaction costs primarily consist of expenses related to the evaluation of strategic alternatives for the Company, the 2007 proxy and fees associated with pre-Merger costs incurred.

- (b) Purchase accounting impacts primarily relate to the impacts of the Deferred Revenue Adjustment and Deferred Cost Adjustment.
- (c) Primarily consists of expenses associated with the termination of senior executives or other workforce reductions.
- (d) To facilitate the Merger, we placed \$110.0 of U.S. dollar-denominated debt in Ceridian Canada that will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. This amount represents the foreign currency remeasurement loss incurred.
- (e) Represents a write-down of our customer fund investment in Canada including related interest.
- (f) Represents charges for legal settlements and litigation costs.

Table of Contents

- (g) Represents gains on sales of assets and marketable securities.
- (h) This amount includes charges for restructuring, the Sponsors management fees and operating lease adjustments.

Contractual Obligations

The table below describes the future cash payments for which we are obligated under our financing agreements, capital and operating lease agreements, guaranteed purchase obligations and retirement plans as of December 31, 2007, whether they appear on our consolidated balance sheet. Variable interest payments are projected based on interest rates in effect at the end of 2007.

	Payments due by period						
	Less than one year	1-3 Years	3-5 Years	More than 5 years	Total		
Long-term debt	\$	\$ 45.0	\$ 67.6	\$ 3,437.4	\$ 3,550.0		
Capital leases	2.6				2.6		
Operating leases	46.1	69.8	40.8	59.7	216.4		
Interest payable on long-term debt	336.4	669.8	661.3	935.1	2,602.6		
Purchase obligations	19.3	5.0	0.8		25.1		
Postretirement plan obligations	4.4	9.3	9.6	33.6	56.9		
Retirement plan obligations	3.2	5.5	3.9	9.4	22.0		
Total	\$ 412.0	\$ 804.4	\$ 784.0	\$ 4,475.2	\$ 6,475.6		

Our long-term debt and capital lease obligations are described in Cash Flows section of this discussion and in Note 9, Financing, to our audited consolidated financial statements.

The capital lease payments represent scheduled payments under the terms of the lease agreements and include implicit interest. We conduct substantially all of our operations in leased facilities. Most of these leases contain renewal options and require payments for taxes, insurance and maintenance. We also lease equipment for use in our businesses.

Purchase obligations include minimum royalty payments and guaranteed purchase commitments with several vendors.

Payments of retirement plan obligations include employer commitments to fund our defined benefit and post-retirement plans and do not include estimated future benefit payments to participants expected to be made from liquidation of the assets in our defined benefit plan trusts. At December 31, 2007, our defined benefit pension plans had a projected benefit obligation that exceeded the fair value of the plans assets by \$22.0 and our post-retirement benefit plan had an accumulated benefit obligation that exceeded the fair value of the plans assets by \$56.9. We expect to satisfy these remaining obligations through investment income from and appreciation in the fair value of plan assets held in trust as well as by future employer contributions.

Our planned expenditures for capital assets in 2008 are expected to be \$84.0 with an estimated allocation of 80% to HRS, 7% to SVS and 13% to Comdata. The amount of our obligation to vendors for these expenditures at December 31, 2007 was not material, and no such amount is included in the table above.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions regarding uncertainties that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and our reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Additionally, management s judgment is required in selecting among available alternative accounting standards that allow different accounting treatment for similar transactions. Areas that require significant judgments, estimates and assumptions include revenue recognition; the determination of our liability for pensions and other post-retirement benefits; the assignment of fair values upon acquisition of goodwill and other intangible assets

and testing for impairment; the capitalization, amortization and impairment testing of technology; the valuation of certain customer fund investments and noncurrent assets; the determination of fair value and estimated expected life related to stock options granted; the determination of the allowance for doubtful accounts and reserve for sales adjustment; and the resolution of tax matters. We use historical experience, qualified independent consultants and all available information to make these judgments and estimates, and actual results will inevitably differ from those estimates and assumptions that are used to prepare the our financial statements at any given time. Despite these inherent limitations, we believe that our Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and consolidated financial statements and related notes provide a meaningful and fair perspective of our company.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from the sale of our products and services when the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the seller s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally, we rely on a signed contract between us and the customer as the persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement. We address these and the other criteria for revenue recognition in the following discussion of types of revenue within our business.

HRS Repetitive Business

The majority of our HRS revenue is generated by recurring monthly or quarterly fees from our Payroll and Tax Services business, Benefit Services business and LifeWorks business. This revenue is generated by service fees, income from investment of customer funds in lieu of additional fees, software maintenance and subscription fees.

Payroll and Tax Services. Generally, service fees for HRS payroll processing are contracted on a per transaction basis and recognized as revenue when transaction services are provided and the amount is billable. We also recognize payroll revenue from customer funds held temporarily pending remittance to the customers employees. These payroll deposits are primarily invested through grantor trusts. We derive and recognize investment income in lieu of additional fees as a component of revenue as earned.

Our tax filing services consist primarily of: (1) collecting funds for federal, state and local employment taxes from customers based on payroll information provided by the customers; (2) remitting funds collected to the appropriate taxing authorities; (3) filing applicable returns; and (4) handling related regulatory correspondence and amendments for customers. Revenue from these tax filing services is billed and recognized as the services are provided, generally on a monthly basis. We hold our customers tax filing deposits for the period between collection and remittance of the funds to the applicable taxing authority. These tax filing deposits are invested through a grantor trust. We derive and recognize this investment income in lieu of additional fees as a component of revenue as earned.

Payroll processing and tax filing services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence of standalone value for most services. Where fair value cannot be established on the undelivered element, revenue (and the related direct costs of revenue) for the delivered elements are deferred and recognized ratably over the remaining repetitive processing period commencing upon completion of implementation consulting services.

Benefit Services. We provide employee health and welfare benefits administration services to our customers. Employee health and welfare benefits administration services related primarily to COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act). Health and welfare benefits administration services also encompass benefits provided to active employees, such as (1) annual health plan enrollment, (2) ongoing employee enrollment and eligibility services, (3) tuition refund plans, (4) transportation reimbursement under the Transportation Equity Act, and (5) Internal Revenue Code Section 125 plans (Flexible Spending), which include fully administered and self-administered flexible spending accounts and premium-only plans.

We also provide retirement planning services that include: (1) administration services for benefits provided to retired and inactive employees, which include retiree healthcare, disability, surviving dependent, family leave and severance benefits; and (2) defined benefit plan administration, ESOP administration and Qualified Domestic Relations Order administration.

Revenue for COBRA services is generally earned and recognized as the services are provided. Revenue associated with other health and welfare benefits administration and retirement planning services is generally recognized monthly based on the number of employees that receive or participate in the benefit.

Benefit Services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence of standalone value for most services. Where fair value cannot be established on the undelivered element, revenue (and the related direct costs of revenue) for the delivered elements are deferred and recognized ratably over the remaining repetitive processing period commencing when all elements are delivered.

LifeWorks. We provide work-life, employee assistance, health and productivity, and FMLA administration solutions to our clients. LifeWorks services are delivered through on-line access and telephonically, and through face-to-face counseling provided by referral resources. Contracted fees for these services are generally billed monthly or quarterly. Revenue is generally earned and recognized ratably over the term of the contract based on the number of customer employees served and the level of service.

HRS Non-Repetitive Business

We generate revenue from delivery of professional services (i.e., data conversion, implementation and training) and shipment of materials.

Revenue from professional services is non-refundable and is determined either on a time and materials basis or firm fixed fee. If these services or materials are sold on a standalone basis, revenue is recognized as the professional services or materials are delivered. When professional services or materials are sold as part of a multiple element arrangement, we allocate revenue first to the fair value of the undelivered element(s) and allocate the residual revenue to the delivered element(s) which revenue is typically recognized over the one- to four-month implementation and conversion period. In the absence of fair value for an undelivered element(s), the arrangement is accounted for as a single unit of accounting, resulting in a deferral of revenue recognized ratably over the remaining expected life of the customer relationship.

SVS

SVS sells stored value cards and provides subsequent transaction processing and reporting services. Customers may also choose to purchase cards alone. SVS recognizes revenue for card sales without services upon shipment.

For card sales with future processing services, revenue on both the card sales and services are deferred and reported on the consolidated balance sheets in other current assets. Costs associated with the services are recognized as incurred. The deferred income and deferred cost on the card sale are both recognized in earnings over the estimated life of the card, which includes the transaction processing period. The recognition period is 30 months, beginning upon activation of the card. The deferred income on the services where we charge a fee upon card activation for unlimited transactions is recognized in earnings over the same 30-month period, beginning when the fee is assessed. The deferred income on the services where we charge a fee upon the services where we charge a fee each time a transaction is processed is recognized in earnings over the same 30-month period, beginning when the fee is assessed. Our history of providing services to our customers indicates that (1) we can expect activation of a card within approximately eight months following card shipment, and (2) during the six months following the activation of a card, approximately 90% of the services have been performed.

Sales of cards under either arrangement do not include a right of return of the cards shipped.

Comdata

Comdata s payments system is designed to enable truck drivers to obtain funding for purchases and cash advances at truck stops and other locations en route to their destinations. Drivers may use the Comdata Card to purchase fuel and other approved items, obtain cash advances from automated teller machines or through the use of Comchek drafts and make direct deposits of pay, settlements or trip advances to personal bank accounts. Revenue from card transactions is based on a per transaction fee that is based on either a fixed amount or a percentage of the face value of the transaction and is recognized when the transaction is processed.

Comdata purchases accounts receivable due to trucking companies from manufacturers and shippers at a discount and with recourse back to the trucking company in the event of non-payment. This service allows trucking companies to receive payment on shipping invoices sooner. The non-refundable discount represents adequate compensation charged for servicing the receivables over a 30-day period with certain customers. If the collection period extends beyond 30 days, a non-refundable additional fee is charged for each month of servicing. After 90 days, an uncollected receivable can be returned to the seller for its face value. Comdata recognizes revenue from the discounted fee in the month of the purchase and the additional fees for servicing as it becomes entitled to collect the fee.

Comdata also provides fueling centers with: (1) PC-based, point-of-sale systems that automate the various transactions that occur at a fuel purchase desk; and (2) pay-at-the pump systems that enable customers to transact card-based fuel purchases at the pump. Revenue from the sale of PC-based point of sale equipment and pay-at-the-pump equipment is recognized based on shipping and installation terms. Recurring service revenues for these activities are recognized as earned. Support and maintenance contracts are generally for 12-month periods and are invoiced annually with the revenues recognized on a straight-line basis over the maintenance period. These products and services are all sold separately; accordingly, we have standalone value for each product and service. Separate sales also establish the fair value of each of the products and services sold in the event a customer contracts with us for multiple products and/or services. Sales of equipment under these arrangements do not include a right of return.

Gross Versus Net Revenue

We include in revenue amounts that we bill for and remit to third-party vendors for associated products and services as required on a gross basis as a principal rather than net as an agent when the following conditions are met: (1) we are the primary obligor in the arrangement with the customer; (2) we have credit risk and inventory risk; (3) we have latitude in the establishment of pricing, subject to general economic restraints; and (4) we have full discretion in vendor selection.

Determination of Our Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Reserve for Sales Adjustment

We assess the collectibility of our accounts receivable based primarily on the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and analysis, as well as the customer s payment history. The amount established for the allowance for doubtful accounts is dependent on various matters including changes in the customer s financial condition and general economic factors such as the price of diesel fuel.

We assess the reserve for sales adjustment based on an analysis of historical trends. The amount established for the reserve for sales adjustment is dependent on various matters including customer negotiations and the notification of disputes by the customer.

Assignment of Fair Values Upon Acquisition of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and Testing for Impairment

In the event of a business combination, we are required to assign fair values to all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets such as customer lists, trademarks, technology and covenants not to compete. We are also required to determine the useful life for amortizable assets acquired. These determinations require significant judgments, estimates and assumptions and, when material amounts are involved, we generally utilize the assistance of independent valuation consultants. The remainder of the purchase cost of the acquired business not assigned to identifiable assets or liabilities is then recorded as goodwill. Although goodwill is no longer subject to amortization, we reassess the carrying value of goodwill annually, or more frequently when certain developments occur, for impairment of that value.

A number of significant assumptions and estimates are involved in determining the current fair value of the reporting unit including operating cash flows, markets and market share, sales volumes and prices and working capital changes. We consider historical experience and all available information at the time the fair values of our reporting units are estimated. However, actual fair values that could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the impairment of goodwill. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the reporting units to the recorded value (including goodwill).

If the recorded value (including goodwill) of a reporting unit exceeds its current fair value, then to the extent that the recorded value of goodwill of the reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination is determined. That is, the fair value of a reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that reporting unit including any unrecognized intangible assets and the excess is the implied fair value of goodwill.

We also test long-lived assets, including other intangible assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of such an asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that might indicate an impairment of carrying value include:

a significant decrease in the market value of the asset or asset group;

a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which the asset or asset group is used or in its physical condition;

a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate that could affect the value of the asset or asset group, including an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;

an accumulation of costs significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of the asset or asset group; and

a current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of the asset or asset group.

When the need for such a test is indicated, we consider such factors as whether the amortization of the carrying values for these assets for each operating unit can be recovered through forecasted undiscounted cash flows over their remaining economic life.

Capitalization, Amortization and Impairment Analysis of Technology

Our technology efforts are substantially for internal use and, as indicated in Note 1, Accounting Policies Technology, we rely on AICPA Statement of Position 98-1 (SOP 98-1) for accounting guidance. Therefore, for our modification or development efforts, we need to identify by nature and by stage of development those costs that are to be capitalized rather than charged to operations as incurred. We also need to identify the point at

which the modified or developed technology is ready for use, capitalization of cost will cease and amortization of that cost will begin. Costs incurred subsequent to the ready for use date will generally be charged to operations and only capitalized if justified as a material improvement in the functionality of the capitalized technology product.

We regularly review the carrying value of technology in connection with our impairment analysis of other long-lived assets and recognize a loss when the value of estimated undiscounted net cash flow benefit related to the asset group falls below the unamortized cost, or when abandoned.

Determination of Our Liability for Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits

We present information about our pension and post-retirement benefit plans in Note 10, Retirement Plans, to our audited consolidated financial statements. The determination of the liabilities and expenses for pensions and other post-retirement benefits are accomplished with the assistance of independent actuaries using actuarial methodologies and incorporating significant assumptions, including the rate used to discount the future estimated liability, the long-term rate of return on plan assets, and several assumptions relating to the employee workforce (salary increases, medical costs, retirement age and mortality). The rate used to discount future estimated liabilities is determined considering three independently prepared yield curves, taking into consideration the timing of the estimated defined benefit payments. The impact on the liabilities of a change in the discount rate of ¹/4 of 1% would be approximately \$16.6 and approximately \$0.6 to pre-tax earnings in the following year. The long-term rate of return is estimated by considering historical returns and expected returns on current and projected asset allocations and is generally applied to a five-year average market value of assets. A change in the assumption for the long-term rate of return on plan assets of ¹/4 of 1% would impact pre-tax earnings by approximately \$1.6.

Determination of Fair Value and Estimated Expected Life Related to Stock Options Granted

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of, and account for stock-based compensation in accordance with, SFAS 123R. Under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, we measure stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and recognize the compensation expense over the requisite service period, which is usually the vesting period. We elected the modified-prospective method of adopting SFAS 123R under which prior periods are not retroactively restated. The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to awards granted after the effective date. Estimated stock-based compensation expense for awards granted prior to the effective date but that remain unvested on the effective date will be recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost estimated for the SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures.

The adoption of SFAS 123R had a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and the statement of cash flows. However, we believe that stock-based compensation aligns the interests of employees with the interests of shareholders. See Note 11, Stock-Based Compensation Plans, to our audited consolidated financial statements for further information regarding our stock-based compensation plans.

We use the Black-Scholes standard option pricing model (Black-Scholes model) to determine the fair value of stock options with term-based vesting conditions. The determination of the fair value of the awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions of other variables, including the risk-free interest rate and expected volatility of our stock price in future periods.

We use an integrated Monte Carlo simulation model and a trinomial lattice model to determine fair value of the performance-based options. The Monte Carlo model calculates probability of satisfying the market conditions stipulated in the award. This probability is an input into the trinomial lattice model used to fair value the options as well as assumptions of other variables, including the risk-free interest rate and expected volatility of our stock price in future periods.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions for estimating stock-based compensation expense in future periods or if we adopt a different valuation model, the future periods may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period and could materially affect our net earnings.

The Black-Scholes model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable, characteristics not present in our option grants. Existing valuation models, including the Black-Scholes and lattice binomial models, may not provide reliable measures of the fair values of our stock-based compensation. Consequently, there is a risk that our estimates of the fair values of our stock-based compensation. Consequently, there is a risk that our estimates of the fair values of our stock-based awards on the grant dates may bear little resemblance to the actual values realized upon the exercise or forfeiture of those stock-based awards in the future. Some employee stock options may expire worthless, or only realize minimal intrinsic value, as compared to the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and recognized in our financial statements. Alternatively, some employee stock options may realize significantly more value than the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and recognized in our financial statements. Currently, there is no market-based mechanism or other practical application to verify the reliability and accuracy of the estimates stemming from these valuation models, nor is there a means to compare and adjust the estimates to actual values.

Successor

To determine fair value of both term and performance based stock options, the risk-free interest rate used was based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues with remaining term equal to the contractual term of the option. The estimated volatility of our common stock is based on the historical 120-month volatility data for selected comparable public companies and our actual volatility for a six year period before the Merger. Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, we use an expected dividend yield of zero. The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. We estimate option forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We analyze historical data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense for those awards expected to vest. We recognize term-based stock compensation expense using the straight-line method.

To estimate the expected life of term-based options, we have used the simplified method allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, Share-Based Payment. Our historical experience (subsequent to the Merger) is too limited to be able to reasonably estimate expected life and historical experience of options granted by Ceridian Holding subsequent to the Merger.

Predecessor

To determine fair value, we analyzed historical employee exercise and termination data to estimate the expected life assumption. We believed that historical data represented the best estimate of the expected life of a new employee option. We also stratified our employee population based upon distinctive exercise behavior patterns. The risk-free interest rate used was based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues. The estimated volatility of our common stock was based on historical daily volatility levels of our common shares. We believed the historical data represented the best estimate of the volatility. Because we did not anticipate paying any cash dividends, we used an expected dividend yield of zero. The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognized during a period was based on the portion of the awards that were ultimately expected to vest. We estimated option forfeitures at the time of grant and revised those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differed from those estimates. We analyzed historical data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and recorded stock-based compensation expense for those awards expected to vest.



Tax Matters

As a company with operations in many states in the United States, as well as in the United Kingdom and Canada, we record an estimated liability and expense for income and other taxes based on what we determine will likely be paid in the various tax jurisdictions in which we operate. The liabilities ultimately realized and paid are dependent on various matters including the resolution of the tax audits in the various affected tax jurisdictions and may differ from the amounts recorded. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an amendment of FASB Statement 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the application of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, by establishing a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any part of the benefit of that position to be recognized in the financial statements. In addition to recognition, FIN 48 provides guidance concerning measurement, derecognition, classification, and disclosure of income tax positions. We adopted the new standard January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognized no adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits. We are continuing to follow our practice of classifying our interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of our income tax provision.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability, and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. On February 2, 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 157-2, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for one year for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). SFAS No. 157 and FSP No. FAS 157-2 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company has elected a partial deferral of SFAS No. 157 under the provisions of FSP No. FAS 157-2 related to the measurement of fair value used when evaluating goodwill, other intangible assets and other long-lived assets for impairment and valuing asset retirement obligations and liabilities for exit or disposal activities. The impact of partially adopting SFAS No. 157 did not have a material effect on the results of our operations or financial position. For the portion of SFAS No. 157 that will become effective January 1, 2009, we are currently evaluating the impact on our non-financial assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. SFAS No. 159 allows entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities at fair value in situations in which they are not otherwise required to be measured at fair value. If a company elects the fair value option for an eligible item, changes in that item s fair value in subsequent reporting periods must be recognized in current period earnings. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to draw comparison between entities that elect different measurement attributes for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company did not elect the fair value option for any of its existing financial assets and liabilities.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. SFAS No. 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51 and establishes standards of accounting and reporting on noncontrolling interests in consolidated statements, provides guidance on accounting for changes in the parent s ownership interest in a subsidiary and establishes standards of accounting of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary due to the loss of control. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and is not expected to have an effect on our results of operations or financial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations. The objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a business combination and its effects. To accomplish that, this statement establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer: recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, to provide an enhanced understanding of an entity s use of derivative instruments, how they are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and their effect on the entity s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

Interest Rate Market Risk

Our primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk. We invest funds held temporarily for our clients in interest bearing instruments, earning interest income in lieu of additional service fees. Interest income from customer funds is recorded as revenue net of any interest credits due clients. In addition, we hold short-term investments for our own account for liquidity purposes and issue debt instruments, with related interest income and interest expense recorded as such in the statement of operations. All interest rate sensitive instruments are held in portfolios for investment purposes, and no such instruments are held in trading portfolios. Our interest rate risk exposures are summarized in the table below.

	Invested Customer Funds	Ceridian Short-term Investments	Variable Rate Debt Instruments	Net Position
Average balances				
2007	\$ 3,293.5	\$ 358.0	\$ (379.3)	\$ 3,272.2
2006	2,998.1	296.3	(89.8)	3,204.6
2005	2,769.6	256.5	(61.2)	2,964.9
Average interest rate				
2007	4.36%	5.98%	7.73%	4.15%
2006	4.40	4.56	5.46	4.39
2005	3.81	3.05	4.15	3.74
Interest income (expense)				
2007	\$ 143.7	\$ 21.4	\$ (29.3)	\$ 135.8
2006	132.0	13.5	(4.9)	140.6
2005	105.5	7.8	(2.5)	110.8

As of March 31, 2008, our invested customer funds were \$4,246.9, our short-term investments were \$121.5 and variable rate debt instruments were \$2,250.0. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2008, our interest revenue of \$38.1 declined by \$4.4 compared to the first three months of 2007. This was due to the negative impact of falling interest rates of \$7.6, offset by a \$3.2 positive impact of higher investment balances. In 2007, our interest revenue increased \$11.7 compared to 2006, with \$13.0 due to higher investment balances offset by a \$1.3 decline due to lower interest rates. The increase in interest revenue from invested customer funds in 2006 over 2005 of \$26.5 consisted of \$17.8 related to higher interest rates and \$8.7 due to higher average invested balances.

For the 2007 and 2006 and for the first quarter of 2008, we held no interest rate derivative instruments. On February 4, 2005, we sold all of our interest rate derivative instruments we then held, recording a realized loss of \$2.3 in the first quarter of 2005. No interest rate derivative instruments were purchased in 2005 subsequent to the disposition of all such instruments on February 4, 2005.

We further discuss interest rate derivative contracts in Note 2, Accounting Policies Cash and Investments, including Derivatives, and Note 4, Investing Activity, to our audited consolidated financial statements.

We manage our interest rate risk by modeling the impact of changes in interest rates on interest income and interest expense. In modeling our overall interest rate market risk, we make assumptions about levels of customer funds, short-term investments, variable rate debt instruments, interest rate derivative instruments and the levels and shapes of the interest rate curves in the United States and Canada. At December 31, 2007, we held no interest rate derivative instruments, and we assume no interest rate derivative instruments are purchased for purposes calculations presented here. The amount of prepayment risk in the investment portfolios is negligible and therefore excluded from this analysis. Also at that date, we had issued \$2,250.0 term loans that pay interest based on variable interest rates, an amount that exceeds assumed variable rate invested client funds and our short-term investments, resulting in expected net variable interest expense. Based on these assumptions, we estimate that for rising interest rate scenarios, net interest expense will increase \$4.2 annually for each 100 basis points increase in interest rates for the full year of 2008. For falling interest rate scenarios, net interest expense will decline by a like amount.

Fuel Price Market Risk

Our Comdata business revenue and net earnings is exposed to variability based on changes in the price of diesel fuel and gasoline. In certain cases, Comdata earns fee revenue for card transactions based on a percentage of the total amount of each fuel purchase. An increase or decrease in the price of fuel increases or decreases the total dollar amount of fuel purchases and Comdata revenue, accordingly.

We manage our fuel price risk by modeling the impact of changes in fuel prices on transaction fee revenue and net income. Diesel fuel and gasoline price derivative instruments or similar instruments may be purchased as part of our risk management program and the effects of these instruments are modeled as part of our overall fuel risk sensitivity position. No fuel price derivative instruments were held at March 31, 2008.

As reported by the U.S. Department of Energy, the average price per gallon of highway diesel fuel number 2 was \$2.88 in 2007, \$2.70 in 2006 and \$2.40 in 2005. These rising diesel fuel prices increased Comdata revenue approximately \$3.4 in 2007, \$5.7 in 2006 and \$10.4 in 2005 but were offset by realized losses on diesel fuel price derivative contracts of \$1.5 in 2007, \$2.9 in 2006 and \$8.2 in 2005.

In February 2007, we entered into diesel fuel price derivative instruments that had the effect of hedging approximately 30% of our anticipated fuel exposure for 2007 with an average strike price of \$2.65 per gallon. We estimate that for diesel fuel number 2, a 10 cent change in the annual average price impacts Comdata revenue and pretax income by \$2.0.

Similar to diesel fuel price risk, our Comdata business revenue and net income are subject to variability based on changes in gasoline prices. We estimate that for each 10 cent change in the annual average price of gasoline, Comdata s revenue and pretax income are impacted \$0.5. Due to increases in the average price of gasoline during 2007 and 2006, Comdata s revenue was \$0.4 higher in 2007 and \$0.7 higher in 2006 from what it would have been had gasoline prices remained stable during those years.

BUSINESS

Overview

We are a provider of outsourced processing services to a diverse customer base in a wide range of industries. We operate through three principal business segments, HRS, SVS and Comdata.

Human Resource Solutions

Our HR solutions are designed to help companies more easily and effectively manage their workforce and the information integral to HR processes while reducing costs and enabling them to focus on their core businesses. We offer a broad range of HR outsourcing services built around a core capability of payroll processing. Over time we have complemented our payroll processing services by adding additional HR outsourcing services, including benefits administration and integrated health and productivity services. This strategy has enabled us to offer our customers comprehensive HR outsourcing solutions that the market increasingly demands.

SVS

SVS is a provider and processor of stored value cards to customers principally in the retail, restaurant, airline, hospitality and entertainment, and service industries in the United States. SVS provides stored value card programs to merchants for use as gift cards, credits for returned products and retail promotions.

Comdata

Comdata is a provider of credit and debit cards, including fuel cards and employer pay cards, and processor of card transactions for various industries in the United States, including the transportation industry. As a transaction processor, Comdata s platforms support both its proprietary and branded card networks, as well as card processing for certain other card types.

Our Strengths

Market Positions. We believe that our size, scale and market positions will enable us to continue to capitalize on the growth within our markets.

HRS We are one of only three major providers in the U.S. payroll processing market with a 5% market share and, with ADP, one of two leading providers serving the mid-market segment in the United States. We have used our strong U.S. Payroll market position to build significant positions in our other HR market segments. We believe Ceridian Canada is one of two market leaders in Canada, with approximately 25% market share, and significant brand recognition. Ceridian UK is a payroll processing provider in the United Kingdom.

SVS We are a provider to retailers in the high growth stored value card market.

Comdata We are a provider of fleet payment cards and related services to the U.S. long-distance trucking industry. *Stable, Recurring Revenue.* Our business model is predicated on providing our customers with transaction-based, core services that are recurring in nature. The services that we provide, such as enabling HRS customers to pay their employees and transportation customers to purchase fuel, are generally essential to our customers businesses. We also benefit from employees unwillingness to take risks in switching providers due to potential business interruptions and the relatively low cost of our services. This in turn results in a large base of recurring revenue each year and significant visibility on projected revenue.

Strong Cash Flow. Our capital expenditures for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, were approximately 4% and 3% of sales, respectively. We benefit from our scalable operating platforms, which enable us to generate additional revenue with modest incremental capital investment. We expect that the strong historic retention of our revenue base along with our disciplined approach toward spending will enable us to continue generating consistent cash flow.

Well-Diversified Customer Base. We benefit from a large customer base with limited customer concentration. Our top 10 customer accounts were less than 7% of revenue and our single largest customer was less than 3% of revenue during 2007. We believe this customer diversity reduces our reliance on any single customer.

Highly Experienced Management Team. Kathryn V. Marinello joined Ceridian as President and Chief Executive Officer in October 2006 from GE where she was President and Chief Executive Officer of GE Fleet Services. Since joining us, Ms. Marinello has significantly strengthened our senior management team by hiring Gregory J. Macfarlane, Perry H. Cliburn, Michael F. Shea and Kairus K. Tarapore.

Unique Private Equity/Corporate Sponsorship. We benefit from the ownership and support of THL Partners and FNF. Both THL Partners and FNF have significant experience investing in businesses similar to Ceridian. In addition to the financial expertise that THL Partners and FNF provide, FNF also brings meaningful operational expertise. FNF also brings cross-selling and distribution opportunities. We expect that THL Partners and FNF s unique combination of financial and operational expertise will continue to enable us to execute our strategic plan.

Our Strategy

Our goals are to continue to increase the value we deliver to our customers, streamline our operations and grow our business profitably. We intend to execute our goals through the following business strategies:

Capitalize on Our Market Positions. We believe our market positions will enable us to benefit from the growth opportunities available in our markets. As a payroll provider, we should benefit from the continued trend toward payroll and HR outsourcing. Accordingly, we intend to use our position to attract new customers to our core payroll business while further growing our Benefits, LifeWorks and HRO operating units. In Comdata, we will continue to expand our product offerings, services and network to increase our customer base and enable our customers to control their spending on a wider range of goods and services. In SVS, we intend to continue using our market position to capture increased global market share in this growing industry and winning large accounts that other providers may not be as well-situated to handle.

Execute U.S. HRS Operating Improvement Plan. Our U.S. HRS operating unit has specific initiatives underway to improve its margins while also improving customer service quality. We believe there is significant potential to increase U.S. HRS margins. Our operating improvement plan consists of several initiatives to significantly improve results, including the following four key initiatives that will be implemented in a phased approach:

Workforce Reduction. We targeted a 10% reduction (approximately 550 employees) in our U.S. HRS workforce and corporate infrastructure and have reduced our workforce by 560 employees as of March 31, 2008. The workforce reduction is expected to simplify and streamline our business with minimal impact on sales and customer-facing employees. We expect this workforce reduction will reduce operating expenses by approximately \$41 million on an annualized basis by the end of 2008.

Selling, General and Administrative Spending Rationalization. We are targeting a reduction in SG&A spending through initiatives, including consolidating facilities, more efficient vendor management and purchasing and reductions in corporate overhead spending. We expect this targeted reduction in SG&A spending will reduce operating expenses by approximately \$25 million on an annualized basis by the end of 2008.

Streamlined Technology Spending. We are targeting cost efficiencies in technology spending through several initiatives including: (i) minimizing investments in and phasing out legacy platforms and applications and focusing on a few key development projects; (ii) outsourcing certain technology functions; and (iii) negotiating cost-effective technology supplier agreements. We expect that streamlined technology spending will reduce operating expenses by approximately \$20 million on an annualized basis by the end of 2008.

Business Process Improvements. We are targeting business process improvements including transferring certain processes offshore and streamlining and improving new customer implementations, customer service and other HRS processes. We are currently finalizing negotiations with offshore service companies and the timeline over which to transfer certain processes. Other initiatives include reengineering and simplifying implementation processes to enable us to double the number of new customer additions with existing resources. We expect these business process improvements will reduce operating expenses by approximately \$15 million on an annualized basis by the end of 2008.

When fully executed by the end of 2008, we believe these initiatives will generate \$100 million in annualized cost savings. We expect to incur one-time costs of approximately \$50 million in connection with their execution by the end of 2008. We believe these initiatives can generate an additional \$50 million in annualized cost savings beyond 2008 (for a total of \$150 million). We further believe that our plan is highly achievable based on several key elements: (i) savings are clearly identifiable and consistent with competitive benchmarks; (ii) our new management team has a proven track record of realizing cost reductions; and (iii) we have already executed on several initiatives that we believe will generate approximately \$50 million in annualized cost savings. The Sponsors have worked extensively with our new management team to increase the achievability and accelerate the timing of this operating improvement plan and will provide valuable expertise in executing our cost savings and technology strategies. We believe our operating improvement plan will make U.S. HRS a more efficient and streamlined business, providing better customer service and more capable of capturing the growth opportunities available in the market.

Improve Customer Service and Retention Rates. Our primary focus is on providing timely and reliable service to our customers. We believe our operating improvement plan will further enhance customer service by creating a leaner and more efficient company. For example, through more efficient work flow management, we plan to reduce our call center wait times leading to quicker and more reliable customer service. Also, we plan to streamline certain areas of our organization to place senior executives in a position to be closer and more responsive to customers and their needs. We believe that better customer service will further improve retention rates yielding stronger revenue growth and margins.

Increase Sales through Improved Sales Force and Sales Processes and New Distribution Partners. We have executed an upgrade of our U.S. Payroll sales force by replacing underperformers with new hires. In conjunction with this new hiring plan, we have implemented new accountability measures, including weekly sales force effectiveness reviews with Ms. Marinello directly driving the effort. As the new sales force continues to mature, we expect new sales order improvements and better customer service. We are also targeting new sales channels by developing distribution relationships with new partners including banks, credit unions, affinity partnerships, third-party administrator networks and insurance brokers. We intend to leverage FNF s extensive relationships as part of this strategy.

Expand into Complementary Markets. We intend to expand our offering of processing services to companies and industries with similar needs as our core customers. For example, U.S. Payroll is targeting the small market segment through our newly developed Freedom product, which provides increased functionality

on a web-based system. In addition, we have been pursuing distribution opportunities to enable us to better reach this market. In SVS, we are also expanding our international presence by selling stored value cards to existing customers with international operations and foreign locations. In Comdata, we plan to continue expansion by offering processing services to industries such as aviation and construction that have similar needs as our core transportation customers.

Cross-Sell Our Products. Historically, our HRS, SVS and Comdata business segments, and even the operating units within HRS, have operated as standalone operations with little cross-selling. We have begun to focus on more effective selling of our services across the customer bases of our operating units. We believe many such opportunities exist and have noted several representative examples:

We can cross-sell add-on HR services to existing U.S. HRS customers as well as sell HR services to Comdata customers. For example, we could: (i) sell our payroll solutions to customers currently using only our LifeWorks services, (ii) provide HRS recruiting management products to our Comdata customers who need help managing their recruiting processes in a competitive industry and (iii) offer Comdata s stored value payroll cards to HRS customers in high employee turnover market segments and with large numbers of part-time workers or whose employees typically do not have bank accounts.

Within U.S. HRS, we have a network of Benefits brokers that currently only sell Benefits products. We plan to leverage our existing relationships with these brokers to sell U.S. Payroll and LifeWorks services.

Internationally, we can continue to leverage our operations to service our multinational customers. We believe that effectively cross-selling our service offerings will strengthen our relationships with existing customers, help us attract new customers and increase our revenue growth and profitability.

The Transactions

On November 9, 2007, the Sponsors and their co-investors acquired all the outstanding equity of Ceridian. Under the terms of the agreement, the Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired the equity of Ceridian for \$36.00 per share or a total equity purchase price of approximately \$5.3 billion. Prior to the Acquisition, Ceridian s common stock was listed on the New York Stock Exchange (CEN). The Acquisition, the related financing (including the issuance of the Restricted Notes) and the application of proceeds therefrom are referred to herein as the Transactions.

Our Business Segments

Human Resource Solutions

HRS offers a broad range of HR outsourcing solutions built around a core capability of payroll processing. Our HR outsourcing solutions are designed to help companies more easily and effectively manage their workforce and the information integral to HR processes while reducing costs and enabling them to focus on their core businesses.

Our human resource management products and services are provided principally in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. Our international HRS operations are primarily conducted in Canada through Ceridian Canada, and in the United Kingdom through Ceridian UK.

HRS s and U.S. HRS s operating unit revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

	F	e Months Ended h 31, 2008	Nove 2 Dece	iod from ember 10, 007 to ember 31, 2007	Ja: Nov	Period from nuary 1 to ember 9, 2007		Endeo nber 3	
HRS Revenue	Marc	11 51, 2000		2007		2007	2000		2005
U.S. HRS	\$	213.2	\$	125.0	\$	698.2	\$ 822.4	\$	799.8
Ceridian Canada		58.8		36.5		174.5	182.6		158.1
Ceridian UK		23.5		14.1		84.2	94.8		92.2
Total HRS	\$	295.5	\$	175.6	\$	956.9	\$ 1,099.8	\$	1,050.1
U.S. HRS Revenue									
U.S. Payroll	\$	140.2	\$	87.3	\$	467.3	\$ 527.1	\$	500.9
Benefits		32.0		20.9		119.5	154.0		151.1
LifeWorks		41.0		16.8		111.4	141.3		147.8
Total	\$	213.2	\$	125.0	\$	698.2	\$ 822.4	\$	799.8

Products and Services

Our human resource management solutions include:

payroll processing, tax filing and other HR services;

benefits administration services; and

work-life and employee assistance programs.

U.S. Payroll. Our payroll processing for customers in the United States consists primarily of preparing and furnishing employee payroll checks, direct deposit advices and supporting journals and summaries. For certain customers, we may remit customer payroll funds to the customer s employees. We also supply quarterly and annual social security, Medicare and federal, state and local income tax withholding reports and forms that are required to be filed by employees.

We provide human resource information systems (commonly referred to as HRIS) solutions that serve as a front-end to our payroll processing system, allowing our customers to utilize a common database for both payroll and other HRIS purposes. This enables the customer to create a single database of employee information for online inquiry, updating and reporting in payroll and other areas important to human resource administration and management, such as employee data tracking, time and labor management, government compliance, compensation analysis and benefits administration. We also provide HRIS solutions that incorporate open, industry standard technology, are scalable and can be utilized with an existing interface as a front-end for our payroll processing and tax filing services.

Our HR/payroll product suite provides an integrated HR/payroll and benefits solution with outsourced payroll and tax filing services to customers primarily in the corporate and enterprise customer markets. It is primarily available in a hosted application service provider environment but also can be managed in-house as an installed application. Our hosted solutions provide customers with secure 24/7 access to our solutions using a standard web browser.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Our HR/payroll web product is a web-enabled, fully hosted integrated payroll and human resource administration solution, designed specifically for the corporate and enterprise customer markets. Ceridian s HR/ payroll web product also includes integrated time management and self-service features, as well as wage attachments and disbursements, Internet payroll management and customization features within the core product offering.

We also provide Internet and phone-in payroll processing, tax filing, unemployment compensation management and related services for small employers located in the United States and Canada. Our Small Business HR/payroll web-based solution allows customers to complete payroll transactions via the Internet. The Small Business HR/payroll product also provides small businesses with access to services such as new hire reporting, tax filing, direct deposit, optional benefits programs, unemployment filing and special reports services that were previously only available to larger companies.

Tax Filing. Our payroll tax filing services for customers in the United States consist primarily of collecting funds for federal, state and local employment taxes from customers based on payroll information provided by the customers, remitting funds collected to the appropriate taxing authorities, filing applicable returns and handling related regulatory correspondence and amendments. Our tax filing services are provided not only to employers who utilize our payroll processing service, but also to local and regional payroll processors and directly to employers as standalone tax services.

Other HR Services. We also provide customers with a number of other HR solutions. Such services include time and attendance, administration of payroll and benefit functions, recruiting, employee/manager self-service and human capital management services. These services are generally designed to automate, streamline and integrate certain traditional HR services to provide our customers with the ability to focus less on administration and more on their core business.

Benefits. We provide employee health and welfare benefits administration services to our customers. Employee health and welfare benefits administration services include health insurance portability (i.e., COBRA and HIPAA) compliance services. Health and welfare benefits administration services also encompass benefits provided to active employees, such as annual health plan enrollment, ongoing employee enrollment and eligibility services, tuition refund plans, transportation reimbursement under the Transportation Equity Act, and Internal Revenue Code Section 125 plans including fully-administered and self-administered flexible spending accounts and premium-only plans.

We also provide qualified domestic relations order and medical support order administration to our customers, and administration and benefits billing services for benefits provided to retired and inactive employees of our customers, including retiree healthcare, disability, surviving dependent, family leave and severance benefits.

LifeWorks. We provide customers of all sizes and their employees with a single source for fully integrated work-life and employee assistance programs. Our customers include employers in both the private and public sectors (including certain agencies of the U.S. government). Services are delivered through online access and telephonically, and through face-to-face counseling provided by referral resources.

The services and programs we provide may be customized to meet an individual customer s particular needs. Our portfolio of products allows a customer to choose the mix, level and mode of access to services that best meet its needs. These products range from high touch technology capabilities allowing employees to access specific information online to comprehensive person-to-person consultation and referral services. Also included are specialized service options, such as assistance with college selection, elder care assessment and facility review services, and health and wellness services. These services address employee effectiveness issues and seek to improve employee retention and productivity, reduce absenteeism and increase recruitment success. Consultants provide confidential assistance 24 hours a day to customers employees to help them address issues ranging from everyday matters to crisis situations. Supporting these consultants are research and subject matter experts who provide specialized expertise or referrals in areas such as parenting/child care, elder care, disabilities, addiction disorders, mental health, health and wellness, financial, legal, managerial/supervisory and education/schooling issues. We have also entered into arrangements with some service and product providers to provide additional services and expertise to our customers.

HRO. Our HRO operating unit assumes responsibility for our customers entire human resources department. We focus on companies with 3,000 to 15,000 employees, providing them with a comprehensive suite of modular, fully managed HRS products.

International Operations. Ceridian Canada provides payroll processing services, HRIS solutions, tax filing services, work-life and employee assistance programs and recruitment services to its Canadian customers. Ceridian Canada collects payroll and payroll tax amounts from customers, remits tax amounts to applicable governmental authorities and makes direct deposits of payroll amounts to employees bank accounts. Ceridian UK provides payroll processing services, HRIS solutions, work-life and employee assistance programs and recruitment services primarily in the United Kingdom.

We have begun to expand our international payroll services into other countries, principally in Europe, by engaging partners within a country to provide the payroll administration and processing services that we provide in that country. We in turn have contracted with multinational customers for their international requirements and deliver a fully outsourced payroll service to these customers.

There are risks associated with operating internationally. We refer you to the Risk Factors section.

Market

The market for human resource solutions covers a comprehensive range of information management, human resource administration and employee assistance products, services and software. These products, services and software include:

transaction-oriented administrative services and software products, primarily in areas such as payroll processing, tax filing and benefits enrollment and administration; and

management support services and software, primarily in areas such as recruiting and human capital management, human resource administration, regulatory compliance, work-life and employee assistance programs.

We believe that the market for these solutions will continue to grow as organizations seek to reduce costs, improve productivity and add services for employees by outsourcing administrative services and further automating internal processes. We also believe the demand for human resource solutions will increase as organizations seek assistance in maintaining their compliance with the increasing scope and complexity of laws and regulations governing businesses and increasingly complicated work-life issues faced by employers and employees.

We generally classify customers in the human resource solutions market by employer size into three categories, each of which represents a distinct market opportunity for us:

Type of Employer	Size of Employer*	Typical Characteristics
Small	Fewer than 100 employees	Human resource management needs tend to be relatively more price sensitive, to require less customization or flexibility in product and service offerings and to switch more readily from one provider to another.
Corporate	100 to 5,000 employees	Human resource management needs tend to be more complex, and therefore requires more flexibility in products and services, greater integration among data processing systems and a greater variety of products and services. Within this group, the lower mid-market (100-300 employees) tends to have simpler requirements and upper mid-market (300-5,000 employees) tends to have more complex requirements.
Enterprise	Over 5,000 employees	Human resource management needs tend to be the most complex, and therefore often require the most customization and flexibility in products and services, the greatest integration among data processing systems and the greatest variety of products and services; also has the greatest reliance on their integral legacy systems that increases integration complexity and challenges outsourcing and migration decisions.

* This column of the table reflects the employer size of U.S. customers. In Canada and the United Kingdom, the employer segment sizes are typically smaller, although the characteristics of such segments are similar in nature.

We believe, however, that with regard to any size employer, a provider of a core transaction-based service, such as payroll processing or tax filing, is afforded opportunities to complement that core service with additional products and services that are natural adjuncts to that service, such as time and labor management, health insurance portability compliance administration, flexible spending account administration, employee self-service, benefits eligibility and enrollment, and employee assistance and work-life services. We believe our ability to wrap value-added services around a core service or product in an integrated manner will lead to revenue growth and our ability to achieve higher margins.

Further, we believe that customers are increasingly seeking providers that can take responsibility for entire human resource management processes. These HRO relationships transfer responsibility for managing each core process from the employer to the provider. Through HRO, we are able to provide our customers with a comprehensive suite of modular, fully managed HRS products and services described above. By fully managing the products and services that we can otherwise provide on a standalone basis and presenting a single face to our customers employees, we are able to transfer responsibility for managing each core HR process from the employer to the provider. Our HRO services to date typically involve: (1) conversion and implementation consulting services; (2) processing and hosting services related to payroll, tax filing and benefits needs; and (3) administration of HR, payroll and benefits functions.

Customer Funds

HRS revenue in 2007 includes approximately \$143.7 million of investment income earned in lieu of additional fees from customer funds temporarily held in the United States and Canada pending remittance to taxing authorities, customer employees or other third parties. In a very few instances, Ceridian UK holds customer funds for a short period of time in non-interest bearing segregated accounts prior to disbursement pursuant to the customer s instructions. All customer funds temporarily held by us are held primarily in trusts. Funds from U.S. customers are invested primarily in high quality collateralized short-term investments or money market mutual funds. We may also invest in U.S. Treasury and Agency securities, AAA rated asset-backed securities, and corporate securities rated A3/A- or better. Funds from Canadian customers are invested primarily in securities issued by the government and provinces of Canada, highly rated Canadian banks and corporations, asset-backed trusts and mortgages. The maturity of these investments is carefully managed to meet the related payment obligations. Due to the significance of this investment income, our quarterly revenue and profitability fluctuate as a result of changes in interest rates and in the amount of customer funds held.

Customers

Our existing customer base covers a wide range of industries and markets. Our products and services are generally provided under written agreements, with contracts for repetitive services generally terminable upon relatively short notice.

Customer retention is an important factor in the amount and predictability of revenue and profits in our HRS businesses. The length of time it takes for a contract to become profitable depends on a number of factors such as the pricing of the contract, the number of employees covered by the contract, the complexity of the services involved, the amount of customization of services required and the number of locations in which the customer s employees are located. The longer we are able to retain a customer, the more profitable that contract will likely be.

Sales and Marketing

Our HRS services are sold in the United States through our direct sales force operating throughout the country. We currently utilize, and seek to develop other, cooperative marketing relationships with other companies offering products or services that complement our businesses as well as informal and formal marketing alliances with human resource consulting firms, other outsourcing firms and benefits brokers. The most significant source of customer leads for these transaction-based products and services are referrals from these marketing relationships and existing customers, and other direct marketing efforts such as web marketing, telemarketing, direct mail and trade shows. Our international HRS operations, principally located in Canada and the United Kingdom, utilize their own direct sales forces. Customer leads for the products and services of these businesses are generally obtained through referrals, trade shows, product demonstration seminars, third-party resellers and direct sales efforts. We are exploring additional cooperative arrangements with other benefits brokers and human resource services providers. We are also seeking to sell a greater variety of our products and services to the customers of our various businesses.

Competition

The human resource solutions industry is highly competitive. Competition comes from national, regional and local third-party transaction processors, as well as from software companies, consulting firms, governments, enterprise wide providers of financial services, complete enterprise outsourcing providers, including information technology providers, and internally developed and operated systems and software.

We believe that the majority of all payroll processing and tax filing in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom is supported by in-house systems, with the remainder supported by third-party providers. In the United States, we believe that ADP is the largest third-party provider of payroll processing in terms of revenue,

with Paychex, Inc. and Ceridian comprising the other two large, national providers in terms of revenue. Other third-party payroll and tax filing providers are generally regional and local competitors, although larger, national providers of benefits administration and 401(k) processing services or financial institutions may expand further into outsourced payroll processing. In Canada, we believe that Ceridian Canada is the second largest outsourced payroll services provider in terms of revenue, facing competition from other national providers, including ADP, and local providers. In the United Kingdom, we believe that Ceridian UK is the second largest outsourced payroll processing provider in terms of revenue, competing with several other national providers, including a subsidiary of ADP and a division of Northgate Information Solutions, and local providers. Competition in both the payroll processing and HRIS areas also comes from a number of large, national software companies that provide both payroll processing software for in-house processing as well as HRIS software, often in conjunction with other enterprise management software applications.

Apart from payroll processing and tax filing, our other human resource solutions generally compete with a variety of national and regional application software companies, consulting firms, financial services companies and human resource services providers. Generally, the markets for these products and services are evolving.

Currently, we believe the principal competitive factors for us in the human resource solutions industry are:

repeatable and reliable transaction processing with timely and accurate access to data;

servicing our customers;

choice of services;

performance;

price;

functionality;

ease and flexibility of use;

expertise in HR processes;

integrated platforms;

regulatory compliance in the delivery of products and services; and

data security and privacy.

We believe that the ability to integrate transaction processing and broader human resource management solutions with a customer s other acquired services and in-house applications are increasingly important competitive factors. While we believe our businesses will be able to compete effectively in the overall human resource solutions market, our ability to compete effectively will depend in large measure on our ability to provide reliable and repeatable transaction processing. Without attention to our core capabilities, our opportunity to deliver further

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

value to new and existing customers will be severely restricted.

Regulation

The delivery of services by HRS is subject to various local, state, federal and international laws, statutes and regulations. For example, tax filing services must comply with the applicable regulatory requirements of the various taxing authorities. Additionally, through contract or directly applicable regulation, various data security and privacy interests of our customers must be protected.

Research and Development

We intend to continue to invest resources in our proprietary payroll processing systems and further develop a comprehensive and fully integrated suite of employee administrative services.

0	а.
y	н
1	Ŧ

The table below reflects the amount of research and development expenses for our HRS businesses for the periods indicated.

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Per fro Novem to Decem 20	om ber 10 o ber 31, 07	f Jan Nove 2	eriod from uary 1 to ember 9, 2007 a millions)	Year E Decemb 2006	
Research and development	\$ 5.4	\$	2.2	\$	19.8	\$ 21.1	\$ 22.1
Percent of HRS revenue	1.8%		1.3%		2.1%	1.9%	2.1%

SVS

SVS is a provider of stored value cards to customers principally in the retail, restaurant, airline, hospitality and entertainment, and service industries in the United States. SVS currently provides stored value card programs to more than 450 merchants, for use as gift cards, credits for returned products and retail promotions. In 2007, SVS delivered more than 520 million stored value cards and processed approximately 1 billion transactions, primarily in the United States. We have a small but growing international presence and process transactions originating from 32 other countries. SVS is based in Louisville, Kentucky. SVS revenue from products and services for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

			Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Nove 20 Dece	od from mber 10, 007 to mber 31, 2007	Ja Nov	Period from nuary 1 to rember 9, 2007 n millions)		Ended ber 31, 2005
Revenue			\$ 21.0	\$	15.2	\$	162.0	\$ 153.8	\$ 125.8
1 1 COL COLO	2007	• , ,•	1						

Approximately 5% of SVS 2007 revenue was from international operations.

Products and Services

SVS provides, among other services, stored value card programs to major retailers that are used as gift cards, gift certificates, credits for returned product and retail promotions. With respect to stored value cards, SVS provides transaction processing and reporting services. Customers may also choose to purchase cards alone. SVS also provides ancillary support services including card inventory management and assistance in designing and supervising the production of plastic cards. SVS believes that its cards, transaction reliability, card maintenance/inventory programs and reporting capability provide benefits to retailers and their customers, including ease of use and controls previously difficult to realize. In 2006, SVS expanded its product offering through the acquisition of the remaining interest in SASH Management, L.L.C. d/b/a Gift Card Solutions and Gift Check Solutions, a mid-market provider of gift certificates and gift cards, and substantially all of the assets of HQ Gift Cards, LLC, a provider of mall gift card program management services.

SVS sells its stored value cards and ancillary services throughout the United States, Canada, Germany, Australia, Japan, France and the United Kingdom through a direct sales force. SVS sales efforts are also being conducted to retailers and other merchants with locations throughout the world. All SVS transaction processing is conducted in Louisville, Kentucky, with a redundant data center in Brentwood, Tennessee, regardless of the location in the world where the sale occurs or the card is used.

Suppliers

SVS current business relies upon relationships with third-party suppliers, such as manufacturers of plastic gift cards. The ability of SVS to continue to provide some of its services in the manner in which it currently delivers them may be affected by actions taken by such third-party suppliers.

Competition

SVS competes with a number of national companies in providing private label cards, including First Data Corporation and Chase Paymentech Solutions LLC. SVS competes on the bases of breadth of services offered, systems, technology and price. We believe that one of the competitive weaknesses of SVS is that most of its competitors have established relationships with many of the potential customers of SVS and provide additional and unrelated products and services to these customers, such as credit card processing and check authorization services. By providing these other services which SVS does not provide, these competitors have an advantage of being able to bundle their products and services together and present them to existing customers with whom they have established relationships. We believe a competitive weakness of SVS is that its competitors have greater financial, sales and marketing resources and better brand name recognition than SVS.

We believe the competitive strengths of SVS are:

information and communications systems that provide real-time connectivity with retailers existing platforms;

breadth of solutions offered; and

experience in transaction processing and related services providing for high quality control and reduced time of implementation of stored value card solutions.

Regulation

Stored value cards in general, and gift cards specifically, may be subject to various federal, state and foreign laws and regulations, which may include laws and regulations related to consumer and data protection, licensing, escheat, anti-money laundering, and banking and trade practices. At this time and based on SVS existing operating model we believe these laws and regulations as currently in effect have no material impact on SVS or its operations, except to the extent of their application to SVS customers and other third parties. SVS services may also be subject to various rules and regulations of the networks and associations in which SVS and its customers and other related third parties participate. However, these laws and regulations are evolving, unclear and sometimes inconsistent and subject to judicial and regulatory challenge and interpretation, and therefore the extent to which these laws may evolve or have application to, and their impact on, SVS in the future is uncertain.

Research and Development

SVS research and development activities principally include applications development for existing products and services and new product development for private commerce solutions. SVS anticipates a continuing need to develop applications to enhance its products and services to meet the needs of its customers. Further, SVS expects to develop applications to bring additional features to its products and services, thus enhancing their use in new segments and industries. The table below reflects the amount of research and development expenses for SVS for the periods indicated.

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Novemb Decem	d from ber 10 to iber 31, 007	fi Jan Nove 2	eriod rom uary 1 to mber 9, 007	Year E Decemb 2006	
			(do	llars in m	illions)		
Research and development	\$ 0.5	\$	0.4	\$	1.6	\$ 1.9	\$ 1.0
Percent of SVS revenue	2.4%		2.6%		1.0%	1.2%	0.8%

Comdata

Comdata provides payment solutions, transaction processing and related services to its customers in a variety of industries such as trucking, government services, aviation, construction, retail, restaurants and hospitality. Payment solutions range from credit and debit cards, fleet, fuel, payroll, purchasing and travel and entertainment cards. As a transaction processor, Comdata s platforms support both its proprietary and branded card networks, as well as card processing for certain other card types. Less than 2% of Comdata s revenue for each of 2007, 2006 and 2005 was derived from customers outside of the United States. Comdata s revenue from products and services for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was as follows:

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Nover 20 Decer	od from mber 10, 007 to mber 31, 2007	Ja Nov	Period from nuary 1 to ember 9, 2007 n millions)		Ended iber 31, 2005
Revenue	\$ 90.0	\$	46.2	\$	289.0	\$ 311.5	\$ 283.1

Products and Services; Customers

Comdata provides payment solutions, transaction processing, information management, regulatory compliance, financial and other related services to customers within the transportation industry, primarily to companies in the trucking industry. Comdata sells such services through a direct sales force located at its headquarters in Brentwood, Tennessee. Such services are provided to trucking companies, truck stops, and long haul (e.g., long-distance carriers) and local fleets (e.g., local delivery companies, home maintenance companies and local and state government agencies). Comdata s services primarily involve the use of the Comdata Card to facilitate truck driver transactions and to provide transaction control and trip information for trucking firms. Comdata also markets credit cards and transaction processing in association with MasterCard networks.

The Comdata Card product is a payment card with credit and debit capabilities principally designed to provide businesses with control over payments to and spending by their employees. The Comdata Card allows businesses to authenticate and authorize individual employee purchases. A Comdata customer can review reports of transactions made by its employees over the Internet, as well as request the issuance of new cards. The Comdata Card offers businesses the capability of performing these services on a single, customizable employee card. The Comdata Card may be customized for each individual employee within a business. Although the Comdata Card is primarily used by Comdata s trucking customers, Comdata believes that the Comdata Card has application to businesses in a variety of industries.

Comdata s payment services division provides pay cards used by its customers to pay their employees. The pay card service allows employers to post or load payment of wages and other payments, such as expense reimbursements, to cards issued to employees and other recipients. Cardholders, in turn, may access these funds in a number of ways, including withdrawal of cash from ATMs, purchases at stores or use of a Comchek draft. Comdata markets this card-based funds distribution service to a variety of employers, such as temporary staffing companies, professional employment organizations, custodial companies, the restaurant and hospitality industries, and retailers, including the customers of SVS.

Comdata also provides assistance in obtaining regulatory permits, pilot car services, and other compliance services, such as fuel tax reporting and driver log auditing, and local fueling services to its trucking company customers.

Fleet Services. Comdata s financial services, most commonly initiated through the use of the Comdata Card, are designed to enable truck drivers to obtain funding for purchases and cash advances at truck stops and other locations en route to their destination. Drivers may use the Comdata Card to purchase fuel,

lodging and other approved items, obtain cash advances from ATM machines or through the use of Comchek drafts (drafts that are drawn on Comdata and payable through a bank), and make direct deposits of pay, settlements (for non-employee owner-operators) or trip advances to personal bank accounts.

Use of the Comdata Card allows the trucking company customer greater control over its expenses by allowing it to set limits on the use of the cards, such as by designating locations where the cards may be used, and the frequency and amount of authorized use. Use of a Comdata Card also enables Comdata to capture and provide transaction and trip-related information to trucking company customers. This information greatly enhances a customer s ability to track and plan fuel purchases and other trip expenses and to settle with drivers. Comdata also provides information gathering and processing services in connection with fueling transactions that Comdata does not fund, but that are billed instead directly by the truck stop to the trucking company. Fees for these direct bill transactions are substantially lower than fees for Comdata funded transactions. Comdata also provides fuel price tracking reports and fuel management programs within a network of truck stops, including cost/plus fuel purchase programs.

Comdata also provides trucking companies with online access to Comdata s computer system for data on fuel purchases and other trip information, facilitating pre- and post-trip planning functions. Comdata s web-based portal enables customers to go online from their computer for interactive reporting capabilities, the latest diesel fuel prices and related information.

In addition to the Comdata Card, Comdata provides Comchek drafts, or Comcheks. Comcheks are used by Comdata s commercial customers to pay for business expenses and for their employees and agents to obtain cash. Comcheks may also be used by Comdata s prepaid/debit cardholders to pay for personal expenses and to withdraw cash from their card balances. Comcheks have to be registered in Comdata s system for specific dollar amounts before they can be used. Customers initiate the registration process by calling Comdata. Comdata will register Comcheks on a customer s account based on the credit limit or prepaid balance and parameters established for that customer. The person cashing the Comchek is instructed on the face of the Comchek to call Comdata to obtain an authorization number before cashing. The Comchek is deposited into and clears through the banking system like a check.

Comdata s regulatory compliance division assists in determining the permits needed for a designated trip, truck and load; purchases those permits on behalf of the customer; and delivers them to the carrier or a truck stop where they can be picked up by the driver. Comdata also provides other regulatory compliance services, such as processing and auditing of driver trip logs, reporting of fuel taxes, annual licensing and motor vehicle registration verification. Pilot services for oversized loads are also provided.

Truck Stop Services. Comdata maintains a nationwide electronic data network with 24-hour independent truck stop service centers that utilize point-of-sale devices and other computer equipment to facilitate communication with Comdata s database and operations centers. The service centers accept Comdata s payment instruments as a method of payment pursuant to a service center agreement with Comdata.

Comdata s merchant services division provides fueling centers with PC-based, point-of-sale systems that automate the various transactions that occur at a fuel purchase desk and systems that enable customers to transact card-based fuel purchases at the fuel pump. These systems accept many types of fuel purchase cards currently used by drivers. The merchant services division additionally offers point-of-sale systems for use at attended and unattended fuel sites.

Local Fueling. Comdata is a provider of fuel management and payment systems for local transportation truck fleets. Comdata provides local fleet operators with Comdata MasterCard corporate fleet cards that offer the fleet operators transaction control and trip-related information gathering features similar to those of the Comdata Card.

Financial Services. Comdata s financial services business purchases accounts receivable due to trucking companies from manufacturers and shippers at a discount and with recourse back to the trucking

company in the event of non-payment. This allows trucking companies to receive payment on shipping invoices sooner than they may otherwise receive payment from shippers.

Comdata provides services to more than long-distance and local trucking fleet customer accounts. Comdata also provides services to truck stops, travel centers and repair facilities nationwide. Contracts for these services generally range from one to three years in duration.

Comdata is also pursuing fixed based operators that service private airplanes and airplane fleets. Comdata expects to provide these aviation customers with controlled spending solutions offered through the Comdata Card. Comdata will provide flight managers with flexibility, efficiency, service and control over operations. Benefits include consolidated billing for all trip-related expenses, with line-item detail, as well as the management of expenditures including fuel purchases, repairs, travel and entertainment, and fuel discount administration.

Competition

The principal competitive factors relevant to transaction processing are marketing efforts, pricing, reliability of computer and communications systems and time required to effect transactions. The major credit and debit card associations and companies, such as Visa, MasterCard, American Express and Discover, are significant competitors of Comdata since they make cash available to, and facilitate purchases of fuel and other products by, holders of their cards on a nationwide basis. Several other companies also offer similar services, including First Data Corporation, T-Chek Systems, Inc., Fleet One, L.L.C., FleetCor and Wright Express Corp. In addition, truck stops often negotiate directly with trucking companies for a direct billing relationship. Some of Comdata s competitors, such as Transportation Clearing House, LLC, an affiliate of Flying J, Inc., are under common ownership with entities that operate or franchise nationwide truck stop chains. In addition, Comdata competes with truck stops and other service centers that offer similar products and services.

While the majority of regulatory services continue to be performed by customers in-house, at least one other nationwide company, Xero-Fax, Inc., and several regional companies, including The Permit Company, provide permit services similar to those provided by Comdata. Competition in this market is influenced by price, the expertise of personnel and the ease with which permits may be ordered and received. In addition, we believe that technological advances will impact the way regulatory services are delivered and may give rise to new competitors or change the way this service is offered.

We believe that Comdata is the largest provider of fleet payment cards and related services to the U.S. long-distance trucking market. We believe that Comdata s competitive strengths include its:

ability to provide services to trucking companies and drivers at a large number of locations in the continental United States and Canada;

ability to offer a variety of services, frequently tailored to an individual customer s needs;

proprietary databases regarding funds transfers and fuel purchases;

long-term relationships in the transportation industry;

high quality of customer service; and

positive reputation in the transportation industry. *Research and Development*

Comdata s research and development activities principally include applications development for existing products and services, and the new product development for private commerce solutions. Comdata anticipates a continuing need to develop applications to enhance its products and

services to meet the needs of its customers. Further, Comdata expects to develop applications to bring additional features to its products and services, thus enhancing their use in new segments and industries.

The table below reflects the amount of research and development expenses for Comdata for the periods indicated.

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	Noven	Period from November 10 to December 31, 2007 (dollar		eriod com uary 1 to mber 9, 007 llions)	Year H Deceml 2006		
Research and development	\$ 1.3	\$	1.4	\$	5.3	\$ 5.6	\$ 5.6	
Percent of Comdata revenue	1.4%	Ψ	3.0%	Ψ	1.8%	1.8%	2.0%	

Suppliers

Comdata s current business relies upon relationships with suppliers and other third-parties, such as MasterCard, to effect and support transactions, including access to the MasterCard network, Cirrus ATM network and the Maestro point-of-sale debit network. The ability of Comdata to continue to provide some of its services in the manner in which it currently delivers them may be affected by actions taken by suppliers and other third-parties, including MasterCard or other similar card associations.

Network and Data Processing Operations

Comdata and SVS together operate two communications and data processing facilities, one located in Brentwood, Tennessee and the other in Louisville, Kentucky. All internal data processing functions for Comdata s business, including its payment processing systems, and SVS are conducted in one of these two facilities, depending on the application, process or transaction being performed. These dual sites operate in tandem with one another to execute certain functions. Moreover, each facility serves as a back-up facility for the other in connection with various activities.

Regulation

Many states require persons engaged in the business of money transmission or the sale or issuance of payment instruments, such as the Comchek draft, to obtain a license from the appropriate state agency. Comdata is licensed in 41 states, and is subject to the various state requirements to maintain these licenses, including posting bonds, periodic reporting and annual examinations. Comdata believes that it is currently in compliance in all material respects with the regulatory requirements applicable to its business. The failure to comply with the requirements of any particular state could significantly adversely affect our business in that state.

Other Investments and Divestitures

We refer you to Note 4, Investing Activity, and Note 12, Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations, in our audited consolidated financial statements.

Intellectual Property

We own or license a number of trademarks, tradenames, copyrights, service marks, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights that relate to our products and services. Although we believe that these intellectual property rights are, in the aggregate, of material importance to our businesses, we believe that none of our businesses are materially dependent upon any particular trademark, tradename, copyright, service mark, license or other intellectual property right. We believe, however, that the Ceridian and Comdata names, marks and logos are of material importance to us. U.S. trademark and service mark registrations are generally for a term of 10 years, renewable every 10 years as long as the trademark or service mark is used in the regular course of trade.

We have entered into confidentiality agreements with most of our key employees and consultants. In addition, we have entered into license agreements with customers of our businesses, which agreements impose restrictions on these customers use of our proprietary software and other intellectual property rights.

Seasonality

Because the volume of payroll items processed increases in the fourth quarter of each year in connection with employers year-end reporting requirements, our HRS revenue and profitability tend to be greater in that quarter. The gift card business of SVS is greatest generally from September through January, as merchants prepare for the holiday seasons and consumers purchase and use gift cards in greater volumes during these months. SVS billable fees are therefore greater during this period. In Comdata, trucking activity has traditionally diminished at the end of December of each year, which has led to declining accounts receivable and drafts payable balances and increased cash flow from operations at the end of the year.

Employees

As of March 31, 2008, we employed approximately 9,177 people on a full- or part-time basis. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement.

Backlog

Although our businesses are typically characterized by long-term customer relationships that result in a high level of recurring revenue, a substantial portion of our customer contracts used by our businesses can be terminated by our customers upon relatively short notice periods, including contracts that have been extended beyond their original terms. In addition, orders for products and services can be terminated by our customers, and no order for one of our products or services is considered firm until the contract is executed. The timing of the delivery of our products and services is largely dependent upon the customer. As such, we do not have backlog information that can be provided for our businesses.

In our HRS business, we do, however, track the estimated dollar value of a year s worth of product or service orders from our customers that have not yet been billed or installed. Although not a reported number, this metric is used by management as a planning tool relating to resources needed to install products and services, and a means of assessing our performance against installation timing expectations of us and our customers.

Legal Proceedings

We are subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings, customer disputes and tort claims. In some proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial expenditures on our part.

Some of these matters raise difficult and complex factual and legal issues, and are subject to many uncertainties, including the facts and circumstances of each particular action, and the jurisdiction, forum and law under which each action is proceeding. Because of this complexity, final disposition of some of these proceedings may not occur for several years. As such, we are not always able to estimate the amount of our possible future liabilities.

There can be no certainty that we may not ultimately incur charges in excess of presently or established future financial accruals or insurance coverage. Although occasional adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, it is management s opinion that the final disposition of these proceedings will not, considering the merits of the claims and available reserves and insurance and based upon the facts and circumstances currently known, have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Securities Class Action and Derivative Action

Since August 6, 2004, six shareholder lawsuits have been filed against Ceridian and certain of our former executive officers in the United States District Court, District of Minnesota. Those lawsuits were consolidated into a single case captioned In re Ceridian Corporation Securities Litigation, Case No. 04-cv-03704 PJS-RLE. This consolidated action purports to be a class action filed on behalf of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between April 17, 2003 through and including March 17, 2005, and allege claims against Ceridian and certain of our former executive officers under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Plaintiffs challenge the accuracy of certain public disclosures made by us regarding our financial performance, and in particular our accounting for trademarks. Plaintiffs allege, in essence, that our series of restatements constituted a violation of Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. On May 25, 2006, the United States District Court, District of Minnesota granted our motion to dismiss the consolidated class action complaint and gave leave to the plaintiffs to file an amended complaint. An amended complaint was filed on July 14, 2006. Our motion to dismiss the amended consolidated class action complaint with prejudice was granted on June 5, 2007. Plaintiffs appealed that decision on July 3, 2007. Oral arguments at the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals were held on April 14, 2008.

We believe these claims are without merit, and we intend to vigorously defend our position in this action. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from this matter.

Since August 13, 2004, two shareholders have filed derivative suits on behalf of Ceridian against Ceridian, as nominal defendant, certain current and former directors and certain of our former executive officers in the United States District Court, District of Minnesota. James Park, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al., and Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al., both served August 19, 2004. These complaints were consolidated into a single lawsuit. The consolidated lawsuit, which relies on the same factual allegations as the purported class action shareholder lawsuits described above, alleges that our Board of Directors as of August 2004 and certain of our former executive officers breached fiduciary duties, through abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. In connection with the settlement of Sullivan v. Marinello, et al., Case No. 27-CV-07-12994, discussed below, the consolidated lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice on April 28, 2008.

Securities and Exchange Commission Investigation

On January 22, 2004, we announced that we were responding to a document request from the Commission, and that we had been advised that the Commission had issued a formal order of investigation. In February 2004, we provided documents responsive to the Commission. In July 2004, we advised the Commission of an investigation being directed by the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. We kept the Commission advised on a regular basis of the Audit Committee s investigation. On December 10, 2004, we received a further formal confidential document request from the Commission. The second request broadened the areas of inquiry to include, among other things, our restatements, revenue recognition, capitalization, expense recognition, how we respond to any internal ethics complaints, and our accounting policies and procedures. The formal document requests state that the Commission investigation is a non-public, fact-finding inquiry, and that the investigations by the Commission, on June 15, 2005, we received a subpoena from the Commission seeking certain additional documents that relate to some of the areas of inquiry identified above. The subpoena is consistent with investigations of this type and was anticipated. On January 8, 2007, we received a second subpoena seeking additional documents relating to the areas of inquiry identified above. We continue to fully cooperate with the Commission.

Post-Transactions Matters

Two suits filed against Ceridian and/or its Board of Directors before the Transactions have been settled since the consummation of the Transactions.

Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association Litigation. On June 4, 2007, the Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association filed a purported class action complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery, Civil Action No. 2996-CC, against Ceridian, our directors, the Sponsors and certain of their affiliates, challenging the proposed transaction as inadequate and unfair to Ceridian s public stockholders. The complaint alleged that the directors breached their fiduciary duties and that the Sponsors and certain of their affiliates aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty in entering into the merger agreement related to the Acquisition (the Merger Agreement). The complaint sought, among other relief, class certification of the lawsuit, declaratory relief, an injunction against the Acquisition, compensatory damages to the putative class, and an award of attorneys fees and expenses to plaintiff. On June 6, 2007, plaintiff moved for a preliminary injunction and expedited trial with respect to certain provisions of the Merger Agreement, including Section 7.1(j) thereof, which provided that buyers may terminate the Merger Agreement if a majority of the board s nominees are not elected at the annual meeting. On June 11, 2007, plaintiff filed a petition pursuant to Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law seeking an order requiring Ceridian to hold an annual meeting of its shareholders following the adjudication of the validity of Section 7.1(j). The Court of Chancery scheduled the requested trial on the Section 211 claim and the validity of Section 7.1(j) of the Merger Agreement to take place simultaneously on August 1-2, 2007. The parties engaged in extensive expedited discovery of parties and third parties.

On June 26, 2007, plaintiff filed an amended complaint, expanding on the existing allegations, adding disclosure claims, and challenging the provision of the confidentiality agreements signed by potential bidders that precluded requesting a waiver of the standstill provisions. At the request of plaintiff, the court scheduled a preliminary injunction hearing regarding the challenged standstill provisions and certain deal protections in the Merger Agreement to take place on August 3, 2007, immediately after the already scheduled August trial. On July 12, 2007, the parties advised the Delaware Court of Chancery that they had reached a partial settlement of the actions. The parties agreed to settlement terms that include, among other things: (1) the entry of an order providing that the annual meeting of Ceridian stockholders would be held on September 12, 2007 at which meeting stockholders would be permitted to vote with respect to the election of directors and the Acquisition; (2) Ceridian eliminating the provision of the confidentiality agreements entered into with the third parties during the strategic alternatives process prohibiting the third parties from requesting that Ceridian amend or waive any part of the standstill provision of the confidentiality agreement to eliminate a provision permitting buyers to terminate the Merger Agreement upon an election of a new board of directors comprised of a majority of directors not nominated by the current board; and (4) amending the Merger Agreement to change the definition of superior proposal thereunder, decreasing the trigger from 66 2/3% to 40% of Ceridian s assets or stock. The Sponsors and one other signatory requested and received waivers of the standstill provision.

In connection with the proposed settlement, the court entered an order directing that the annual meeting would be held on September 12, 2007 at which meeting stockholders were permitted to vote with respect to the election of directors and the Acquisition. The settlement was subject to court approval. Plaintiff s counsel reported to the court that the plaintiff had shared the terms of the proposed settlement with Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P. (Pershing Square) and Pershing Square provided input regarding the terms of the settlement. Plaintiff further reported to the court that Pershing Square had advised plaintiff s counsel that it would not oppose the motion seeking approval of the settlement. As part of the settlement, the plaintiff reserved the right to assert certain claims relating to the termination fees, claims arising from conduct after July 11, 2007 and any disclosure issues that plaintiff raised with defendants no less than five days before Ceridian s definitive proxy statement was filed with the Commission which the parties were unable to resolve in good faith. Plaintiff s counsel submitted extensive comments regarding proposed additional and amended disclosures prior to the filing of the definitive proxy statement, which Ceridian considered and responded to in preparing the definitive proxy statement. There were no disclosure issues raised by plaintiff in this process that the parties were not able to resolve in good faith.

Following notice to the class and a hearing, an amended settlement was approved by the court on February 25, 2008. The court s order included dismissal of the Delaware litigation with prejudice and the release

of a broad set of claims against the defendants by the entire plaintiff class of the predecessor company stockholders, including the named plaintiff in this action, while reserving decision on plaintiff counsel s request for an award of attorneys fees and expenses. The Court of Chancery s order finally approving the settlement has now become non-appealable. As set forth in a court order filed on March 24, 2008, the parties reached an agreement on an award of attorneys fees and expenses to plaintiff s counsel in the amount of \$5.1 million and was paid by us on April 2, 2008.

Sullivan Litigation. On June 20, 2007, Patrick Sullivan brought a putative class action lawsuit in Minnesota state court, Case No. 27-CV-07-12994, against Ceridian s president and chief executive officer and members of its Board of Directors, along with the Sponsors. The complaint alleged, among other things, breach of fiduciary duties by the individual defendants in connection with Ceridian s entry into the Merger Agreement. The complaint also alleged that the Sponsors aided and abetted the alleged breaches. Among other things, the complaint challenged the merger consideration offered to Ceridian shareholders in connection with the Acquisition as inadequate and challenged Section 7.1(j) of the Merger Agreement. The plaintiff sought class certification and requested, among other things, an order enjoining consummation of the Acquisition. Plaintiff also sought costs and disbursements of the action, including attorneys fees. On August 2, 2007, the parties reached an agreement to settle the case. The terms of the settlement included an agreement by the us to make certain additional disclosures, which were included in our definitive proxy statement distributed to stockholders in connection with the Acquisition. The terms of the settlement also included, among other things: (i) an agreement by the plaintiff that the action will be stayed pending court approval of the proposed settlement of the actions brought in the Delaware Court of Chancery by the Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association; and (ii) dismissal with prejudice of the action upon court approval of the settlement of the Delaware litigation. Defendants also agreed not to object to a request by Minnesota plaintiff s counsel to the Minnesota court for attorneys fees in an amount not to exceed \$0.3 million and agreed to pay costs of notice. Following the Delaware court s order finally approving the settlement of the Delaware litigation, plaintiff s counsel in this Minnesota litigation have stipulated to a dismissal to be submitted for the court s approv

Other Matters

Truck Stop Litigation. In March and April 2007, six representatives of owner-operated independent-truck stops located in several states filed nearly identical complaints in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania against Ceridian and its wholly-owned subsidiary Comdata, alleging anticompetitive conduct with respect to trucker fleet card and point-of-sale systems businesses in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act, Sections 1 and 2. The plaintiffs seek class certification and are asking for damages described by plaintiffs as the overcharges plaintiffs and other members of the class paid to defendants, trebled; pre- and post-judgment interest; injunctive relief to prevent further anticompetitive conduct; and the costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys fees. We believe these claims are without merit, and we intend to vigorously defend our positions in these actions. Pursuant to a tolling agreement, plaintiffs have agreed to voluntarily dismiss Ceridian without prejudice, subject to their limited right at a later date to seek leave of the court to rejoin us as a defendant.

Flying J Litigation. In January 2008, Flying J filed a motion seeking to add Comdata as a defendant to the action it originally filed against TravelCenters of America (TA) and Pilot Corporation and Pilot Travel Centers (Pilot). In March, that motion was granted and the new complaint was filed on March 18, 2008. Flying J alleges that Comdata, TA and Pilot engaged in an unlawful boycott against Flying J in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. Flying J further alleges that the alleged boycott amounts to a conspiracy and that the alleged conspiracy violates Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Flying J makes similar state claims under the laws of Utah and further alleges civil conspiracy and tortious interference. As to Comdata only, Flying J makes allegations of unlawful monopolization and unlawful attempts to monopolize. Flying J seeks injunctive relief as well as an unspecified amount of damages, prejudgment interest and costs of litigation, including attorney fees. We currently believe these claims have no merit and intend to defend ourselves vigorously. We have filed a motion to dismiss the case against us and the court has set a September 25, 2008 hearing date for such motion. In May 2008, Flying J and TA agreed to settle their dispute and TA has been dismissed from the lawsuit.

Properties

Our principal executive offices are located at 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425. As of March 31, 2008, the principal computer and office facilities used in our businesses were located in the metropolitan areas of Minneapolis, Minnesota; Atlanta, Georgia; Los Angeles, California; Chicago, Illinois; St. Louis, Missouri; Louisville, Kentucky; Raleigh, North Carolina; Nashville, Tennessee; Dallas, Texas; El Paso, Texas; St. Petersburg, Florida; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; in London, Manchester and Reading, England; in Glasgow, Scotland; in Winnipeg, Manitoba, St. Laurent, Quebec and Markham, Ontario, Canada; and in Ebene, Mauritius.

The following table summarizes the usage and location of our facilities as of March 31, 2008:

Facilities

(in thousands of square feet)

	U.S.	Non-U.S.	Total
Type of Property Interest			
Owned	388		388
Leased	1,668	427	2,095
Total	2,056	427	2,483
Property Interest by Segment			
HRS	1,570	416	1,986
SVS	97	0	97
Comdata	319	11	330
Corporate	70		70
Total	2,056	427	2,483
Title de la companya de			
Utilization of Property			
Office, Computer Center & Other	1,997	427	2,424
Leased or Subleased to Others	59		59

Total

2,056 427 2,483

With the exception of our St. Petersburg, Florida facility, we conduct all of our operations in leased facilities, including our 193,214 square feet Minneapolis headquarters complex in Minneapolis, Minnesota. Most of these leases contain renewal options and require payment for taxes, insurance and maintenance.

MANAGEMENT

As of July 30, 2008 our executive officers, significant employees and directors and their respective ages and positions are:

Name A	Age	Position
	52	Chairman, President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Gregory J. Macfarlane	38	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
James Burns	61	Executive Vice President and President, Ceridian International
Perry H. Cliburn	49	Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer
Brett Rodewald	44	President, Comdata Network, Inc.
Michael F. Shea	42	Executive Vice President, Quality & Service Operations
Michael W. Sheridan	45	Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
Kairus K. Tarapore	46	Executive Vice President, Human Resources
Brent B. Bickett	43	Director
William P. Foley, II	63	Director
Thomas M. Hagerty	45	Director
Scott L. Jaeckel	37	Director
Soren L. Oberg	37	Director
Alan L. Stinson	61	Director

Kathryn V. Marinello was named President and Chief Executive Officer of Ceridian Corporation on October 9, 2006. From 2002 to October 2006, Ms. Marinello was President and Chief Executive Officer of multiple large GE businesses, including Fleet Services, Consumer Financial Services, Partnership Marketing Group and the GE Financial Network. Before joining GE, Ms. Marinello was President of the Electronic Payments Group at First Data Corporation, which provides electronic banking and commerce, debit and commercial processing to the financial services industry. Before this role, she served as president of U.S. Bank Card Services, a wholly-owned subsidiary of U.S. Bank. She also worked at Chemical Bank, leading their marketing, information service, and financial department, and at Citibank and Barclays as controller. In addition, Ms. Marinello serves on the board of directors of General Motors, the executive committee of the Minnesota Business Partnerships, the board of directors and audit committee for the Greater Twin Cities United Way and is a member of the Business Roundtable. She holds a B.A. from the University at Albany, State University of New York and an M.B.A. in marketing from Hofstra University.

Gregory J. Macfarlane was named our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in March 2007. Prior to joining us, Mr. Macfarlane served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for GE-WMC Mortgage from July 2004 to March 2007. Prior to that he served as the Chief Financial Officer for GE s Fleet Leasing Japanese Business from 1999 to 2001 and Partnership Marketing Group from 2001 to July 2004. Mr. Macfarlane holds an M.B.A. from the Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University and has a B.B.A. from Wilfrid Laurier University.

James Burns was named Executive Vice President and President, Ceridian International in April 2007. Mr. Burns served as interim President of Comdata from May 2007 to August 2007. Prior to serving as President, Ceridian International, Mr. Burns was President of Ceridian Canada from November 2002. Prior to November 2002, he was our European Chief Financial Officer for five years. Prior to joining us in 1998, Mr. Burns was the group Chief Financial Officer for PCL plc, an IT outsourcing and data capture company. Mr. Burns studied law and economics at Glasgow University and became a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland in 1972.

Perry H. Cliburn joined us in December 2006 as Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer. Prior to joining us, Mr. Cliburn was the Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer for Hewitt Associates Inc., a business process outsourcing company, from April 1999 to September 2006. Prior to that he

was a Senior Vice President for First Data Corporation where he served from 1995 to 1999 and an associate partner at Arthur Anderson LLP from 1992 to 1995. He holds both a B.S. and an M.B.A. from Mississippi State University.

Brett Rodewald joined us in August 2007 as President of Comdata Network, Inc. Mr. Rodewald served as Executive Vice President and General Manager of Comdata s transportation services division from August 2003 to August 2007, and Executive Vice President of the finance and credit divisions of Comdata from February 2002 to July 2003. Prior to joining Comdata, Mr. Rodewald served as Vice President and Controller of the commercial group of Bank of America s card services division from 1999 to 2002. He holds a B.S. in finance from Arizona State University.

Michael F. Shea joined us in January 2007 as Executive Vice President, Quality & Service Operations. Prior to joining us, Mr. Shea served as Senior Vice President of Operations at GE Fleet Services from June 2003 to January 2007. Mr. Shea holds a B.S. in Business Administration from the University of North Dakota in Grand Forks.

Michael W. Sheridan was named our Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2007. Mr. Sheridan served as General Counsel of Comdata and its subsidiaries from 1996 until 2008. From 1991 to 1996, he was Comdata s associate general counsel. Prior to joining Comdata, Mr. Sheridan was an attorney in the Nashville office of Adams, Reese, Stokes & Bartholomew, P.A. He holds a B.A. from Vanderbilt University and received his J.D. from the University of Tennessee School of Law.

Kairus K. Tarapore joined us in December 2006 as Executive Vice President, Human Resources. Prior to joining us, Mr. Tarapore served in various positions with divisions of GE, including Senior Vice President, Global Quality of GE Fleet Services from October 2004 to December 2006; Vice President, Human Resources, of GE Auto Financial Services from July 2002 to September 2004; Human Resources Integration Leader of GE Fleet Services, Canada, from 2001 to 2002; and the Human Resources leader for GE Capital International Services (now Genpact), from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Tarapore holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting from Sydenham College, Bombay University and a Master s Degree in HR from XLRI Jamshedpur, India.

Brent B. Bickett has served as a director since November 2007. Mr. Bickett joined FNF in January 1999 and currently holds the position of Co-President of FNF, a position he has served in since May 31, 2007. Mr. Bickett formerly held the position of Executive Vice President, Corporate Finance of FNF s predecessor company, and was responsible for mergers and acquisitions and business development efforts from March 2005. Prior to joining FNF s predecessor, Mr. Bickett was a member of the Investment Banking Division of Bear, Stearns and Co. Inc. from August 1990 until January 1999, serving since 1997 as a Managing Director of that firm s real estate and leisure group. Mr. Bickett holds a B.S. from the University of Southern California and an M.B.A. from Anderson School of Management at UCLA.

William P. Foley, II has served as a director since April 2008. Mr. Foley has served as the Executive Chairman of both FNF and FIS since October 2006. From October 2006 until May 2007, Mr. Foley served as Chief Executive Officer of FNF. Mr. Foley served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of FNF s predecessor company since its formation in 1984 until 2006 and as President of FNF s predecessor from 1984 to 1994. Mr. Foley is Chairman of the Board of FNF and FIS. Mr. Foley holds a B.S. from the United States Military Academy at West Point, an M.B.A. from Seattle University and a J.D. from the University of Washington School of Law.

Thomas M. Hagerty has served as a director since April 2008. Mr. Hagerty is a Managing Director of THL Partners. Mr. Hagerty has been employed by THL Partners and its predecessor, Thomas H. Lee Company, since 1988. Mr. Hagerty also serves a director of FNF, FIS, Hawkeye Energy Holdings, LLC, MGIC Investment Corporation, Inc. and Sedgwick Claims Management Services Inc. Mr. Hagerty holds a B.B.A. from the University of Notre Dame and an M.B.A. from Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Scott L. Jaeckel has served as a director since November 2007. He is a Managing Director at THL Partners. Mr. Jaeckel worked at Thomas H. Lee Company from 1994 to 1996, rejoining in 1998. From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Jaeckel worked at Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated in the Corporate Finance Department. He currently serves as a director of MoneyGram International, Inc., Paramax Capital Group, Sedgwick CMS Holdings, Inc., Warner Music Group Corp. and other private companies. He holds a B.A. from The University of Virginia and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Soren L. Oberg has served as a director since November 2007 and is a Managing Director at THL Partners, having joined the firm in 1993. Prior to joining THL Partners, Mr. Oberg worked at Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated in the Merchant Banking Division and at Hicks, Muse, Tate & Furst Incorporated. He currently serves as a director of American Media, Inc., Cumulus Media Partners, Grupo Corporativo Ono, Hawkeye Holdings LLC and West Corporation, and other private companies. Mr. Oberg holds an A.B. from Harvard College and an M.B.A. from the Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Alan L. Stinson has served as a director since November 2007. Mr. Stinson is the Chief Executive Officer of FNF, a position he has served in since May 31, 2007, prior to that Mr. Stinson was Co-Chief Operating Officer for FNF. Mr. Stinson joined FNF s predecessor in October 1998 as Executive Vice President of Financial Operations, and in June 1999 was appointed Chief Financial Officer of FNF s predecessor. Prior to joining FNF s predecessor, Mr. Stinson was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Alamo Title Holding Company from 1994 to 1998. He was a Partner at Deloitte & Touche, LLP from 1980 to 1994. Mr. Stinson holds a B.B.A. from the University of Texas.

The Board of Directors and Committees of the Board

All of our non-executive directors are designees of THL Partners or FNF. The Stockholders Agreement for Ceridian Holding, our parent, entered into in connection with the Transactions, requires up to three directors designated by THL Partners, up to three directors designated by FNF, and one management representative. The number of directors designated by each of THL Partners and FNF are subject to reduction if each of their respective ownership interests falls below certain specified percentages. In addition, our employment agreement with Kathryn V. Marinello provides that she will serve as Chair of our Board as long as she remains employed by us.

Prior to the Transactions, committees of the Board performed certain delegated Board functions. These committees included the Audit Committee, the Compensation and Human Resources Committee and the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. On the date of the Transactions, these committees were dissolved. Since the Transactions, no new committees were formed and all functions of the dissolved committees are performed by the Board.

Although not formally considered by our Board because our securities are not registered or traded on any national securities exchange, we do not believe that any of our directors would be considered independent for either Board or Audit Committee purposes based upon the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (the NYSE), the exchange on which our common stock was listed prior to the Transactions. We believe none of our directors would be considered independent because of their relationships with certain affiliates of the funds and other entities that hold significant interests in THL Partners and FNF, which owns approximately 99.61% of our outstanding common stock on a fully diluted basis, and other relationships with us, all as described more fully under Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions.

Audit Committee

Prior to the Transactions, this committee:

monitored the integrity of our financial reporting process and systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, tax and legal compliance;

monitored the independence and performance of our independent registered public accounting firm and internal auditing department; and

provided an avenue of communication among the independent registered public accounting firm, management, the internal auditing department and the Board.

This committee also had the sole authority to:

engage and terminate our independent registered public accounting firm;

determine and pre-approve the type and scope of all audit and non-audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm; and

approve the compensation of the independent registered public accounting firm. KPMG, our independent registered public accounting firm, reported directly to the Audit Committee, and this committee had full oversight over all services performed by KPMG. This committee periodically met in separate executive sessions with KPMG, our general counsel and senior executives within our internal audit department.

From January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 (the date of the Transactions), our Audit Committee was composed of George R. Lewis (Chair), L. White Matthews, III, and William L. Trubeck.

Compensation and Human Resources Committee

Prior to the Transactions, this committee:

approved the compensation and benefits of our executive officers, including the chief executive officer;

reviewed the process of managing executive succession, diversity and development;

assessed the adequacy of our human resource policies and principles;

determined compensation policies, practices and structures to attract and retain our key executives; and

recommended to the Board compensation for non-employee directors.

The committee established processes and practices for determining compensation for our executive officers. The committee s authority and the role of executive officers and any external compensation consultants are described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis section of this prospectus.

Between January 1, 2007 and November 9, 2007 (the date of the Transactions), the compensation of the non-employee directors of the Board was determined by the Board upon recommendation of this committee. This committee assumed this responsibility in 2007. Prior to 2007, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee made recommendations to the Board regarding compensation of non-employee directors. A description of the compensation program for non-employee directors may be found in Director Compensation . The current non-employee director compensation program was approved by the Board in December of 2005, upon recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee did not use any external compensation consultants to recommend the amount or form of such non-employee director compensation. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considered the prior compensation structure for non-employee directors of the Board and competitive data on the amount and form of non-executive director compensation gathered from published surveys.

From January 1, 2007 through September 12, 2007, the Compensation and Human Resources Committee was composed of Nicholas D. Chabraja (Chair), Ronald T. LeMay, Richard Szafranski and Alan F. White. From September 12, 2007 through November 9, 2007 (the date of the Transactions), the Compensation Committee was composed of Ronald T. LeMay (Chair), Richard Szafranski and Alan F. White. All of these directors were

independent directors, as defined in our Corporate Governance Principles in effect prior to the Transactions, non-employee directors within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act and outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Prior to the Transactions, this committee:

reviewed the composition and organization of the Board and its committees and recommends to the Board the adoption of relevant corporate governance policies;

considered all nominees for Board membership; and

conducted periodic evaluations of the performance of the Board. This committee considered director candidates proposed by stockholders.

From January 1, 2007 through September 12, 2007, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee was composed of Ronald T. LeMay (Chair), Nicholas D. Chabraja, Richard Szafranski and Alan F. White. From September 12, 2007 through November 9, 2007 (the date of the Transactions), the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee was composed of Alan F. White (Chair), Richard Szafranski and Ronald T. LeMay.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Throughout this prospectus, we refer to the individuals who served as our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer during 2007, as well as the other individuals included in the Summary Compensation Table, as our named executives.

Overview

Prior to the Transactions, our Board had a standing Compensation and Human Resources Committee, or the Compensation Committee, that assisted the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to the compensation of executive officers (including the named executives). The Compensation Committee operated pursuant to a written Charter adopted by the Board and was responsible for establishing and administering our executive compensation program. The Compensation Committee had direct oversight of the compensation and benefit programs for executive officers and certain other senior-level employees who have significant influence and responsibilities for operations and financial accounting. The Compensation Committee had the authority to approve the compensation of all other executive officers (including all other named executives). See Management The Board of Directors and Committees of the Board.

Prior to the Transactions, all compensation decisions were made by the Compensation Committee. On the date of the Transactions, the Compensation Committee was dissolved. Since the Transactions, no new compensation committee was formed, and the functions of the Compensation Committee are performed solely by the Board as a whole.

Prior to the Transactions, the compensation of the non-employee directors of the Board was determined by the Board upon recommendation of the Compensation Committee. This committee assumed this responsibility in 2007. Prior to 2007, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee made recommendations to the Board regarding compensation of non-employee directors. A description of the compensation program for non-employee directors may be found in the Director Compensation section of this prospectus. The Compensation Committee did not use any external compensation consultants to recommend the amount or form of such non-employee director compensation. The Compensation Committee considered the prior compensation structure for non-employee directors of the Board and competitive data on the amount and form of non-executive director compensation gathered from published surveys. Since the Transactions, compensation of non-employee directors is determined solely by the Board as a whole.

Per the rules of the Commission, the compensation information set forth below for the current named executives (as well as certain of our former executives and directors) reflects the inclusion of certain equity-related events consisting of the acceleration of vesting of unvested restricted stock and the cash-out of all outstanding stock options upon the consummation of the Transactions. In addition, the compensation information for the current named executives includes the FAS 123R value of stock option awards made following the Transactions, which are currently intended to be in lieu of future annual grants. As a result, a significant portion of the stated total 2007 compensation for the current named executive officers consists of the above-mentioned nonrecurring items. With respect to our chairman, president and chief executive officer, Kathryn V. Marinello, her 2007 annual base salary, cash bonus, and perquisites totaled \$2,266,751.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Compensation Philosophy and Compensation Process

The performance of our businesses is dependent upon building a core group of management personnel with the appropriate skills, abilities and market knowledge, and continually developing the appropriate succession

plans to continue to grow our business. The Board s guiding philosophy is to provide a compensation program that will attract, motivate, reward and retain top quality executive leadership for our current and long-term success. To that end, the executive compensation program seeks to:

emphasize performance-based pay by rewarding superior performance with superior levels of compensation;

align the interests of senior management with the interests of our stockholders through the use of equity compensation, and, prior to the Transactions, through stock ownership guidelines;

motivate behaviors that increase the short- and long-term financial performance of our Company; and

compete appropriately with other companies by evaluating base salary and short- and long-term incentive pay against the external marketplace.

Total compensation (base salary, annual cash performance bonus and long-term equity incentive compensation) generally is targeted in a range between the 50th and 75th percentiles of comparative market data. Greater weight is given to an executive s performance-based compensation (annual cash performance bonus and long-term equity incentives) than to base salary. The higher the level of responsibility an executive has, the greater the executive s total direct compensation emphasizes performance-based compensation. The Board believes that a higher level of at-risk pay is appropriate given the influence senior-level executives have on the Company s performance. The executive compensation program also accounts for individual performance, which enables the Board to differentiate among executives and emphasize the link between their personal performance and compensation.

In the first quarter of each year the Board receives information regarding competitive compensation levels and practices for positions comparable to our executive officer and senior-level positions. This information is obtained from published nationwide compensation surveys compiled by nationally recognized compensation consulting firms. The companies included in the surveys are determined by these compensation consulting firms, and may include: Alliance Data Systems, ADP, Bisys Group, Convergys, CSG Systems International, DST Systems, Fidelity National Information Systems, First Data, Global Payments, Paychex, Sabre Holdings, and Wright Express. General compensation surveys are used because, for many executive positions, our competition for talent is not industry specific. The competitive information, along with each executive s current compensation information, is compiled for comparison purposes by management into a tally sheet for the Board review. Upon review of the tally sheets, the Board makes individual compensation decisions based on the following factors: individual performance, business unit and company performance, and overall scope of responsibilities. In making annual decisions regarding compensation for the chief executive officer, the Board meets in executive session to consider the chief executive officer s performance for the year and the external competitive compensation information from the surveys described above. For all senior-level executives, the Board solicits and considers input from the chief executive officer regarding individual performance and potential.

The Board also periodically reviews termination payment scenarios and all of our benefit and perquisite programs for each of the named executives and other executive officers.

2007 Components of Executive Compensation

The principal components of compensation for the named executives were:

base salary;

annual cash performance bonus;

long-term equity incentives;

other executive benefits and perquisites; and

employment agreements, which contain termination and change in control benefits.

There is no pre-established policy or target for the allocation among the components of compensation.

Base Salary. Base salary generally is targeted to approximate the 50th percentile of comparative market data. The 50th percentile was selected to assure that we pay approximately the same for a given position as the marketplace, without over- or under-compensating an executive. Deviation from the 50th percentile may be determined to be appropriate based on the Board s assessment of the need to attract a particular executive, the responsibilities of the position, the executive s performance and experience, and relative internal reporting relationships, recognizing that not all positions are directly correlated at different companies and not all individuals have the same talents among their peers.

Annual Cash Performance Bonus. Our short-term incentive program consists of an annual cash performance bonus to focus executives and all employees on meeting shorter-term financial and other goals in a time frame that is consistent with our annual business planning. The Board determines the goals for the performance bonus plan in conjunction with the Board s approval of strategic and operating plans, so that the performance goals support the achievement of these plans. Each named executive s target annual incentive bonus percentage is set as a percentage of base salary, generally within the targeted range of the 50th to 75th percentile of comparative market data. The individual performance plans provide for threshold, target and superior payments to reward executives for varying degrees of accomplishment of their financial and non-financial performance objectives.

The Compensation Committee established the following annual cash performance bonus percentages for our named executives for 2007 as follows:

Objective	Threshold Bonus (Percentage of Base Salary	Target Bonus (Percentage of Base Salary)	Superior Bonus (Percentage of Base Salary)
Kathryn V. Marinello	80%	110%	140%
Gregory J. Macfarlane	50%	70%	90%
Perry H. Cliburn	50%	70%	90%
Brett Rodewald	35%	50%	70%
Michael F. Shea	40%	60%	80%
Gary M. Nelson ⁽¹⁾	50%	70%	90%
Douglas C. Neve ⁽¹⁾	60%	80%	100%

(1) Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned in March 2007 and November 2007, respectively. See Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.

Differences in target bonus percentages among the named executives are based on the scope of the respective named executives responsibilities and external market comparisons.

An executive s annual cash performance bonus plan may have a number of different financial and non-financial criteria for achievement tied to Company performance objectives and individualized based on the executive s ability to influence and contribute to results. Examples of individual performance criteria include: growth; compliance; cost reduction/simplification; employee engagement; and customer loyalty. The financial and non-financial performance criteria established by the Compensation Committee for the 2007 annual cash performance bonus was as follows:

Kathryn V. Marinello

Objective & Weight	Threshold	Target	Superior
Ceridian Corporate Net Income - 25%	20.00%	27.50%	35.00%
US Payroll Controllable EBIT - 25%	20.00%	27.50%	35.00%
Growth Metric - Payroll Transaction Volume - 25%	20.00%	27.50%	35.00%
Individual Performance - 25%	20.00%	27.50%	35.00%
Total	80%	110%	140%

Gregory J. Macfarlane

Objective & Weight	Threshold	Target	Superior
Ceridian Corporate Net Income - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
US Payroll Controllable EBIT - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Growth Metric - Payroll Transaction Volume - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Individual Performance - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Total	50%	70%	90%

Perry H. Cliburn

Objective & Weight	Threshold	Target	Superior
Ceridian Corporate Net Income - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
US Payroll Controllable EBIT - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Growth Metric - Payroll Transaction Volume - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Individual Performance - 25%	12.50%	17.50%	22.50%
Total	50%	70%	90%
1 (141	30 /0	10/0	JU /0

```
Brett Rodewald
```

Objective & Weight	Threshold	Target	Superior
Ceridian Corporate Net Income - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Comdata Transportation Revenue - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Growth Metric - Comdata Transportation Revenue - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Individual Performance - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Total	35%	50%	70%

Michael F. Shea

Objective & Weight	Threshold	Target	Superior
Ceridian Corporate Net Income - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
US Payroll Controllable EBIT - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Growth Metric - Payroll Transaction Volume - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%
Individual Performance - 25%	8.75%	12.50%	17.50%

35%

Total

The net income and revenue growth metrics were chosen in order to provide a balance between top and bottom line growth, while the cash flow (EBIT) metric recognizes the overall health of our business and, prior to the Transactions, stock price. The plan was designed to align all executives to overall Ceridian performance (25%), while also tying them to specific business unit performance (50%) and their own individual personal performance (25%). The actual amount of the annual cash performance bonus is subject to the discretion of the Board, and the amount can be impacted by significant external events, individual employment status and performance, and unusual business events. As a result, the Board may from time to time exercise its discretion and award annual cash performance bonuses in excess of the performance achieved by named executives and no or reduced annual cash performance bonus to named executives who had achieved their performance goals.

Long-Term Equity Incentives. Prior to the Transactions, our long-term equity incentive compensation program was in the form of stock awards and non-qualified stock options. The use of equity is designed to motivate long-term improvement of business fundamentals to foster stockholder value through an increased stock

70%

50%

price. In the past, awards have been granted annually to all named executives, senior-level executives, a majority of other executives, and a significant number of key contributors based on their level of responsibility, ability to impact results, and individual performance and experience. Each year, the Board reviews the overall long-term incentive program and determines the targeted total share pool and grant ranges for specific levels of employees. The grant ranges are expressed in present cash value because this cash value indicates the expense to the Company pursuant to FAS 123R. In 2007, the Compensation Committee modified the long-term equity incentive compensation program to focus awards on successful and high potential employees, which resulted in fewer executives receiving equity awards.

For the named executives, prior to the Transactions, the Board generally used an individually determined cash compensation multiplier, based on position, to determine any long-term equity incentive award. The multiplier was used to ensure that a significant portion of total direct compensation is delivered in the form of equity rather than cash, supporting the philosophy of giving greater weight to performance-based compensation. The Board believed this approach to be consistent with competitive practice. The multiplier for each named executive was based upon the Board s judgment of the executive s responsibilities within Ceridian and external competitive norms for the position.

For executives, including the named executives, prior to the Transactions, stock options were awarded to deliver 65% of the long-term equity incentive value and stock awards were awarded to deliver the remaining 35% of the long-term equity incentive value. The specific stock vehicles were selected to encourage stock ownership and retention (stock awards) and motivate accelerated stockholder growth through an increased stock price (stock options). In addition, the long-term equity incentive program targeted awards to approximately 10% of salaried employees, selecting these individuals based on their individual performance and ability to impact business results. For these key employees, awards were granted in the form of restricted stock. Stock options expired five years after the date of grant. This term was chosen in order to encourage an accelerated appreciation in stock price. The Board believed this time horizon provided accelerated performance while providing sufficient time to achieve objectives.

Prior to the Transactions, annual long-term equity incentive awards were generally made in the first quarter of the year to existing employees, with the grants made on the day of a Board meeting, in order to coordinate the general timing with other compensation actions, such as any annual salary increases and any cash performance bonus payments. Periodic long-term equity incentive awards were granted throughout the year for newly hired and promoted executives. Such awards were granted at a Board meeting or on the first business day of the month, and were not coordinated with the public release of nonpublic material information. Awards were priced based on the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange of a share of common stock on the date of grant.

Upon the consummation of the Transactions, outstanding equity awards under our then existing equity incentive plans were accelerated to vest immediately, our prior 2004 and 2001 Long Term Stock Incentive plans were terminated and the Ceridian Holding 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the 2007 Plan) became effective. The 2007 Plan provides 10,540,540 shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding available for issuance pursuant to awards of stock options and/or restricted stock under the plan. The 2007 Plan is administered by the board of directors of Ceridian Holding may also make adjustments to awards conditioned upon the attainment of performance conditions, including adjustments to the terms and conditions of such awards and the criteria therein. The 2007 Plan may be amended or terminated at any time by the board of directors of Ceridian Holding; however, no amendment or termination may be made without the consent of the participant if such action would materially diminish the participant s rights under the 2007 Plan or any award. The termination of the 2007 Plan would not affect any awards outstanding on the termination date. Awards made after the Transactions in 2007 were priced based on the post-Transactions value per share, or \$10 per share, which was a fair market valuation of the common stock of Ceridian Holding as determined by the board of directors of Ceridian Holding. In 2007, the current named executives received one-time stock option grants under the 2007 Plan which are currently intended to be in lieu of receiving future annual grants.

Other Executive Benefits and Perquisites. We offer certain benefit and perquisite programs for the named executives and other senior-level executives. The Board believes that these programs are necessary to be competitive in attracting and retaining top quality leaders. The Board periodically reviews the benefit and perquisite programs to ensure the programs remain competitive, cost-effective, and in-line with the original goals of the programs. Except as indicated, all named executives are eligible for the following programs:

Deferred Compensation Plan. We maintain a deferred compensation plan that allows executives to defer receipt of up to 100% of their base salary and/or annual cash performance bonus into accounts that track the performance of investment funds. This plan was established to give executives an additional tax-deferred method to save for retirement, education or other significant expenditures.

Defined Contribution Retirement Plans. We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) retirement plan for U.S. employees that provides for voluntary employee contributions and a company match. This plan is our primary retirement plan for U.S. employees. We have also established a 401(k) restoration matching contribution program for executives whose 401(k) plan employer matching contributions are limited by IRS regulations. In addition, for the current named executives other than Brett Rodewald, who is president of Comdata Network, Inc., we make supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) contributions. Both the 401(k) restoration and SERP contributions are credited annually to the executive s account in our deferred compensation plan. The 401(k) restoration and SERP programs are intended to provide an enhanced retirement benefit to those executives who did not participate in any defined benefit pension plan in order to attract and retain mid-career executives.

Other Supplemental Benefits and Perquisites. We provide the named executives with certain miscellaneous benefits, including long-term care insurance and enhanced short- and long-term disability programs, and one additional week of vacation leave. Further, all named executives may obtain an annual executive physical for themselves at our expense, and their spouses may also obtain an annual physical, the cost of which is income to the executive. As part of her employment agreement, we agreed to provide Kathryn V. Marinello with an allowance, to be determined periodically by the Board, for membership in a country club of her choice. Ms. Marinello has not yet requested this allowance. The Board periodically reviews the necessity and value of these programs and makes determinations primarily based on their review and understanding of industry competitive practices.

In addition, we generally provide a cash payment in lieu of certain other perquisites to executives. The cash payment is intended to replace common competitive perquisites and provide increased flexibility for the executive while reducing our administrative expenses. As a result, we generally do not provide common perquisites such as a car allowance, financial counseling and legal counseling to executives.

The Board has approved a policy that permits non-employee directors, the named executives, and other senior or key personnel (authorized in advance by the chief executive officer) to use our airplane for personal use. In addition, a spouse or other family member may accompany a director or executive on our airplane. The director or executive incurs income calculated at the Standard Industry Fare Level (SIFL) rates for any personal use of our airplane.

Employment Agreements and Termination and Change in Control Benefits. We have employment agreements with all of the current named executives, except Brett Rodewald. Our employment agreements with Kathryn V. Marinello, Gregory J. Macfarlane and Michael F. Shea were amended and restated at the time of the Transactions. The primary purpose of the agreements is to establish the terms of employment and to protect both Ceridian and the individual. We are provided with reasonable protections that the executive will perform at acceptable levels and will not compete with, disparage, or recruit employees from us after termination of the employment relationship. The executive is provided financial protection in the event of certain reasons for termination of employment, in recognition of the executive s professional career and a foregoing of present and future career options. The employment agreements provide for severance payments in the event of certain categories of termination. See Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control for Named Executives.

2007 Compensation for Named Executives

Kathryn V. Marinello. Ms. Marinello became President and Chief Executive Officer on October 20, 2006. Ms. Marinello s 2007 base salary was set at \$780,000, based on a salary analysis. Ms. Marinello s 2007 annual cash incentive target bonus was at 110% of her base salary, with a superior payment of 140% of base salary. In addition, for 2007, Ms. Marinello s cash incentive bonus was multiplied by 1.25 (representing the last three months of 2006 and all of 2007). On October 20, 2006, the date she became an employee, Ms. Marinello was granted stock options and restricted stock which were redeemed upon consummation of the Transactions for \$5,721,602. The amount reflects the Compensation Committee past practice of determining long-term incentive compensation by multiplying total cash compensation (base salary plus target annual cash performance bonus) by 2.0, the multiple traditionally used by the Compensation Committee for the chief executive officer. This amount in turn was then multiplied by 1.25 representing service to be rendered by Ms. Marinello in 2006 and 2007. In addition, to replace unvested equity awards granted by her former employer, Ms. Marinello was granted a retention bonus restricted stock award redeemed upon consummation of the Transactions for \$2,536,992.

Gregory J. Macfarlane. Mr. Macfarlane became Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer on March 26, 2007. Mr. Macfarlane s initial base salary was set at \$350,000, based on a salary analysis. On March 26, 2007, the date he became an employee, Mr. Macfarlane was granted stock options and restricted stock redeemed upon consummation of the Transactions for \$740,397.

Perry H. Cliburn. Mr. Cliburn became Executive Vice President, Chief Technology Officer on December 14, 2006. For 2007, Mr. Cliburn s base salary was set at \$400,000, based on a salary analysis.

Brett Rodewald. Mr. Rodewald became President of Comdata Network, Inc. on August 21, 2007. From January 1, 2007 to February 19, 2007, Mr. Rodewald s base salary was set at \$250,000; from February 19, 2007 to November 12, 2007, his base salary was set at \$265,000; from November 12, 2007 to December 31, 2007, his salary was set at \$300,000, in connection with his appointment as President of Comdata Network, Inc. In each case, his salary was based on a salary analysis. We do not have an employment agreement with Mr. Rodewald.

Michael F. Shea. Mr. Shea became Executive Vice President, Quality & Service Operations on January 29, 2007. Mr. Shea s initial base salary was set at \$275,000, based on a salary analysis. On January 29, 2007, the date he became an employee, Mr. Shea was granted stock options and restricted stock redeemed upon consummation of the Transactions for \$776,021.

Gary M. Nelson. Mr. Nelson resigned as Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2007. He held various positions with us from July 1997. For 2007, Mr. Nelson s base salary was set at \$365,000, based on a salary analysis.

Douglas C. Neve. Mr. Neve resigned as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in March 2007. He held that position since March 2005. For 2007, Mr. Neve s base salary was set at \$400,000, based on a salary analysis.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Name and Principal Position (a)	Year (b)	Salary (\$) (c)	Bonus ⁽¹⁾ (\$) (d)	Stock Awards ⁽²⁾ (\$) (e)	Option Awards ⁽³⁾ (\$) (f)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation ⁽² (\$) (g)	All Other Compensation ⁽⁵ (\$) (i)	(\$) (j)
Kathryn V. Marinello ⁽⁵⁾ President and Chief	2007	\$ 780,000		\$ 5,794,238	\$ 19,248,958	\$ 1,349,282	\$ 137,469	\$ 27,309,947
Executive Officer								
Gregory J. Macfarlane Executive Vice President	2007	\$ 262,500	\$ 150,000	\$ 621,000	\$ 2,769,398	\$ 311,238	\$ 216,493	\$ 4,330,628
and Chief Financial Officer								
Perry H. Cliburn Executive Vice President,	2007	\$ 400,000		\$ 337,140	\$ 2,108,627	\$ 335,701	\$ 74,500	\$ 3,255,968
Chief Technology Officer	2007	¢ 2(7.000		¢ 017 (24	¢ 0.001.042	¢ 175.200	¢ 20.000	¢ 2 (12 05 4
Brett Rodewald <i>President, Comdata</i>	2007	\$ 267,980		\$ 917,634	\$ 2,221,943	\$ 175,388	\$ 30,009	\$ 3,612,954
Network, Inc.								
Michael F. Shea Executive Vice President	2007	\$ 248,557	\$ 180,000	\$ 565,380	\$ 2,330,642	2 \$ 217,044	\$ 43,737	\$ 3,585,360
Quality & Service Operations								
Gary M. Nelson ⁽⁶⁾ Former Executive Vice President,	2007	\$ 341,635		\$ 871,092	\$ 5,269,184		\$ 2,709,927	\$ 9,191,838
Chief Administrative Officer,								
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary								
Douglas C. Neve⁽⁶⁾ Former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2007	\$ 83,077		\$ 1,044,680	\$ 2,968,515		\$ 1,208,788	\$ 5,305,060
- _{UU}								

(1) Messrs. Macfarlane and Shea received a one-time sign-on bonus upon hire pursuant to their employment agreements.

(2) This column includes the value of restricted stock that naturally vested in 2007 prior to the Transactions, as well as the value of previously unvested restricted stock cashed out in the Transaction. The Transactions consideration amount of \$36 per share was used to calculate the cash out value. The amount associated with the Transactions for Ms. Marinello was \$3,906,936, for Mr. Macfarlane was \$621,000, for Mr.

Cliburn was \$337,140, for Mr. Rodewald was \$795,852, for Mr. Shea was \$565,380 and for Mr. Nelson was \$582,732. For details, see the Option Exercised and Stock Vested table. In 2007, prior to the Transactions, stock awards were granted to Messrs. Macfarlane, Nelson and Shea with FAS 123R values of \$570,458, \$227,508 and \$462,335, respectively.

(3) This column includes the FAS123R value for the new stock option awarded under the 2007 Plan for Ms. Marinello and Messrs. Macfarlane, Cliburn, Rodewald and Shea. All option grants were pursuant to the 2007 Plan. This column also includes the value of the stock options cashed out based on the \$36 per share consideration price for the Transactions. The value associated with the cash-out of stock options in connection with the Transactions for Ms. Marinello was \$4,351,658, for Mr. Macfarlane was \$119,398, for Mr. Cliburn was \$518,627, for Mr. Rodewald was \$631,943, for Mr. Shea was \$210,642 and for Mr. Nelson was \$5,269,185. Prior to the Transactions, Messrs. Macfarlane, Nelson and Shea received stock option awards under the former 2004 and 2001 Long Term Stock Incentive plans with a FAS123R values of \$325,238, \$387,282 and \$228,148, respectively. These awards were subsequently cashed out upon the consummation of the Transactions. This column includes the stock option exercises that occurred in 2007 by Mr. Neve, details of which can be found on the Option Exercises and Stock Vested table. It is currently intended that the options granted in 2007 following the Transactions to the current named executives will be one-time grants under the 2007 Plan in lieu of receiving future annual grants.

```
115
```

- (4) This column includes the annual performance-based cash incentive awards earned in 2007. These awards were paid in February 2008. Details on the payout range for these awards can be found on the Grants of Plan Based Awards table under the column Estimated Future Payouts under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards.
- (5) This column includes the annual cash perquisities allowance, 401(k) match amounts, restoration match amounts, supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP) amounts, long term care insurance, other personal benefits and severance payments. The long term care insurance amounts paid by the company in 2007 for Messrs. Nelson and Neve also include payments made for spouses under the plan. The amounts shown in this column include the following:

	Cas	h in Lieu	4	01(k)	Re	storation		Lo	ng-Term Care		Other ersonal	Severance Related
Name	of oth	er Perks ^(a)	Ma	atch ^(b)	N	latch ^(c)	SERP ^(d)	In	surance ^(e)	Be	enefits ^(f)	Payments ^(g)
Kathryn V. Marinello	\$	8,654	\$	9,000	\$	22,200	\$62,400			\$	35,215	
Gregory J. Macfarlane	\$	19,230	\$	9,000	\$	1,500	\$21,000	\$	692	\$1	65,071	
Perry H. Cliburn	\$	25,000	\$	9,000	\$	7,467	\$ 32,933	\$	100			
Brett Rodewald	\$	15,000			\$	8,323		\$	76	\$	6,610	
Michael F. Shea	\$	13,846	\$	9,000	\$	942	\$ 19,885	\$	64			
Gary M. Nelson	\$	16,019	\$	9,000				\$	9,983			\$ 2,674,925
Douglas C. Neve	\$	5,288	\$	9,000				\$	104,853			\$ 1,089,647

-

(a) We provide a cash payment in lieu of additional perquisites to its executives.

- (b) Reflects amount of contributions to qualified 401(k) plans offered to all employees. For more details see, Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans.
- (c) We provide for supplemental 401(k) restoration employer matching contributions of up to 4% of gross pay above government-imposed compensation limits for participants to our deferred compensation plan. For more details see, Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans.
- (d) We provide defined contribution SERP employer contributions to our deferred compensation plan that generally vested on the second anniversary of the date of credit. For 2007, all amounts were vested based on SERP plan provision as it relates to the Transactions. For more details see, Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans.
- (e) Represents employer-paid premiums to long-term care insurance policies.
- (f) Other personal benefits in 2007 include: for Ms. Marinello, a home security system (\$26,043), an executive physical (\$7,993) and one personal trip on our jet (\$1,179), for Mr. Macfarlane, an executive physical (\$5,661) and costs associated with his relocation (\$159,410), and for Mr. Rodewald, costs incurred for a trip related to a reward and recognition event.
- (g) Includes one-time severance payments to Messrs Nelson and Neve. For more details, see Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.

 ⁽⁶⁾ Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned in November 2007 and March 2007, respectively. See Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.
Grants of Plan-Based Awards

As discussed in Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we provide for annual cash performance bonus awards and long-term equity incentive awards consisting of stock option awards and stock awards to our named executives. Following the Transactions, named executives received one-time grants under the award in lieu of receiving systematic annual grants.

The following table provides information on each grant made to a named executive under any plan during 2007. No consideration was paid by the named executive to receive any of the awards listed below.

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

		imated Future equity incentiv				future pay centive pla			All other		
Name	Grant Date (b)	Threshold (\$)	Target (\$) (d)	Maximum (\$) (e)	Threshold (#) (f)	Target (#)	Maximum (#) (h)	(#)	option] awards; Number of securities underlying options ⁽³⁾ (#)	awards ⁽⁴⁾ (\$/Sh)	Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$)
(a) Kathryn V.	(0)	(c)	(u)	(e)	(1)	(g)	(11)	(i)	(j)	(k)	(1)
Marinello ⁽⁵⁾	n/a 11/9/2007 11/9/2007	\$ 780,000 \$	1,072,500	\$ 1,365,000		1,405,405			1,405,406		§ 7,083,246 § 7,814,054
Gregory J. Macfarlane	n/a 11/9/2007 11/9/2007 3/26/2007 3/26/2007	\$ 175,000 \$	245,000	\$ 315,000		250,000		17,250	,	\$ 10.00 \$ \$ 33.07 \$	\$ 1,260,000 \$ 1,390,000 \$ 325,238 \$ 570,458
Perry H. Cliburn	n/a 12/21/2007 12/21/2007	\$ 200,000 \$	280,000	\$ 360,000		150,000			150,000	\$ 10.00 \$ \$ 10.00 \$	
Brett Rodewald	n/a 12/21/2007 12/21/2007 2/16/2007 3/28/2007 3/28/2007	\$ 92,750 \$	132,500	\$ 185,500		150,000		16,934 1,585		\$ 10.00 \$ \$ 10.00 \$ \$ 33.12 \$	\$ 834,000\$ 579,990\$ 52,495
Michael F. Shea	n/a 11/9/2007 11/9/2007 1/29/2007 1/29/2007	\$ 110,000 \$	165,000	\$ 220,000		200,000		15,705		\$ 10.00 \$	\$ 1,008,000 \$ 1,112,000 \$ 462,355 \$ 228,148
Gary M. Nelson ⁽⁶⁾	5/26/2007 5/26/2007							6,890	45,697	\$ 33.02 \$	\$ 227,508 \$ 387,282
Douglas C. Neve ⁽⁶⁾											

- (1) Reflects annual cash performance bonus awards made to the named executives. The amounts reflected in the threshold, target and maximum amounts contained columns (c), (d) and (e) for each named executive reflects a percentage of base salary for such named executive which are discussed above under the heading Annual Cash Performance Bonus Awards. The bonus payments for 2007 performance have been made based on the metrics described in the compensation discussion and analysis and are shown in the Summary Compensation Table in the column titled Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation. These bonuses were paid in February 2008.
- (2) Awards to Rodewald, Shea and Nelson prior to November 9, 2007 were granted under the prior 2004 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. Mr. Macfarlane s awards prior to November 9, 2007 were granted from the prior 2001 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. Upon the consummation of the Transactions, outstanding equity awards were accelerated to vest immediately, our prior plans were terminated and the 2007 Plan became effective.
- (3) All option grants made on November 9, 2007 and December 21, 2007 were pursuant to the 2007 Plan. It is currently intended the options granted in 2007 following the Transactions to the current named executives will be one-time grants under the 2007 Plan in lieu of receiving future annual grants.
- (4) Prior to the Transactions, the exercise price of each option was equal to the market value (closing price on the New York Stock Exchange) of a share of Ceridian common stock on the date of grant. Following the Transactions, because we are no longer listed on the New York Stock Exchange, awards were priced based on the post-Transactions value per share, or \$10 per share.
- (5) Pursuant to the terms of Ms. Marinello s employment agreement, the annual cash performance bonus received by Ms. Marinello for services rendered in 2006 are reflected in the 2007 annual cash performance bonus. The amounts listed under the column caption Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards for Ms. Marinello reflect the amount of a 2007 annual cash performance bonus multiplied by 1.25 to reflect approximately 15 months of service to be provided by Ms. Marinello in 2006 and 2007.
- (6) Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned in March 2007 and November 2007, respectively. See Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides information concerning unexercised stock options, restricted stock or restricted stock units that have not vested, and other equity incentive awards held by a named executive and remain outstanding as of December 31, 2007.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END

	Option Awa	ards ⁽¹⁾		Stock Awards		
Number of	Number of			Number of	Market Value	
Securities	Securities			Shares or	of Shares or	
Underlying	Underlying			Units of	Units of	
Unexercised	Unexercised	Option		Stock Held	Stock That	
Options	Options	Exercise	Option	That Have	Have Not	
(#)	(#)	Price	Expiration	Not Vested	Vested	
Exercisable	Unexercisable	(\$)	Date	(#)	(\$)	

(a)	(b)	(c)	(e)	(f)	(g)	(h)
Kathryn V. Marinello		2,810,811	10	11/9/2017		
Gregory J. Macfarlane		500,000	10	11/9/2017		
Perry H. Cliburn		300,000	10	12/21/2017		
Brett Rodewald		300,000	10	12/21/2017		
Michael F. Shea		400,000	10	11/9/2017		
Gary M. Nelson ⁽²⁾						
Douglas C. Neve ⁽²⁾						

- (1) Represents grants of non-qualified stock options under the 2007 Plan. It is currently intended the options granted in 2007 following the Transactions to the current named executives will be one-time grants under the 2007 Plan in lieu of receiving future annual grants. Such options are granted 50% time based vesting and 50% performance based vesting. Subject to certain exceptions, so long as the named executive remains employed by us, the non-qualified stock option grants have five-year elapsed time vesting schedules, with one-fifth cumulative vesting on the anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise price is determined based on the post-Transactions value per share, or \$10 per share. Stock options expire ten years from the date of grant. The vesting criteria for the performance-based stock options granted in 2007 following the Transactions is based on the value of our common equity reaching \$20 per share, provided that, in connection with a change of control, vesting would be prorated based on the value of our stock between \$10 and \$20 per share.
- (2) Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned in November 2007 and March 2007, respectively. See Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table provides information concerning each exercise of stock options and vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units during 2007 for each named executive on an aggregate basis.

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

	Option A	wards	Stock Aw	ards
Name (a)	Number of Shares Acquired on Exercise # (b)	Value Realized on Exercise \$ (c)	Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting (#) (d)	Value Realized on Vesting ⁽²⁾ (\$) (e)
Kathryn V. Marinello	352,361	\$ 4,351,658 ₍₃₎	54,264 108,526	$\begin{array}{cccc} \$ & 1,887,302_{(2)} \\ \$ & 3,906,936_{(4)} \end{array}$
Gregory J. Macfarlane	40,750	\$ 119,397 ₍₃₎	17,250	\$ 621,000 ₍₄₎
Perry H. Cliburn	52,706	\$ 518,627 ₍₃₎	9,365	\$ 337,140(4)
Brett Rodewald	52,835	\$ 631,943 ₍₃₎	3,733 22,107	\$ 121,166 ₍₂₎ \$ 795,852 ₍₄₎
Michael F. Shea	32,110	\$ 210,642 ₍₃₎	15,705	\$ 565,380 ₍₄₎
Gary M. Nelson ⁽⁵⁾	348,768	\$ 5,269,185 ₍₃₎	8,786 16,187	\$ 288,360 ₍₂₎ \$ 582,732 ₍₄₎
Douglas C. Neve ⁽⁵⁾	244,925	\$ 2,968,515 (1)	31,660	\$ 1,044,680(2)

- (1) The aggregate dollar value realized on exercise is the difference between the market price on the date of exercise of the shares of Ceridian common stock underlying the option exercised and the exercise price of such option, multiplied by the number of shares of Ceridian common stock subject to the option exercised.
- (2) The aggregate dollar value realized on vesting is the market price of the underlying Ceridian common stock on the vesting date multiplied by the number of shares or units vested.
- (3) The aggregate dollar value realized on exercise is the difference between the per share consideration price of \$36 for the Transactions and of the shares of Ceridian common stock underlying the option exercised and the exercise price of such option, multiplied by the number of shares of Ceridian common stock subject to the option exercised. Represents the value of options cashed out at the time of the consummation of the Transactions.
- (4) The aggregate dollar value realized on the consummation of the Transactions on November 9, 2007 using the per share consideration price of \$36 underlying Ceridian common stock on the vesting date multiplied by the number of shares or units vested. Represents the value of restricted stock unvested and cashed out at the time of the consummation of the Transactions.
- (5) Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned in November 2007 and March 2007, respectively. See Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007.

Pension Benefits

No named executives were eligible to participate in a defined benefit pension plan.

Nonqualified Defined Contribution and Other Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans

We sponsor a non tax-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows certain executives, including the named executives, to defer up to 100% of their annual base salary and annual cash performance bonus award into investment accounts. Gains and/or losses on these investment accounts mirror the gains and/or losses on the actual underlying investment funds. Accounts are paid at termination of employment; however, at the time of the voluntary election to defer, the executive may elect an in-service distribution date for a lump sum payment. Payments following termination of employment are made in a single lump sum unless the executive is at least age 55 with 10 years of service at termination and has elected to receive the account in annual installments.

We also sponsor a 401(k) restoration plan that matches employee contributions made to our tax-qualified 401(k) plan of up to 4% of gross pay above the IRS-imposed compensation limits for participants. All contributions to the 401(k) restoration plan are immediately 100% vested. In addition, we provide a non tax-qualified supplemental executive retirement plan employer contribution for our named executives and certain other senior executives. The SERP employer contribution is calculated at 8% of the named executive s base salary and target annual cash performance bonus award. Prior to the Transactions, the SERP contribution generally vested on the second anniversary of the date of credit. Upon the consummation of the Transactions, SERP contributions immediately vested, and the SERP plan was amended effective January 1, 2008 to again vest on the second anniversary of the date of credit. Both types of employer contributions are credited as of the last day of the calendar year into the account of the named executive in the deferred compensation plan. Accounts are paid at termination of employment in a single lump sum unless the executive is at least age 55 with 10 years of service at termination and has elected to receive the account in annual installments. Unvested amounts are forfeited upon termination of employment.

The following table provides information concerning our non-qualified defined contribution plan and other non-qualified deferred compensation plans that provide for the deferral of compensation on a basis that is not tax-qualified to a named executive.

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION

Name (a)	Executive Contributions in Last FY (\$) ⁽¹⁾ (b)	Registrant Contributions in Last FY (\$) (c)	Aggregate Earnings in Last FY (\$) ⁽²⁾ (d)	Aggregate Withdrawals/ Distributions (\$) (e)	Aggregate Balance at Last FYE (\$) (f)
Kathryn V. Marinello		84,600	491		11,040
Gregory J. Macfarlane ⁽³⁾	12,789	22,500	172		
Perry H. Cliburn		40,400	30		862
Brett Rodewald		8,323	364		8,200
Michael F. Shea ⁽³⁾	23,269	20,827	(582)		
Gary M. Nelson ⁽⁴⁾			172,303	826,614	654,310
Douglas C. Neve ⁽⁴⁾			6,325	33,181	117,971

(1) Amounts in this column reflect deferrals of annual cash performance bonus awards earned in 2006 and deferred in 2007.

- (2) Each named executive selects from 12 deemed investment vehicles to credit investment gains and/or losses. Gains and/or losses are based on the actual investment experience of the underlying investment; no above market earnings are credited.
- (3) In 2007, Messrs. Macfarlane and Shea deferred a portion of their 2007 base salary. The base salary deferral is included in the Salary column in the Summary Compensation Table.

(4) In 2007, Messrs. Nelson and Neve resigned and subsequently took distributions from the plan. *Potential Payments upon Termination or Change-in-Control.*

We believe that reasonable and appropriate severance and change-in-control benefits are appropriate to protect our named executives against circumstances over which they have no control and as consideration for the promises of non-compete, non-disparage and non-recruit that we require in our employment agreements. Furthermore, we believe change-in-control severance payments align the named executives interests with our own by enabling the named executive to evaluate a transaction in the best interests of our shareholders and our other constituents without undue concern over whether the transaction may jeopardize the named executive s own employment.

We have entered into employment agreements and maintain benefit plans and programs that would require us to provide certain benefits and payments to our current named executives in the event of termination of employment under specific circumstances. The amount of compensation payable to our current named executives in each situation is listed in the tables below.

The employment agreements of Ms. Marinello, and Messrs. Macfarlane and Shea each have an initial five-year term, expiring November 9, 2012. The employment agreement of Mr. Cliburn has an initial three-year term, expiring December 14, 2009. All employment agreements with our named executives automatically renew for successive additional one-year terms on the anniversary date of the agreement. The employment agreements differ between these executives; significant differences are noted below.

We have not entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Rodewald. However, he is subject to our Change in Control Severance Policy (the Severance Policy), which provides certain severance benefits to specified employees. No named executive is subject to the Severance Policy except Mr. Rodewald. The policy expires November 9, 2009.

Involuntary Termination, Death and Disability

Involuntary Termination Prior November 9, 2009.

Our employment agreements with Ms. Marinello and Messrs. Macfarlane, Shea and Cliburn specify that if we terminate such executive without cause within two years of the date of the Transactions, such termination would be deemed to be a change of control termination and entitle the applicable executive to the severance and other payments due pursuant to the change of control provisions of their respective employment agreements. See Change of Control Arrangements below.

Furthermore, the benefits provided upon termination of a named executive s employment without cause are also provided upon the termination by the executive of the executive s employment for good reason, which is generally defined as an adverse change in an executive s responsibilities, authority, compensation, benefits or working conditions or a material breach by us of the executive s employment agreement.

The Severance Policy covering Mr. Rodewald provides that Mr. Rodewald would be entitled to receive payment that is equal to the following:

two times the executive s annual base salary;

prorated bonus, if any;

30 days of annual base salary through the notice period;

the employer subsidy of any COBRA health, dental and vision premiums for six months; and

reasonable reimbursement of outplacement services not to exceed \$12,000. *Involuntary Termination After November 9, 2009.*

If we terminate Ms. Marinello without cause on at least 30 days notice and a release of claims is signed by her, she will be entitled to receive payment equal to:

30 days of annual base salary through the notice period;

two times the sum of (a) the annual base salary plus (b) the annual cash performance bonus award she was entitled to for the fiscal year immediately prior to the termination; and

a prorated share of the annual cash performance bonus she would otherwise have received for the current fiscal year if she had remained employed by us for the fiscal year in which termination occurred.

In addition, Ms. Marinello s employment agreement also provides for:

the payment of any COBRA health, dental and vision premiums for 18 months; and

reasonable reimbursement of outplacement services not to exceed \$50,000 for up to 24 months. If we terminate Messrs. Macfarlane, Shea or Cliburn without cause on at least 30 days notice and a release of claims is signed by him, he will be entitled to receive payment equal to:

30 days of annual base salary through the notice period;

two times the executive s annual base salary; and

a prorated share of the annual cash performance bonus he would otherwise have received for the current fiscal year if he had remained employed by us for the fiscal year in which termination occurred.

In addition, Messrs. Macfarlane, Shea and Cliburn s employment agreements also provide for:

the payment of any COBRA health, dental and vision premiums for six months; and

reasonable reimbursement of outplacement services not to exceed \$20,000 for up to 24 months. Furthermore, the benefits provided upon termination of each executive s employment agreement without cause are also provided upon the termination by the executive of the executive s employment agreement for good reason , which is generally defined as an adverse change in an executive s responsibilities, authority, compensation, benefits or working conditions or a material breach by us of the executive s employment agreement.

Termination due to Death. If termination occurs due to death, the deceased executive s estate will be entitled to receive payment equal to:

the executive s annual base salary; and

a proportionate share of the annual cash performance bonus the executive would otherwise have received for the year in which termination occurred and target goals had been achieved.

Termination due to Disability. If termination occurs due to disability, the terminated executive will be entitled to receive payment equal to:

the executive s base pay for six months following the disability; and

a proportionate share of the annual cash performance bonus the executive would otherwise have received for the year in which termination occurred and target goals had been achieved.

Change of Control Arrangements. Under the terms of our equity compensation plans, the exercisability of unvested stock options or the vesting of other awards under our stock-based compensation plans accelerate upon a change of control of Ceridian.

The employment agreements provide that following a change of control termination of the executive, the executive will be entitled to receive payment that is equal to three times the following:

the executive s annual base salary;

any bonus the executive would have received under all applicable Ceridian annual cash performance bonus programs for the year in which the termination occurs had superior targets been achieved;

for Ms. Marinello only, the annual cash performance bonus she would have received had she remained employed with Ceridian for the full year; and

the highest annual aggregate amount of the employer contributions into our 401(k) restoration and the SERP contribution made into the Ceridian Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan in each of the last three years.

The lump sum payments made to the executives would be in lieu of any other severance payment specified in their employment agreements. Outplacement services (up to \$50,000 for Ms. Marinello, up to \$20,000 for Messrs. Macfarlane, Shea, and Cliburn), relocation and attorney s fees would also be provided in certain circumstances.

For purposes of the employment agreements, a change of control is generally defined as any of the following:

a merger or consolidation involving Ceridian if less than 50 percent (60 percent for Mr. Cliburn) of its voting stock after the business combination is held by persons who were stockholders before the business combination;

ownership by a person or group acting in concert of at least 20 percent of our voting securities, excluding acquisition by us, or our benefit plans;

a sale of substantially all of our assets;

approval by our stockholders of a plan for the liquidation of our company;

a change in the composition of the Board such that the current Board or those members of the Board (other than a director whose initial assumption of office was in connection with an actual or threatened election contest, including but not limited to a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors of Ceridian) who were elected or appointed by, or on the nomination or recommendation of, at least a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the then-existing directors who either were directors on the date of the employment agreement or were previously so elected or appointed cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; or

any other events or transactions that our Board determines constitute a change of control. The term change of control termination refers to either of the following if it occurs within two years of a change of control of Ceridian:

termination of an executive s employment by us for any reason other than conduct that constitutes fraud, theft or embezzlement of our assets, an intentional violation of law involving moral turpitude, or failure to follow our conduct or ethics policies; and

the executive terminates employment with us for good reason, which is generally defined as an adverse change in an executive s responsibilities, authority, compensation, benefits or working conditions or a material breach by us of the executive s employment agreement.

A change of control termination does not include termination of employment due to death or disability, but includes termination in anticipation of a change of control, whether or not the change of control actually occurs.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change of Control for Named Executives

Kathryn V. Marinello. The following table describes the potential termination payments for Ms. Marinello assuming termination on December 31, 2007:

Executive Benefits and

Payments Upon	 Termination Without			E. C.	Change of		
Termination (a)	Voluntary Termination (b)		se/Termination Good Reason (c)	For Cause Termination (d)	Control Termination (e)	Death (f)	Disability (g)
Compensation							
Severance or Other ⁽¹⁾	\$ 65,000	\$	8,443,800	\$	\$ 8,443,800	\$ 780,000	\$ 390,000
Short-Term Incentive ⁽²⁾			858,000		858,000	858,000	858,000
Long-Term Incentives Unvested &							
Accelerated ⁽³⁾							
Stock Options							
Benefits and Perquisites							
Incremental Non-qualified Retirement ⁽⁴⁾							
Post-termination Health ⁽⁵⁾			159,641		159,641		
Life Insurance ⁽⁶⁾						50,000	
Disability Benefits ⁽⁷⁾							300,492
Accrued Paid Time Off ⁽⁸⁾	60,000		60,000	60,000	60,000	60,000	60,000
Outplacement Services ⁽⁹⁾			50,000		50,000		

Involuntary

- (1) Severance for involuntary termination without cause or for good reason or change of control termination is equal to three times the sum of: (a) base salary, (b) the earned bonus the executive would have been entitled to in the year of termination, (c) the bonus the executive would have been entitled to in the year of termination if superior targets had been met, and (d) certain retirement contributions. In the event of voluntary termination, the executive will be paid for a 30 day notice period. Payment for death is one times base salary. In the event of disability, base salary is continued for six months.
- (2) Annual cash performance bonus award is payable at target for change of control, involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, and in the event of death or disability.
- (3) Value of in the money stock options based on an estimated value of \$10 per share at December 31, 2007 which equals the exercise price for the awards granted on November 9, 2007. Stock options accelerate vesting upon a change in control and in the event of death or disability.
- (4) The unvested portion of the defined contribution supplemental executive retirement plan benefit generally accelerates vesting upon change of control, death or disability, however, upon consummation of the Transactions, all unvested portions accelerated.
- (5) In an involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, or change of control termination, we pay a portion of health, dental and vision insurance coverage to age 65. The annual employer cost based on 2008 rates is \$11,403. The amount shown in column (e) is based on 14 years of coverage to age 65; assuming a constant annual rate.
- (6) Payout based on company-paid coverage of \$50,000.

- (7) Disability benefits are provided under both an insured and a self-insured policy. The annual benefit is based on 65% of base salary plus bonus, capped at \$25,041 per month. The amount shown indicates the annual payment.
- (8) Estimated amount based on current base salary and annual personal days off accrual.
- (9) Reasonable outplacement is provided for involuntary termination without cause, for good reason, and for change of control termination for up to 24 months, up to a maximum of \$50,000.

Gregory J. Macfarlane. The following table describes the potential termination payments for Mr. Macfarlane assuming termination on December 31, 2007:

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination (a)	oluntary rmination (b)	Involuntary Termination Without Cause/ Termination for Good Reason (c)	For Cause Termination (d)	Change of Control Termination (e)	Death (f)	Disability (g)
Compensation	(0)	(0)	(u)	(0)	(1)	(g)
Severance or Other ⁽¹⁾	\$ 29,167	\$ 2,062,500	\$	\$ 2,062,500	\$ 350,000	\$ 175,000
Short-Term Incentive ⁽²⁾		245,000		245,000	245,000	245,000
Long-Term Incentives Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾						
Stock Options						
Benefits and Perquisites						
Incremental Non-qualified Retirement ⁽⁴⁾						
Post-termination Health ⁽⁵⁾		312,144		312,144		
Life Insurance ⁽⁶⁾					50,000	
Disability Benefits ⁽⁷⁾						300,492
Accrued Paid Time Off ⁽⁸⁾	26,923	26,923	26,923	26,923	26,923	26,923
Outplacement Services ⁽⁹⁾		20,000		20,000		

- (1) Severance for involuntary termination without cause or for good reason or change of control termination is equal to three times the sum of: (a) base salary, (b) the bonus he would have been entitled to in the year of termination if superior targets had been met, and (c) certain retirement contributions. In the event of voluntary termination, the executive will be paid for a 30 day notice period. Payment for death is one times base salary. In the event of disability, base salary is continued for six months.
- (2) Annual cash performance bonus award is payable at target for change of control, involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, and in the event of death or disability.
- (3) Value of in the money stock options based on an estimated value of \$10 per share at December 31, 2007 which equals the exercise price for the awards granted on November 9, 2007. Stock options accelerate vesting upon a change in control and in the event of death or disability.
- (4) The unvested portion of the defined contribution supplemental executive retirement plan benefit generally accelerates vesting upon change of control, death or disability, however, upon consummation of the Transactions, all unvested portions accelerated.
- (5) In an involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, or change of control termination, we pay a portion of health, dental and vision insurance coverage to age 65. The annual employer cost based on 2008 rates is \$11,148. The amount shown in column (e) is based on 28 years of coverage to age 65; assuming a constant annual rate.
- (6) Payout based on company-paid coverage of \$50,000.

(7)

Disability benefits are provided under both an insured and a self-insured policy. The annual benefit is based on 65% of base salary plus bonus, capped at \$ 25,041 per month. The amount shown indicates the annual payment.

- (8) Estimated amount based on current base salary and annual personal days off accrual.
- (9) Reasonable outplacement is provided for involuntary termination without cause, for good reason, and for change of control termination for up to 24 months, up to a maximum of \$20,000.

Perry H. Cliburn. The following table describes the potential termination payments for Mr. Cliburn assuming termination on December 31, 2007:

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination (a)	oluntary rmination (b)	Involuntary Termination Without Cause/ Termination for Good Reason (c)	For Cause Termination (d)	Change of Control Termination (e)	Death (f)	Disability (g)
Compensation	()	(-)	(-)	(-)	(-)	(g)
Severance or Other ⁽¹⁾	\$ 33,333	\$ 2,401,200	\$	\$ 2,401,200	\$ 400,000	\$ 200,000
Short-Term Incentive ⁽²⁾		280,000		280,000	280,000	280,000
Long-Term Incentives Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾						
Stock Options						
Benefits and Perquisites						
Incremental Non-qualified Retirement ⁽⁴⁾						
Post-termination Health ⁽⁵⁾		141,473		141,473		
Life Insurance ⁽⁶⁾					50,000	
Disability Benefits ⁽⁷⁾						300,492
Accrued Paid Time Off ⁽⁸⁾	30,769	30,769	30,769	30,769	30,769	30,769
Outplacement Services ⁽⁹⁾		20,000		20,000		

- (1) Severance for involuntary termination without cause or change of control termination is three times the sum of: (a) base salary, (b) the bonus he would have been entitled to in the year of termination if superior targets had been met, and (c) certain retirement contributions. In the event of involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, or voluntary termination, the executive will be paid for a 30 day notice period. Payment for death is one times base salary. In the event of disability, base salary is continued for six months.
- (2) Annual cash performance bonus award is payable at target for change of control, involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, and in the event of death or disability.
- (3) Value of in the money stock options based on an estimated value of \$10 per share at December 31, 2007 which equals the exercise price for the awards granted on December 21, 2007. Stock options accelerate vesting upon a change in control and in the event of death or disability.
- (4) The unvested portion of the defined contribution supplemental executive retirement plan benefit generally accelerates vesting upon change of control, death or disability, however, upon consummation of the Transactions, all unvested portions accelerated.
- (5) In an involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, or change of control termination, we pay a portion of health, dental and vision insurance coverage to age 65. The annual employer cost based on 2008 rates is \$8,842. The amount shown in column (e) is based on 16 years of coverage to age 65; assuming a constant annual rate.
- (6) Payout based on company-paid coverage of \$50,000.

(7)

Disability benefits are provided under both an insured and a self-insured policy. The annual benefit is based on 65% of base salary plus bonus, capped at \$25,041 per month. The amount shown indicates the annual payment.

- (8) Estimated amount based on current base salary and annual personal days off accrual.
- (9) Reasonable outplacement is provided for involuntary termination without cause, for good reason, and for change of control termination for up to 24 months, up to a maximum of \$20,000.

Michael F. Shea. The following table describes the potential termination payments for Mr. Shea assuming termination on December 31, 2007:

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination (a)	oluntary rmination (b)	Involuntary Termination Without Cause/ Termination for Good Reason (c)	For Cause Termination (d)	Change of Control Termination (e)	Death (f)	Disability (g)
Compensation	(-)	(-)		(-)		8/
Severance or Other ⁽¹⁾	\$ 22,917	\$ 1,547,481	\$	\$ 1,547,481	\$275,000	\$ 137,500
Short-Term Incentive ⁽²⁾		165,000		165,000	165,000	165,000
Long-Term Incentives Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾						
Stock Options						
Benefits and Perquisites						
Incremental Non-qualified Retirement ⁽⁴⁾		202.266		202.266		
Post-termination Health ⁽⁵⁾		203,366		203,366	7 0,000	
Life Insurance ⁽⁶⁾					50,000	
Disability Benefits ⁽⁷⁾						294,937
Accrued Paid Time Off ⁽⁸⁾	21,154	21,154	21,154	21,154	21,154	21,154
Outplacement Services ⁽⁹⁾		20,000		20,000		

- (1) Severance for involuntary termination without cause or for good reason or change of control termination is equal to three times the sum of: (a) base salary, (b) the bonus he would have been entitled to in the year of termination if superior targets had been met, and (c) certain retirement contributions. In the event of voluntary termination, the executive will be paid for a 30 day notice period. Payment for death is one times base salary. In the event of disability, base salary is continued for six months.
- (2) Annual cash performance bonus award is payable at target for change of control, involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, and in the event of death or disability.
- (3) Value of in the money stock options based on an estimated value of \$10 per share at December 31, 2007 which equals the exercise price for the awards granted on November 9, 2007. Stock options accelerate vesting upon a change in control and in the event of death or disability.
- (4) The unvested portion of the defined contribution supplemental executive retirement plan benefit generally accelerates vesting upon change of control, death or disability, however, upon consummation of the Transactions, all unvested portions accelerated.
- (5) In an involuntary termination without cause or for good reason or change of control termination, we pay a portion of health, dental and vision insurance coverage to age 65. The annual employer cost based on 2008 rates is \$8,842. The amount shown in column (e) is based on 23 years of coverage to age 65; assuming a constant annual rate.
- (6) Payout based on company-paid coverage of \$50,000.
- (7) Disability benefits are provided under both an insured and a self-insured policy. The annual benefit is based on 65% of base salary plus bonus. The amount shown indicates the annual payment.

Table of Contents

- (8) Estimated amount based on current base salary and annual personal days off accrual.
- (9) Reasonable outplacement is provided for involuntary termination without cause, for good reason, and for change of control termination for up to 24 months, up to a maximum of \$20,000.

Brett Rodewald. While Mr. Rodewald does not have an employment agreement, the following table describes the potential termination payments for Mr. Rodewald assuming termination on December 31, 2007:

Executive Benefits and Payments Upon Termination (a)	Voluntary Termination (b)	Involuntary Termination Without Cause/ Termination for Good Reason (c)	For Cause Termination (d)	Change of Control Termination (e)	Death (f)	Disability (g)
Compensation						
Severance or Other ⁽¹⁾	\$	\$ 625,000	\$	\$ 625,000	\$	\$
Short-Term Incentive ⁽²⁾		150,000		150,000	150,000	150,000
Long-Term Incentives Unvested & Accelerated ⁽³⁾						
Stock Options						
Benefits and Perquisites						
Incremental Non-qualified Retirement ⁽⁴⁾						
Post-termination Health ⁽⁵⁾		5,700		5,700		
Life Insurance ⁽⁶⁾					500,000	
Disability Benefits ⁽⁷⁾						300,492
Accrued Paid Time Off ⁽⁸⁾	21,923	21,923	21,923	21,923	21,923	21,923
Outplacement Services ⁽⁹⁾		12,000		12,000		

- (1) Severance for involuntary termination without cause or for good reason or change of control termination is equal to two times the base salary plus a 30 day paid notice period.
- (2) Annual cash performance bonus award is payable at target for change of control, involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, and in the event of death or disability.
- (3) Value of in the money stock options based on an estimated value of \$10 per share at December 31, 2007 which equals the exercise price for the awards granted on December 21, 2007. Stock options accelerate vesting upon a change in control and in the event of death or disability.
- (4) Mr. Rodewald is not eligible for the supplemental executive retirement plan.
- (5) In an involuntary termination without cause or for good reason, or change of control termination, he would receive a COBRA subsidy for 6 months.
- (6) Payout based on company-paid coverage of \$500,000.
- (7) Disability benefits are provided under both an insured and a self-insured policy. The annual benefit is based on 65% of base salary plus bonus, capped at \$25,041 per month. The amount shown indicates the annual payment.
- (8) Estimated amount based on current base salary and annual personal days off accrual.

Table of Contents

(9) Reasonable outplacement is provided for involuntary termination without cause, for good reason, and for change of control termination, up to a maximum of \$12,000.

Severance Payments to Executives Departing in 2007

Douglas C. Neve

Mr. Neve resigned as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in March 2007. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement and a mutual termination agreement, he received payment of \$1,172,724, less applicable withholdings, consisting of: (i) \$83,077, representing 75 days of Mr. Neve s base annual salary, (ii) \$932,192, representing two years of Mr. Neve s base salary, annual perquisite cash supplement and severance

```
128
```

(iii) \$106,667, representing a prorated target annual incentive bonus to which he would have otherwise been entitled in connection with fiscal year 2007, (iv) \$30,788, representing annual personal days off accrual and (v) \$20,000 in lieu of outplacement counseling services. All of his unvested equity awards vested as of March 8, 2007. Mr. Neve received no additional payments with respect to severance.

In accordance with the terms of the mutual termination agreement, we agreed to pre-pay the remaining premiums in respect of the long term care insurance policy that benefits Mr. Neve and his spouse and to supplement payments relating to health and dental coverage for Mr. Neve and his dependents until September 30, 2007. Mr. Neve also agreed to cooperate with us in connection with litigation or investigations involving the Company, and we will pay Mr. Neve \$1,000 per day, subject to proration, in connection with any such service.

Gary M. Nelson

Mr. Nelson resigned as Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary in November 2007. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, he received a lump sum payment of \$2,674,925, less applicable withholdings, consisting of: (i) \$2,341,122, representing a severance payment, (ii) \$60,192 representing accrued but unpaid vacation time, and (iii) \$273,611, representing a prorated target annual incentive bonus to which he would have otherwise been entitled in connection with fiscal year 2007.

Tax and Accounting Implications

In determining specific elements and payment of compensation for the named executives, the Board considers how such decisions may affect us and the individual executive. The following highlights certain tax and accounting rules that may be considered by the Board.

Deductibility of Executive Compensation. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, limits to \$1 million the tax deduction for annual compensation paid to each of the named executives unless certain requirements are met. One of these requirements is that the individual compensation in excess of \$1 million be based on attainment of performance goals established in the manner prescribed by Section 162(m). The Board supports the philosophy that a significant portion of the total compensation provided to an executive should be performance based. At the same time, the Board believes that it is important to retain the flexibility to tailor the compensation program in the manner it believes to be most beneficial to Ceridian and its stockholders. Therefore, the Board has not adopted a policy that all compensation must be deductible.

In 2007, we were not able to deduct compensation in excess of \$1 million for Ms. Marinello. As Messrs. Neve and Neslon were not employees at the end of 2007, all payments made in 2007 were exempt from Section 162(m), and thus were able to be fully deducted.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation. On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 was signed into law, creating Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and changing the tax rules applicable to nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements. We believe that we have been operating in good faith compliance with the statutory provisions that began effective January 1, 2005. In 2006, we amended our deferred compensation plan, benefit equalization plan, and certain of our employment agreements to reflect the requirements of Section 409A.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Beginning on January 1, 2006, we began accounting for all stock-based payments in accordance with the requirements of FAS 123R. The compensation expense is a significant factor in determining the amount of all stock awards and stock option awards to employees.

Director Compensation

In 2007, prior to the Transactions, we used a combination of cash and stock-based incentive compensation to attract and retain qualified Board candidates. Any director who also was a member of management, or, following the Transactions, a THL Partners or FNF employee did not receive any separate compensation for Board service. See Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions Management Agreements.

Cash and Equity Compensation. In 2007, prior to the Transactions, we paid non-employee directors an annual cash retainer (payable in quarterly installments) and meeting attendance fees as set forth below. We also paid in quarterly installments the additional annual retainers to each committee chairman and to the presiding Director. Additionally, in 2007, prior to and in anticipation of the Transactions, in lieu of customary annual equity awards, the directors received cash and certain directors received restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards.

Reimbursement of Certain Fees and Expenses. In addition to the compensation described above, we reimburse non-employee directors for expenses incurred in attending Board, stockholder and committee meetings. We may from time to time transport a non-employee director to and from such meetings in our airplane. Prior to the Transactions, non-employee directors could also use our airplane for personal use, although none did. Non-employee directors are covered by our \$100,000 travel accident insurance policy, providing a payment of up to \$100,000 upon dismemberment or death while traveling on company business.

Stock Ownership Guidelines. In 2007, as a publicly held company, we required each of our non-employee directors to own shares of our common stock, including restricted shares, equal to at least four times the annual then-current Board retainer within five years of becoming a director of Ceridian. However, because we are now a privately-held company, we no longer maintain those stock ownership guidelines.

The following table and text discuss the compensation of those persons who served as a non-executive member of our Board of Directors during all or a portion of 2007.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Name (a)	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash ⁽¹⁾ (\$) (b)	Stock Awards ⁽²⁾ (\$) (c)	Option Awards ⁽³⁾ (\$) (d)	Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation (\$) (e)	Change in Pension Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings (f)	All Other Compensation (\$) (g)	Total (\$) (h)
John D. Barfitt ⁽⁴⁾	\$ 23,450	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 23,450
Brent B. Bickett ⁽⁵⁾							
Nicholas D. Chabraja ⁽⁶⁾	59,364	656,964	563,306				1,279,634
Paul C. Hilal ⁽⁷⁾	23,450						23,450
Scott L. Jaeckel ⁽⁸⁾							
Richard T. LeMay ⁽⁹⁾	78,831	467,496	733,221				1,279,548
Robert J Levenson ⁽¹⁰⁾	23,450						23,450
George R. Lewis ⁽¹¹⁾	83,124	566,064	732,736				1,381,924
L. White Matthews, III ⁽¹²⁾	210,731	939,644	91,200				1,241,575
Soren L. Oberg ⁽¹³⁾							
Gregory A. Pratt ⁽¹⁴⁾	23,450						23,450
Alan L. Stinson ⁽¹⁵⁾							
Richard Szafranski ⁽¹⁶⁾	70,244	223,848					294,092
William Trubeck ⁽¹⁷⁾	70,243	279,253					349,496
Alan F. White ⁽¹⁸⁾	70,243	299,700	296,120				666,063

- (1) This column reflects the aggregate dollar amount of the annual Board retainer, if any, and any committee chair retainer paid to the non-employee director in cash. This column also includes cash payments made in lieu of annual stock option awards.
- (2) This column includes the value of restricted stock that naturally vested in 2007 prior to the Transactions, as well as the value of previously unvested restricted stock cashed out in the Transactions. The Transactions consideration amount of \$36 per share was used to calculate these values. The amount associated with the Transactions for Mr. LeMay was \$467,496 for Mr. Lewis was \$566,064, for Mr. Matthews was \$892,044, for Mr. White was \$244,620, for Mr. Trubeck was \$235,368, for Mr. Szafranski was \$223,848 and for Mr. Chabraja was \$656,964. In addition, on January 3, 2007, Messrs. Chabraja, LeMay, Lewis, Matthews, Szafranski, Trubeck and White received restricted stock award grants with the FAS 123R value of \$32,996. These awards were subsequently cashed out at the consummation of the Transactions. Also, on April 27, 2007, Mr. Matthews received additional restricted stock awards upon assuming the role of the Chairman of the Board of Directors. The FAS 123R value of these grants was \$165,041. These awards were subsequently cashed out at the consummation of the Transactions.
- (3) This column includes the value of option exercises prior to the Transactions as well as the value associated with the stock options cashed out based on the \$36 per share consideration price for the Transactions. The value associated with the cash out of stock options in connection with the Transactions for Mr. LeMay was \$644,866, for Mr. Lewis was \$644,866, for Mr. Matthew was \$91,200, for Mr. White was \$296,120, and for Mr. Chabraja was \$563,306.
- (4) Mr. Barfitt resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

- (5) Mr. Bickett was appointed to the Board effective November 9, 2007. Mr. Bickett did not receive any compensation as a director during 2007.
- (6) Mr. Chabraja s term on the Board ended September 12, 2007 when he did not stand for re-election at our annual meeting.

- (7) Mr. Hilal resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (8) Mr. Jaeckel was appointed to the Board effective November 9, 2007. Mr. Jaeckel did not receive any compensation as a director during 2007.
- (9) Mr. LeMay resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (10) Mr. Levenson resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (11) Mr. Lewis resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (12) Mr. Matthews resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (13) Mr. Oberg was appointed to the Board effective November 9, 2007. Mr. Oberg did not receive any compensation as a director during 2007.
- (14) Mr. Pratt resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (15) Mr. Stinson was appointed to the Board effective November 9, 2007. Mr. Stinson did not receive any compensation as a director during 2007.
- (16) Mr. Szafranski resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (17) Mr. Trubeck resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.
- (18) Mr. White resigned from the Board effective November 9, 2007 in connection with the Transactions.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

As a result of the Transactions, we are a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foundation Holdings, Inc., a company whose common stock is 100% owned by an intermediate holding company, Ceridian Intermediate. Ceridian Intermediate issued common stock and cumulative preferred stock, representing approximately 81% and 19%, respectively, of its equity value. Ceridian Intermediate s common stock is held by its parent, Ceridian Holding and the preferred stock is held by the Sponsors and certain members of our management (the Equityholders). The Equityholders hold shares representing 100% of the equity values and 100% of the voting rights of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding.

The following table and related notes sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding by: (i) each person (including any group as that term is used in section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) who is known to the registrant to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of Ceridian Intermediate s voting securities; (ii) each person (including any group as that term is used in section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) who is known to the registrant to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of Ceridian Holding s voting securities; and (iii) each director and executive officer owning Ceridian Intermediate s outstanding securities; and (iv) all directors and executive officers of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding as a group. Ceridian Holding s outstanding securities consist of 130,247,003 shares of common stock as of March 19, 2008. Ceridian Intermediate s outstanding securities consist of 130,247,003 shares of cumulative preferred stock as of March 19, 2008. The Ceridian Intermediate s cumulative preferred stock has senior dividend, liquidation and other rights over the Ceridian Intermediate s common stock shares. See Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions Acquisition. The common stock of Ceridian Holding and the common stock of Ceridian Intermediate. To our knowledge, each of the securityholders has sole voting and investment power as to the common stock of Ceridian Holding and the preferred cumulative stock of Ceridian Intermediate shown unless otherwise noted. Beneficial owners show of the securities listed in the table has been determined in accordance with the applicable rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

	Securities Beneficially Owned				
Name and Address	Ceridian Holding Common Stock	Percentage of Ceridian Holding Common Stock	Ceridian Intermediate Cumulative Preferred Stock	Percentage of Ceridian Intermediate Cumulative Preferred Stock	Percent of Total
Principal Securityholders:	Stota	Stota	Stoth	Stota	
Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. and Affiliates ⁽¹⁾	86,943,594	66.75%	20,063,906	66.75%	66.75%
Fidelity National Financial, Inc. ⁽²⁾	42,804,531	32.86%	9,877,969	32.86%	32.86%
Directors and Executive Officers:					
Kathryn V. Marinello ⁽³⁾	203,125	*	46,875	*	*
Gregory J. Macfarlane ⁽³⁾	16,250	*	3,750	*	*
Brent B. Bickett ⁽²⁾	42,804,531	32.86%	9,877,969	32.86%	32.86%
Alan L. Stinson ⁽²⁾	42,804,531	32.86%	9,877,969	32.86%	32.86%
William P. Foley, II ⁽²⁾	42,804,531	32.86%	9,877,969	32.86%	32.86%
Soren Oberg ⁽¹⁾	86,943,594	66.75%	20,063,906	66.75%	66.75%
Scott Jaeckel ⁽¹⁾	86,943,594	66.75%	20,063,906	66.75%	66.75%
Thomas M. Hagerty ⁽¹⁾	86,943,594	66.75%	20,063,906	66.75%	66.75%
Michael W. Sheridan ⁽³⁾	14,219	*	3,281	*	*
Douglas C. Neve ⁽³⁾					
Perry H. Cliburn ⁽³⁾	8,125	*	1,875	*	*
Brett Rodewald ⁽³⁾	36,536	*	8,437	*	*
Michael F. Shea ⁽³⁾	16,250	*	3,750	*	*
Gary M. Nelson ⁽³⁾					
All directors and executive officers as a group					
(16 persons)(1)(2)	130,026,380	99.84%	30,006,093	99.84%	99.84%

- * Less than one percent.
- (1) Includes interests owned by (i) Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund VI, L.P.; (ii) Thomas H. Lee Parallel Fund VI, L.P.; (iii) Thomas H. Lee Parallel (DT) Fund VI, L.P. (the entities in the aforementioned clauses (i) through (iii) collectively referred to as the THL Funds); (iv) THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian), L.P.; (v) THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) III, L.P.; (vi) THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) III, LLC; (vii) THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) IV, LLC; (viii) THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) V, LLC (the entities in the aforementioned clauses (iv) through (viii) collectively referred to as the THL Coinvest Entities); (ix) THL Operating Partners, LP; (x) THL Coinvestment Partners, LP (THL Coinvestment Partners, LP, together with THL Operating Partners, LP, the THL Funds and the THL Coinvest Entities, collectively referred to as the THL Investors); (xi) Great West Investors L.P. (Great West); and (x) Putnam Investments Employees Securities Company III LLC (Putnam ESC, and together with Great West and the THL Investors, referred to as the THL Entities). The THL Entities may be deemed to beneficially own and have shared voting power over 86,943,594 shares of the common stock of Ceridian Holding and 20,063,906 shares of the preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate. Each of the THL Entities disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except to the extent of its pecuniary interest therein.

THL Equity Advisors VI, LLC (Advisors VI) is the general partner of the THL Funds, and the general partner or manager of the THL Coinvest Entities. Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. (THL Partners) is the sole member of Advisors VI, and the general partner of both THL Operating Partners, LP and THL Coinvestment Partners, LP. Putnam Investment Holdings (Putnam Holdings) is the managing member of Putnam ESC. Putnam Investments, LLC (Putnam Investments) is the managing member of Putnam Holdings (Putnam Investment, together with Putnam Holdings and Putnam ESC, collectively referred to as Putnam). Putnam and Great West are co-investment entities of THL Partners. Thomas H. Lee Advisors, LLC (THL Advisors) is the general partner of THL Partners, and the attorney-in-fact for Putnam Investments and Great West.

Of the shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding: THL Advisors has shared voting power over 86,943,594 shares and shared dispositive power over 86,943,594 shares; Advisors VI has shared voting power over 86,575,902 shares and shared dispositive power over 86,575,902 shares; Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 23,636,578 shares and shared dispositive power over 23,636,578 shares; Thomas H. Lee Parallel Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 16,005,433 shares and shared dispositive power over 16,005,433 shares; Thomas H. Lee Parallel (DT) Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 2,795,828 shares and shared dispositive power over 2,795,828 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian), L.P. has shared voting power over 27,854,642 shares and shared dispositive power over 27,854,642 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) II, L.P. has shared voting power over 14,950,000 shares and shared dispositive power over 488,258 shares and shared dispositive power over 488,258 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) II, L.P. has shared voting power over 697,450 shared voting power over 697,450 shares and shared dispositive power over 488,258 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) II, LLC has shared voting power over 697,450 shares and shared dispositive power over 697,450 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) V, LLC has shared voting power over 148,713 shares and shared dispositive power over 148,713 shares and shared dispositive power over 697,2368 shares; THL Partners has shared voting power over 59,922 shares and shared dispositive powers over 66,702,368 shares; THL Operating Partners, LP has shared voting power over 59,922 shares and shared dispositive power over 65,544 shares; Great West has shared voting power over 120,636 shares and shared dispositive power over 120,590 shares.

Of the shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate: THL Advisors has shared voting power over 20,063,906 shares and shared dispositive power over 20,063,906 shares; Advisors VI has shared voting power over 19,979,285 shares and shared dispositive power over 19,979,285 shares; Thomas H. Lee Equity Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 5,454,595 shares and shared dispositive power over 5,454,595 shares; Thomas H. Lee Parallel Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 3,693,562 shares and shared

dispositive power over 3,693,562 shares; Thomas H. Lee Parallel (DT) Fund VI, L.P. has shared voting power over 645,191 shares and shared dispositive power over 645,191 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian), L.P. has shared voting power over 6,427,994 shares and shared dispositive powers over 6,427,994 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) II, L.P. has shared voting power over 3,450,000 shares and shared dispositive power over 3,450,000 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) III, LLC has shared voting power over 112,675 shares and shared dispositive power over 112,675 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) III, LLC has shared voting power over 160,950 shares and shared dispositive power over 160,950 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) IV, LLC has shared voting power over 34,318 shares and shared dispositive power over 160,950 shares; THL Equity Fund VI Investors (Ceridian) V, LLC has shared voting power over 34,318 shares and shared dispositive power over 34,318 shares; THL Partners has shared voting power over 20,008,239 shares and shared dispositive powers over 20,008,239 shares; THL Operating Partners, LP has shared voting power over 15,126 shares; Great West has shared voting power over 27,839 shares and shared dispositive power over 27,828 shares.

Each of Scott Jaeckel, Soren Oberg and Thomas M. Hagerty are Managing Directors of THL Advisors. As such, Messrs. Jaeckel, Oberg and Hagerty, as directors of each of Ceridian Holding and Ceridian Intermediate, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate owned directly by each of the THL Entities. Messrs. Jaeckel, Oberg and Hagerty disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate, and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate, and the response herein shall not be deemed an admission that Messrs. Jaeckel, Oberg and Hagerty are the beneficial owners of the securities for the purpose of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or for any other purpose, except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

The address of THL Advisors and Messrs. Jaeckel, Oberg and Hagerty is 100 Federal Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02110. The address of Putnam is One Post Office Square, Boston, Massachusetts 02109. The address for Great West is c/o Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Company, 8515 C. Orchard Road 3T2, Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111. The address of the remaining entities set forth in footnote 3 and is the same as for THL Advisors.

(2) Includes interests held by Fidelity National Financial, Inc. (FNF). FNF has shared voting power over 42,804,531 shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding and shared dispositive power over 42,804,531 shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding. FNF has shared voting power over 9,877,969 shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate and shared dispositive power over 9,877,696 shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate.

Alan L. Stinson is the chief executive officer of FNF. Brent B. Bickett is a co-president of FNF. William P. Foley, II is the chairman of the board of directors of FNF. As such, Messrs. Bickett and Stinson, as directors of each of Ceridian Holding and Ceridian Intermediate, may be deemed to beneficially own the shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate owned directly by FNF. Messrs. Bickett and Stinson disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of common stock of Ceridian Holding and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Holding and shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate, and the response herein shall not be deemed an admission that Messrs. Bickett and Stinson are the beneficial owners of the securities for the purpose of Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or for any other purpose, except to the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

The address for FNF is 601 Riverside Avenue, Jacksonville, Florida 32204.

(3) The address of Ms. Marinello and Messrs. Macfarlane, Sheridan, Neve, Cliburn, Rodewald, Shea, and Nelson is c/o Ceridian Corporation, 3311 East Old Shakopee Road, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55425.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Acquisition

On May 30, 2007, Foundation Holdings. and Foundation Merger Sub, affiliates of the Sponsors, entered into an agreement and plan of merger (as amended as of July 30, 2007) to acquire all the outstanding equity of Ceridian. Under the terms of the agreement, the Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired the equity of Ceridian for a total equity purchase price of approximately \$5.3 billion.

The Acquisition, including related fees and expenses, was financed through (i) \$346.7 million of available cash on hand, (ii) \$2,250.0 million of borrowings under a senior secured term loan facility (together with the revolving facility providing for borrowings up to \$300.0 million, the senior secured credit facilities), (iii) \$1,300.0 million of senior notes and (iv) an equity investment of approximately \$1,600.0 million by the Sponsors.

As a result of the Transactions, Ceridian became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foundation Holdings, Inc., a company whose common stock is owned by Ceridian Intermediate. Ceridian Intermediate issued common stock and cumulative preferred stock, representing 81.25% and 18.75%, respectively, of its equity value. Ceridian Intermediate is common stock is held by its parent, Ceridian Holding, and the preferred stock is held by the Equityholders. Ceridian Holding only issued common stock, and the Equityholders hold all the common stock of Ceridian Holding through various investment entities. The preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate is senior to the common stock of Ceridian Intermediate in terms of dividends and upon liquidation. Holders of preferred stock have approximately 18% of the voting power of Ceridian Intermediate and are entitled to cumulative preferential non-cash dividends accruing at the rate per share of approximately 13% per annum of the liquidation preference of the preferred stock. The Equityholders hold shares representing 100% of the equity values and 100% of the voting rights of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding.

Management Agreements

On May 30, 2007, we entered into two separate management agreements with FNF and THL Managers VI, LLC (THLM), an affiliate of THL Partners. Pursuant to these management agreements, FNF and THLM each, respectively, agreed to provide us with financial advisory, strategic and general oversight services. The agreements also provide that we will pay annual management fees to each of THLM and FNF in an amount equal to the greater of (a) \$2.0 million, or (b) 0.5 percent of Adjusted EBITDA, which for purposes of the management agreement is EBITDA as defined in our senior secured credit facilities, further adjusted to exclude the payments made pursuant to the management agreements and certain stock options or other equity compensation recognized under SFAS 123R. We also agreed under the management agreements to indemnify THLM, FNF and parties related to THLM and FNF as well as to pay certain expenses and fees incurred by THLM and FNF in connection with the Transactions.

The agreements terminate upon the earlier of (a) seven years from the date of the agreement or (b) the consummation of an initial public offering of Ceridian. Upon the occurrence of an initial public offering, a lump sum payment equal to the net present value of the annual management fee for a seven year period, discounted using the 10-year treasury discount rate as of the date of determination, would be due to THLM and FNF.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, we recorded fees of \$0.8 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, to each of THLM and FNF. In addition, pursuant to the agreements, we paid one time transaction fees of \$36.0 million to each of THLM and FNF at the closing of the Transactions.

Stockholders Agreement

In connection with the Transactions, the Equityholders holding shares representing 100% of the equity values and 100% of the voting rights of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding entered into a stockholders agreement. The stockholders agreement contains agreements among the parties with respect to the election of the directors of Foundation Holdings, Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding, restrictions on the issuance or transfer of shares, including tag-along rights, take-along rights and preemptive rights, and other special corporate governance provisions (including the right to approve various corporate actions). The management participants who hold shares of stock (including through the exercise of options) of Ceridian Intermediate and Ceridian Holding are party to these agreements.

Relocation Agreement

In connection with the hiring of our executive vice president and chief financial officer, Gregory J. Macfarlane, we arranged for the purchase of his residence by a third-party relocation services company at an appraised market value of \$2.2 million. Under this arrangement we are responsible for the mortgage and all costs associated with the home, including taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance, repairs and improvements, until such time as it is sold. Additionally, we remain responsible for any loss on the ultimate resale of the home. The home is currently listed for sale.

DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In connection with the Transactions, we entered into senior secured credit facilities with Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent, Deutsche Bank AG Canada Brach, as Canadian sub-Agent, various lenders, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., as joint lead arranger and book runner, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC as joint lead arranger and book runner, and Banc of America Securities LLC as joint book runner. Set forth below is a summary of the terms of the senior secured credit facilities.

The senior secured credit facilities provide for aggregate borrowings of up to \$2,550.0 million including:

a revolving credit facility of up to \$300.0 million in revolving credit loans, swingline loans and letters of credit; and

a term loan facility of \$2,250.0 million, the entire amount of which was drawn concurrently with the consummation of the Transactions.

The senior secured credit facilities provide for multi-currency borrowing in certain currencies listed in the definitive documentation for the senior secured credit facilities. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries were designated as borrowers under the term loan facility and/or the revolving credit facility described above.

In addition, we may, at our option and subject to certain conditions, increase the senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$300.0 million without the consent of any person other than the institutions agreeing to provide all or any portion of such increase.

All revolving loans incurred under the senior secured credit facilities mature on May 9, 2014. The term loan facility matures on November 9, 2014.

All obligations under the senior secured credit facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by, subject to certain exceptions, substantially all of our material present and future domestic wholly-owned restricted subsidiaries. The senior secured credit facilities are secured by, among other things:

a first priority security interest in substantially all of the assets of our company, including, without limitation, all receivables, contracts, contract rights, equipment, intellectual property, inventory and other tangible and intangible assets, subject to certain exceptions;

a pledge of (i) all of our present and future capital stock and the present and future capital stock of each of our direct and indirect material domestic subsidiaries, and (ii) 65% of the voting capital stock and 100% of non-voting capital stock of material first-tier foreign subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions; and

all proceeds and products of the property and assets described above.

Borrowings under the senior secured credit facilities bear interest at a floating rate, which can be either the Eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin or, at the borrower s option, an alternative base rate (defined as the higher of (x) the Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch prime rate and (y) the federal funds effective rate, plus one half percent (.50%) per annum) plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin under the revolving credit facility is subject to adjustment based on an adjusted consolidated leverage ratio. The interest rate payable under the senior secured credit facilities will increase by 2.00% per annum during the continuance of any payment event of default.

For Eurodollar loans, we may select interest periods of one, two, three or six months, or, with the consent of the all relevant affected lenders, nine or twelve months. Interest will be payable at the end of the selected interest period, but no less frequently than every three months within the selected interest period.

The senior secured credit facilities require payment of a commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the revolving commitments. Prior to the maturity date, funds borrowed under the revolving credit facility may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed, without premium or penalty.

The term loan facility is subject to amortization, commencing with the first full fiscal quarter ended after November 9, 2008, in equal quarterly installments of principal in an aggregate amount equal to (a) 0.25% of the original principal amount of the term loans and (b) in the case of installments due in the twelve months beginning November 9, 2011, 0.50% of the original principal amount of the term loans, with the remaining balance payable at maturity.

Voluntary prepayments of principal amounts outstanding under the senior secured credit facilities are permitted at any time, however, if a prepayment of principal is made with respect to a Eurodollar loan on a date other than the last day of the applicable interest period, the lenders will receive compensation for any funding losses and expenses incurred as a result of the prepayment.

In addition, mandatory prepayments are required to prepay amounts outstanding under the senior secured credit facilities in an amount equal to:

100% (which percentage will be reduced to 50% or 0% upon the achievement of certain leverage ratios related to the Adjusted Consolidated Leverage Ratio) of the net cash proceeds from certain asset dispositions by us or any of our restricted subsidiaries, subject to certain exceptions and reinvestment provisions;

100% of the net cash proceeds from the issuance or incurrence of any additional debt by us or any of our restricted subsidiaries (excluding debt permitted under the senior secured credit facilities); and

50% (which percentage will be reduced to 25% or 0% upon the achievement of certain leverage ratios) of excess cash flow, as defined in the senior secured credit facilities.

The senior secured credit facilities contain restrictive covenants which, among other things, limit the incurrence of additional indebtedness, investments, dividends, transactions with affiliates, asset sales, acquisitions, mergers and consolidations, prepayments of other indebtedness, liens and encumbrances and other matters customarily restricted in such agreements. In addition, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending on or around December 31, 2008, the senior secured credit facilities require us to maintain a secured leverage ratio.

The senior secured credit facilities contain customary events of default, including without limitation, payment defaults, breaches of representations and warranties, covenant defaults, cross-defaults to certain other indebtedness in excess of specified amounts, certain events of bankruptcy and insolvency, judgment defaults in excess of specified amounts, failure of any material provision of any guaranty or security document supporting the senior secured credit facilities to be in full force and effect, and a change of control.

DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

General

Certain terms used in this description are defined under the subheading Certain Definitions. In this description, (i) the term *Issuer* refers to only Ceridian Corporation and not to any of its Subsidiaries, and (ii) the terms *we*, *our* and *us* each refer to the Issuer, its successors and their respective consolidated Subsidiaries.

The Issuer issued the Restricted Notes and will issue the Exchange Notes under an indenture, dated as of November 9, 2007 (the *Indenture*) among the Issuer, the guarantors party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as trustee (the *Trustee*). The terms of the Indenture include those stated therein and include those made part thereof by reference to the Trust Indenture Act. The term Notes refers to the Restricted Notes, the Exchange Notes and any other notes issued under the Indenture.

The following description is only a summary of the material provisions of the Indenture. We urge you to read the Indenture because it, not this description, defines your rights as Holders of the Notes. We have filed a copy of the Indenture and its supplement as an exhibit to the registration statement, which includes this prospectus.

Brief Description of Notes

The Notes:

are unsecured senior obligations of the Issuer;

are pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future senior indebtedness (including the Senior Credit Facilities);

are effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured Indebtedness of the Issuer to the extent of the value of the assets securing such Indebtedness (including the Senior Credit Facilities);

are senior in right of payment to all Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer; and

are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by each of the Issuer s Restricted Subsidiaries that guaranteed the Senior Credit Facilities. Guarantees

The Guarantors, as primary obligors and not merely as sureties, jointly and severally, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees, on an unsecured senior basis, the performance and full and punctual payment when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, of all obligations of the Issuer under the Indenture and the Notes, whether for payment of principal of or interest on the Notes, expenses, indemnification or otherwise, on the terms set forth in the Indenture by executing the Indenture.

The Restricted Subsidiaries that guaranteed the Senior Credit Facilities guaranteed the Notes. Each of the Guarantees of the Notes is a general unsecured obligation of each Guarantor, *pari passu* in right of payment with all existing and future senior indebtedness of each such entity, and effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured Indebtedness of each such entity to the extent of the value of the assets securing such Indebtedness and senior in right of payment to all existing and future Subordinated Indebtedness of each such entity. The Notes are structurally subordinated to Indebtedness and other liabilities of Subsidiaries of the Issuer that do not guarantee the Notes.

General

Not all of the Issuer s Subsidiaries Guarantee the Notes. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation or reorganization of any of these non-guarantor Subsidiaries, the non-guarantor Subsidiaries will pay the holders of their debt and their trade creditors before they will be able to distribute or contribute, as the case may be, any of their assets to a Guarantor. None of the Issuer s Foreign Subsidiaries, non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries, Unrestricted Subsidiaries, special purpose Subsidiaries or Receivables Subsidiaries or any other Subsidiary that did not guarantee the Senior Credit Facilities guarantee the Notes. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 and the three months ended March 31, 2008, the non-guarantor subsidiaries accounted for approximately \$314.7 million and \$84.9 million of our total revenue, respectively. As of March 31, 2008, the non-guarantor subsidiaries accounted for approximately \$2,105.8 million, or 20.2%, of our total assets, and approximately \$1,448.1 million, or 16.1% of our total liabilities.

The obligations of each Guarantor under its Guarantees is limited as necessary to prevent the Guarantees from constituting a fraudulent conveyance under applicable law.

Any entity that makes a payment under a Guarantee will be entitled upon payment in full of all guaranteed obligations under the Indenture to a contribution from each other Guarantor in an amount equal to such other Guarantor s pro rata portion of such payment based on the respective net assets of all the Guarantors at the time of such payment determined in accordance with GAAP.

If a Guarantee was rendered voidable, it could be subordinated by a court to all other indebtedness (including guarantees and other contingent liabilities) of the Guarantor, and, depending on the amount of such indebtedness, a Guarantor s liability on its Guarantee could be reduced to zero. See Risk Factors Risks Related to the Notes Federal and state statutes allow courts, under specific circumstances, to void guarantees and require note holders to return payments received from guarantors.

Each Guarantee by a Guarantor provides by its terms that it shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon:

(a) any sale, exchange or transfer (by merger or otherwise) of (i) the Capital Stock of such Guarantor (including any sale, exchange or transfer) after which the applicable Guarantor is no longer a Restricted Subsidiary or (ii) all or substantially all the assets of such Guarantor which sale, exchange or transfer is made in a manner in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Indenture;

(b) the release or discharge of the guarantee by such Guarantor of the Senior Credit Facilities or the guarantee which resulted in the creation of such Guarantee, except a discharge or release by or as a result of payment under the guarantee of the Senior Credit Facilities;

(c) the designation of any Restricted Subsidiary that is a Guarantor as an Unrestricted Subsidiary; or

(d) the Issuer exercising its legal defeasance option or covenant defeasance option as described under Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance or the Issuer s obligations under the Indenture governing the Guarantee being discharged in a manner not in violation of the terms of that Indenture.

Ranking

The payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes and the payment of any Guarantee of the Notes rank *pari passu* in right of payment to all senior indebtedness of the Issuer or the relevant Guarantor, as the case may be, including the obligations of the Issuer or such Guarantor under the Senior Credit Facilities.

The Notes are effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future Secured Indebtedness of the Issuer and Guarantors to the extent of the value of the assets securing such Indebtedness. As of March 31, 2008, the Issuer and the Guarantors had \$2,250.0 million of secured debt, excluding up to \$300.0 million available to borrow under the Senior Credit Facilities, to which the Notes are effectively subordinated.

Although the Indenture contains limitations on the amount of additional Indebtedness that the Issuer and the Guarantors may incur, under certain circumstances the amount of such Indebtedness could be substantial and, in any case, such Indebtedness may be Secured Indebtedness. See Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock.

Paying Agent and Registrar for the Notes

The Issuer will maintain one or more paying agents for each series of Notes. The initial paying agent for each series of Notes is the Trustee.

The Issuer will also maintain a registrar in respect of each series of Notes. If the Issuer fails to appoint a registrar the Trustee will act as such. The registrar for each series of Notes maintains a register reflecting ownership of that series of Notes outstanding from time to time and makes payments on and facilitates transfer of those Notes on behalf of the Issuer.

The Issuer may change the paying agents or the registrars without prior notice to the Holders. The Issuer, any Restricted Subsidiary or any Subsidiaries of a Restricted Subsidiary may act as a paying agent or registrar.

Transfer and Exchange

A Holder may transfer or exchange Notes in accordance with the Indenture. Any registrar or Trustee may require a Holder to furnish appropriate endorsements and transfer documents in connection with a transfer of Notes. Holders will be required to pay all taxes due on transfer. The Issuer is not required to transfer or exchange any Note selected for redemption. Also, the Issuer is not required to transfer or exchange any Note for a period of 15 days before a selection of Notes to be redeemed.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

On November 9, 2007, the Issuer issued the Restricted Notes in an aggregate principal amount of \$1,300.0 million of notes, consisting of \$825.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Cash Pay Notes and \$475.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Toggle Notes. The Notes will mature on November 15, 2015. Subject to compliance with the covenant described below under the caption Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock, the Issuer may issue additional Notes from time to time under the Indenture (*Additional Notes*). In addition, in connection with the payment of PIK Interest or Partial PIK Interest in respect of the Senior Toggle Notes, the Issuer is entitled to, without the consent of the Holders, increase the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes (in each case, a *PIK Payment*). The Restricted Notes, the Exchange Notes and any Additional Notes and PIK Notes subsequently issued under the Indenture will be treated as a single class for all purposes under the Indenture, including waivers, amendments, redemptions and offers to purchase. Unless the context requires otherwise, references to Notes for all purposes of the Indenture and this Description of the Notes include any Additional Notes and any PIK Notes that are actually issued and references to principal amount of the Notes include any increase in the principal amount of the outstanding Notes as a result of a PIK Payment.

Interest will accrue on the Notes from the Issue Date, or from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or provided for. Interest is payable semiannually using a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months to Holders of record at the close of business on the or immediately preceding the interest payment date, on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing May 15, 2008. If a payment date is not on a Business Day at the place of payment, payment may be made at the place on the next succeeding Business Day and no interest will accrue for the intervening period.

For any interest payment period prior to November 15, 2011, the Issuer may, at its option, elect to pay interest on the Senior Toggle Notes:

entirely in cash (Cash Interest);

entirely by increasing the principal amount of the outstanding Senior Toggle Notes or by issuing PIK Notes (PIK Interest); or

on 50% of the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes in cash and on 50% of the principal amount by increasing the principal amount of the outstanding Senior Toggle Notes or by issuing PIK Notes (*Partial PIK Interest*).

The Issuer must elect the form of interest payment with respect to each interest period by delivering a notice to the Trustee prior to the beginning of each interest period. The Trustee shall promptly deliver a corresponding notice to the Holders. In the absence of such an election for any interest period, interest on the Senior Toggle Notes shall be payable according to the election for the previous interest period. Interest for the first interest period commencing on the Issue Date was payable entirely in cash. After November 15, 2011, the Issuer will make all interest payments on the Senior Toggle Notes entirely in cash. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the payment of accrued interest in connection with any redemption of Notes as described under Optional Redemption or Repurchase at the Option of Holders shall be made solely in cash.

Cash Interest on the Senior Toggle Notes will accrue at a rate of 12¹/4% per annum and be payable in cash. PIK Interest on the Senior Toggle Notes will accrue at a rate of 13% per annum and be payable (x) with respect to Senior Toggle Notes represented by one or more global notes registered in the name of, or held by, The Depository Trust Company (DTC) or its nominee on the relevant record date, by increasing the principal amount of any outstanding global Senior Toggle Notes by an amount equal to the amount of PIK Interest or Partial PIK Interest, as applicable, for the applicable interest period (rounded up to the nearest whole dollar) (or, if necessary, pursuant to the requirements of the depositary or otherwise, to authenticate new global notes executed by the Issuer with such increased principal amounts) and (y) with respect to Senior Toggle Notes represented by certificated notes, by issuing PIK Notes in certificated form in an aggregate principal amount equal to the amount of PIK Interest or Partial PIK Interest, as applicable, for the applicable period (rounded up to the nearest whole dollar), and the Trustee will, at the request of the Issuer, authenticate and deliver such PIK Notes in certificated form for original issuance to the Holders on the relevant record date, as shown by the records of the registrar of Holders. In the event that the Issuer elects to pay Partial PIK Interest for any interest period, each Holder will be entitled to receive Cash Interest in respect of 50% of the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes held by such Holder on the relevant record date and Partial PIK Interest in respect of 50% of the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes held by such Holder on the relevant record date. Following an increase in the principal amount of the outstanding global Senior Toggle Notes as a result of a PIK Payment, the global Senior Toggle Notes will bear interest on such increased principal amount from and after the date of such PIK Payment. Any PIK Notes issued in certificated form will be dated as of the applicable interest payment date and will bear interest from and after such date. All Senior Toggle Notes issued pursuant to a PIK Payment will mature on November 15, 2015 and will be governed by, and subject to the terms, provisions and conditions of, the Indenture and shall have the same rights and benefits as the Senior Toggle Notes issued on the Issue Date. Any certificated PIK Notes will be issued with the description PIK on the face of such PIK Note.

Interest on the Senior Cash Pay Notes will accrue at a rate of 11¹/4% per annum and be payable in cash.

Principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes will be payable at the office or agency of the Issuer maintained for such purpose or, at the option of the Issuer, payment of Cash Interest may be made by check mailed to the Holders of the Notes at their respective addresses set forth in the register of Holders; *provided* that all payments of principal, premium, if any, and Cash Interest with respect to the Notes represented by one or more global notes registered in the name of or held by DTC or its nominee will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the Holder or Holders thereof. Until otherwise designated by the Issuer, the Issuer s office or agency will be the office of the Trustee maintained for such purpose.

Offers to Purchase; Open Market Purchases

The Issuer is not required to make any sinking fund payments with respect to the Notes. However, under certain circumstances, the Issuer may be required to offer to purchase Notes as described under the caption Repurchase at the Option of Holders. We may at any time and from time to time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise.

Optional Redemption

Senior Cash Pay Notes

At any time prior to November 15, 2011, the Senior Cash Pay Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Senior Cash Pay Notes redeemed plus the Applicable Premium as of the date of redemption (the *Redemption Date*), and, without duplication, accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date, subject to the rights of Holders of Senior Cash Pay Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Such redemption or purchase may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to the registered address of each Holder of Senior Cash Pay Notes, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date. The Issuer may provide in such notice that payment of the Redemption Price and performance of the Issuer's obligations with respect to such redemption or purchase may be performed by another Person.

On and after November 15, 2011, the Senior Cash Pay Notes may be redeemed, at the Issuer s option, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at the redemption prices set forth below. Such redemption may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to the registered address of each Holder of Senior Cash Pay Notes, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date. The Issuer may provide in such notice that the payment of the Redemption Price and the performance of the Issuer s obligations with respect to such redemption may be performed by another Person. The Senior Cash Pay Notes will be redeemable at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Senior Cash Pay Notes to be redeemed) set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the right of Holders of record of Senior Cash Pay Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on November 15 of each of the years indicated below:

Year	Percentage
2011	105.625%
2012	102.813%
2013 and thereafter	100.000%

In addition, until November 15, 2010, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem up to 35% of the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of Senior Cash Pay Notes at a redemption price equal to 111.250% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date, with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings to the extent such net cash proceeds are received by or contributed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that at least 50% of the sum of the aggregate principal amount of Senior Cash Pay Notes originally issued under the Indenture and any Additional Notes that are Senior Cash Pay Notes issued under the Indenture after the Issue Date remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of each such redemption; *provided further* that each such redemption occurs within 180 days of the date of closing of each such Equity Offering or sale.

Senior Toggle Notes

At any time prior to November 15, 2011, the Senior Toggle Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of Senior Toggle Notes redeemed plus the Applicable Premium as of the date of redemption (the *Redemption Date*), and, without duplication, accrued and unpaid

interest to the Redemption Date, subject to the rights of Holders of Senior Toggle Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Such redemption or purchase may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to the registered address of each Holder of Senior Toggle Notes, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date. The Issuer may provide in such notice that payment of the Redemption Price and performance of the Issuer s obligations with respect to such redemption or purchase may be performed by another Person.

On and after November 15, 2011, the Senior Toggle Notes may be redeemed, at the Issuer s option, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time at the redemption prices set forth below. Such redemption may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to the registered address of each Holder of Senior Toggle Notes, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date. The Issuer may provide in such notice that the payment of the Redemption Price and the performance of the Issuer s obligations with respect to such redemption may be performed by another Person. The Senior Toggle Notes will be redeemable at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes to be redeemed) set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the right of Holders of record of Senior Toggle Notes on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on November 15 of each of the years indicated below:

Year	Percentage
2011	106.125%
2012	103.063%
2013 and thereafter	100.000%

In addition, until November 15, 2010, the Issuer may, at its option, redeem up to 35% of the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of Senior Toggle Notes at a redemption price equal to 112.250% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the applicable Redemption Date, subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date, with the net cash proceeds of one or more Equity Offerings to the extent such net cash proceeds are received by or contributed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that at least 50% of the sum of the aggregate principal amount of Senior Toggle Notes originally issued under the Indenture and any Additional Notes that are Senior Toggle Notes issued under the Indenture after the Issue Date (but excluding PIK Notes) remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of each such redemption; *provided further* that each such redemption occurs within 180 days of the date of closing of each such Equity Offering or sale.

The Issuer may provide in such notice that payment of the redemption price and performance of the Issuer s obligations with respect thereto may be performed by another Person. Notice of any redemption upon any Equity Offering may be given prior to the completion of the related Equity Offering, and any such redemption or notice may, at the Issuer s discretion, be subject to one or more conditions precedent, including, but not limited to, completion of the related Equity Offering.

The Trustee shall select the Notes to be purchased in the manner described under Repurchase at the Option of Holders Selection and Notice.

Repurchase at the Option of Holders

Change of Control

The Indenture provides that if a Change of Control occurs, unless the Issuer has previously or concurrently mailed a redemption notice with respect to all the outstanding Notes thereunder as described under Optional Redemption, the Issuer will make an offer to purchase all of such Notes pursuant to the offer described below (the *Change of Control Offer*) at a price in cash (the *Change of Control Payment*) equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest, to the date of purchase, subject to the right

of Holders of the Notes of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date. Within 30 days following any Change of Control, the Issuer will send notice of such Change of Control Offer by first-class mail, with a copy to each Trustee, as applicable, to each Holder of Notes to the address of such Holder appearing in the security register with the following information:

(1) that a Change of Control Offer is being made pursuant to the covenant entitled Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control, and that all Notes properly tendered pursuant to such Change of Control Offer will be accepted for payment by the Issuer;

(2) the purchase price and the purchase date, which will be no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed (the *Change of Control Payment Date*);

(3) that any Note not properly tendered will remain outstanding and continue to accrue interest;

(4) that unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the Change of Control Payment, all Notes accepted for payment pursuant to the Change of Control Offer will cease to accrue interest on the Change of Control Payment Date;

(5) that Holders electing to have any Notes purchased pursuant to a Change of Control Offer will be required to surrender such Notes, with the form entitled Option of Holder to Elect Purchase on the reverse of such Notes completed, to the paying agent specified in the notice at the address specified in the notice prior to the close of business on the third Business Day preceding the Change of Control Payment Date;

(6) that Holders will be entitled to withdraw their tendered Notes and their election to require the Issuer to purchase such Notes, *provided* that the paying agent receives, not later than the close of business on the fifth Business Day preceding the Change of Control Payment Date, a telegram, telex, facsimile transmission or letter setting forth the name of the Holder of the Notes, the principal amount of Notes tendered for purchase and a statement that such Holder is withdrawing its tendered Notes and its election to have such Notes purchased;

(7) that the Holders whose Notes are being repurchased only in part will be issued new Notes equal in principal amount to the unpurchased portion of the Notes surrendered. The unpurchased portion of the Notes must be equal to a minimum of \$2,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000 in principal amount; *provided*, *however*, that if PIK Notes are issued or PIK Interest is paid, the principal amount of such unpurchased portion may equal a minimum of \$1.00 or an integral multiple of \$1.00; and

(8) the other instructions, as determined by the Issuer, consistent with the covenant described hereunder, that a Holder must follow.

The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws or regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of the Indenture, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations described in the Indenture by virtue thereof.

On the Change of Control Payment Date, the Issuer will, to the extent permitted by law,

(1) accept for payment all Notes or portions thereof properly tendered pursuant to the Change of Control Offer,

(2) deposit with a paying agent an amount equal to the aggregate Change of Control Payment in respect of all Notes or portions thereof so tendered, and

(3) deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Trustee for cancellation the Notes so accepted together with an Officer s Certificate to the Trustee stating that such Notes or portions thereof have been tendered to and purchased by the Issuer.

The Senior Credit Facilities provide and future credit agreements or other agreements to which the Issuer becomes a party may provide that certain change of control events with respect to the Issuer would constitute a default thereunder (including a Change of Control under the Indenture). If we experience a change of control that triggers a default under our Senior Credit Facilities, we could seek a waiver of such default or seek to refinance our Senior Credit Facilities. In the event we do not obtain such a waiver or refinance the Senior Credit Facilities, such default could result in amounts outstanding under our Senior Credit Facilities being declared due and payable.

Our ability to pay cash to the Holders of Notes following the occurrence of a Change of Control may be limited by our then-existing financial resources. Therefore, sufficient funds may not be available when necessary to make any required repurchases.

The Change of Control purchase feature of the Notes may in certain circumstances make it more difficult or discourage a sale or takeover of us and, thus, the removal of incumbent management. The Change of Control purchase feature is a result of negotiations between the initial purchasers of the Restricted Notes and us. We have no present intention to engage in a transaction involving a Change of Control, although it is possible that we could decide to do so in the future. Subject to the limitations discussed below, we could, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including acquisitions, refinancings or other recapitalizations, that would not constitute a Change of Control under the Indenture, but that could increase the amount of indebtedness outstanding at such time or otherwise affect our capital structure or credit ratings. Restrictions on our ability to incur additional Indebtedness are contained in the covenants described under Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock and Certain Covenants Liens. Such restrictions in the Indenture can be waived only with the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding thereunder. Except for the limitations contained in such covenants, however, the Indenture does not contain any covenants or provisions that may afford Holders of the Notes protection in the event of a highly leveraged transaction.

We will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer following a Change of Control if a third party makes the Change of Control Offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements set forth in the Indenture applicable to a Change of Control Offer made by us and purchases all Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn under such Change of Control Offer. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, a Change of Control Offer may be made in advance of a Change of Control, conditional upon such Change of Control, if a definitive agreement is in place for the Change of Control at the time of making of the Change of Control Offer.

The definition of Change of Control includes a disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries to any Person. Although there is a limited body of case law interpreting the phrase substantially all, there is no precise established definition of the phrase under applicable law. Accordingly, in certain circumstances there may be a degree of uncertainty as to whether a particular transaction would involve a disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries. As a result, it may be unclear as to whether a Change of Control has occurred and whether a Holder of Notes may require the Issuer to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as described above.

The provisions in the Indenture relative to the Issuer s obligation to make an offer to repurchase the Notes as a result of a Change of Control may be waived or modified at any time with the written consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Notes under that Indenture.

Asset Sales

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, cause or make an Asset Sale, unless:

(1) the Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, receives consideration at the time of such Asset Sale at least equal to the fair market value (as determined in good faith by the Issuer) of the assets sold or otherwise disposed of; and

(2) except in the case of a Permitted Asset Swap, at least 75% of the consideration therefor received by the Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, is in the form of cash or Cash Equivalents; *provided* that the amount of:

(a) any liabilities (as shown on the Issuer s or such Restricted Subsidiary s most recent balance sheet or in the footnotes thereto) of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary, other than liabilities that are by their terms subordinated to the Notes or that are owed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, that are assumed by the transferee of any such assets and for which the Issuer and all of its Restricted Subsidiaries have been validly released by all creditors in writing,

(b) any securities received by such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary from such transferee that are converted by such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary into cash (to the extent of the cash received) within 180 days following the closing of such Asset Sale, and

(c) any Designated Non-cash Consideration received by such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary in such Asset Sale having an aggregate fair market value, taken together with all other Designated Non-cash Consideration received pursuant to this clause (c) that is at that time outstanding, not to exceed 5.0% of Total Assets at the time of the receipt of such Designated Non-cash Consideration, with the fair market value of each item of Designated Non-cash Consideration and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value,

shall be deemed to be cash for purposes of this provision and for no other purpose.

Within 15 months after the receipt of any Net Proceeds of any Asset Sale, such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary, at its option, may apply the Net Proceeds from such Asset Sale,

(1) to permanently reduce:

(a) Obligations under the Senior Credit Facilities and to correspondingly reduce commitments with respect thereto;

(b) Obligations under Pari Passu Indebtedness (as defined below) that is secured by a Lien, which Lien is permitted by the Indenture, and to correspondingly reduce commitments with respect thereto;

(c) Obligations under (A) the Notes (to the extent such purchases are at or above 100% of the principal amount thereof) or (B) any other Pari Passu Indebtedness of the Issuer or Restricted Guarantor (and to correspondingly reduce commitments with respect thereto); *provided* the Issuer shall make an offer (in accordance with the procedures set forth below for an Asset Sale Offer) to all Holders of Notes to purchase a pro rata amount of Notes at 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued but unpaid interest; or

(d) Indebtedness of a Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor, other than Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary;

(2) to (a) make an Investment in any one or more businesses, *provided* that such Investment in any business is in the form of the acquisition of Capital Stock and results in the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, owning an amount of the Capital Stock of such business such that it constitutes a Restricted Subsidiary, (b) acquire properties, (c) make capital expenditures or (d) acquire other assets that, in the case of each of clauses (a), (b), (c) and (d), either (x) are used or useful in a Similar Business or (y) replace the businesses, properties and/or assets that are the subject of such Asset Sale;

provided that, in the case of clause (2) above, a binding commitment shall be treated as a permitted application of the Net Proceeds from the date of such commitment so long as the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary enters into such commitment with the good faith expectation that such Net Proceeds will be applied to satisfy such commitment within 180 days of such commitment (an *Acceptable Commitment*) and, in the event any Acceptable Commitment is later cancelled or terminated for any reason before the Net Proceeds are applied in connection therewith, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary enters into another Acceptable Commitment (a *Second Commitment*) within 180 days of such cancellation or termination; *provided further* that if any Second Commitment is later cancelled or terminated for any reason before such Net Proceeds are applied, then such Net Proceeds shall constitute Excess Proceeds.

Any Net Proceeds from the Asset Sale that are not invested or applied as provided and within the time period set forth in the preceding paragraph will be deemed to constitute *Excess Proceeds*. When the aggregate amount of Excess Proceeds with respect to the Notes exceeds \$50.0 million, the Issuer shall make an offer to all Holders of the Notes and, if required by the terms of any Indebtedness that is *pari passu* in right of payment with such Notes (*Pari Passu Indebtedness*), to the holders of such Pari Passu Indebtedness (an *Asset Sale Offer*), to purchase the maximum aggregate principal amount of such Notes and such Pari Passu Indebtedness that is a minimum of \$2,000 or an integral multiple of \$1,000, or if PIK Notes are issued or PIK Interest is paid in respect of the Notes, a minimum of \$1.00 and an integral multiple of \$1.00 (in each case in aggregate principal amount), that may be purchased out of the Excess Proceeds at an offer price in cash in an amount equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date fixed for the closing of such offer, in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Indenture. The Issuer will commence an Asset Sale Offer with respect to Excess Proceeds within ten Business Days after the date that Excess Proceeds exceed \$50.0 million by mailing the notice required pursuant to the terms of the Indenture, with a copy to the Trustee.

To the extent that the aggregate principal amount of Notes and such Pari Passu Indebtedness tendered pursuant to an Asset Sale Offer is less than the Excess Proceeds with respect to the Notes, the Issuer may use any remaining Excess Proceeds for general corporate purposes, subject to the other covenants contained in the Indenture. If the aggregate principal amount of Notes and the Pari Passu Indebtedness surrendered in an Asset Sale Offer exceeds the amount of Excess Proceeds with respect to a series of Notes, the Trustee shall select the Notes and the Issuer or the agent for such Pari Passu Indebtedness will select such other Pari Passu Indebtedness to be purchased on a pro rata basis based on the principal amount of the Notes and such Pari Passu Indebtedness tendered. Upon completion of any such Asset Sale Offer, the amount of Excess Proceeds shall be reset at zero.

Pending the final application of any Net Proceeds pursuant to this covenant, the holder of such Net Proceeds may apply such Net Proceeds temporarily to reduce Indebtedness outstanding under a revolving credit facility or otherwise invest such Net Proceeds in any manner not prohibited by the Indenture.

The Issuer will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws or regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the Notes pursuant to an Asset Sale Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the provisions of an Indenture, the Issuer will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations described in the Indenture by virtue thereof.

Selection and Notice

If the Issuer is redeeming less than all of a series of Notes at any time, the Trustee will select the Notes of such series to be redeemed (a) if the Notes are listed on any national securities exchange, in compliance with the requirements of the principal national securities exchange on which the Notes are listed or (b) on a pro rata basis to the extent practicable, or, if the pro rata basis is not practicable for any reason by lot or by such other method as the Trustee shall deem appropriate.

Notices of purchase or redemption shall be mailed by first-class mail, postage prepaid, at least 30 but not more than 60 days before the purchase or redemption date to each Holder of Notes to be redeemed at such Holder s registered address, except that redemption notices may be mailed more than 60 days prior to a redemption date if the notice is issued in connection with a defeasance of the Notes or a satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture. If any Note is to be purchased or redeemed in part only, any notice of purchase or redemption that relates to such Note shall state the portion of the principal amount thereof that has been or is to be purchased or redeemed.

The Issuer will issue a new Note in a principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion of the original Note in the name of the Holder upon cancellation of the original Note. Notes called for redemption become due on the date fixed for redemption. On and after the redemption date, interest ceases to accrue on Notes or portions of them called for redemption.

Certain Covenants

Set forth below are summaries of certain covenants contained in the Indenture.

Limitation on Restricted Payments

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly:

(1) declare or pay any dividend or distribution or make any payment on account of the Issuer s or a Restricted Subsidiary s Equity Interests, including any dividend or distribution payable in connection with any merger or consolidation other than:

(a) dividends or distributions payable solely in Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary; or

(b) dividends or distributions by a Restricted Subsidiary so long as, in the case of any dividend or distribution payable on or in respect of any class or series of securities issued by a Restricted Subsidiary other than a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Issuer, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary receives at least its pro rata share of such dividend or distribution in accordance with its Equity Interests in such class or series of securities;

(2) purchase, redeem, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value any Equity Interests of the Issuer or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer, including in connection with any merger or consolidation;

(3) make any principal payment on, or redeem, repurchase, defease or otherwise acquire or retire for value in each case, prior to any scheduled repayment, sinking fund payment or maturity, any Subordinated Indebtedness other than:

(a) Indebtedness permitted under clause (8) of the covenant described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ; or

(b) the purchase, repurchase or other acquisition of Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary purchased in anticipation of satisfying a sinking fund obligation, principal installment or final maturity, in each case due within one year of the date of purchase, repurchase or acquisition; or

(4) make any Restricted Investment

(all such payments and other actions set forth in clauses (1) through (4) above being collectively referred to as *Restricted Payments*), unless, at the time of such Restricted Payment:

(1) no Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would occur as a consequence thereof;

(2) immediately after giving effect to such transaction on a pro forma basis, the Issuer could incur \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ; and

(3) such Restricted Payment, together with the aggregate amount of all other Restricted Payments made by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Issue Date (including Restricted Payments permitted by clauses (1), (2) (with respect to the payment of dividends on Refunding Capital Stock pursuant to clause (c) thereof only), (6)(c) and (9) of the next succeeding paragraph, but excluding all other Restricted Payments permitted by the next succeeding paragraph), is less than the sum of (without duplication):

(a) 50% of the Consolidated Net Income of the Issuer for the period (taken as one accounting period) from the first day of the fiscal quarter in which the Issue Date occurs to the end of the Issuer s most recently ended fiscal quarter for which internal financial statements are available at the time of such Restricted Payment, or, if such Consolidated Net Income is a deficit, minus 100% of such deficit; plus

(b) 100% of the aggregate net proceeds (including cash and the fair market value, as determined in good faith by the Issuer, of marketable securities or other property) received by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary since immediately after the Issue Date (other than (i) to the extent used to fund the Transactions and (ii) net cash proceeds to the extent such net cash proceeds have been used to incur Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock pursuant to clause (12)(a) of the second paragraph of Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock) from the issue or sale of:

(i)(A) Equity Interests of the Issuer, including Treasury Capital Stock, but excluding cash proceeds and the fair market value, as determined in good faith by the Issuer, of marketable securities or other property received from the sale of:

(x) Equity Interests to directors, officers, employees, members of management or consultants of the Issuer, its Restricted Subsidiaries and any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer, after the Issue Date to the extent such amounts have been applied to Restricted Payments made in accordance with clause (4) of the next succeeding paragraph; and

(y) Designated Preferred Stock; and

(B) to the extent such proceeds are actually contributed to the capital of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, Equity Interests of the Issuer s direct or indirect parent companies (excluding contributions of the proceeds from the sale of Designated Preferred Stock of such companies or contributions to the extent such amounts have been applied to Restricted Payments made in accordance with clause (4) of the next succeeding paragraph); or

(ii) debt of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary that has been converted into or exchanged for such Equity Interests of the Issuer or a direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer;

provided, *however*, that this clause (b) shall not include the proceeds from (W) Refunding Capital Stock (as defined below), (X) Equity Interests or convertible debt securities sold to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, as the case may be, (Y) Disqualified Stock or debt securities that have been converted into Disqualified Stock or (Z) Excluded Contributions; plus

(c) 100% of the aggregate amount of net proceeds (including cash and the fair market value, as determined in good faith by the Issuer, of marketable securities or other property) contributed to the capital of the Issuer following the Issue Date (other than (i) net cash proceeds to the extent such net cash proceeds have been used to incur Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock pursuant to clause (12)(a) of the second paragraph of Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock, (ii) by a Restricted Subsidiary and (iii) any Excluded Contributions); plus

(d) 100% of the aggregate amount of proceeds (including cash and the fair market value, as determined in good faith by the Issuer, of marketable securities or other property) received by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary by means of:

(i) the sale or other disposition (other than to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) of Restricted Investments made by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and repurchases and redemptions of such Restricted Investments from the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and repayments of loans or advances, and releases of guarantees, which constitute Restricted Investments by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, in each case after the Issue Date; or

(ii) the sale or other disposition (other than to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) of the stock of an Unrestricted Subsidiary (other than to the extent the Investment in such Unrestricted Subsidiary was made by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to clause (7) of the next succeeding paragraph or to the extent such Investment constituted a Permitted Investment) or a dividend or distribution from an Unrestricted Subsidiary after the Issue Date; plus

(e) in the case of the redesignation of an Unrestricted Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary after the Issue Date, the fair market value of the Investment in such Unrestricted Subsidiary, as determined by the Issuer in good faith or if such fair market value may exceed \$75.0 million, in writing by an Independent Financial Advisor, at the time of the redesignation of such Unrestricted Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary, other than an Unrestricted Subsidiary to the extent the Investment in such Unrestricted Subsidiary was made by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to clause (7) of the next succeeding paragraph or to the extent such Investment constituted a Permitted Investment.

The foregoing provisions do not prohibit:

(1) the payment of any dividend within 60 days after the date of declaration thereof, if at the date of declaration such payment would have complied with the provisions of the Indenture;

(2)(a) the redemption, repurchase, retirement or other acquisition of any (i) Equity Interests (*Treasury Capital Stock*) of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary or Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor or (ii) Equity Interests of any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer, in the case of each of clause (i) and (ii), in exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale (other than to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) of, Equity Interests of the Issuer, or any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer to the extent contributed to the capital of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary (in each case, other than any Disqualified Stock) (*Refunding Capital Stock*), (b) the declaration and payment of dividends on the Treasury Capital Stock out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale (other than to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) of the Refunding Capital Stock, and (c) if immediately prior to the retirement of Treasury Capital Stock, the declaration and payment of dividends thereon was permitted under clause (6)(a) or (b) of this paragraph, the declaration and payment of dividends thereon was permitted under clause (6)(a) or (b) of this paragraph, the declaration and payment of dividends thereon was permitted company of the Issuer) in an aggregate amount per year no greater than the aggregate amount of dividends per annum that were declarable and payable on such Treasury Capital Stock immediately prior to such retirement;

(3) the defeasance, redemption, repurchase or other acquisition or retirement of Subordinated Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor made by exchange for, or out of the proceeds of the substantially concurrent sale of, new Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor, as the case may be, which is incurred in compliance with Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock so long as:

(a) the principal amount (or accreted value, if applicable) of such new Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount of (or accreted value, if applicable), plus any accrued and unpaid interest on, the Subordinated Indebtedness being so redeemed, repurchased, acquired or retired for value, plus the amount of any premium required to be paid under the terms of the instrument governing the

Subordinated Indebtedness being so redeemed, repurchased, acquired or retired and any fees and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of such new Indebtedness;

(b) such new Indebtedness is subordinated to the Notes or the applicable Guarantee at least to the same extent as such Subordinated Indebtedness so purchased, exchanged, redeemed, repurchased, acquired or retired for value;

(c) such new Indebtedness has a final scheduled maturity date equal to or later than the final scheduled maturity date of the Subordinated Indebtedness being so redeemed, repurchased, acquired or retired; and

(d) such new Indebtedness has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or greater than the remaining Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Subordinated Indebtedness being so defeased, redeemed, repurchased, acquired or retired;

(4) a Restricted Payment to pay for the repurchase, retirement or other acquisition or retirement for value of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent companies held by any future, present or former director, officer, employee, member of management or consultant of the Issuer, any of its Subsidiaries or any of its direct or indirect parent companies pursuant to any management equity plan or stock option plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or arrangement; *provided, however*, that the aggregate Restricted Payments made under this clause (4) do not exceed in any calendar year \$20.0 million (which shall increase to \$30.0 million subsequent to the consummation of an underwritten public Equity Offering of common stock) (with unused amounts in any calendar year being carried over to succeeding calendar years subject to a maximum of \$30.0 million in any calendar year) (which shall increase to \$50.0 million subsequent to the consummation of an underwritten public Equity Offering of common stock); *provided further* that such amount in any calendar year may be increased by an amount not to exceed:

(a) the cash proceeds from the sale of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer and, to the extent contributed to the capital of the Issuer, Equity Interests of any of the direct or indirect parent companies of the Issuer, in each case to directors, officers, employees, members of management or consultants of the Issuer, any of its Subsidiaries or any of its direct or indirect parent companies that occurs after the Issue Date (other than Equity Interests the proceeds of which are used to fund the Transactions), to the extent the cash proceeds from the sale of such Equity Interests have not otherwise been applied to the payment of Restricted Payments by virtue of clause (3) of the preceding paragraph; plus

(b) the cash proceeds of key man life insurance policies received by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Issue Date; less

(c) the amount of any Restricted Payments previously made with the cash proceeds described in clauses (a) and (b) of this clause (4);

and *provided further* that cancellation of Indebtedness owing to the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary from directors, officers, employees, members of management or consultants of the Issuer, any of its Subsidiaries or its direct or indirect parent companies in connection with a repurchase of Equity Interests of the Issuer or any of the Issuer s direct or indirect parent companies will not be deemed to constitute a Restricted Payment for purposes of this covenant or any other provision of the Indenture;

(5) the declaration and payment of dividends to holders of any class or series of Disqualified Stock of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries issued in accordance with the covenant described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ;

(6)(a) the declaration and payment of dividends to holders of any class or series of Designated Preferred Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) issued by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries after the Issue Date, *provided* that the amount of dividends paid pursuant to this clause (a) shall not exceed the aggregate amount of cash actually received by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary from the issuance of such Designated Preferred Stock;

(b) a Restricted Payment to a direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries, the proceeds of which will be used to fund the payment of dividends to holders of any class or series of Designated Preferred Stock (other than Disqualified Stock) of such parent corporation issued after the Issue Date, provided that the amount of Restricted Payments paid pursuant to this clause (b) shall not exceed the aggregate amount of cash actually contributed to the capital of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary from the sale of such Designated Preferred Stock: or

(c) the declaration and payment of dividends on Refunding Capital Stock that is Preferred Stock in excess of the dividends declarable and payable thereon pursuant to clause (2) of this paragraph;

provided, however, in the case of each of (a), (b) and (c) of this clause (6), that for the most recently ended four full fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date of issuance of such Designated Preferred Stock or the declaration of such dividends on Refunding Capital Stock that is Preferred Stock, after giving effect to such issuance or declaration on a pro forma basis, the Issuer could incur \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test set forth in the covenant described under

Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock;

(7) Investments in Unrestricted Subsidiaries having an aggregate fair market value, taken together with all other Investments made pursuant to this clause (7) that are at the time outstanding not to exceed 1.5% of Total Assets at the time of such Investment (with the fair market value of each Investment being measured at the time made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value);

(8) repurchases of Equity Interests deemed to occur upon exercise of stock options or warrants if such Equity Interests represent a portion of the exercise price of such options or warrants;

(9) the declaration and payment of dividends on the Issuer s common stock (or a Restricted Payment to any direct or indirect parent entity to fund a payment of dividends on such entity s common stock), following the first public Equity Offering of such common stock after the Issue Date, of up to 6% per annum of the cash proceeds received by (or, in the case of a Restricted Payment to a direct or indirect parent entity, contributed to the capital of) the Issuer in or from any such public Equity Offering;

(10) Restricted Payments that are made with Excluded Contributions;

(11) other Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount taken together with all other Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (11) not to exceed \$175 million or if Consolidated Leverage Ratio is less than 3.75 to 1.00, the greater of \$175 million and 3.75% of Total Assets at the time made:

(12) distributions or payments of Receivables Fees;

(13) any Restricted Payment used to fund the Transactions and the fees and expenses related thereto or owed to Affiliates, in each case to the extent permitted by the covenant described under Transactions with Affiliates ;

(14) the repurchase, redemption or other acquisition or retirement for value of any Subordinated Indebtedness pursuant to the provisions similar to those described under the captions Repurchase at the Option of Holders Change of Control and Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales ; provided that all Notes tendered by Holders in connection with a Change of Control Offer or Asset Sale Offer, as applicable, have been repurchased, redeemed or acquired for value;

(15) the declaration and payment of dividends or the payment of other distributions by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary to, or the making of loans or advances to, any of the Issuer s direct or indirect parents in amounts required for any direct or indirect parent companies to pay, in each case without duplication,

(a) franchise taxes and other fees, taxes and expenses required to maintain their corporate existence;

(b) federal, foreign, state and local income or franchise taxes; provided that, in each fiscal year, the amount of such payments shall be equal to the amount that the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be required to pay in respect of federal, foreign, state and local income or franchise taxes if such

entities were corporations paying taxes separately from any parent entity at the highest combined applicable federal, foreign, state, local or franchise tax rate for such fiscal year;

(c) customary salary, bonus and other benefits payable to officers and employees of any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer to the extent such salaries, bonuses and other benefits are attributable to the ownership or operation of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(d) general corporate operating and overhead costs and expenses of any direct or indirect parent company of the Issuer to the extent such costs and expenses are attributable to the ownership or operation of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(e) fees, indemnities and expenses incurred in connection with the Transactions or amounts payable to the Investors pursuant to the Sponsor Management Agreement;

(f) fees and expenses other than to Affiliates of the Issuer related to (i) any equity or debt offering of such parent entity (whether or not successful) and (ii) any Investment otherwise permitted under this covenant (whether or not successful);

(g) cash payments in lieu of issuing fractional shares in connection with the exercise of warrants, options or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for Equity Interests of the Issuer or any direct or indirect parent of the Issuer; and

(h) to finance Investments otherwise permitted to be made pursuant to this covenant; *provided* that (A) such Restricted Payment shall be made substantially concurrently with the closing of such Investment; (B) such direct or indirect parent company shall, immediately following the closing thereof, cause (1) all property acquired (whether assets or Equity Interests) to be contributed to the capital of the Issuer or one of its Restricted Subsidiaries or (2) the merger of the Person formed or acquired into the Issuer or one of its Restricted Subsidiaries (to the extent not prohibited by the covenant Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets below) in order to consummate such Investment; (C) such direct or indirect parent company and Affiliates (other than the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary) receives no consideration or other payment in connection with such transaction except to the extent the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary could have given such consideration or made such payment in compliance with the Indenture; (D) any property received by the Issuer shall not increase amounts available for Restricted Payments pursuant to clause (3) of the preceding paragraph; and (E) such Investment shall be deemed to be made by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary by another provision of this covenant or pursuant to the definition of Permitted Investments (other than clause (9) thereof);

(16) the distribution, by dividend or otherwise, of shares of Capital Stock of, or Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary by, Unrestricted Subsidiaries (other than Unrestricted Subsidiaries, the primary assets of which are cash and/or Cash Equivalents that were contributed to such Unrestricted Subsidiaries as an Investment pursuant to clause (7) of this paragraph); and

(17) payments or distributions to dissenting stockholders pursuant to applicable law, pursuant to or in connection with a consolidation, merger or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, that complies with the covenant described under Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets ; *provided* that as a result of such consolidation, merger or transfer of assets, the Issuer shall make a Change of Control Offer and that all Notes tendered by Holders in connection with such Change of Control Offer are repurchased, redeemed or acquired for value;

provided, however, that at the time of, and after giving effect to, any Restricted Payment permitted under clauses (11) and (16), no Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would occur as a consequence thereof.

As of March 31, 2008, all of the Subsidiaries of the Issuer were Restricted Subsidiaries. The Issuer will not permit any Unrestricted Subsidiary to become a Restricted Subsidiary except pursuant to the last sentence of the definition of Unrestricted Subsidiary. For purposes of designating any Restricted Subsidiary as an Unrestricted

Subsidiary, all outstanding Investments by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries (except to the extent repaid) in the Subsidiary so designated will be deemed to be Restricted Payments in an amount determined as set forth in the last sentence of the definition of Investment. Such designation will be permitted only if a Restricted Payment in such amount would be permitted at such time, whether pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant or under clause (7), (10) or (11) of the second paragraph of this covenant, or pursuant to the definition of Permitted Investments, and if such Subsidiary otherwise meets the definition of an Unrestricted Subsidiary. Unrestricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to any of the restrictive covenants set forth in the Indenture.

Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, issue, assume, guarantee or otherwise become directly or indirectly liable, contingently or otherwise (collectively, *incur* and collectively, an

incurrence) with respect to any Indebtedness (including Acquired Indebtedness) and the Issuer and the Restricted Guarantors will not issue any shares of Disqualified Stock and will not permit any Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor to issue any shares of Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock; *provided, however*, that the Issuer and the Restricted Guarantors may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Indebtedness) or issue shares of Disqualified Stock, and any Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor may incur Indebtedness (including Acquired Indebtedness), issue shares of Disqualified Stock and issue shares of Preferred Stock, if the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio on a consolidated basis for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries most recently ended four fiscal quarters for which internal financial statements are available immediately preceding the date on which such additional Indebtedness is incurred or such Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock is issued would have been at least 2.0 to 1.0, determined on a pro forma basis (including a pro forma application of the net proceeds therefrom), as if the additional Indebtedness or issue Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock if, after giving pro forma effect to such incurrence or issuance (including pro forma application of the net proceeds therefrom), more than an aggregate of \$300.0 million of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock of Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors is outstanding pursuant to this paragraph at such time.

The foregoing limitations do not apply to:

(1) the incurrence of Indebtedness under Credit Facilities by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and the issuance and creation of letters of credit and bankers acceptances thereunder (with letters of credit and bankers acceptances being deemed to have a principal amount equal to the face amount thereof), up to an aggregate principal amount of \$2,850.0 million outstanding at any one time less the aggregate amount of all Net Proceeds of Specified Asset Sales applied by the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary since the Issue Date to repay any term indebtedness under a Credit Facility or to repay any revolving credit Indebtedness under a Credit Facility and effect a corresponding commitment reduction thereunder pursuant to the covenant described above under Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales ; provided in no event shall the amount which may be incurred under this clause be less than \$1,425.0 million at any one time outstanding;

(2) the incurrence by the Issuer and any Restricted Guarantor of Indebtedness represented by the Notes (including any PIK Notes and any Guarantee, but excluding any Additional Notes);

(3) the incurrence by the Issuer and any Restricted Guarantor of Indebtedness represented by the Exchange Notes and related guarantees of the Exchange Notes to be issued in exchange for the Notes and Guarantees pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement;

(4) Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries in existence on the Issue Date (other than Indebtedness described in clauses (1) and (2));

(5) Indebtedness (including Capitalized Lease Obligations), Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock incurred by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, to finance the purchase, lease or improvement of property (real or personal) or equipment that is used or useful in a Similar Business, whether through the direct purchase of assets or the Equity Interests of any Person owning such assets in an aggregate principal amount, and Indebtedness pursuant to any Sale and Leaseback Transaction, together with any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof and all other Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock and/or Preferred Stock incurred and outstanding under this clause (5), not to exceed the greater of \$125.0 million or 2.0% of Total Assets at any time outstanding;

(6) Indebtedness incurred by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary constituting reimbursement obligations with respect to bankers acceptances and letters of credit issued in the ordinary course of business, including letters of credit in respect of workers compensation claims, or other Indebtedness with respect to reimbursement type obligations regarding workers compensation claims; *provided, however*, that upon the drawing of such bankers acceptances and letters of credit or the incurrence of such Indebtedness, such obligations are reimbursed within 30 days following such drawing or incurrence;

(7) Indebtedness arising from agreements of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary providing for indemnification, adjustment of purchase price or similar obligations, in each case, incurred or assumed in connection with the disposition of any business, assets or a Subsidiary, other than guarantees of Indebtedness incurred by any Person acquiring all or any portion of such business, assets or a Subsidiary for the purpose of financing such acquisition; *provided, however*, that such Indebtedness is not reflected on the balance sheet (other than by application of FIN 45 as a result of an amendment to an obligation in existence on the Issue Date) of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary (contingent obligations referred to in a footnote to financial statements and not otherwise reflected on the balance sheet will not be deemed to be reflected on such balance sheet for purposes of this clause (7));

(8) Indebtedness of the Issuer to a Restricted Subsidiary or a Restricted Subsidiary to the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that any such Indebtedness owing by the Issuer or a Guarantor to a Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes or the Guarantee of the Notes, as the case may be; *provided further* that subsequent issuance or transfer of any Capital Stock or any other event which results in any Restricted Subsidiary or any pledge of such Indebtedness constituting a Permitted Lien) shall be deemed, in each case, to be an incurrence of such Indebtedness not permitted by this clause (8);

(9) shares of Preferred Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary issued to the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that any subsequent issuance or transfer of any Capital Stock or any other event which results in any such Restricted Subsidiary ceasing to be a Restricted Subsidiary or any other subsequent transfer of any such shares of Preferred Stock (except to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary or any pledge of such shares of Preferred Stock constituting a Permitted Lien) shall be deemed in each case to be an issuance of such shares of Preferred Stock not permitted by this clause (9);

(10) Hedging Obligations (excluding Hedging Obligations entered into for speculative purposes) for the purpose of limiting interest rate risk with respect to any Indebtedness, exchange rate risk or commodity pricing risk;

(11) obligations in respect of customs, stay, performance, bid, appeal and surety bonds and completion guarantees and other obligations of a like nature provided by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business or consistent with past practice;

(12)(a) Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor and Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor in an aggregate principal amount or liquidation preference equal to 200.0% of the net cash proceeds received by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries since immediately after the Issue Date from the issue or sale of Equity Interests of the Issuer or cash contributed to the capital of the Issuer (in each case, other than proceeds of

Disqualified Stock or sales of Equity Interests to, or contributions received from, the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries) as determined in accordance with clauses (3)(b) and (3)(c) of the first paragraph of Limitation on Restricted Payments to the extent such net cash proceeds or cash has not been applied pursuant to such clauses to make Restricted Payments or to make other Investments, payments or exchanges pursuant to the second paragraph of Limitation on Restricted Payments or to make Permitted Investments, payments or exchanges pursuant to the second paragraph of Limitation on Restricted Payments or to make Permitted Investments (other than Permitted Investments specified in clauses (1), (2), (3), (7) and (12) of the definition thereof) and (b) Indebtedness or Disqualified Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor and Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of any Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor not otherwise permitted hereunder in an aggregate principal amount or liquidation preference, which when aggregated with the principal amount and liquidation preference of all other Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock then outstanding and incurred pursuant to this clause (12)(b), does not at any one time outstanding exceed the greater of \$275.0 million and 4.25% of Total Assets (it being understood that any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock incurred pursuant to this clause (12)(b) shall cease to be deemed incurred or outstanding for purposes of this clause (12)(b) but shall be deemed incurred for the purposes of the first paragraph of this covenant from and after the first paragraph of this covenant without reliance on this clause (12)(b));

(13) the incurrence by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock which serves to refund or refinance:

(a) any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock incurred as permitted under the first paragraph of this covenant and clauses (2), (3), (4) and (12)(a) above and clause (14) below, or

(b) any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock issued to so refund or refinance the Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock described in clause (a) above,

including, in each case, additional Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock incurred to pay premiums (including tender premiums), defeasance costs and fees and expenses in connection therewith (collectively, the *Refinancing Indebtedness*) prior to its respective maturity; *provided, however*, that such Refinancing Indebtedness:

(A) has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity at the time such Refinancing Indebtedness is incurred which is not less than the remaining Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock being refunded or refinanced,

(B) to the extent such Refinancing Indebtedness refinances (i) Indebtedness subordinated or *pari passu* to the Notes or any Guarantee thereof, such Refinancing Indebtedness is subordinated or *pari passu* to the Notes or the Guarantee at least to the same extent as the Indebtedness being refinanced or refunded or (ii) Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, such Refinancing Indebtedness must be Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, respectively, and

(C) shall not include:

(i) Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor that refinances Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of the Issuer;

(ii) Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of a Restricted Subsidiary that is not a Guarantor that refinances Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of a Restricted Guarantor; or

(iii) Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary that refinances Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

and provided further that subclause (A) of this clause (13) will not apply to any refunding or refinancing of Indebtedness under a Credit Facility;

(14) Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of (x) the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary incurred to finance an acquisition or (y) Persons that are acquired by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary or merged into the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary in accordance with the terms of the Indenture; *provided* that after giving effect to such acquisition or merger, either

(i) the Issuer would be permitted to incur at least \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test set forth in the first paragraph of this covenant, or

(ii) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is no less than the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio immediately prior to such acquisition or merger;

(15) Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business, *provided* that such Indebtedness is extinguished within six Business Days of its incurrence;

(16) Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries supported by a letter of credit issued pursuant to the Credit Facilities, in a principal amount not in excess of the stated amount of such letter of credit;

(17)(a) any guarantee by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness or other obligations of any Restricted Subsidiary so long as the incurrence of such Indebtedness incurred by such Restricted Subsidiary is permitted under the terms of the Indenture, or

(b) any guarantee by a Restricted Subsidiary of Indebtedness of the Issuer; *provided* that such Restricted Subsidiary shall comply with the covenant described below under Limitation on Guarantees of Indebtedness by Restricted Subsidiaries ;

(18) Indebtedness of Foreign Subsidiaries of the Issuer in an amount not to exceed at any one time outstanding and together with any other Indebtedness incurred under this clause (18) 5.0% of the Foreign Subsidiary Total Assets (it being understood that any Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this clause (18) shall cease to be deemed incurred or outstanding for purposes of this clause (18) but shall be deemed incurred for the purposes of the first paragraph of this covenant from and after the first date on which such Foreign Subsidiary could have incurred such Indebtedness under the first paragraph of this covenant without reliance on this clause (18));

(19) Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary incurred to finance or assumed in connection with an acquisition in a principal amount not to exceed the greater of \$150.0 million or 2.5% of Total Assets in the aggregate at any one time outstanding together with all other Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock and/or Preferred Stock issued under this clause (19) (it being understood that any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock incurred pursuant to this clause (19) shall cease to be deemed incurred or outstanding for purposes of this clause (19) but shall be deemed incurred for the purposes of the first paragraph of this covenant from and after the first date on which the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary could have incurred such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock under the first paragraph of this covenant without reliance on this clause (19));

(20) Indebtedness consisting of Indebtedness issued by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to future, current or former directors, officers, employees, members of management and consultants thereof or any direct or indirect parent thereof, their respective estates, heirs, family members, spouses or former spouses, in each case to finance the purchase or redemption of Equity Interests of the Issuer, a Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer or any of its respective direct or indirect parent companies to the extent described in clause (4) of the second paragraph under the caption Limitation on Restricted Payments ;

(21) cash management obligations and Indebtedness in respect of netting services, employee credit card programs and similar arrangements in connection with cash management and deposit accounts; and

(22) Indebtedness arising from the St. Petersburg Sale and Leaseback.

For purposes of determining compliance with this covenant:

(1) in the event that an item of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock (or any portion thereof) meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of permitted Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock described in clauses (1) through (22) above or is entitled to be incurred pursuant to the first paragraph of this covenant, the Issuer, in their sole discretion, may classify or reclassify such item of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock (or any portion thereof) and will only be required to include the amount and type of such Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock in one of the above clauses; *provided* that all Indebtedness outstanding under the Credit Facilities on the Issue Date will be treated as incurred on the Issue Date under clause (1) of the preceding paragraph; and

(2) at the time of incurrence or reclassification, the Issuer will be entitled to divide and classify an item of Indebtedness in more than one of the types of Indebtedness described in the first and second paragraphs above.

Accrual of interest, the accretion of accreted value and the payment of interest or dividends in the form of additional Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, as applicable, will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock for purposes of this covenant.

For purposes of determining compliance with any U.S. dollar-denominated restriction on the incurrence of Indebtedness, the U.S. dollar-equivalent principal amount of Indebtedness denominated in a foreign currency shall be calculated based on the relevant currency exchange rate in effect on the date such Indebtedness was incurred, in the case of term debt, or first committed, in the case of revolving credit debt; *provided* that if such Indebtedness is incurred to refinance other Indebtedness denominated at the relevant currency, and such refinancing would cause the applicable U.S. dollar-denominated restriction to be exceeded if calculated at the relevant currency exchange rate in effect on the date of such refinancing, such U.S. dollar-denominated restriction shall be deemed not to have been exceeded so long as the principal amount of such refinancing Indebtedness does not exceed the principal amount of such Indebtedness being refinanced.

The principal amount of any Indebtedness incurred to refinance other Indebtedness, if incurred in a different currency from the Indebtedness being refinanced, shall be calculated based on the currency exchange rate applicable to the currencies in which such respective Indebtedness is denominated that is in effect on the date of such refinancing.

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any Restricted Guarantor to, directly or indirectly, incur any Indebtedness (including Acquired Indebtedness) that is subordinated or junior in right of payment to any Indebtedness of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor, as the case may be, unless such Indebtedness is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes or such Restricted Guarantor s Guarantee to the extent and in the same manner as such Indebtedness is subordinated to other Indebtedness of the Issuer or such Restricted Guarantor, as the case may be. The Indenture will not treat (1) unsecured Indebtedness as subordinated or junior to Secured Indebtedness merely because it is unsecured or (2) Senior Indebtedness as subordinated or junior to any other Senior Indebtedness merely because it has a junior priority with respect to the same collateral.

Liens

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any Restricted Guarantor to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien (except Permitted Liens) that secures obligations under any Indebtedness, on any asset or property of the Issuer or Restricted Guarantor, or any income or profits therefrom, or assign or convey any right to receive income therefrom, unless:

(1) in the case of Liens securing Subordinated Indebtedness, the Notes under such Indenture or the related Guarantees, as applicable, are secured by a Lien on such property, assets or proceeds that is senior in priority to such Liens; or

(2) in all other cases, the Notes under the Indenture or the related Guarantees, as applicable, are equally and ratably secured.

The foregoing shall not apply to (a) Liens securing the Notes and the related Guarantees, (b) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred under Credit Facilities, including any letter of credit facility relating thereto, that was permitted by the terms of the Indenture to be incurred pursuant to clause (1) of the second paragraph under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock and (c) Liens incurred to secure Obligations in respect of any Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to the covenant described above under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ; *provided* that, with respect to Liens securing Obligations permitted under this subclause (c), at the time of incurrence and after giving pro forma effect thereto, the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio would be no greater than 4.25 to 1.0.

Any Lien created for the benefit of Holders of the Notes pursuant to this covenant shall be deemed automatically and unconditionally released and discharged upon the release and discharge of each of the Liens described in clauses (1) and (2) above.

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets

The Indenture provides that the Issuer may not consolidate or merge with or into (whether or not the Issuer is the surviving corporation), and may not sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of it and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in one or more related transactions, to any Person unless:

(1) the Issuer is the surviving corporation or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than the Issuer) or the Person to whom such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition will have been made is organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof (such Person, as the case may be, being herein called the *Successor Company*); *provided* that in the case where the Successor Company is not a corporation, a co-obligor of the Notes under such Indenture is a corporation;

(2) the Successor Company, if other than the Issuer, expressly assumes all the obligations of the Issuer under the Notes under such Indenture pursuant to a supplemental indenture or other documents or instruments in form reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee;

(3) immediately after such transaction, no Default exists;

(4) immediately after giving pro forma effect to such transaction and any related financing transactions, as if such transactions had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period,

(a) the Successor Company would be permitted to incur at least \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test set forth in the first paragraph of the covenant described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock, or

(b) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio would be no less than such ratio immediately prior to such transaction;

(5) each Restricted Guarantor, unless it is the other party to the transactions described above, in which case clause (1)(b) of the second succeeding paragraph shall apply, shall have by supplemental indenture confirmed that its Guarantee shall apply to such Person s obligations under the Indenture and Notes; and

(6) the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officer s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger or transfer and such supplemental indentures, if any, comply with the Indenture.

The Successor Company will succeed to, and be substituted for, the Issuer under the Indenture and the Notes, as applicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing clauses (3) and (4),

(1) the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary may consolidate with or merge into or transfer all or part of its properties and assets to the Issuer or Restricted Guarantor; and

(2) the Issuer may merge with an Affiliate of such Issuer solely for the purpose of reorganizing the Issuer in a State of the United States so long as the amount of Indebtedness of the Issuer and the Restricted Subsidiaries is not increased thereby.

Subject to certain limitations described in the Indenture governing release of a Guarantee upon the sale, disposition or transfer of a guarantor, no Restricted Guarantor under an Indenture will, and the Issuer will not permit any Restricted Guarantor to, consolidate or merge with or into (whether or not the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor is the surviving corporation), or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its properties or assets, in one or more related transactions, to any Person unless:

(1)(a) such Restricted Guarantor is the surviving corporation or the Person formed by or surviving any such consolidation or merger (if other than such Restricted Guarantor) or to which such sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition will have been made is organized or existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of organization of such Restricted Guarantor, as the case may be, or the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof (such Restricted Guarantor or such Person, as the case may be, being herein called the *Successor Person*);

(b) the Successor Person, if other than such Restricted Guarantor, expressly assumes all the obligations of such Restricted Guarantor under the Indenture and such Restricted Guarantor s related Guarantee pursuant to supplemental indentures or other documents or instruments in form reasonably satisfactory to the Trustee;

(c) immediately after such transaction, no Default exists; and

(d) the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officer s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger or transfer and such supplemental indentures, if any, comply with the Indenture; or

(2) the transaction does not violate the covenant described under Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales.

In the case of clause (1) above, the Successor Person will succeed to, and be substituted for, such Restricted Guarantor under the Indenture and such Restricted Guarantor s Guarantee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Restricted Guarantor may merge into or transfer all or part of its properties and assets to another Restricted Guarantor or the Issuer.

Transactions with Affiliates

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to, make any payment to, or sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of their properties or assets to, or purchase any property or assets from, or enter into or make or amend any transaction, contract, agreement, understanding, loan, advance or guarantee with, or for the benefit of, any Affiliate of the Issuer (each of the foregoing, an *Affiliate Transaction*) involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$20.0 million, unless:

(1) such Affiliate Transaction is on terms that are not materially less favorable to the relevant Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary than those that would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary with an unrelated Person on an arm s-length basis; and

(2) the Issuer delivers to the Trustee with respect to any Affiliate Transaction or series of related Affiliate Transactions involving aggregate payments or consideration in excess of \$40.0 million, a resolution adopted by the majority of the board of directors of the Issuer approving such Affiliate

Transaction and set forth in an Officer s Certificate certifying that such Affiliate Transaction complies with clause (1) above.

The foregoing provisions do not apply to the following:

(1) transactions between or among the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(2) Restricted Payments permitted by the provisions of the Indenture described above under the covenant Limitation on Restricted Payments and Permitted Investments;

(3) the payment of management, consulting, monitoring, transaction, advisory and termination fees and related expenses and indemnities, directly or indirectly, to the Investors, in each case pursuant to the Sponsor Management Agreement;

(4) the payment of reasonable and customary fees paid to, and indemnities provided on behalf of, directors, officers, employees, members of management or consultants of the Issuer, any direct or indirect parent companies of the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary;

(5) transactions in which the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, as the case may be, delivers to the Trustees a letter from an Independent Financial Advisor stating that such transaction is fair to such Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary from a financial point of view or stating that the terms are not materially less favorable to the relevant Issuer or Restricted Subsidiary than those that would have been obtained in a comparable transaction by the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary with an unrelated Person on an arm s-length basis;

(6) any agreement as in effect as of the Issue Date (other than the Sponsor Management Agreement), or any amendment thereto (so long as any such amendment is not disadvantageous to the Holders when taken as a whole as compared to the applicable agreement as in effect on the Issue Date);

(7) the existence of, or the performance by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of its obligations under the terms of, any stockholders agreement, principal investors agreement (including any registration rights agreement or purchase agreement related thereto) to which it is a party as of the Issue Date and any similar agreements which it may enter into thereafter; *provided*, *however*, that the existence of, or the performance by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of obligations under any future amendment to any such existing agreement or under any similar agreement entered into after the Issue Date shall only be permitted by this clause (7) to the extent that the terms of any such amendment or new agreement are not otherwise materially more disadvantageous to the Holders when taken as a whole;

(8) the Transactions and the payment of all fees and expenses related to the Transactions;

(9) transactions with customers, clients, suppliers, or purchasers or sellers of goods or services, including consulting services, in each case in the ordinary course of business and otherwise in compliance with the terms of the Indenture which are fair to the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, in the reasonable determination of the board of directors of the Issuer or the senior management thereof, or are on terms at least as favorable as might reasonably have been obtained at such time from an unaffiliated party;

(10) the issuance of Equity Interests (other than Disqualified Stock) by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary;

(11) sales of accounts receivable, or participations therein, in connection with any Receivables Facility;

(12) payments by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to any of the Investors made for any financial advisory, financing, underwriting or placement services or in respect of other investment banking activities, including, without limitation, in connection with acquisitions or divestitures which payments are approved by a majority of the board of directors of the Issuer in good faith;

(13) payments or loans (or cancellation of loans) to employees or consultants of the Issuer, any of its direct or indirect parent companies or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and employment agreements, severance arrangements, stock option plans and other similar arrangements with such employees or

consultants which, in each case, are approved by a majority of the board of directors of the Issuer in good faith;

(14) Investments by the Investors in debt securities of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries so long as (i) the investment is being offered generally to other investors on the same or more favorable terms and (ii) the investment constitutes less than 5.0% of the proposed outstanding issue amount of such class of securities; and

(15) payments by the Issuer (and any direct or indirect parent thereof) and its Subsidiaries pursuant to tax sharing arrangements among the issuer (and any such parent) and its Subsidiaries on customary terms to the extent attributable to the ownership or operation of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries; *provided* that in each case the amount of such payments in any fiscal year does not exceed the amount that the Issuer, its Restricted Subsidiaries and its Unrestricted Subsidiaries (to the extent of amounts received from Unrestricted Subsidiaries) would be required to pay in respect of foreign, federal, state and local taxes for such fiscal year were the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries (to the extent described above) to pay such taxes separately from any such parent entity.

Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Restricted Subsidiaries

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors to, directly or indirectly, create or otherwise cause or suffer to exist or become effective any consensual encumbrance or consensual restriction on the ability of any such Restricted Subsidiary to:

(1)(a) pay dividends or make any other distributions to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries on its Capital Stock or with respect to any other interest or participation in, or measured by, its profits, or

(b) pay any Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(2) make loans or advances to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries; or

(3) sell, lease or transfer any of its properties or assets to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries,

except (in each case) for such encumbrances or restrictions existing under or by reason of:

(a) contractual encumbrances or restrictions pursuant to the Senior Credit Facilities and the related documentation and other contractual encumbrances or restrictions in effect on the Issue Date;

(b) the Indenture and the Notes and the Guarantees;

(c) purchase money obligations for property acquired in the ordinary course of business that impose restrictions of the nature discussed in clause (3) above on the property so acquired;

(d) applicable law or any applicable rule, regulation or order;

(e) any agreement or other instrument of a Person acquired by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in existence at the time of such acquisition (but not created in contemplation thereof), which encumbrance or restriction is not applicable to any Person, or the properties or assets of any Person, other than the Person and its Subsidiaries, or the property or assets of the Person and its Subsidiaries, so acquired;

(f) contracts for the sale of assets, including customary restrictions with respect to a Subsidiary of (i) the Issuer or (ii) a Restricted Subsidiary, pursuant to an agreement that has been entered into for the sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the Capital Stock or assets of such Subsidiary that impose restrictions on the assets to be sold;

(g) Secured Indebtedness otherwise permitted to be incurred pursuant to the covenants described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock and Liens that limits the right of the debtor to dispose of the assets securing such Indebtedness;

(h) restrictions on cash or other deposits or net worth imposed by customers under contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(i) other Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock of Foreign Subsidiaries permitted to be incurred subsequent to the Issue Date pursuant to the provisions of the covenant described under Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ;

(j) customary provisions in joint venture agreements and other similar agreements relating solely to such joint venture;

(k) customary provisions contained in leases or licenses of intellectual property and other agreements, in each case, entered into in the ordinary course of business;

(1) any encumbrances or restrictions of the type referred to in clauses (1), (2) and (3) above imposed by any amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings of the contracts, instruments or obligations referred to in clauses (a) through (k) above; *provided* that such amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, increases, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings are, in the good faith judgment of the Issuer, no more restrictive with respect to such encumbrance and other restrictions taken as a whole than those prior to such amendment, modification, restatement, renewal, increase, supplement, refunding, replacement or refinancing; and

(m) restrictions created in connection with any Receivables Facility that, in the good faith determination of the Issuer, are necessary or advisable to effect such Receivables Facility.

Limitation on Guarantees of Indebtedness by Restricted Subsidiaries

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will not permit any of its Restricted Subsidiaries that is a Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of the Issuer (and non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries if such non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries guarantee other capital markets debt securities), other than a Guarantor or a Foreign Subsidiary, to guarantee the payment of any Indebtedness of the Issuer or Restricted Guarantor unless such Restricted Subsidiary, except that with respect to a guarantee of Indebtedness of the Issuer or any Restricted Guarantor, if such Indebtedness is by its express terms subordinated in right of payment to the Notes or a related Guarantee, any such guarantee by such Restricted Subsidiary with respect to such Indebtedness shall be subordinated in right of payment to such Guarantee; *provided* that this covenant shall not be applicable to any guarantee of any Restricted Subsidiary and was not incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such Person becoming a Restricted Subsidiary.

Reports and Other Information

The Indenture provides that for so long as any Notes thereunder are outstanding, unless the Issuer is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act or otherwise complies with such reporting requirements, the Issuer will furnish without cost to each Holder of Notes and file with the Trustee:

(1) within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Issuer thereafter:

(w) audited year-end consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (including balance sheets, statements of operations and statements of cash flows which would be required from a SEC registrant in an Annual Report Form 10-K, including pursuant to Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC) prepared in accordance with GAAP;

(x) the information described in Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act (Management SDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) with respect to such period, to the extent such information would otherwise be required to be filed in an Annual Report on Form 10-K; and

(y) all pro forma and historical information in respect of any significant transaction (as determined in accordance with Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act) consummated more than 75 days prior to the date such information is furnished for the time periods for which such financial information would be required (if the Issuer were subject to the filing requirements of the Exchange Act) in a filing on Form 8-K with the SEC at such time;

(2) within 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Issuer thereafter:

(w) unaudited quarterly consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and its Subsidiaries (including balance sheets, statements of operations and statements of cash flows which would be required from a SEC registrant in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the financial statements required by Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC, and reviewed by the Issuer s Independent Registered Accountant Firm in accordance with SAS 100 or the Attestation Standard AR Section 100 if the Issuer is not a public company) prepared in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal year-end adjustments;

(x) the information described in Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act with respect to such period to the extent such information would otherwise be required to be filed in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; and

(y) all pro forma and historical financial information in respect of any significant transaction (as determined in accordance with Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act) consummated more than 75 days prior to the date such information is furnished to the extent not previously provided and for the time periods such financial information would be required (if the Issuer were subject to the filing requirements of the Exchange Act) in a filing on Form 8-K with the SEC at such time; and

(3) within five Business Days following the occurrence of any of the following events, a description in reasonable detail of such event: (i) any change in the executive officers or directors of the Issuer, (ii) any incurrence of any material on-balance sheet or material off-balance sheet long-term debt obligation or capital lease obligation (each as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act) of or relating to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, (iii) the acceleration of any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, (iv) any issuance or sale by the Issuer of Equity Interests of the Issuer (excluding any issuance or sale pursuant to any stock option plan in the ordinary course of business), (v) the entry into of any agreement by the Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries relating to a transaction that has resulted or may result in a Change of Control, (vi) any resignation or termination of the independent accountants of the Issuer from its independent accountants, in either case, relating to non-reliance on previously issued financial statements, a related audit opinion or a completed interim review and (viii) the completion by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of the acquisition or disposition of a significant amount of assets, otherwise than in the ordinary course of business, in each case to the extent such information would be required from an SEC registrant in a Form 8-K.

In addition, the Issuer agreed in the Indenture that, for so long as any Notes remain outstanding thereunder, it will furnish to the Holders and to securities analysts and prospective investors that certify that they are qualified institutional buyers, upon their request, the information described above as well as all information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

In addition, if at any time any direct or indirect parent becomes a Guarantor (there being no obligation of any such parent to do so), such entity holds no material assets other than cash, Cash Equivalents and the Capital Stock of the Issuer or any other direct or indirect parent of the Issuer (and performs the related incidental activities associated with such ownership) and would comply with the requirements of Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC (or any successor provision), the reports, information and other documents required to be furnished to Holders of the Notes pursuant to this covenant may, at the option of the Issuer, be furnished by and be those of parent rather than the Issuer.

Covenant Suspension

If on any date following the Issue Date (i) any series of Notes have Investment Grade Ratings from both Rating Agencies and (ii) no Default has occurred and is continuing under the Indenture (the occurrence of the events described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) being collectively referred to as a *Covenant Suspension Event*), the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries will not be subject to the following covenants (collectively, the *Suspended Covenants*) in the Indenture:

(1) Repurchase at the Option of Holders ;

(2) Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments ;

(3) Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ;

(4) clause (4) of the first paragraph of Certain Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets ;

(5) Certain Covenants Transactions with Affiliates ;

(6) Certain Covenants Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Restricted Subsidiaries ; and

(7) Certain Covenants Limitation on Guarantees of Indebtedness by Restricted Subsidiaries.

In the event that the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries are not subject to the Suspended Covenants under an Indenture for any period of time as a result of the foregoing, and on any subsequent date (the *Reversion Date*) one or both of the Rating Agencies (a) withdraw their Investment Grade Rating or downgrade the rating assigned to the Notes under the Indenture below an Investment Grade Rating and/or (b) the Issuer or any of their Affiliates enter into an agreement to effect a transaction that would result in a Change of Control and one or more of the Rating Agencies indicate that if consummated, such transaction (alone or together with any related recapitalization or refinancing transactions) would cause such Rating Agency to withdraw its Investment Grade Rating or downgrade the ratings assigned to such Notes below an Investment Grade Rating, then the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries will thereafter again be subject to the Suspended Covenants under the Indenture with respect to future events, including, without limitation, a proposed transaction described in clause (b) above.

The period of time between the Suspension Date and the Reversion Date is referred to in this description as the *Suspension Period*. Additionally, upon the occurrence of a Covenant Suspension Event, the amount of Excess Proceeds from Net Proceeds shall be reset at zero. In the event of any such reinstatement, no action taken or omitted to be taken by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries prior to such reinstatement and available will give rise to a Default or Event of Default under the Indenture with respect to Notes; *provided* that (1) with respect to Restricted Payments made after any such reinstatement, the amount of Restricted Payments made will be calculated as though the covenant described under the caption Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments had been in effect prior to, but not during the Suspension Period, *provided* that any Subsidiaries designated as Unrestricted Subsidiaries during the Suspension Period shall automatically become Restricted Subsidiaries on the Reversion Date (subject to the Issuer s right to subsequently designate them as Unrestricted Subsidiaries in compliance with the covenants set forth under Certain Covenants) and (2) all Indebtedness incurred, or Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock issued, during the Suspension Period will be classified as having been incurred or issued pursuant to clause (4) of the second paragraph of Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock.

There can be no assurance that any series of the Notes will ever achieve or maintain Investment Grade Ratings.

Events of Default and Remedies

The Indenture provides that each of the following is an Event of Default:

(1) default in payment when due and payable, upon redemption, acceleration or otherwise, of principal of, or premium, if any, on the Notes;

(2) default for 30 days or more in the payment when due of interest on or with respect to the Notes;

(3) failure by the Issuer or any Guarantor for 60 days after receipt of written notice given by the Trustee or the Holders of not less than 30% in principal amount of the Notes to comply with any of its obligations, covenants or agreements (other than a default referred to in clauses (1) and (2) above) contained in the Indenture or the Notes;

(4) default under any mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there is issued or by which there is secured or evidenced any Indebtedness for money borrowed by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries or the payment of which is guaranteed by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, other than Indebtedness owed to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, whether such Indebtedness or guarantee now exists or is created after the issuance of the Notes, if both:

(a) such default either results from the failure to pay any principal of such Indebtedness at its stated final maturity (after giving effect to any applicable grace periods) or relates to an obligation other than the obligation to pay principal of any such Indebtedness at its stated final maturity and results in the holder or holders of such Indebtedness causing such Indebtedness to become due prior to its stated maturity; and

(b) the principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at stated final maturity (after giving effect to any applicable grace periods), or the maturity of which has been so accelerated, aggregate \$50.0 million or more at any one time outstanding;

(5) failure by the Issuer or a Significant Party to pay final non-appealable judgments aggregating in excess of \$50.0 million, which final judgments remain unpaid, undischarged and unstayed for a period of more than 60 days after such judgment becomes final, and in the event such judgment is covered by insurance, an enforcement proceeding have been commenced by any creditor upon such judgment or decree which is not promptly stayed;

(6) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency with respect to the Issuer or any Significant Party; or

(7) the Guarantee of any Significant Party shall for any reason cease to be in full force and effect or be declared null and void or any responsible officer of any Guarantor that is a Significant Party, as the case may be, denies that it has any further liability under its Guarantee or gives notice to such effect, other than by reason of the termination of the Indenture or the release of any such Guarantee in accordance with the Indenture.

If any Event of Default (other than of a type specified in clause (6) above with respect to the Issuer) occurs and is continuing under the Indenture, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 30% in principal amount of the then total outstanding Notes under the Indenture may declare the principal, premium, if any, interest and any other monetary obligations on all the then outstanding Notes to be due and payable immediately.

Upon the effectiveness of such declaration, such principal and interest will be due and payable immediately. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Event of Default arising under clause (6) of the first paragraph of this section with respect to the Issuer, all outstanding Notes thereunder will become due and payable without further action or notice with respect to the Indenture. The Indenture provides that the Trustee may withhold from the Holders notice of any continuing Default, except a Default relating to the payment of principal, premium, if any, or interest, if it determines that withholding notice is in their interest. In addition, the Trustee shall have no obligation to accelerate the Notes if in the best judgment of such Trustee acceleration is not in the best interest of the Holders of such Notes.

The Indenture provides that the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Notes thereunder by notice to the Trustee may on behalf of the Holders of all such Notes waive any existing Default and its consequences under the Indenture except a continuing Default in the payment of interest on, premium, if any, or the principal of any Note held by a non-consenting Holder. In the event of any Event of Default specified in clause (4) above, such Event of Default and all consequences thereof (excluding any resulting payment default, other than as a result of acceleration of the Notes) shall be annulled, waived and rescinded, automatically and without any action by the Trustee or the Holders, if within 20 days after such Event of Default arose:

(1) the Indebtedness or guarantee that is the basis for such Event of Default has been discharged; or

(2) holders thereof have rescinded or waived the acceleration, notice or action (as the case may be) giving rise to such Event of Default; or

(3) the default that is the basis for such Event of Default has been cured.

Subject to the provisions of the Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee thereunder, in case an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers under the Indenture at the request or direction of any of the Holders of the Notes thereunder unless the Holders have offered to the Trustee reasonable indemnity or security against any loss, liability or expense. Except to enforce the right to receive payment of principal, premium (if any) or interest when due, no Holder of a Note may pursue any remedy with respect to the Indenture or Notes unless:

(1) such Holder has previously given the Trustee thereunder notice that an Event of Default is continuing;

(2) Holders of at least 30% in principal amount of the total outstanding Notes have requested the Trustee to pursue the remedy;

(3) Holders of the Notes have offered the Trustee reasonable security or indemnity against any loss, liability or expense;

(4) the Trustee has not complied with such request within 60 days after the receipt thereof and the offer of security or indemnity; and

(5) Holders of a majority in principal amount at maturity of the total outstanding Notes have not given the Trustee a direction inconsistent with such request within such 60-day period.

Subject to certain restrictions, under the Indenture the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the total outstanding Notes thereunder are given the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee thereunder or of exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee. The Trustee, however, may refuse to follow any direction that conflicts with law or the Indenture or that the Trustee determines is unduly prejudicial to the rights of any other Holder of a Note or that would involve a Trustee in personal liability.

No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees and Stockholders

No director, officer, employee, incorporator or stockholder of the Issuer or any Guarantor or any of their parent companies shall have any liability for any obligations of the Issuer or the Guarantors under the Notes, the Guarantees or the Indenture or for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of such obligations or their creation. Each Holder by accepting Notes waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration for issuance of the Notes. Such waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities under the federal securities laws and it is the view of the SEC that such a waiver is against public policy.

Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

The obligations of the Issuer and the Guarantors under the Indenture will terminate (other than certain obligations) and will be released upon payment in full of all of the Notes issued thereunder. The Issuer may, at its option and at any time, elect to have all of its obligations discharged with respect to the Notes and have the Issuer's and each Guarantor's obligations discharged with respect to its Guarantee with respect to the Notes (*Legal Defeasance*) and cure all then existing Events of Default with respect to those Notes except for:

(1) the rights of Holders of Notes to receive payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes when such payments are due solely out of the trust created pursuant to the Indenture;

(2) the Issuer s obligations with respect to the Notes concerning issuing temporary Notes, registration of such Notes, mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payment and money for security payments held in trust;

(3) the rights, powers, trusts, duties and immunities of the Trustees for the Notes, and the Issuer s obligations in connection therewith; and

(4) the Legal Defeasance provisions of the Indenture.

In addition, the Issuer may, at its option and at any time, elect to have its obligations and those of each Guarantor released with respect to substantially all of the restrictive covenants in the Indenture (*Covenant Defeasance*) and thereafter any omission to comply with such obligations shall not constitute a Default with respect to the Notes issued thereunder. In the event Covenant Defeasance occurs, certain events (not including bankruptcy, receivership, rehabilitation and insolvency events pertaining to the Issuer) described under Events of Default and Remedies will no longer constitute an Event of Default with respect to the Notes.

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance with respect to the Notes:

(1) the Issuer must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes cash in U.S. dollars, Government Securities, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants, to pay the principal amount of, premium, if any, and interest due on the Notes on the stated maturity date or on the redemption date, as the case may be, of such principal amount, premium, if any, or interest on such Notes and the Issuer must specify whether such Notes are being defeased to maturity or to a particular redemption date;

(2) in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions,

(a) the Issuer has received from, or there has been published by, the United States Internal Revenue Service a ruling, or

(b) since the issuance of the Notes, there has been a change in the applicable U.S. federal income tax law,

in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such Opinion of Counsel shall confirm that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions, the Holders of the Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as applicable, as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;

(3) in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Opinion of Counsel reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that, subject to customary assumptions and exclusions, the Holders of the Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax

purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to such tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;

(4) no Default (other than that resulting from borrowing funds to be applied to make such deposit and the granting of Liens in connection therewith) shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit;

(5) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under the Senior Credit Facilities or any other material agreement or instrument (other than the Indenture) to which, the Issuer or any Restricted Guarantor is a party or by which the Issuer or any Restricted Guarantor is bound;

(6) the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officer s Certificate stating that the deposit was not made by the Issuer with the intent of defeating, hindering, delaying or defrauding any creditors of the Issuer or Restricted Guarantor or others; and

(7) the Issuer shall have delivered to the Trustee an Officer s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel (which Opinion of Counsel may be subject to customary assumptions and exclusions) each stating that all conditions precedent provided for or relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance, as the case may be, have been complied with.

Satisfaction and Discharge

The Indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect as to all Notes issued thereunder, when either:

(1) all Notes issued thereunder theretofore authenticated and delivered, except lost, stolen or destroyed Notes which have been replaced or paid and Notes for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in trust, have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or

(2) (a) all Notes issued thereunder not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable by reason of the making of a notice of redemption or otherwise, will become due and payable within one year or are to be called for redemption and redeemed within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption by the Trustee in the name, and at the expense, of the Issuer, and the Issuer or a Guarantor has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee as trust funds in trust solely for the benefit of the Holders of the Notes cash in U.S. dollars, Government Securities, or a combination thereof in such amounts as will be sufficient without consideration of any reinvestment of interest to pay and discharge the entire indebtedness on the Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation for principal, premium, if any, and accrued interest to the date of maturity or redemption;

(b) no Default (other than that resulting from borrowing funds to be applied to make such deposit) with respect to the Indenture or the Notes shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit or shall occur as a result of such deposit and such deposit will not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under the Senior Credit Facilities, or any other material agreement or instrument governing Indebtedness (other than the Indenture) to which the Issuer or a Guarantor is a party or by which the Issuer or a Guarantor is bound;

(c) the Issuer has paid or caused to be paid all sums payable by it under the Indenture; and

(d) the Issuer has delivered irrevocable instructions to the Trustee to apply the deposited money toward the payment of such Notes at maturity or the redemption date, as the case may be.

In addition, the Issuer must deliver an Officer s Certificate and an Opinion of Counsel to the Trustee stating that all conditions precedent to satisfaction and discharge have been satisfied.

Amendment, Supplement and Waiver

Except as provided in the next two succeeding paragraphs, the Indenture, any Guarantee and the Notes may be amended or supplemented with the consent of the Holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, including consents obtained in connection with a purchase of, or tender offer or exchange offer for Notes, and any existing Default or compliance with any provision of the Indenture or the Notes may be waived with the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding Notes, other than Notes beneficially owned by the Issuer or their Affiliates (including consents obtained in connection with a purchase of or tender offer or exchange offer for the Notes).

The Indenture provides that, without the consent of each affected Holder of Notes, an amendment or waiver may not, with respect to such Notes held by a non-consenting Holder:

(1) reduce the principal amount of such Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

(2) reduce the principal amount of or change the fixed final maturity of any such Note or alter or waive the provisions with respect to the redemption of such Notes (other than provisions relating to the covenants described above under the caption Repurchase at the Option of Holders);

(3) reduce the rate of or change the time for payment of interest on any such Note;

(4) waive a Default in the payment of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on such Notes (except a rescission of acceleration of the Notes by the Holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Notes and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration) or in respect of a covenant or provision contained in the Indenture or any Guarantee which cannot be amended or modified without the consent of all Holders;

(5) make any Note payable in money other than that stated therein;

(6) make any change in the provisions of the Indenture relating to waivers of past Defaults or the rights of Holders to receive payments of principal of or premium, if any, or interest on the Notes;

(7) make any change in these amendment and waiver provisions;

(8) impair the right of any Holder to receive payment of principal of, or interest on such Holder s Notes on or after the due dates therefor or to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on or with respect to such Holder s Notes;

(9) make any change to the ranking of the Notes that would adversely affect the Holders; or

(10) except as expressly permitted by the Indenture, modify the Guarantees of any Significant Party in any manner adverse to the Holders of the Notes.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer and the Trustee may amend or supplement the Indenture and the Notes and the Issuer, the Trustee and the Guarantors may amend or supplement any Guarantee issued under the Indenture without the consent of any Holder;

(1) to cure any ambiguity, omission, mistake, defect or inconsistency;

(2) to provide for uncertificated Notes in addition to or in place of certificated Notes;

(3) to comply with the covenant relating to mergers, consolidations and sales of assets;

(4) to provide the assumption of the Issuer s or Guarantor s obligations to the Holders;

(5) to make any change that would provide any additional rights or benefits to the Holders or that does not adversely affect the legal rights under the Indenture of any such Holder in any material respect;

(6) to add covenants for the benefit of the Holders or to surrender any right or power conferred upon the Issuer or Guarantor;

(7) to comply with requirements of the SEC in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the Indenture under the Trust Indenture Act;

(8) to evidence and provide for the acceptance and appointment under the Indenture of a successor Trustee thereunder pursuant to the requirements thereof;

(9) to add a Guarantor under the Indenture;

(10) to provide for the issuance of exchange notes or private exchange notes, which are identical to the Exchange Notes except that they are not freely tradeable;

(11) to conform the text of the Indenture or the Guarantees or the Notes issued thereunder to any provision of this Description of the Notes to the extent that such provision in this Description of the Notes was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision of the Indenture, Guarantee or Notes; or

(12) making any amendment to the provisions of the Indenture relating to the transfer and legending of Notes as permitted by the Indenture, including, without limitation, to facilitate the issuance and administration of the Notes; *provided*, *however*, that (i) compliance with the Indenture as so amended would not result in Notes being transferred in violation of the Securities Act or any applicable securities law and (ii) such amendment does not materially and adversely affect the rights of Holders to transfer Notes.

The consent of the Holders is not necessary under the Indenture to approve the particular form of any proposed amendment. It is sufficient if such consent approves the substance of the proposed amendment.

Notices

Notices given by publication will be deemed given on the first date on which publication is made and notices given by first-class mail, postage prepaid, will be deemed given five calendar days after mailing.

Concerning the Trustee

The Indenture contains certain limitations on the rights of the Trustee thereunder, should it become a creditor of the Issuer, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases, or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. The Trustee is permitted to engage in other transactions; however, if it acquires any conflicting interest it must eliminate such conflict within 90 days, apply to the SEC for permission to continue or resign.

The Indenture provides that the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Notes have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for exercising any remedy available to the Trustee, subject to certain exceptions. The Indenture provides that in case an Event of Default shall occur (which shall not be cured), the Trustee will be required, in the exercise of its power, to use the degree of care of a prudent person in the conduct of his own affairs. Subject to such provisions, Trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request of any Holder of Notes, unless such Holder shall have offered to the Trustee security and indemnity satisfactory to it against any loss, liability or expense.

Governing Law

The Indenture, the Notes and any Guarantee are governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

Certain Definitions

Set forth below are certain defined terms used in the Indenture. For purposes of the Indenture, unless otherwise specifically indicated, the term consolidated with respect to any Person refers to such Person

consolidated with Restricted Subsidiaries, and excludes from such consolidation any Unrestricted Subsidiary as if such Unrestricted Subsidiary were not an Affiliate of such Person.

Acquired Indebtedness means, with respect to any specified Person,

(1) Indebtedness of any other Person existing at the time such other Person is merged with or into or became a Restricted Subsidiary of such specified Person, including Indebtedness incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other Person merging with or into or becoming a Restricted Subsidiary of such specified Person, and

(2) Indebtedness secured by a Lien encumbering any asset acquired by such specified Person.

Affiliate of any specified Person means any other Person directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with such specified Person. For purposes of this definition, control (including, with correlative meanings, the terms controlling, controlled by and under common control with), as used with respect to any Person, shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement or otherwise.

Applicable Premium means, with respect to any Note on any Redemption Date, the greater of:

(a) 1.0% of the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date; and

(b) the excess, if any, of (A) the present value at such Redemption Date of (I) the redemption price of such Note at November 15, 2011 (such redemption price being set forth in the table appearing above under the caption Optional Redemption), *plus* (II) all required interest payments (calculated based on the cash interest rate) due on such Note through November 15, 2011 (excluding accrued but unpaid interest to the Redemption Date), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate as of such Redemption Date plus 50 basis points; *over* (B) the principal amount of such Note on such Redemption Date.

Asset Sale means:

(1) the sale, conveyance, transfer or other disposition, whether in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, of property or assets (including by way of a Sale and Lease-Back Transaction) of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (each referred to in this definition as a *disposition*); or

(2) the issuance or sale of Equity Interests of any Restricted Subsidiary, whether in a single transaction or a series of related transactions;

in each case, other than:

(a) disposition of Cash Equivalents or Investment Grade Securities or securities constituting customer funds or obsolete or worn out property or any disposition of inventory or goods (or other assets) held for sale in the ordinary course of business;

(b) the disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries in a manner permitted pursuant to the provisions described above under Certain Covenants Merger, Consolidation or Sale of All or Substantially All Assets or any disposition that constitutes a Change of Control pursuant to the Indenture;

(c) the making of any Restricted Payment or Permitted Investment that is permitted to be made, and is made, under the covenant described above under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments ;

(d) any disposition of assets or issuance or sale of Equity Interests of a Restricted Subsidiary in any transaction or series of transactions with an aggregate fair market value of less than \$25.0 million;

(e) any disposition of property or assets or issuance of securities by a Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer to the Issuer or by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer to another Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer;

(f) to the extent allowable under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code any exchange of like property (excluding any boot thereon) for use in a Similar Business;

(g) the sale, lease, assignment or sub-lease of any real or personal property in the ordinary course of business;

(h) any issuance or sale of Equity Interests in, or Indebtedness or other securities of, an Unrestricted Subsidiary;

(i) foreclosures on assets;

(j) sales of accounts receivable, or participations therein, in connection with any Receivables Facility;

(k) any financing transaction with respect to property built or acquired by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary after the Issue Date, including Sale and Lease-Back Transactions and asset securitizations permitted by the Indenture, and the St. Petersburg Sale and Leaseback;

(l) sales of accounts receivable in connection with the collection or compromise thereof;

(m) transfers of property subject to casualty or condemnation proceedings (including in lieu thereof) upon the receipt of the net cash proceeds therefor; *provided* such net cash proceeds are deemed to be Net Proceeds and are applied in accordance with the second paragraph under Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales ;

(n) the abandonment of intellectual property rights in the ordinary course of business, which in the reasonable good faith determination of the Issuer are not material to the conduct of the business of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries taken as a whole; and

(o) voluntary terminations of Hedging Obligations.

Business Day means each day which is not a Legal Holiday.

Capital Stock means:

(1) in the case of a corporation, corporate stock;

(2) in the case of an association or business entity, any and all shares, interests, participations, rights or other equivalents (however designated) of corporate stock;

(3) in the case of a partnership or limited liability company, partnership or membership interests (whether general or limited); and

(4) any other interest or participation that confers on a Person the right to receive a share of the profits and losses of, or distributions of assets of, the issuing Person.

Capitalized Lease Obligation means, at the time any determination thereof is to be made, the amount of the liability in respect of a capital lease that would at such time be required to be capitalized and reflected as a liability on a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) in accordance with GAAP.

Cash Equivalents means:

(1) United States dollars or Canadian dollars;

(2)(a) euro, or any national currency of any participating member state of the EMU; or

(b) in the case of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary, such local currencies held by them from time to time in the ordinary course of business;

(3) issued or directly and fully and unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the U.S. government or any agency or instrumentality thereof the securities of which are unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation of such government with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition;

Table of Contents

(4) certificates of deposit, time deposits and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition, bankers acceptances with maturities not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case with any commercial bank having capital and surplus of not less than \$500.0 million in the case of U.S. banks and \$100.0 million (or the U.S. dollar equivalent as of the date of determination) in the case of non-U.S. banks;

(5) repurchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in clauses (3) and (4) entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (4) above;

(6) commercial paper rated at least P-1 by Moody s or at least A-1 by S&P and in each case maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof;

(7) marketable short-term money market and similar securities having a rating of at least P-2 or A-2 from either Moody s or S&P, respectively (or, if at any time neither Moody s nor S&P shall be rating such obligations, an equivalent rating from another Rating Agency), and in each case maturing within 24 months after the date of creation thereof and institutional money market funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940;

(8) readily marketable direct obligations issued by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof having an Investment Grade Rating from either Moody s or S&P with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition;

(9) Indebtedness or Preferred Stock issued by Persons with a rating of A or higher from S&P or A2 or higher from Moody s with maturities of 24 months or less from the date of acquisition;

(10) Investments with average maturities of 12 months or less from the date of acquisition in money market funds rated AAA- (or the equivalent thereof) or better by S&P or Aaa3 (or the equivalent thereof) or better by Moody s; and

(11) investment funds investing 95% of their assets in securities of the types described in clauses (1) through (10) above.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Cash Equivalents shall include amounts denominated in currencies other than those set forth in clauses (1) and (2) above, *provided* that such amounts are converted into any currency listed in clauses (1) and (2) as promptly as practicable and in any event within ten Business Days following the receipt of such amounts.

Cash Interest has the meaning set forth under Principal, Maturity and Interest.

Change of Control means the occurrence of any of the following:

(1) sale, lease or transfer, in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any Person other than a Permitted Holder; or

(2) the Issuer becomes aware of (by way of a report or any other filing pursuant to Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, proxy, vote, written notice or otherwise) the acquisition by any Person or group acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding or disposing of securities (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act), other than the Permitted Holders, in a single transaction or in a related series of transactions, by way of merger, consolidation or other business combination or purchase of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act, or any successor provision) of more than 50% of the total voting power of the Voting Stock of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent companies *provided* that for purposes of calculating the beneficial ownership of any group, any Voting Stock of which any Permitted Holder is the beneficial owner shall not be included in determining the amount of Voting Stock beneficially owned by such group.

Comdata means Comdata Network, Inc.

Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the total amount of depreciation and amortization expense, including the amortization of deferred financing fees and capitalized software expenditures and amortization of unrecognized prior service costs and actuarial gains and losses related to pensions and other post-employment benefits, of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period on a consolidated basis and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP.

Consolidated Indebtedness means, as of any date of determination, the sum, without duplication, of (1) the total amount of Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, plus (2) the greater of the aggregate liquidation value and maximum fixed repurchase price without regard to any change of control or redemption premiums of all Disqualified Stock of the Issuer and the Restricted Guarantors and all Preferred Stock of its Restricted Subsidiaries that are not Guarantors, in each case, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

Consolidated Interest Expense means, with respect to any Person for any period, without duplication, the sum of:

(1) consolidated interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent such expense was deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income (including (a) amortization of original issue discount resulting from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than par, (b) all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit or bankers acceptances, (c) non-cash interest expense (but excluding any non-cash interest expense attributable to the movement in the mark to market valuation of Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments pursuant to GAAP), (d) the interest component of Capitalized Lease Obligations, and (e) net payments, if any, pursuant to interest rate Hedging Obligations with respect to Indebtedness, and excluding (w) any Special Interest, (x) amortization of deferred financing fees, debt issuance costs, commissions, fees and expenses, (y) any expensing of bridge, commitment and other financing fees and (z) commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges (including any interest expense) related to any Receivables Facility); *plus*

(2) consolidated capitalized interest of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, whether paid or accrued; less

(3) interest income of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period (other than interest and investment income earned on customer funds).

For purposes of this definition, interest on a Capitalized Lease Obligation shall be deemed to accrue at an interest rate reasonably determined by the Issuer to be the rate of interest implicit in such Capitalized Lease Obligation in accordance with GAAP.

Consolidated Leverage Ratio means, as of the date of determination, the ratio of (a) the Consolidated Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries on such date less the amount of cash and equivalents in excess of any Restricted Cash that would be stated on the balance sheet of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries and held by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of such date of determination, as determined in accordance with GAAP, to (b) EBITDA of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the most recently ended four fiscal quarters ending immediately prior to such date for which internal financial statements are available.

In the event that the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary (i) incurs, redeems, retires or extinguishes any Indebtedness or (ii) issues or redeems Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock subsequent to the commencement of the period for which the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is being calculated but prior to or simultaneously with the event for which the calculation of the Consolidated Leverage Ratio is made (the *Consolidated Leverage Ratio Calculation Date*), then the Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect to such incurrence, redemption, retirement or extinguishment of Indebtedness, or such issuance or redemption of Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, as if the same had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of making the computation referred to above, Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations and discontinued operations (as determined in accordance with GAAP), in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business made (or committed to be made pursuant to a definitive agreement) during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Consolidated Leverage Ratio Calculation Date, and other operational changes that the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has determined to make and/or made during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Consolidated Leverage Ratio Calculation Date shall be calculated on a pro forma basis in accordance with GAAP assuming that all such Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations, discontinued operations and other operational changes had occurred on the first day of the four-quarter reference period. If since the beginning of such period any Person that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries since the beginning of such period any Person that subsequently became a any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business, that would have required adjustment pursuant to this definition, then the Consolidated Leverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect thereto for such period as if such Investment, acquisition, disposition or operational change had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, the pro forma calculations shall be made in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer.

For the purposes of this definition, any amount in a currency other than U.S. dollars will be converted to U.S. dollars based on the average exchange rate for such currency for the most recent twelve month period immediately prior to the date of determination determined in a manner consistent with that used in calculating EBITDA for the applicable period.

Consolidated Net Income means, with respect to any Person for any period, the aggregate of the Net Income of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, on a consolidated basis, and otherwise determined in accordance with GAAP; *provided*, *however*, that, without duplication,

(1) after-tax effect of extraordinary, non-recurring or unusual gains or losses (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) or expenses (including relating to the Transactions), severance, legal settlements, relocation costs, curtailments or modifications to pension and post-retirement employee benefit plans, the amount of any restructuring charges or reserves deducted, including any restructuring costs incurred in connection with acquisitions, costs related to the closure, opening and/or consolidation of facilities, retention charges, systems establishment costs, spin-off costs, transition costs associated with transferring operations offshore and other transition costs, signing, retention and completion bonuses, conversion costs and excess pension charges and consulting fees incurred in connection with any of the foregoing shall be excluded,

(2) the Net Income for such period shall not include the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles during such period and adjust for the one-time or out-of-period impact of any accounting policy changes,

(3) any after-tax effect of income (loss) from disposed or discontinued operations and any net after-tax gains or losses on disposal of disposed, abandoned or discontinued operations shall be excluded,

(4) any after-tax effect of gains or losses (less all fees and expenses relating thereto) attributable to asset dispositions other than in the ordinary course of business, as determined in good faith by the Issuer, shall be excluded,

(5) the Net Income for such period of any Person that is not a Subsidiary, or is an Unrestricted Subsidiary, or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting, shall be excluded; *provided* that Consolidated Net Income of such Person shall be increased by the amount of dividends or distributions or

other payments that are actually paid in cash (or to the extent converted into cash) to such Person or a Subsidiary thereof that is the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary in respect of such period,

(6) solely for the purpose of determining the amount available for Restricted Payments under clause (3)(a) of the first paragraph of Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments, the Net Income for such period of any Restricted Subsidiary (other than any Guarantor) shall be excluded if the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by that Restricted Subsidiary of its Net Income is not at the date of determination wholly permitted without any prior governmental approval (which has not been obtained) or, directly or indirectly, by the operation of the terms of its charter or any agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or governmental regulation applicable to that Restricted Subsidiary or its stockholders, unless such restriction with respect to the payment of dividends or similar distributions has been legally waived, *provided* that Consolidated Net Income of the Issuer will be increased by the amount of dividends or other distributions or other payments actually paid in cash (or to the extent converted into cash) to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary thereof in respect of such period, to the extent not already included therein,

(7) effects of purchase accounting adjustments (including the effects of such adjustments pushed down to such Person and such Subsidiaries) in component amounts required or permitted by GAAP, resulting from the application of purchase accounting in relation to the Transactions or any consummated acquisition or the amortization or write-off of any amounts thereof, net of taxes, shall be excluded,

(8) any after-tax effect of income (loss) from the early extinguishment of Indebtedness or Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments (other than those arising from Comdata fuel derivative arrangements) shall be excluded,

(9) any impairment charge or asset write-off, in each case, pursuant to GAAP and the amortization of intangibles arising pursuant to GAAP shall be excluded,

(10) any non-cash compensation expense recorded from grants of stock appreciation or similar rights, stock options, restricted stock or other rights and any non-cash charges associated with the rollover, acceleration or payout of Equity Interests by management of the Company or any of its direct or indirect parent companies in connection with Transactions shall be excluded,

(11) any fees and expenses incurred during such period, or any amortization thereof for such period, in each case, regardless of how characterized under GAAP, in connection with the Transactions and any acquisition, Investment, Asset Sale, issuance or repayment of Indebtedness, issuance of Equity Interests, refinancing transaction or amendment or modification of any debt instrument (in each case, including any such transaction consummated prior to the Issue Date and any such transaction undertaken but not completed) and any charges or non-recurring merger costs incurred during such period as a result of any such transaction shall be excluded,

(12) accruals and reserves that are established within twelve months after the Issue Date that are so required to be established as a result of the Transactions in accordance with GAAP shall be excluded; and

(13) to the extent actually reimbursed, or so long as the Issuer had made a determination that there exists reasonable evidence that such will be reimbursed by the insurer and only to the extent that such amount is (a) not denied by the applicable carrier in writing within 180 days and (b) in fact reimbursed within 365 days of the date of such evidence (with a deduction for any amount so added back to the extent not so reimbursed within 365 days), expenses with respect to liability or casualty events or business interruptions shall be excluded.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the purpose of the covenant described under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments only (other than clause (3)(d) thereof), there shall be excluded from Consolidated Net Income any income arising from any sale or other disposition of Restricted Investments made by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, any repurchases and redemptions of Restricted Investments from the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries, any advances which constitute Restricted Investments by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, any sale of the stock of an Unrestricted Subsidiary

or any distribution or dividend from an Unrestricted Subsidiary, in each case only to the extent such amounts increase the amount of Restricted Payments permitted under such covenant pursuant to clause (3)(d) thereof.

Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio means, as of the date of determination, the ratio of (a) the Consolidated Indebtedness of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries on such date that is secured by Liens less the amount of cash and equivalents in excess of any Restricted Cash that would be stated on the balance sheet of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries and held by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries as of such date of determination, as determined in accordance with GAAP, to (b) EBITDA of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for the most recently ended four fiscal quarters ending immediately prior to such date for which internal financial statements are available.

In the event that the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary (i) incurs, redeems, retires or extinguishes any Indebtedness or (ii) issues or redeems Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock subsequent to the commencement of the period for which the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio is being calculated but prior to or simultaneously with the event for which the calculation of the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio is made (the *Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio Calculation Date*), then the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect to such incurrence, redemption, retirement or extinguishment of Indebtedness, or such issuance or redemption of Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, as if the same had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of making the computation referred to above, Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations and discontinued operations (as determined in accordance with GAAP), in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business, made (or committed to be made pursuant to a definitive agreement) during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio Calculation Date, and other operational changes that the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has determined to make and/or made during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio Calculation Date shall be calculated on a pro forma basis in accordance with GAAP assuming that all such Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations, discontinued operations and other operational changes had occurred on the first day of the four-quarter reference period. If since the beginning of such period any Person that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries since the beginning of such period shall have made any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business, that would have required adjustment pursuant to this definition, then the Consolidated Secured Debt Ratio shall be calculated for such period as if such Investment, acquisition or operational change had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, the pro forma calculations shall be made in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer.

For the purposes of this definition, any amount in a currency other than U.S. dollars will be converted to U.S. dollars based on the average exchange rate for such currency for the most recent twelve month period immediately prior to the date of determination determined in a manner consistent with that used in calculating EBITDA for the applicable period.

Contingent Obligations means, with respect to any Person, any obligation of such Person guaranteeing any leases, dividends or other obligations that do not constitute Indebtedness (*primary obligations*) of any other Person (the *primary obligor*) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, including, without limitation, any obligation of such Person, whether or not contingent,

(1) to purchase any such primary obligation or any property constituting direct or indirect security therefor,

- (2) to advance or supply funds
- (a) for the purchase or payment of any such primary obligation, or

(b) to maintain working capital or equity capital of the primary obligor or otherwise to maintain the net worth or solvency of the primary obligor, or

(3) to purchase property, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the owner of any such primary obligation of the ability of the primary obligor to make payment of such primary obligation against loss in respect thereof.

Credit Facilities means, with respect to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries, one or more debt facilities, including the Senior Credit Facilities, or other financing arrangements (including, without limitation, commercial paper facilities, Receivable Facilities or indentures) providing for revolving credit loans, term loans, letters of credit or other long-term indebtedness, including any notes, mortgages, guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements or refundings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities or Receivable Facilities that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount permitted to be borrowed thereunder or alters the maturity thereof or adds Restricted Subsidiaries as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders.

Default means any event that is, or with the passage of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default.

Designated Non-cash Consideration means the fair market value of non-cash consideration received by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary in connection with an Asset Sale that is so designated as Designated Non-cash Consideration pursuant to an Officer s Certificate, setting forth the basis of such valuation, executed by the principal financial officer of the Issuer, less the amount of cash or Cash Equivalents received in connection with a subsequent sale of or collection on such Designated Non-cash Consideration.

Designated Preferred Stock means Preferred Stock of the Issuer, a Restricted Subsidiary or any direct or indirect parent corporation of the Issuer (in each case other than Disqualified Stock) that is issued for cash (other than to the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary or an employee stock ownership plan or trust established by the Issuer or its Subsidiaries) and is so designated as Designated Preferred Stock, pursuant to an Officer s Certificate executed by the principal financial officer of the Issuer, on the issuance date thereof, the cash proceeds of which are excluded from the calculation set forth in clause (3) of the first paragraph of the Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments covenant.

Disqualified Stock means, with respect to any Person and series of Notes, any Capital Stock of such Person which, by its terms, or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is putable or exchangeable, or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale) pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof (other than solely as a result of a change of control or asset sale), in whole or in part, in each case prior to the date 91 days after the earlier of the maturity date of such Notes or the date such Notes are no longer outstanding; *provided, however*, that if such Capital Stock is issued to any plan for the benefit of employees of the Issuer or its Subsidiaries or by any such plan to such employees, such Capital Stock shall not constitute Disqualified Stock solely because it may be required to be repurchased in order to satisfy applicable statutory or regulatory obligations.

Domestic Subsidiary means any Subsidiary of the Issuer that is organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof.

EBITDA means, with respect to any Person for any period, the Consolidated Net Income of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period

(1) increased (without duplication) by:

(a) provision for taxes based on income or profits or capital gains, including, without limitation, state, franchise and similar taxes, foreign withholding taxes and foreign unreimbursed value added taxes (including in each case penalties and interest related to such taxes or arising from tax examinations) of such Person and such Subsidiaries paid or accrued during such period deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(b) Fixed Charges of such Person and such Subsidiaries for such period (including (x) net losses on Hedging Obligations or other derivative instruments entered into for the purpose of hedging interest rate risk, (y) fees payable in respect of letters of credit and (z) costs of surety bonds in connection with financing activities, in each case, to the extent included in Fixed Charges) to the extent the same was deducted (and not added back) in calculating such Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(c) Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense of such Person and such Subsidiaries for such period to the extent the same were deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(d) any expenses or charges (other than depreciation or amortization expense) related to any Equity Offering, Permitted Investment, acquisition, disposition, recapitalization or the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness (and any amendment or modification to any such transaction) permitted to be incurred by the Indenture (including a refinancing thereof) (whether or not successful), including (i) such fees, expenses or charges related to the offering of the Notes and the Senior Credit Facilities, (ii) any amendment or other modification of the Notes and (iii) commissions, discounts, yield and other fees and charges (including any interest expense) related to any Receivables Facility, and, in each case, deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(e) any non-cash charges not set forth in clauses (a) through (e) above, including any write offs or write downs, reducing Consolidated Net Income for such period (*provided* that if any such non-cash charges represent an accrual or reserve for potential cash items in any future period, the cash payment in respect thereof in such future period shall be subtracted from EBITDA in such future period to the extent paid, and excluding amortization of a prepaid cash item that was paid in a prior period); *plus*

(f) the amount of any minority interest expense consisting of Subsidiary income attributable to minority equity interests of third parties deducted (and not added back) in such period in calculating Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(g) the amount of management, monitoring, consulting, transaction and advisory fees and related expenses paid in such period to the Investors to the extent otherwise permitted under Certain Covenants Transactions with Affiliates deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income and any business optimization expenses; *plus*

(h) the amount of loss on sale of receivables and related assets to the Receivables Subsidiary in connection with a Receivables Facility deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; *plus*

(i) any costs or expense deducted (and not added back) in computing Consolidated Net Income by such Person or any such Subsidiary pursuant to any management equity plan or stock option plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or any stock subscription or shareholder agreement, to the extent that such cost or expenses are funded with cash proceeds contributed to the capital of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor or net cash proceeds of an issuance of Equity Interest of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor (other than Disqualified Stock) solely to the extent that such net cash proceeds are excluded from the calculation set forth in clause (3) of the first paragraph under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments ;

(2) decreased by (without duplication) (a) any non-cash gains increasing Consolidated Net Income of such Person and such Subsidiaries for such period, excluding any non-cash gains to the extent they represent the reversal of an accrual or reserve for a potential cash item that reduced EBITDA in any prior period and (b) the minority interest income consisting of subsidiary losses attributable to minority equity interests of third parties in any non-Wholly-Owned Subsidiary to the extent such minority interest income is included in Consolidated Net Income; and

(3) increased or decreased by (without duplication):

(a) any net loss or gain resulting in such period from Hedging Obligations and the application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 and International Accounting Standards No. 39 and their respective related pronouncements and interpretations; *provided* those arising from Comdata fuel derivative arrangements shall be included other than to the extent they relate to mark-to-market adjustments; plus or minus, as applicable,

(b) any net loss or gain resulting from currency translation losses or gains related to currency remeasurements of indebtedness (including any net loss or gain resulting from hedge agreements for currency exchange risk).

In calculating EBITDA for any period, pro forma effect shall be given to (1) any operating expense reductions and other operating improvements or synergies projected in good faith to result from any acquisition, amalgamation, merger or operational change (including, to the extent applicable, from the Transactions) and (2) all adjustments of the nature used in connection with the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA as set forth in footnote 3 to the Summary Historical and Pro Forma Consolidated Information under Prospectus Summary in this prospectus (as if, in each case, such operating expense reductions, other operating improvements, synergies or adjustments had been realized on the first day of such period); *provided* that (x) such operating expense reductions and other operating improvements or synergies are reasonably identifiable and factually supportable, (y) with respect to operational changes (not resulting from an acquisition), such actions are taken or committed to be taken no later than 27 months after the Issue Date and (z) the aggregate amount of projected operating expense reductions, operating improvements and synergies in respect of operational changes (not resulting from an acquisition) included in any pro forma calculation shall not exceed \$150.0 million for any four consecutive quarter period.

EMU means economic and monetary union as contemplated in the Treaty on European Union.

Equity Interests means Capital Stock and all warrants, options or other rights to acquire Capital Stock, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, Capital Stock.

Equity Offering means any public or private sale of common stock or Preferred Stock of the Issuer or of a direct or indirect parent of the Issuer (excluding Disqualified Stock), other than:

(1) public offerings with respect to any such Person s common stock registered on Form S-8;

- (2) issuances to the Issuer or Subsidiary of the Issuer; and
- (3) any such public or private sale that constitutes an Excluded Contribution.
- euro means the single currency of participating member states of the EMU.

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

Exchange Notes means new notes of the Issuer issued in exchange for the Notes pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement.

Excluded Contribution means net cash proceeds, marketable securities or Qualified Proceeds received by or contributed to the Issuer from,

(1) contributions to its common equity capital, and

(2) the sale (other than to the Issuer or a Subsidiary of the Issuer or to any management equity plan or stock option plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement of the Issuer or a Subsidiary of the Issuer) of Capital Stock (other than Disqualified Stock and Designated Preferred Stock) of the Issuer,

in each case designated as Excluded Contributions pursuant to an Officer s Certificate on the date such capital contributions are made or the date such Equity Interests are sold, as the case may be, which are excluded from the calculation set forth in clause (3) of the first paragraph under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments.

Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio means, with respect to any period, the ratio of (a) EBITDA of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period to (b) the Fixed Charges of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such period.

In the event that the Issuer or any Restricted Subsidiary (i) incurs, redeems, retires or extinguishes any Indebtedness or (ii) issues or redeems Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock subsequent to the commencement of the period for which the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is being calculated but prior to or simultaneously with the event for which the calculation of the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is made (the *Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation Date*), then the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect to such incurrence, redemption, retirement or extinguishment of Indebtedness, or such issuance or redemption of Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, as if the same had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of making the computation referred to above, Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations and discontinued operations (as determined in accordance with GAAP), in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business made (or committed to be made pursuant to a definitive agreement) during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation Date, and other operational changes that the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries has determined to make and/or made during the four-quarter reference period or subsequent to such reference period and on or prior to or simultaneously with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation Date shall be calculated on a pro forma basis in accordance with GAAP assuming that all such Investments, acquisitions, dispositions, mergers, amalgamations, consolidations, discontinued operations and other operational changes had occurred on the first day of the four-quarter reference period. If since the beginning of such period any Person that subsequently became a Restricted Subsidiary or was merged with or into the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries since the beginning of such period shall have made any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, in each case with respect to an operating unit of a business, that would have required adjustment pursuant to this definition, then the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall be calculated giving pro forma effect thereto for such period as if such Investment, acquisition, disposition or operational change had occurred at the beginning of the applicable four-quarter period.

For purposes of this definition, whenever pro forma effect is to be given to any Investment, acquisition, disposition, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, discontinued operation or operational change, the pro forma calculations shall be made in good faith by a responsible financial or accounting officer of the Issuer.

For the purposes of this definition, any amount in a currency other than U.S. dollars will be converted to U.S. dollars based on the average exchange rate for such currency for the most recent twelve-month period immediately prior to the date of determination determined in a manner consistent with that used in calculating EBITDA for the applicable period.

Fixed Charges means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:

(1) Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person and Restricted Subsidiaries for such period; plus

(2) all cash dividends or other distributions paid to any Person other than such Person or any such Subsidiary (excluding items eliminated in consolidation) on any series of Preferred Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary during such period; *plus*

(3) all cash dividends or other distributions paid to any Person other than such Person or any such Subsidiary (excluding items eliminated in consolidation) on any series of Disqualified Stock of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary during such period.

Foreign Subsidiary means any Subsidiary that is not organized or existing under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, the District of Columbia, or any territory thereof, and any Restricted Subsidiary of such Foreign Subsidiary.

Foreign Subsidiary Total Assets means the total assets of Foreign Subsidiaries of the Issuer, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP less customer funds, in each case, as of the most recent balance sheet of the Issuer.

GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States which are in effect on the Issue Date.

Government Securities means securities that are:

(1) direct obligations of the United States of America for the timely payment of which its full faith and credit is pledged; or

(2) obligations of a Person controlled or supervised by and acting as an agency or instrumentality of the United States of America the timely payment of which is unconditionally guaranteed as a full faith and credit obligation by the United States of America,

which, in either case, are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuers thereof, and shall also include a depository receipt issued by a bank (as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the Securities Act), as custodian with respect to any such Government Securities or a specific payment of principal of or interest on any such Government Securities held by such custodian for the account of the holder of such depository receipt; *provided* that (except as required by law) such custodian is not authorized to make any deduction from the amount payable to the holder of such depository receipt from any amount received by the custodian in respect of the Government Securities or the specific payment of principal of or interest on the Government Securities evidenced by such depository receipt.

guarantee means a guarantee (other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business), direct or indirect, in any manner (including letters of credit and reimbursement agreements in respect thereof), of all or any part of any Indebtedness or other obligations.

Guarantee means the guarantee by any Guarantor of the Issuer s Obligations under the Indenture.

Guarantor means each Person that Guarantees the Notes in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

Hedging Obligations means, with respect to any Person, the obligations of such Person under any interest rate swap agreement, interest rate cap agreement, interest rate collar agreement, commodity swap agreement, commodity cap agreement, commodity collar agreement, foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or similar agreement.

Holder means the Person in whose name a Note is registered on the registrar s books.

Indebtedness means, with respect to any Person, without duplication:

(1) any indebtedness (including principal and premium) of such Person, whether or not contingent:

(a) in respect of borrowed money;

(b) evidenced by bonds, notes, debentures or similar instruments or letters of credit or bankers acceptances (or, without duplication, reimbursement agreements in respect thereof);

(c) representing the balance deferred and unpaid of the purchase price of any property (including Capitalized Lease Obligations), except (i) any such balance that constitutes a trade payable or similar obligation to a trade creditor, in each case accrued in the ordinary course of business and (ii) liabilities accrued in the ordinary course of business; or

(d) representing any Hedging Obligations;

if and to the extent that any of the foregoing Indebtedness (other than letters of credit and Hedging Obligations) would appear as a liability upon a balance sheet (excluding the footnotes thereto) of such Person prepared in accordance with GAAP;

(2) to the extent not otherwise included, any obligation by such Person to be liable for, or to pay, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, on the obligations of the type referred to in clause (1) of a third Person (whether or not such items would appear upon the balance sheet of such obligor or guarantor), other than by endorsement of negotiable instruments for collection in the ordinary course of business; and

(3) to the extent not otherwise included, the obligations of the type referred to in clause (1) of a third Person secured by a Lien on any asset owned by such first Person, whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such first Person;

provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Indebtedness shall be deemed not to include (a) Contingent Obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business and (b) obligations under or in respect of Receivables Facilities.

Independent Financial Advisor means an accounting, appraisal, investment banking firm or consultant to Persons engaged in Similar Businesses of nationally recognized standing that is, in the good faith judgment of the Issuer, qualified to perform the task for which it has been engaged.

Initial Purchasers means Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Banc of America Securities LLC.

Internal Revenue Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor thereto.

Investment Grade Rating means a rating equal to or higher than Baa3 (or the equivalent) by Moody s and BBB- (or the equivalent) by S&P, or an equivalent rating by any other Rating Agency.

Investment Grade Securities means:

(1) securities issued or directly and fully guaranteed or insured by the United States government or any agency or instrumentality thereof (other than Cash Equivalents);

(2) debt securities or debt instruments with an Investment Grade Rating, but excluding any debt securities or instruments constituting loans or advances among the Issuer and the Subsidiaries of the Issuer;

(3) investments in any fund that invests exclusively in investments of the type described in clauses (1) and (2), which fund may also hold immaterial amounts of cash pending investment or distribution; and

(4) corresponding instruments in countries other than the United States customarily utilized for high quality investments.

Investments means, with respect to any Person, all investments by such Person in other Persons (including Affiliates) in the form of loans (including guarantees), advances or capital contributions (excluding accounts receivable, trade credit, advances to customers, and commission, travel, money and similar advances to directors, officers, employees, members of management and consultants, in each case made in the ordinary course of business), purchases or other acquisitions for consideration of Indebtedness, Equity Interests or other securities issued by any other Person and investments that are required by GAAP to be classified on the balance sheet (excluding the footnotes) of such Person in the same manner as the other investments included in this definition to the extent such transactions involve the transfer of cash or other property. For purposes of the definition of Unrestricted Subsidiary and the covenant described under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments :

(1) Investments shall include the portion (proportionate to the Issuer s direct or indirect equity interest in such Subsidiary) of the fair market value of the net assets of a Subsidiary of such Issuer at the time that such Subsidiary is designated an Unrestricted Subsidiary; *provided*, *however*, that upon a redesignation of such Subsidiary as a Restricted Subsidiary, the Issuer or applicable Restricted Subsidiary shall be deemed to continue to have a permanent Investment in an Unrestricted Subsidiary in an amount (if positive) equal to:

(a) the Issuer s direct or indirect Investment in such Subsidiary at the time of such redesignation; less

(b) the portion (proportionate to the Issuer s direct or indirect equity interest in such Subsidiary) of the fair market value of the net assets of such Subsidiary at the time of such redesignation; and

(2) any property transferred to or from an Unrestricted Subsidiary shall be valued at its fair market value at the time of such transfer, in each case as determined in good faith by the Issuer.

Investor means (i) Thomas H. Lee Partners, L.P. and its Affiliates but not including, however, any operating portfolio companies of any of the foregoing and (ii) Fidelity National Financial, Inc. and its Affiliates.

Issue Date means November 9, 2007.

Issuer has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph under General.

Legal Holiday means a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which commercial banking institutions are not required to be open in the State of New York.

Lien means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien (statutory or otherwise), pledge, hypothecation, charge, security interest, preference, priority or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected under applicable law, including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, any option or other agreement to sell or give a security interest in and any filing of or agreement to give any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent statutes) of any jurisdiction; *provided* that in no event shall an operating lease be deemed to constitute a Lien.

Moody s means Moody s Investors Service, Inc. and any successor to its rating agency business.

Net Income means, with respect to any Person, the net income (loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries that are Restricted Subsidiaries, determined in accordance with GAAP and before any reduction in respect to Preferred Stock dividends.

Net Proceeds means the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of any Asset Sale, including any cash received upon the sale or other disposition of any Designated Non-cash Consideration received in any Asset Sale, net of the direct costs relating to such Asset Sale and the sale or disposition of such Designated Non-cash Consideration, including legal, accounting and investment banking fees, and brokerage and sales commissions, any relocation expenses incurred as a result

thereof, taxes paid or payable as a result thereof (after taking into account any available tax credits or deductions and any tax sharing arrangements), amounts required to be applied to the repayment of principal, premium, if any, and interest on Senior Indebtedness required (other than required by clause (1) of the second paragraph of Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales) to be paid as a result of such transaction and any deduction of appropriate amounts to be provided by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries as a reserve in accordance with GAAP against any liabilities associated with the asset disposed of in such transaction and retained by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries after such sale or other disposition thereof, including pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities and liabilities related to environmental matters or against any indemnification obligations associated with such transaction.

Obligations means any principal (including any accretion), interest (including any interest accruing subsequent to the filing of a petition in bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding at the rate provided for in the documentation with respect thereto, whether or not such interest is an allowed claim under applicable state, federal or foreign law), penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit and banker s acceptances), damages and other liabilities, and guarantees of payment of such principal (including any accretion), interest, penalties, fees, indemnifications, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities, payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

Officer means the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, any Executive Vice President, Senior Vice President or Vice President, the Treasurer or the Secretary of the Issuer.

Officer s Certificate means a certificate signed on behalf of the Issuer by an Officer of the Issuer, who must be the principal executive officer, the principal financial officer, the treasurer or the principal accounting officer of the Issuer, that meets the requirements set forth in the Indenture.

Opinion of Counsel means a written opinion from legal counsel who is acceptable to the Trustee. The counsel may be an employee of or counsel to the Issuer or the Trustee.

Partial PIK Interest has the meaning set forth under Principal, Maturity and Interest.

Permitted Asset Swap means the concurrent purchase and sale or exchange of Related Business Assets or a combination of Related Business Assets and cash or Cash Equivalents between the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and another Person.

Permitted Holders means each of the Investors.

Permitted Investments means:

(1) any Investment in the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(2) any Investment in cash and Cash Equivalents or Investment Grade Securities or securities constituting customer funds;

(3) any Investment by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in a Person that is engaged in a Similar Business if as a result of such Investment:

(a) such Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary; or

(b) such Person, in one transaction or a series of related transactions, is merged or consolidated with or into, or transfers or conveys substantially all of its assets to, or is liquidated into, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary,

and, in each case, any Investment held by such Person; *provided* that such Investment was not acquired by such Person in contemplation of such acquisition, merger, consolidation or transfer;

(4) any Investment in securities or other assets not constituting cash, Cash Equivalents or Investment Grade Securities and received in connection with an Asset Sale made pursuant to the provisions of Repurchase at the Option of Holders Asset Sales or any other disposition of assets not constituting an Asset Sale;

(5) any Investment existing on the Issue Date or made pursuant to binding commitments in effect on the Issue Date or an Investment consisting of any extension, modification or renewal of any Investment existing on the Issue Date; *provided* that the amount of any such Investment may be increased (x) as required by the terms of such Investment as in existence on the Issue Date or (y) as otherwise permitted under the Indenture;

(6) any Investment acquired by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries:

(a) in exchange for any other Investment or accounts receivable held by the Issuer or such Restricted Subsidiary in connection with or as a result of a bankruptcy workout, reorganization or recapitalization of the issuer of such other Investment or accounts receivable; or

(b) as a result of a foreclosure by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries with respect to any secured Investment or other transfer of title with respect to any secured Investment in default;

(7) Hedging Obligations permitted under clause (9) of the covenant described in Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ;

(8) any Investment in a Similar Business having an aggregate fair market value, taken together with all other Investments made pursuant to this clause (8) that are at that time outstanding, not to exceed the greater of \$200.0 million and 3.0% of Total Assets at the time of such Investment (with the fair market value of each Investment being measured at the time made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value);

(9) Investments the payment for which consists of Equity Interests (exclusive of Disqualified Stock) of the Issuer or any of its direct or indirect parent companies; *provided, however*, that such Equity Interests will not increase the amount available for Restricted Payments under clause (3) of the first paragraph under the covenant described in Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments ;

(10) Indebtedness permitted under the covenant described in Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock and the creation of Liens on the assets of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in compliance with the Limitation on Liens covenant;

(11) any transaction to the extent it constitutes an Investment that is permitted and made in accordance with the provisions of the second paragraph of the covenant described under Certain Covenants Transactions with Affiliates (except transactions described in clauses (2), (5) and (9) of such paragraph);

(12) Investments consisting of purchases and acquisitions of inventory, supplies, material or equipment;

(13) additional Investments having an aggregate fair market value, taken together with all other Investments made pursuant to this clause (13) that are at that time outstanding (without giving effect to the sale of an Unrestricted Subsidiary to the extent the proceeds of such sale do not consist of cash or marketable securities), not to exceed the greater of \$200.0 million and 3.0% of Total Assets at the time of such Investment (with the fair market value of each Investment being measured at the time made and without giving effect to subsequent changes in value);

(14) Investments relating to a Receivables Subsidiary that, in the good faith determination of the Issuer, are necessary or advisable to effect any Receivables Facility;

(15) advances to, or guarantees of Indebtedness of, directors, officers, employees, members of management and consultants not in excess of \$10.0 million outstanding at any one time, in the aggregate;

(16) Investments in the ordinary course of business consisting of endorsements for collection or deposit; and

(17) Investments in joint ventures in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$12.5 million outstanding at any one time, in the aggregate.

Permitted Liens means, with respect to any Person:

(1) pledges or deposits by such Person under workmen s compensation laws, unemployment insurance laws or similar legislation, or good faith deposits in connection with bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the payment of Indebtedness) or leases to which such Person is a party, or deposits to secure public or statutory obligations of such Person or deposits of cash or U.S. government bonds to secure surety or appeal bonds to which such Person is a party, or deposits as security for contested taxes or import duties or for the payment of rent, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of business;

(2) Liens imposed by law, such as carriers, warehousemen s and mechanics. Liens, in each case for sums not yet overdue for a period of more than 30 days or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings or other Liens arising out of judgments or awards against such Person with respect to which such Person shall then be proceeding with an appeal or other proceedings for review if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP;

(3) Liens for taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet overdue for a period of more than 30 days or subject to penalties for nonpayment or which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, if adequate reserves with respect thereto are maintained on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP;

(4) Liens in favor of the issuer of stay, customs, appeal, performance and surety bonds or bid bonds or with respect to other regulatory requirements or letters of credit issued pursuant to the request of and for the account of such Person in the ordinary course of its business;

(5) minor survey exceptions, minor encumbrances, easements or reservations of, or rights of others for, licenses, rights-of-way, sewers, electric lines, telegraph and telephone lines and other similar purposes, or zoning or other restrictions as to the use of real properties or Liens incidental to the conduct of the business of such Person or to the ownership of its properties which were not incurred in connection with Indebtedness and which do not in the aggregate materially adversely affect the value of said properties or materially impair their use in the operation of the business of such Person;

(6) Liens securing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to clause (5), (12)(b), (18), (19) or (22) of the second paragraph under Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ; *provided* that Liens securing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to clause (18) extend only to the assets of Foreign Subsidiaries and Liens securing Indebtedness permitted to be incurred pursuant to clause (19) are solely on the assets financed, purchased, constructed, improved, acquired or assets of the acquired entity, as the case may be;

(7) Liens existing on the Issue Date;

(8) Liens on property or shares of stock of a Person at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary;

provided, *however*, such Liens are not created or incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such other Person becoming such a Subsidiary; *provided*, *further*, *however*, that such Liens may not extend to any other property owned by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(9) Liens on property at the time the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary acquired the property, including any acquisition by means of a merger or consolidation with or into the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries; *provided*, *however*, that such Liens are not created or incurred in connection with, or in contemplation of, such acquisition; *provided*, *further*, *however*, that the Liens may not extend to any other property owned by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries;

(10) Liens securing Indebtedness or other obligations of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary owing to the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary permitted to be incurred in accordance with the covenant described under Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ;

(11) Liens securing Hedging Obligations so long as, in the case of Hedging Obligations related to interest, the related Indebtedness is, and is permitted to be under the Indenture, secured by a Lien on the same property securing such Hedging Obligations;

(12) Liens on specific items of inventory or other goods and proceeds of any Person securing such Person s obligations in respect of bankers acceptances issued or created for the account of such Person to facilitate the purchase, shipment or storage of such inventory or other goods;

(13) leases, subleases, licenses or sublicenses granted to others in the ordinary course of business which do not materially interfere with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries and do not secure any Indebtedness;

(14) Liens arising from Uniform Commercial Code financing statement filings regarding operating leases entered into by the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;

(15) Liens in favor of the Issuer or a Restricted Guarantor;

(16) Liens on equipment of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries granted in the ordinary course of business;

(17) Liens on accounts receivable and related assets incurred in connection with a Receivables Facility;

(18) Liens to secure any refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement (or successive refinancing, refunding, extensions, renewals or replacements) as a whole, or in part, of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien referred to in the foregoing clauses (6), (7), (8), (9) and (10); *provided, however*, that (a) such new Lien shall be limited to all or part of the same property that secured the original Lien (plus improvements on such property), and (b) the Indebtedness secured by such Lien at such time is not increased to any amount greater than the sum of (i) the outstanding principal amount or, if greater, committed amount of the Indebtedness described under clauses (6), (7), (8), (9) and (10) at the time the original Lien became a Permitted Lien under the Indenture, and (ii) an amount necessary to pay any fees and expenses, including premiums, related to such refinancing, refunding, extension, renewal or replacement;

(19) deposits made in the ordinary course of business to secure liability to insurance carriers;

(20) other Liens securing obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business which obligations do not exceed the greater of (a) \$75.0 million and (b) 1.25% of Total Assets at any one time outstanding;

(21) Liens securing judgments for the payment of money not constituting an Event of Default under clause (5) under the caption Events of Default and Remedies so long as such Liens are adequately bonded and any appropriate legal proceedings that may have been duly initiated for the review of such judgment have not been finally terminated or the period within which such proceedings may be initiated has not expired;

(22) Liens in favor of customs and revenue authorities arising as a matter of law to secure payment of customs duties in connection with the importation of goods in the ordinary course of business;

(23) (i) of a collection bank arising under Section 4-210 of the Uniform Commercial Code on items in the course of collection, (ii) attaching to commodity trading accounts or other commodity brokerage accounts incurred in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) in favor of banking institutions arising as a matter of law encumbering deposits (including the right of set-off) and which are within the general parameters customary in the banking industry;

(24) Liens deemed to exist in connection with Investments in repurchase agreements permitted under Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock ; *provided* that such Liens do not extend to any assets other than those that are the subject of such repurchase agreement;

(25) Liens encumbering reasonable customary initial deposits and margin deposits and similar Liens attaching to commodity trading accounts or other brokerage accounts incurred in the ordinary course of business and not for speculative purposes; and

(26) Liens that are contractual rights of set-off (i) relating to the establishment of depository relations with banks not given in connection with the issuance of Indebtedness, (ii) relating to pooled deposit or sweep accounts of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries to permit satisfaction of overdraft or similar obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries or (iii) relating to purchase orders and other agreements entered into with customers of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business.

Person means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, government or any agency or political subdivision thereof or any other entity.

PIK Interest has the meaning set forth under Principal, Maturity and Interest.

PIK Notes has the meaning set forth under Principal, Maturity and Interest.

PIK Payment has the meaning set forth under Principal, Maturity and Interest.

Preferred Stock means any Equity Interest with preferential rights of payment of dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up.

Qualified Proceeds means assets that are used or useful in, or Capital Stock of any Person engaged in, a Similar Business; *provided* that the fair market value of any such assets or Capital Stock shall be determined by the Issuer in good faith.

Rating Agencies means Moody s and S&P or if Moody s or S&P or both shall not make a rating on the Notes publicly available, a nationally recognized statistical rating agency or agencies, as the case may be, selected by the Issuer which shall be substituted for Moody s or S&P or both, as the case may be.

Receivables Facility means any of one or more receivables financing facilities as amended, supplemented, modified, extended, renewed, restated or refunded from time to time, the obligations of which are non-recourse (except for customary representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities made in connection with such facilities) to the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries (other than a Receivables Subsidiary) pursuant to which the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries sells their accounts receivable to either (a) a Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary or (b) a Receivables Subsidiary that in turn sells its accounts receivable to a Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary.

Receivables Fees means distributions or payments made directly or by means of discounts with respect to any accounts receivable or participation interest therein issued or sold in connection with, and other fees paid to a Person that is not a Restricted Subsidiary in connection with, any Receivables Facility.

Receivables Subsidiary means any Subsidiary formed for the purpose of, and that solely engages only in one or more Receivables Facilities and other activities reasonably related thereto.

Registration Rights Agreement means the Registration Rights Agreement with respect to the Notes, dated the Issue Date, among the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Initial Purchasers and any similar registration rights agreements with respect to any Additional Notes.

Related Business Assets means assets (other than cash or Cash Equivalents) used or useful in a Similar Business, *provided* that any assets received by the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary in exchange for assets transferred by the Issuer or the Restricted Subsidiary shall not be deemed to be Related Business Assets if they

consist of securities of a Person, unless upon receipt of the securities of such Person, such Person would become a Restricted Subsidiary.

Representative means any trustee, agent or representative (if any) for an issue of Senior Indebtedness of the Issuer.

Restricted Cash means cash and Cash Equivalents held by any Restricted Subsidiary that is contractually restricted from being distributed to the Issuer or any Restricted Guarantor, except for such restrictions that are contained in agreements governing Indebtedness permitted under the Indenture and that is secured by such cash or Cash Equivalents, or are classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet of the Issuer prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Restricted Guarantor means a Guarantor that is a Restricted Subsidiary.

Restricted Investment means an Investment other than a Permitted Investment.

Restricted Subsidiary means, at any time, each direct and indirect Subsidiary of the Issuer (including any Foreign Subsidiary) that is not then an Unrestricted Subsidiary; *provided*, *however*, that upon the occurrence of an Unrestricted Subsidiary ceasing to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary, such Subsidiary shall be included in the definition of Restricted Subsidiary.

S&P means Standard & Poor s, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and any successor to its rating agency business.

Sale and Lease-Back Transaction means any arrangement providing for the leasing by the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries of any real or tangible personal property, which property has been or is to be sold or transferred by such Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary to a third Person in contemplation of such leasing.

SEC means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Secured Indebtedness means any Indebtedness of the Issuer or any of its Restricted Subsidiaries secured by a Lien.

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder.

Senior Credit Facilities means the Credit Facility under the Credit Agreement to be entered into as of the Issue Date by and among the Issuer, the Guarantors, the lenders party thereto in their capacities as lenders thereunder and Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as Administrative Agent, including any guarantees, collateral documents, instruments and agreements executed in connection therewith, and any amendments, supplements, modifications, extensions, renewals, restatements, refundings or refinancings thereof and any indentures or credit facilities or commercial paper facilities with banks or other institutional lenders or investors that replace, refund or refinance any part of the loans, notes, other credit facilities or commitments thereunder, including any such replacement, refunding or refinancing facility or indenture that increases the amount borrowable thereunder or alters the maturity thereof.

Significant Party means any Guarantor or Restricted Subsidiary that would be, a significant subsidiary as defined in Article 1, Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X, promulgated pursuant to the Securities Act, as such regulation is in effect on the Issue Date.

Similar Business means any business conducted or proposed to be conducted by the Issuer and its Subsidiaries on the Issue Date or any business that is similar, reasonably related, incidental, complementary or ancillary thereto.

193

Special Interest means all additional interest then owing pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement.

Specified Asset Sale means an Asset Sale having a fair market value in excess of \$1,000.0 million.

Sponsor Management Agreement means the management agreement between the Investors and the Issuer and any direct or indirect parent company, as in effect on the Issue Date and giving effect to amendments thereto that, taken as a whole, are not materially adverse to the interests of the holders of the Notes.

St. Petersburg Sale and Leaseback refers to the sale and leaseback of the Issuer s facility located in St. Petersburg, Florida.

Subordinated Indebtedness means with respect to a series of Notes:

(1) any Indebtedness of the Issuer which is by its terms subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; and

(2) any Indebtedness of any Guarantor which is by its terms subordinated in right of payment to the Guarantee of such entity of the Notes.

Subsidiary means, with respect to any Person:

(1) any corporation, association, or other business entity (other than a partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity) of which more than 50% of the total voting power of shares of Capital Stock entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of directors, managers or trustees thereof is at the time of determination owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof; and

(2) any partnership, joint venture, limited liability company or similar entity of which

(x) more than 50% of the capital accounts, distribution rights, total equity and voting interests or general or limited partnership interests, as applicable, are owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by such Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof whether in the form of membership, general, special or limited partnership or otherwise, and

(y) such Person or any Restricted Subsidiary of such Person is a controlling general partner or otherwise controls such entity.

Total Assets means total assets of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis prepared in accordance with GAAP less customer funds, in each case, as shown on the most recent balance sheet of the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries as may be expressly stated without giving effect to any amortization of the amount of intangible assets since the Issue Date.

Transactions means the transactions described under Prospectus Summary The Transactions.

Treasury Rate means, as of any Redemption Date, the yield to maturity as of such Redemption Date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) that has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to the Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from the Redemption Date to November 15, 2011; *provided, however*, that if the period from the Redemption Date to November 15, 2011 is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year will be used.

Trust Indenture Act means the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (15 U.S.C. §§ 77aaa-77bbbb).

Unrestricted Subsidiary means:

(1) any Subsidiary of the Issuer which at the time of determination is an Unrestricted Subsidiary (as designated by the Issuer, as provided below); and

(2) any Subsidiary of an Unrestricted Subsidiary.

The Issuer may designate any Subsidiary of the Issuer (including any existing Subsidiary and any newly acquired or newly formed Subsidiary) to be an Unrestricted Subsidiary unless such Subsidiary or any of its Subsidiaries owns any Equity Interests or Indebtedness of, or owns or holds any Lien on, any property of, the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary of the Issuer (other than solely any Unrestricted Subsidiary of the Subsidiary to be so designated); *provided* that

(1) Unrestricted Subsidiary must be an entity of which the Equity Interests entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes that may be cast by all Equity Interests having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or Persons performing a similar function are owned, directly or indirectly, by the Issuer;

(2) such designation complies with the covenants described under Certain Covenants Limitation on Restricted Payments ; and

(3) each of:

- (a) the Subsidiary to be so designated; and
- (b) its Subsidiaries

has not at the time of designation, and does not thereafter, incur any Indebtedness pursuant to which the lender has recourse to any of the assets of the Issuer or a Restricted Subsidiary.

The Issuer may designate any Unrestricted Subsidiary to be a Restricted Subsidiary; *provided* that, immediately after giving effect to such designation, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing and either:

(1) the Issuer could incur at least \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness pursuant to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio test described in the first paragraph under Certain Covenants Limitation on Incurrence of Indebtedness and Issuance of Disqualified Stock and Preferred Stock; or

(2) the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the Issuer and its Restricted Subsidiaries would be no less than such ratio immediately prior to such designation,

in each case on a pro forma basis taking into account such designation.

Any such designation by the Issuer shall be notified by the Issuer to the Trustee by promptly filing with the Trustee a copy of the resolution of the board of directors of the Issuer or committee thereof giving effect to such designation and an Officer s Certificate certifying that such designation complied with the foregoing provisions.

Voting Stock of any Person as of any date means the Capital Stock of such Person that is at the time entitled to vote in the election of the board of directors of such Person.

Weighted Average Life to Maturity means, when applied to any Indebtedness, Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock, as the case may be, at any date, the quotient obtained by dividing:

(1) the sum of the products of the number of years from the date of determination to the date of each successive scheduled principal payment of such Indebtedness or redemption or similar payment with respect to such Disqualified Stock or Preferred Stock multiplied by the amount of such payment; by

(2) the sum of all such payments.

Wholly-Owned Subsidiary of any Person means a Subsidiary of such Person, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests of which (other than directors qualifying shares) shall at the time be owned by such Person or by one or more Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries of such Person.

CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the exchange of Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes in the exchange offers. It does not contain a complete analysis of all the potential tax considerations relating to the exchange. This summary is limited to holders of Restricted Notes that hold the Restricted Notes as capital assets (in general, assets held for investment). Special situations, such as the following, are not addressed:

tax consequences to holders that may be subject to special tax treatment, such as tax-exempt entities, dealers in securities or currencies, brokers, financial institutions or financial services entities, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for their securities holdings, retirement plans, real estate investment trusts, controlled foreign corporations, passive foreign investment companies, former citizens or long-term residents of the United States, or corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax;

tax consequences to persons holding notes as part of a hedging, integrated, constructive sale or conversion transaction or a straddle or other risk reduction transaction;

tax consequences to holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

tax consequences to persons who hold notes through a partnership or similar pass-through entity;

alternative minimum tax, gift tax or estate tax consequences, if any; or

any state, local or foreign tax consequences.

The discussion below is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, existing and proposed Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, and rulings, judicial decisions and administrative interpretations thereunder, as of the date hereof. Those authorities may be changed, perhaps retroactively, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those discussed below.

Consequences of Tendering Notes

The exchange of your Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes in the exchange offers will not constitute a taxable event for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, the exchange of your Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes will have no U.S. federal income tax consequences to you. For example, you will retain the tax basis in the Exchange Notes that you had in the Restricted Notes and the holding period for the Exchange Notes will include your holding period for the Restricted Notes. In addition, because the Senior Toggle Restricted Notes are treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as issued with original issue discount (OID), you will be required to include OID in income with respect to the Senior Toggle Exchange Notes in the same manner and amount as with respect to the Senior Toggle Restricted Notes.

The preceding discussion of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences is for general information only and is not tax advice. Accordingly, each investor is urged to consult its own tax advisor as to the particular tax consequences to it of exchanging Restricted Notes for Exchange Notes, including the applicability and effect of any state, local or foreign tax laws, and of any proposed changes in applicable laws.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Each broker-dealer that receives Exchange Notes in the exchange offers for its own account must acknowledge that it will deliver a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act in connection with any resales of such Exchange Notes. We reserve the right in our sole discretion to purchase or make offers for, or to offer Exchange Notes for, any Restricted Notes that remain outstanding subsequent to the expiration of the exchange offers pursuant to this prospectus or otherwise and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, purchase Restricted Notes in the open market, in privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. This prospectus, as it may be amended or supplemented from time to time, may be used by all persons subject to the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Act, including broker-dealers in connection with resales of Exchange Notes received in the exchange offers, where such Exchange Notes were acquired as a result of market-making activities or other trading activities and may be used by us to purchase any Restricted Notes outstanding after expiration of the exchange offers. We have agreed that, for a period of 90 days from the date on which the exchange offers are completed, we will make this prospectus, as amended or supplemented, available to any broker-dealer for use in connection with any such resale. In addition, until , 2009, all dealers effecting transactions in the Exchange Notes may be required to deliver a prospectus.

We will not receive any proceeds from any sale of Exchange Notes by broker-dealers. Exchange Notes received by broker-dealers in the exchange offers for their own account may be sold from time to time in one or more transactions in the over-the-counter market, in negotiated transactions, through the writing of options on the Exchange Notes or a combination of such methods of resale, at market prices prevailing at the time of resale, at prices related to such prevailing market prices or negotiated prices. Any such resale may be made directly to purchasers or to or through brokers or dealers who may receive compensation in the form of commissions or concessions from any such broker-dealer and/or the purchasers of any such Exchange Notes. Any broker-dealer that resells Exchange Notes that were received by it in the exchange offers for its own account and any broker or dealer that participates in a distribution of such Notes may be deemed to be an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act and any profit on any such resale of such Notes and any commissions or concessions received by any such persons may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. The letter of transmittal states that, by acknowledging that it will deliver and by delivering a prospectus meeting the requirements of the Securities Act, a broker-dealer will not be deemed to admit that it is an underwriter within the meaning of the Securities Act.

For a period of 90 days from the date on which the exchange offers are completed, we will promptly send additional copies of this prospectus and any amendment or supplement to this prospectus to any broker-dealer that requests such documents in the letter of transmittal. We have agreed to pay all expenses incident to the exchange offers, other than commissions or concessions of any brokers or dealers and will indemnify holders of the Notes, including any broker-dealers, against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act.

197

LEGAL MATTERS

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP, New York, New York has passed upon the validity of the Exchange Notes and the related guarantees on behalf of us.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The consolidated balance sheets of Ceridian Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 (successor) and December 31, 2006 (predecessor), and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders equity and comprehensive income for the periods from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (successor) and January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007 (predecessor), and for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2006 (predecessor) have been included herein in reliance upon the report of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, appearing elsewhere herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing. The audit report covering the December 31, 2007 financial statements refers to the adoption of the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109, as of January 1, 2007; Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share Based Payment, on January 1, 2006; and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employer s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, on December 31, 2006.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We and the guarantors have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 under the Securities Act with respect to the Exchange Notes being offered hereby. This prospectus, which forms a part of the registration statement, does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement. For further information with respect to us, the guarantors or the Exchange Notes, reference is made to the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document are not necessarily complete. We are not currently subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act. As a result of the offering of the Exchange Notes, we will become subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act, and, in accordance therewith, will file reports and other information with the SEC. The registration statement, such reports and other information can be inspected and copied at the Public Reference Room of the SEC located at Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. Copies of such materials, including copies of all or any portion of the registration statement, can be obtained from the Public Reference Room of the SEC at prescribed rates. You can call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 to obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room. Such materials may also be accessed electronically by means of the SEC s home page on the Internet (http://www.sec.gov).

So long as we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, we and the guarantors are required to make available to the trustee and the holders of the notes the information required to be filed with the SEC. Regardless of whether we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, we and our guarantors have agreed to make available to the trustee and the holders of the notes certain information that would otherwise be required to be filed with the SEC under Sections 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.

198

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Independent Auditors Report	F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries for the periods November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007 and January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 and the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005	F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries as of the Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive Income of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries for the periods November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007 and January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries for the periods November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007 and January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005	F-8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007 and January 1, 2007 through November 9, 2007 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005	F-9
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2008 and 2007	F-71
Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheets of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries as of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007	F-72
Unaudited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of Ceridian Corporation and Subsidiaries for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2008 and 2007	F-73
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2008	F-74

Independent Auditors Report

The Board of Directors

Ceridian Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ceridian Corporation (a wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 (successor) and December 31, 2006 (predecessor), and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders equity and comprehensive income for the periods from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (successor) and January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007 (predecessor), and for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2006 (predecessor). These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as established by the Auditing Standards Board (United States) and in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of their internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company 's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Ceridian Corporation (a wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 (successor) and December 31, 2006 (predecessor), and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the periods from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007 (successor) and January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007 (predecessor) and for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 2006 (predecessor) in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48 *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109*, as of January 1, 2007, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, *Share Based Payment*, on January 1, 2006 and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, *Employer s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans*, on December 31, 2006.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

April 25, 2008, except for Note 19,

which is as of July 30, 2008.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in millions)

	Su	ccessor	Predecessor						
		od from nber 10 to		Period from anuary 1 to	Years En Decembe				
	Decemb	oer 31, 2007	Novem	1ber 9, 2007	2006		20	05	
Revenue	\$	237.0	\$ 1	1,407.9	\$ 1,565	5.1	\$1,4	59.0	
Costs and expenses									
Cost of revenue		128.2		782.0	852	2.4	7	93.2	
Selling, general & administrative		70.8		451.3	44().1	4	49.5	
Research & development		4.0		26.7	28	6.6		28.7	
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments		(0.1)		2.0	2	2.7		11.6	
Other (income) expense, net		6.4		(9.7)	(10).5)		4.5	
Interest income		(3.4)		(18.0)	(13	5.5)		(7.8)	
Interest expense		50.3		5.3	e	6.0		5.5	
Earnings (loss) before income taxes		(19.2)		168.3	259	0.3	1	73.8	
Income tax provision (benefit)		(6.8)		72.8	85	5.7		45.9	
Net earnings (loss)	\$	(12.4)	\$	95.5	\$ 173	.6	\$ 1	27.9	

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in millions)

	Successor Decen	Predecessor aber 31
	2007	2006
ASSETS		
Current assets		
Cash and equivalents	\$ 98.6	\$ 294.7
Trade and other receivables, net	803.8	682.2
Prepaids	60.1	112.6
Other current assets	12.0	18.7
Total current assets	974.5	1,108.2
Property, plant and equipment, net	84.5	110.3
Goodwill	3,504.7	952.6
Other intangible assets, net	1,444.8	106.0
Deferred financing fees	65.3	0.7
Other noncurrent assets	41.2	63.2
Total assets before customer funds	6,115.0	2,341.0
Customer funds	3,851.8	4,593.4
Total assets	\$ 9,966.8	\$ 6,934.4
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY		
Current liabilities		
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term obligations	\$ 2.6	\$ 16.6
Accounts payable	98.5	93.6
Drafts and settlements payable	233.7	269.2
Customer advances	37.8	33.1
Accrued interest	32.8	0.4
Deferred revenue	53.3	162.6
Deferred income taxes	14.4	
Accrued taxes	11.1	8.9
Employee compensation and benefits	77.0	72.8
Other accrued expenses	84.1	64.3
Total current liabilities	645.3	721.5
Long-term obligations, less current portion	3,532.1	83.9
Deferred income taxes	327.7	27.7
Employee benefit plans	84.0	103.3
Other noncurrent liabilities	55.5	29.9
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations	4,644.6	966.3
Customer funds obligations	3,834.8	4,596.9
Total liabilities	8,479.4	5,563.2

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Stockholders equity		
Common stock, for 2007, \$.01 par, authorized 10,540,540 shares, issued 50,000 shares; for 2006, \$.01 par,		
authorized 500,000,000 shares, issued 151,567,406 shares		1.5
Paid-in capital	1,544.5	924.0
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)	(12.4)	867.0
Treasury common stock at cost, 11,089,941 shares		(260.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	(44.7)	(160.5)
Total stockholders equity	1.487.4	1.371.2
	,	,
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 9,966.8	\$ 6.934.4
Total habilities and stockholders equity	ψ 2,200.0	φ 0,994.4

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Dollars in millions)

	Common Shares Issued	Treasury C Stoc		Additional Paid-In (Ea	0	Foreigfi	Unreal loss) ga	Inco lized ain o	me (Unr n ga	Loss) ealized in on l	l Pe Posti	nsion & retiremen		Total kholders
	Shares Amount		Amount	Capital		Deficit)T							justment		Quity
Balance on January 1, 2005	151,073,244 \$ 1.5	(1,650,117)	\$ (33.2)	\$ 936.6	\$		\$ 44.1	\$ 1	8.5	\$	3.6	\$	(240.9)	\$	1,295.7
Net earnings						127.9									127.9
Foreign currency translation, net							4.8								4.8
Change in unrealized gain (loss), net of tax of \$(10.5)								(1	0.2)		• • •				(1(0)
and \$1.3								(1	8.3)		2.3				(16.0)
Realized net (gain), net of tax of (0.6) and (1.6)								((1.1)		(2.7)				(3.8)
Pension & postretirement liability adjustment, net of															
tax of \$0.4													(0.3)		(0.3)
Total comprehensive															
income															112.6
Exercises of stock options	299,736	5,389,255	108.3	(20.0)											88.3
Restricted stock awards, net	194,426	(94,467)	(1.8)	3.7											1.9
Employee stock purchase															
plans		243,377	4.9	(1.0)											3.9
Repurchases		(10,736,450)	(222.3)												(222.3)
Tax benefit from stock															
options				11.7											11.7
Balance on December 31,	1515(740(\$ 15	((0.40, 40.2))	¢ (144-1)	¢ 021.0	¢	(02.4	¢ 40.0	¢.	$\langle 0, 0 \rangle$	¢	2.0	¢	(241.2)	¢	1 201 0
2005	151,567,406 \$ 1.5	(6,848,402)	\$ (144.1)	\$ 931.0	\$		\$ 48.9	\$ ((0.9)	\$	3.2	\$	(241.2)	\$	1,291.8
Net earnings Foreign currency						173.6									173.6
translation, net							3.6								3.6
Change in unrealized gain							5.0								5.0
(loss), net of tax of (0.9)															
and \$0.6								((1.1)		1.5				0.4
Realized net (gain), net of income tax of \$(0.0) and															
\$(0.9)									0.1		(1.4)				(1.3)
Pension & postretirement															
liability adjustment, net of tax of \$119.8													223.4		223.4
Total community of the															
Total comprehensive income															399.7
Pension & other															
postretirement adjustment															
for adoption of SFAS 158,															
net of tax of \$(103.9)													(196.6)		(196.6)
Exercises of stock options		8,724,312	197.7	(28.0)											169.7
Restricted stock awards, net		93,495	2.4	(1.2)											1.2

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Employee stock purchase				
plans	1,095		0.1	0.1
Repurchases	(13,052,441)	(316.8)		(316.8)
Tax benefit from stock				
options			22.1	22.1

Balance on December 31, 2006

151,567,406 \$ 1.5 (11,081,941) \$ (260.8) \$ 924.0 \$ 867.0 \$ 52.5 \$ (1.9) \$ 3.3 \$ (214.4) \$ 1,371.2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(Dollars in millions)

	Common S Issued		Treasury C Stocl		Addit Paid		Ea Accı	ımulat é	Foreig(d durrenc	Unreali loss) gai Custon	nco zed n o 1er]	me (l Unre n gai Mark	Loss) alized n on 1 cetable	Pe Postr e Li	nsion & etiremen iability	Total kholders
	Shares	Amount		Amount	Cap										justment	Equity
Balance on January 1, 2007	151,567,406	\$ 1.5	(11,081,941)	\$ (260.8)	\$ 92	24.0	\$		\$ 52.5	\$ (1	.9)	\$	3.3	\$	(214.4)	\$
Net earnings								95.5								95.5
Foreign currency translation,									41.0							41.0
net Channa in anna line da sin									41.2							41.2
Change in unrealized gain (loss), net of tax of \$4.6 and																
\$0.0										7	0.		0.1			7.1
Realized net (gain), net of										,	.0		0.1			7.1
tax of (0.0) and (0.9)										C).1		(2.8)			(2.7)
Pension & postretirement													()			
liability adjustment, net of																
tax of \$6.2															21.1	21.1
Total comprehensive																
income																162.2
Exercises of stock options			3,845,959	90.0	(16.8)										73.2
Restricted stock awards, net			(76,874)	1.7		4.9										6.6
Employee stock purchase																
plans			51,192	0.1		36.9										37.0
Repurchases																
Tax benefit from stock																
options						37.0										37.0
Balance on November 9,																
2007	151,567,406	\$ 1.5	(7,261,664)	\$ (169.0)	\$ 98	86.0	\$	962.5	\$ 93.7	\$ 5	5.2	\$	0.6	\$	(193.3)	\$ 1,687.2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(Dollars in millions)

	Common Shares Issued Shares Amount	Treasury Common Stock Shares Amount		Accumulate	l Foreign (le dCurrency (Inco Unrealize oss) gain Custome	me (Loss) dUnrealize ongain on rMarketab	prehensive Pension d & Postretireme le Liability s Adjustment	Stockholders
Balance on November 10, 2007									
Equity contributions, net of \$55.8 of equity issuance costs Net loss Foreign currency translation, net Change in unrealized gain (loss), net	50,000		1,544.2	(12.4)	(42.7)				1,544.2 (12.4) (42.7)
of tax of \$3.4 and \$(0.2)						5.8	6 (0.3)	5.5
Pension & postretirement liability adjustment, net of tax of \$(4.9)								(7.5)	(7.5)
Total comprehensive loss									(57.1)
Stock-based compensation			0.3						0.3
Balance on December 31, 2007	50,000 \$	\$	\$ 1,544.5	\$ (12.4)	\$ (42.7)	\$ 5.8	s \$ (0.3) \$ (7.5)	\$ 1,487.4

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in millions)

	Successor Period from	Period from January 1	Predecessor Years Decem	ended aber 31
	November 10 to December 31, 2007	to November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Cash Flows from Operating Activities	2000	11010111001 >,2007	2000	2000
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (12.4)	\$ 95.5	\$ 173.6	\$ 127.9
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by (used for)				
operating activities:				
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	(24.2)	33.7	25.3	(11.4)
Depreciation and amortization	25.4	74.0	86.9	85.3
Provision for doubtful accounts	1.0	2.8	5.3	11.2
Net periodic pension cost (benefit)	(1.2)	8.8	6.7	11.6
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments	(0.6)	1.0	(0.2)	1.1
Gain on sale of marketable securities and other assets		(9.2)	(9.3)	(4.3)
Stock-based compensation	0.3	45.0	21.0	2.5
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation		(30.7)	(22.1)	
Foreign currency remeasurement loss	6.6			
Asset abandonments		0.3	0.3	9.1
Other		2.5	1.8	5.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities excluding effects of acquisitions:				
Trade and other receivables	(0.8)	(84.5)	(113.3)	(85.6)
Accounts payable	(46.7)	50.5	(2.6)	20.3
Drafts and settlements payable	(77.3)	41.8	36.5	79.3
Deferred revenue	39.7	21.7	54.3	19.4
Employee compensation and benefits	24.6	(18.1)	(4.1)	10.1
Accrued taxes	13.8	(5.8)	3.6	13.2
Contribution to retirement plan trust			(75.0)	
Other current assets and liabilities	1.1	(20.9)	(27.0)	4.3
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities	(50.7)	208.4	161.7	299.3
Cash Flows from Investing Activities	(2011)			
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(3.9)	(33.2)	(30.3)	(31.4)
Expended for technology	(4.2)	(20.8)	(22.7)	(32.8)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	3.3	14.3	20.0	31.5
Expended for acquisitions of investments and businesses, less cash acquired		(10.4)	(41.1)	(10.4)
		(2000)	()	(1011)
	(4.8)	(50.1)	(74.1)	(42.1)
Net cash used for investing activities	(4.8)	(50.1)	(74.1)	(43.1)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities		(04.0)	(7.5)	11.5
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net	(1.7)	(94.0)	(7.5)	11.5
Repayment of other long-term obligations	(1.7)	(9.1)	(5.8)	(11.2)
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation		30.7 75.4	22.1	92.2
Proceeds from stock option exercises	(5.205.2)	/3.4	150.8	92.2
Acquisition of Ceridian Corporation	(5,305.3)		(21(-0))	(222.2)
Repurchase of common stock	2 550 0		(316.8)	(222.3)
Proceeds from debt issuance	3,550.0			
Payment of debt issuance costs	(84.8)			
Payment of equity issuance costs	(60.3)			
Stock issuance	1,600.0			

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities	(302.1)	3.0	(157.2)	(129.8)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash	(1.0)	1.2	1.4	2.2
Net Cash Flows (Used) Provided	(358.6)	162.5	(68.2)	128.6
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	457.2	294.7	362.9	234.3
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 98.6	\$ 457.2	\$ 294.7	\$ 362.9

	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007			od From wary 1 to			r nonths e ember 31	
			November 9, 2007		07 2	2006	2	2005
Interest and Income Taxes								
Interest paid	\$	14.9	\$	5.4	\$	6.2	\$	6.3
Income taxes paid	\$	5.0	\$	44.0	\$	52.4	\$	56.9
Income taxes refunded	\$	0.1	\$	2.9	\$	0.4	\$	7.0

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in millions, except share data)

1. ORGANIZATION

On November 9, 2007, Foundation Holdings, Inc. and Foundation Merger Sub Inc., affiliates of the Thomas H. Lee, L.P. and Fidelity National Financial Inc. (the Sponsors), completed the acquisition of all the outstanding equity of Ceridian Corporation (the Merger). Upon the consummation of the Merger, Ceridian Corporation merged with and into Foundation Merger Sub Inc. and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foundation Holdings, Inc. (Foundation Holdings), a company whose common stock is owned by Ceridian Intermediate Corporation. Ceridian Intermediate Corporation (Ceridian Intermediate) common stock is owned by Ceridian Holding Corp. (Ceridian Holding). The Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired 13% cumulative preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate (19% of the combined equity value) and common stock of Ceridian Holding (81% of the combined equity value). The preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate will be senior to the common stock of Ceridian Holding in terms of dividends and upon liquidation.

Although Ceridian Corporation (also referred to in this report as the Company, we, our and us) continued as the same legal entity after the Merger, the application of push down accounting represents the termination of the old accounting entity and the creation of a new one. As a result, the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholder s equity and comprehensive income are presented for two periods: Predecessor and Successor, which related to the period preceding the Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, respectively.

Ceridian Corporation (the Company) is an information services company principally in the human resource, transportation and retail markets. We are comprised of three business segments: Human Resource Solutions (HRS), Stored Value Solutions (SVS) and Comdata (Comdata). The HRS segment enables customers to outsource a broad range of employment processes, such as payroll, tax filing, human resource information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits administration, employee assistance and work-life programs, recruitment and applicant screening, and post-employment health insurance portability compliance. We have HRS operations primarily in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. The SVS business segment sells stored value cards and provides card-based services primarily to retailers in the form of gift cards, credits for product returns and retail promotions. The Comdata business segment provides transaction processing, financial services and regulatory compliance services primarily to transportation industries. SVS and Comdata s operations are located primarily in the United States. Our businesses are more fully described in Note 17, Segment Data.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Consolidation

We include in our consolidated financial statements the subsidiaries and investments in which we have a majority interest. We also include in our consolidated financial statements the grantor trusts that hold funds provided by our HRS payroll and tax filing customers pending remittance to employees of those customers or tax authorities in the United States and Canada. The customer funds held in trust and customer deposits related to our HRS benefits services and Comdata retail services businesses are separately identified as customer funds in our consolidated balance sheets. Through customer agreements, we are entitled to receive the interest income on these customer funds. Further information on our accounting for these funds is provided in the section Revenue Recognition later in this Note 2 and in Note 6, Customer Funds.

We account for our less than 20% owned investments at cost and periodically review those investments to determine whether we exercise a degree of significant influence over their management that would require the application of the equity method. We held no equity method investments as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.

All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated from our consolidated financial statements.

Assignment of fair values upon acquisition of goodwill and other intangible assets

In the event of a business combination where we are the acquiring party, we are required to assign fair values to all identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets such as customer lists, identifiable intangible trademarks, technology and covenants not to compete. We are also required to determine the useful life for amortizable identifiable intangible assets acquired. These determinations require significant judgments, estimates and assumptions and, when material amounts are involved, we generally utilize the assistance of independent valuation consultants. The remainder of the purchase cost of the acquired business not assigned to identifiable assets or liabilities is then recorded as goodwill. We assess the carrying value of goodwill annually, or more frequently when certain developments occur, for impairment of that value.

A number of significant assumptions and estimates are also involved in determining the current fair value of the reporting units including operating cash flows, markets and market share, sales volumes and prices and working capital changes. We consider historical experience and all available information at the time the fair values of our reporting units are estimated. However, actual fair values that could be realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the impairment of goodwill. The evaluation of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the reporting units to the recorded value.

If the recorded value of a reporting unit exceeds its current fair value, then to the extent that the recorded value of goodwill of the reporting unit exceeds the implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination is determined. That is, the fair value of a reporting unit is allocated to all of the assets and liabilities of that reporting unit including any unrecognized intangible assets and the excess is the implied fair value of goodwill.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS 157 clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability, and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. On February 2, 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) 157-b which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for one year for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). SFAS 157 and FSP 157-b are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company has elected a partial deferral of SFAS 157 under the provisions of FSP 157-b related to the measurement of fair value used when evaluating goodwill, other intangible assets and other long-lived assets for impairment and valuing asset retirement obligations and liabilities for exit or disposal activities. The impact of partially adopting SFAS 157 is not expected to have a material effect on the results of our operations or financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. SFAS No. 159 allows entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities at fair value in situations in which they are not otherwise required to be measured at fair value. If a company elects the fair value option for an eligible item, changes in that item s fair value in subsequent reporting periods must be recognized in current period earnings. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to draw comparison between entities that elect different measurement attributes for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company did not elect the fair value option for any of its existing financial assets and liabilities.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. SFAS No. 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51 and establishes standards of accounting and reporting on noncontrolling interests in consolidated statements, provides guidance on accounting for changes in the parent s ownership interest in a subsidiary, and establishes standards of accounting of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary due to the loss of control. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations. The objective of this Statement is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a business combination and its effects. To accomplish that, this Statement establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer: recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and our reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates that could significantly affect our results of operations or financial condition involve the assignment of fair values to goodwill and other intangible assets and testing for impairment, the capitalization, amortization and impairment testing of technology, the valuation of certain customer fund investments and noncurrent assets, the determination of our liability for pensions and postretirement benefits, costs associated with restructuring operations, the determination of fair value and estimated expected life related to stock options granted, and the resolution of tax matters and contingencies. Further discussion on these estimates can be found in related disclosures elsewhere in our Notes.

Changes in Presentation

We have reclassified certain prior year amounts to conform to the current year s presentation. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, we increased cost of revenue by \$9.4 and \$8.0, respectively, decreased selling, general and administration expenses by \$9.9 and \$8.6, respectively, and increased research and development expenses by \$0.5 and \$0.6, respectively. These reclassifications were made to properly classify compensation related expenses to the appropriate consolidated statement of operations line item.

Cash and Investments, including Derivatives

We classify investments that are readily convertible to cash within three months of purchase as cash equivalents in our consolidated balance sheets and report those amounts at amortized cost (which approximates fair value). We account for our investments in marketable securities under SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and investments other than marketable securities or derivative instruments under Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 18, The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock. Customer funds and other investments in marketable equity or debt securities are classified as available-for-sale and reported in the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in accumulated other comprehensive income as further discussed in Note 4, Investing Activity.

We account for derivatives in accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended and interpreted. SFAS 133 requires that all derivatives be measured at fair

value on the balance sheet. The treatment of changes in the fair value of a derivative depends on the character of the transaction, including whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship as defined under SFAS 133. Derivatives that do not meet the SFAS 133 criteria for hedge accounting are designated as economic hedges and changes in the fair value associated with these instruments are included in the consolidated statement of operations as loss on derivative instruments. In those cases where the derivative meets the SFAS 133 hedge accounting criteria for a cash flow hedge, the change in fair value of the derivative that is effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the designated risk being hedged is reported, net of related taxes, as accumulated other comprehensive income in stockholders equity until realized. The change in fair value of the derivative instruments for the purpose of economically hedging revenue risk and not for speculative activity. Our economic hedging activities may include the use of contracts such as swaps, collars, caps and floors, as economic hedges of variable income from investments of customer funds and corporate cash, in the case of interest rate derivatives, and, in the case of fuel price derivatives, from transportation revenue based on a percentage of the dollar value of the transaction processed. We further discuss derivative instruments in Note 4, Investing Activity.

Concentrations

Cash deposits of client and corporate funds are maintained primarily in large credit-worthy financial institutions in the countries in which we operate. These deposits may exceed the amount of any deposit insurance that may be available through government agencies. All deliverable securities are held in custody with large credit-worthy financial institutions which bear the risk of custodial loss. Non-deliverable securities, primarily money market securities, are restricted to large, credit-worthy broker-dealers and financial institutions.

Trade and Other Receivables, Net

Trade and other receivables balances are shown on the consolidated balance sheets net of the allowance for doubtful accounts of \$12.3 and \$13.7 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value.

We assess the collectibility of our accounts receivable based primarily on the creditworthiness of the customer as determined by credit checks and analysis, as well as the customer s payment history. The amount established for the allowance for doubtful accounts is dependent on various matters including changes in the customer s financial condition and general economic factors.

We assess the reserve for sales adjustment based on an analysis of historical trends. The amount established for the reserve for sales adjustment is dependent on various matters including customer negotiations and the notification of disputes by the customer.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment assets as of November 9, 2007 were revalued to fair value with assets acquired after November 9, 2007 being carried at cost and depreciated for financial statement purposes generally using the straight-line method at rates based on the estimated lives of the assets, which are generally as follows:

	Successor	Predecessor
Buildings	40 years	40 years
Building improvements	5-10 years	5-10 years
Machinery and equipment	3-8 years	3-8 years
Computer equipment	3-6 years	3-6 years

We charge repairs and maintenance to expense as the costs are incurred. Capitalized interest included in property, plant and equipment costs were not material.

We review the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances such as market value, asset utilization, physical change, legal factors or other matters indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. When the review indicates that the carrying value of the asset or group of assets representing the lowest level of identifiable cash flows exceeds the sum of the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges), we determine the fair value of the impaired asset or asset group. If the fair value of the asset or asset group is less than the carrying value of the asset or asset group, we recognize an asset write-down charge against operations. The amount of the impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the impaired asset or group of assets.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

Goodwill, which represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets of businesses acquired, is assigned to reporting units based on the benefits derived from the acquisition. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles are not amortized against earnings but instead are subject to impairment review on at least an annual basis. We perform the assessment of our goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles balances in the fourth quarter of each year. After consideration of the factors prescribed in SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, that might indicate a risk of impairment, we found no indication of impairment at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Intangible assets represent amounts assigned to specifically identifiable intangible assets at the time of an acquisition. With the exception of a trade name that is not amortized, these assets are amortized on a straight-line basis generally over the following periods:

		Successor	Predecessor	
(Customer lists and relationships	12-15 years	3-15 years	
,	Technology	3-7 years	3-7 years	
]	Non-compete agreements	2 years	2-7 years	
arl	y review these recorded amounts and assess their recoverability along with our other long-l	ived asset groups.	Our review co	ons

We regularly review these recorded amounts and assess their recoverability along with our other long-lived asset groups. Our review considers factors such as whether the amortization of other intangible assets for each operating unit can be recovered through forecasted undiscounted cash flows over their remaining economic life. We discuss the results of current reviews in Note 12, Supplementary Data to the Statement of Operations.

Technology Costs

Our technology efforts are for internal use. Under the provisions of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, we capitalize costs associated with technology developed or obtained for internal use when both the preliminary project stage is completed and our management has authorized further funding for the project which it deems probable of completion. Capitalized internal-use technology costs include only: (1) external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing or obtaining the technology; (2) payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to the project; and (3) interest costs incurred while developing the technology. Capitalization of these costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended purpose. We do not include general and administrative costs and overhead costs in capitalizable costs. We charge research and development costs and other computer software maintenance costs related to technology development to operations as incurred. Capitalized interest included in technology costs was not material.

We generally amortize technology costs using the straight-line method over a range of three to seven years, but not exceeding the expected life of the technology.

We regularly review the carrying value of technology in connection with our impairment analysis of other long-lived assets and recognize a loss when the value of estimated undiscounted net cash flow benefit related to the asset group falls below the unamortized cost, or when abandoned.

Receivables Securitization

During 2007, we terminated a credit facility under which we sold Comdata receivables to third parties through a consolidated subsidiary of Comdata. Prior to its termination, the subsidiary was consolidated since Comdata owned 100% of the equity, the subsidiary s activities were virtually all on Comdata s behalf and the substantive risks and rewards of the assets rest directly with Comdata. Additionally, the subsidiary had a unilateral right to reclaim all of the transferred assets. Therefore, we accounted for the outstanding advances as secured borrowings under SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities and the sold receivables and borrowings remained in our consolidated balance sheets. We further explain our policy and the operation of this facility in Note 9, Financing.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from the sale of our products and services when the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered; (3) the seller s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally, we rely on a signed contract between us and the customer as the persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement. We address these and the other criteria for revenue recognition in the following discussion of types of revenue within our business.

HRS

Repetitive Business

The majority of our HRS revenue is generated by recurring monthly or quarterly fees from our payroll processing, tax filing and other human resource services business (Payroll and Tax Services), benefits administration services business (Benefit Services) and work-life and employee assistance programs business (LifeWorks). This revenue is generated by service fees, income from investment of customer funds in lieu of additional fees, software maintenance and subscription fees.

Payroll and Tax Services. Generally, service fees for HRS payroll processing are contracted on a per transaction basis and recognized as revenue when transaction services are provided and the amount is billable. We also recognize payroll revenue from customer funds held temporarily pending remittance to the customers employees. These payroll deposits are primarily invested through grantor trusts. We derive and recognize investment income in lieu of additional fees as a component of revenue as earned.

Our tax filing services consist primarily of: (1) collecting funds for federal, state and local employment taxes from customers based on payroll information provided by the customers; (2) remitting funds collected to the appropriate taxing authorities; (3) filing applicable returns; and (4) handling related regulatory correspondence and amendments for customers. Revenue from these tax filing services is billed and recognized as the services are provided, generally on a monthly basis. We hold our customers tax filing deposits for the period between collection and remittance of the funds to the applicable taxing authority. These tax filing deposits are invested through a grantor trust. We derive and recognize this investment income in lieu of additional fees as a component of revenue as earned.

Payroll processing and tax filing services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence of standalone value for most services. Separate sales also establish the fair value of many of the services sold in the

event a customer contracts with us for multiple services. Where fair value cannot be established on the undelivered element, revenue (and the related direct costs of revenue) for the delivered elements are deferred and recognized ratably over the remaining repetitive processing period commencing upon completion of implementation consulting services.

Benefit Services. We provide employee health and welfare benefits administration services to our customers. Employee health and welfare benefits administration services related primarily to COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act). Health and welfare benefits administration services also encompass benefits provided to active employees, such as (1) annual health plan enrollment, (2) ongoing employee enrollment and eligibility services, (3) tuition refund plans, (4) transportation reimbursement under the Transportation Equity Act, and (5) Internal Revenue Code Section 125 plans (Flexible Spending), which include fully administered and self-administered flexible spending accounts and premium-only plans.

We also provide retirement planning services that include: (1) administration services for benefits provided to retired and inactive employees, which include retiree healthcare, disability, surviving dependent, family leave and severance benefits; and (2) defined benefit plan administration, ESOP administration and Qualified Domestic Relations Order administration.

Revenue for COBRA services is generally earned and recognized as the services are provided. Revenue associated with other health and welfare benefits administration and retirement planning services is generally recognized monthly based on the number of employees that receive or participate in the benefit.

Benefit Services are sold separately; accordingly, we have objective evidence of standalone value for most services. Separate sales also establish the fair value of many of the services sold in the event a customer contracts with us for multiple services. Where fair value cannot be established on the undelivered element, revenue (and the related direct costs of revenue) for the delivered elements are deferred and recognized ratably over the remaining repetitive processing period commencing upon completion of implementation consulting services.

LifeWorks. We provide work-life, employee assistance, health and productivity, and FMLA administration solutions to our clients. LifeWorks services are delivered through on-line access and telephonically, and through face-to-face counseling provided by referral resources. Contracted fees for these services are generally billed monthly or quarterly. Revenue is generally earned and recognized ratably over the term of the contract based on the number of customer employees served and the level of service.

Non-Repetitive Business

We generate revenue from delivery of professional services (i.e. data conversion, implementation and training) and shipment of materials.

Revenue from professional services is non-refundable and is determined either on a time and materials basis or firm fixed fee. If these services or materials are sold on a standalone basis revenue is recognized as the professional services or materials are delivered. When professional services or materials are sold as part of a multiple element arrangement, we allocate revenue first to the fair value of the undelivered element(s) and allocate the residual revenue to the delivered element(s) which revenue is typically recognized over the one to four month implementation and conversion period. In the absence of fair value for an undelivered element(s), the arrangement is accounted for as a single unit of accounting, resulting in a deferral of revenue recognition for the delivered elements until all undelivered elements have been fulfilled, at which time previously deferred revenue is recognized ratably over the remaining contract term of the arrangement.

SVS

SVS sells stored value cards and provides subsequent activation, reporting and transaction processing services. Customers may also choose to purchase cards alone, without a continuing obligation for services from SVS. SVS recognizes revenue for card sales without services upon shipment.

For card sales with future processing services, revenue on both the card sales and services are deferred and reported on the consolidated balance sheets in other current assets. Costs associated with the services are recognized as incurred. The deferred income and deferred cost on the card sale are both recognized in earnings over the estimated life of the card, which includes the transaction processing period. The recognition period is 30 months, beginning upon activation of the card. The deferred income on the services where we charge a fee upon card activation for unlimited transactions is recognized in earnings over the same 30 month period, beginning when the fee is assessed. The deferred income on the services where we charge a fee upon the services where we charge a fee each time a transaction is processed is recognized in earnings over the same 30 month period, beginning when the fee is assessed. Our history of providing services to our customers indicates that (1) we can expect activation of a card within approximately eight months following card shipment, and (2) during the six months following the activation of a card, approximately 90% of the services have been performed. Sales of cards under either arrangement do not include a right of return of the cards shipped.

Comdata

Comdata s funds transfer system is designed to enable truck drivers to obtain funding for purchases and cash advances at truck stops and other locations en route to their destinations. Drivers may use Comdata s proprietary Comdata Card to purchase fuel, lodging and other approved items, obtain cash advances from automated teller machines or through the use of Comchek drafts and make direct deposits of pay, settlements or trip advances to personal bank accounts. Revenue from funds transfer transactions is based on a per transaction fee that is based on either a fixed amount or a percentage of the face value of the transaction and is recognized when the transaction is processed.

Comdata purchases accounts receivable due to trucking companies from manufacturers and shippers at a discount and with recourse back to the trucking company in the event of non-payment. This service allows trucking companies to receive payment on shipping invoices sooner. The non-refundable discount represents adequate compensation charged for servicing the receivables over a 30-day period. If the collection period extends beyond 30 days, a non-refundable additional fee is charged for each month of servicing. After 90 days, an uncollected receivable can be returned to the seller for its face value. Comdata recognizes revenue from the discounted fee in the month of the purchase and the additional fees for servicing as it becomes entitled to collect the fee.

Comdata also provides fueling centers with: (1) PC-based, point of sale systems that automate the various transactions that occur at a fuel purchase desk; and (2) pay at the pump systems which enable customers to transact card-based fuel purchases at the pump. Revenue from the sale of PC-based point of sale equipment and pay at the pump equipment is recognized based on shipping and installation terms. Recurring service revenues for these activities are recognized as earned. Support and maintenance contracts are generally for 12 month periods and are invoiced annually, with the revenue recognized on a straight-line basis over the maintenance period. These products and services are all sold separately; accordingly, we have standalone value for each product and service. Separate sales also establish the fair value of each of the products and services sold in the event a customer contracts with us for multiple products and/or services. Sales of equipment under these arrangements do not include a right of return.

Gross Versus Net Revenue

We include in revenue amounts that we bill for and remit to third-party vendors for associated products and services as required on a gross basis as a principal rather than net as an agent when the following conditions are

met: (1) we are the primary obligor in the arrangement with the customer; (2) we have credit risk and inventory risk; (3) we have latitude in the establishment of pricing, subject to general economic restraints; and (4) we have full discretion in vendor selection.

Presentation of Taxes Collected from Customers

A tax assessed by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue producing transaction is reported on a net basis.

Costs and Expenses

Cost of Revenue

We assign to cost of revenue those costs that directly benefit the delivery of our revenue-producing products and services. Most of these costs are recognized as incurred, that is, as we become obligated to pay for them. Some costs of revenue are recognized in the period that a product is sold and delivered. Other costs of revenue are recognized over the period of use or in proportion to the related revenue.

For HRS, a substantial portion of the costs included in cost of revenue are recognized as incurred and the remaining costs are recognized over the period of use. The costs recognized as incurred consist primarily of customer service staff costs, customer technical support costs, consulting and purchased services, delivery services and royalties. The costs of revenue recognized over the period of use are depreciation and amortization of technology assets, rentals of facilities and equipment, and direct and incremental costs associated with deferred implementation service revenue.

For Comdata, the principal types of costs included in cost of revenue that are recognized as incurred include customer service staff costs, banking fees and telecommunications costs. The principal Comdata cost of revenue that is recognized when the product is delivered is the cost of equipment sold to customers. The principal Comdata costs of revenue that are recognized over the period of use include depreciation and amortization of technology assets, and rentals of facilities and equipment.

For SVS, the purchase cost of retail card stock is deferred and recognized in proportion to and over the same period as the related revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

We include in selling expense costs related to maintaining a direct marketing infrastructure and sales force and other direct marketing efforts such as advertising, telemarketing, direct mail and trade shows.

General and administrative expense includes the cost of maintaining the infrastructure of the company that is not directly related to delivery of products and services or selling efforts. Also included in this category are the provision for doubtful accounts receivable, amortization of other intangible assets, net periodic pension costs and one-time costs such as those related to the Merger.

Research and Development Expense

We include in research and development expense those costs related to maintaining a technical workforce to the extent that their activities principally involve the following software development activities:

conceptual formulation and design of possible product or process alternatives;

testing in search for or evaluation of product or process alternatives;

modification of the formulation or design of a product or process; and

engineering activity required to advance the design of a product to the point that it meets specific functional and economic requirements and is ready for production.

Loss on Derivative Instruments

We include in loss on derivative instruments the change in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as economic hedges, which are derivatives that do not meet the SFAS 133 criteria for hedge accounting treatment. We do not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative contracts that meets the SFAS 133 hedge accounting requirements is reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have any derivative contracts that meet the SFAS 133 hedge accounting requirements. We discuss our policy on derivative instruments earlier in this Note 1 under the caption Cash and Investments, including Derivatives.

Other (Income) Expense, net

We include in other (income) expense, net the results of transactions that are not appropriately classified in another category and that generally are not recurring. Those transactions might relate to litigation and contract settlements, currency exchange, asset sales, exit activities, and impairment of asset values (asset write-downs).

Leases

We conduct substantially all of our operations in leased facilities. We recognize rent holidays, including the time period during which we have access to the property for construction of improvements, construction allowances and escalating rent provisions on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, FASB issued SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment. SFAS 123R is a revision of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS 95, Statement of Cash Flows, and its related implementation guidance. On January 1, 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method, under which prior periods are not retroactively restated. The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R apply to awards granted after the effective date. Estimated stock-based compensation expense for awards granted prior to the effective date but that remain unvested on the effective date will be recognized over the remaining service period using the compensation cost estimated for the SFAS 123 pro forma disclosures. SFAS 123R focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services through stock-based payment transactions. SFAS 123R requires a public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for the award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the award at the date of grant. The cost is to be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for the award. SFAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as prescribed under the prior accounting rules. This requirement reduces net operating cash flows and increases net financing cash flows in periods after adoption. Total cash flow remains unchanged from what would have been reported under prior accounting rules.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we followed the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB 25 to account for our equity grants. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recognized for stock purchase rights granted in connection with the issuance of stock options under our employee stock option plans or employee stock purchase plans; however, compensation expense was recognized in connection with the issuance of restricted stock. The adoption of SFAS 123R primarily resulted in a change in our method of recognizing the fair value of stock-based compensation and estimating forfeitures for all unvested awards.

The following table shows the effect of adopting SFAS 123R on selected reported items (referred to in the table as As Reported) and what those items would have been under previous guidance under APB 25:

	Year I	Vear Ended December 31, Pro Forma			6
	As Reported	A	Under PB No. 25	Dif	ference
Earnings before income taxes	\$ 259.3	\$	274.4	\$	(15.1)
Net earnings	\$ 173.6	\$	183.7	\$	(10.1)
Cash flows from operating activities	\$ 161.7	\$	183.8	\$	(22.1)
Cash flows from financing activities	\$ (157.2)	\$	(179.3)	\$	22.1

Results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 have not been restated to reflect recognition of stock-based compensation expense.

If compensation expense for employee stock-based compensation had been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with the methods provided in SFAS No. 123, net income for the year ended December 31, 2005 would have been as follows:

Pro Forma Effect of Fair Value Accounting	Decer	r Ended mber 31, 2005
Net earnings as reported	\$	127.9
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of related tax effects		1.5
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value method for all awards, net		
of related tax effects		(10.9)
Pro forma net earnings	\$	118.5

The adoption of SFAS 123R had a material impact on our consolidated results of operations and the statement of cash flows. However, we believe that stock-based compensation aligns the interests of employees with the interests of shareholders. See Note 11, Stock-Based Compensation Plans of this report for further information regarding our stock-based compensation plans.

We use the Black-Scholes standard option pricing model (Black-Scholes model) to determine the fair value of stock options with term-based vesting conditions. The determination of the fair value of the awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions of other variables, including the risk-free interest rate and expected volatility of our stock price in future periods.

We use an integrated Monte Carlo simulation model and a trinomial lattice model to determine fair value of the performance-based options. The Monte Carlo model utilizes multiple input variables that determine the probability of satisfying the market conditions stipulated in the award. This probability is an input into the trinomial lattice model used to fair value the options.

If factors change and we employ different assumptions for estimating stock-based compensation expense in future periods or if we adopt a different valuation model, the future periods may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period and could materially affect our net earnings.

The Black-Scholes model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable, characteristics not present in our option grants. Existing valuation models, including the Black-Scholes and lattice binomial models, may not provide reliable measures of the fair values of our stock-based compensation. Consequently, there is a risk that our estimates of the fair values of our

stock-based compensation awards on the grant dates may bear little resemblance to the actual values realized upon the exercise or forfeiture of those stock-based awards in the future. Some employee stock options may expire worthless, or only realize minimal intrinsic value, as compared to the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and recognized in our financial statements. Alternatively, some employee stock options may realize significantly more value than the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and recognized in our financial statements. Currently, there is no market-based mechanism or other practical application to verify the reliability and accuracy of the estimates stemming from these valuation models, nor is there a means to compare and adjust the estimates to actual values.

Successor

To determine fair value of both term and performance based stock options, the risk-free interest rate used was based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues with remaining term equal to the contractual term of the option. The estimated volatility of our common stock is based on the historical 120-month volatility data for selected comparable public companies and our actual volatility for a six year period before the Merger. Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, we use an expected dividend yield of zero. The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognize during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest.

We estimate option forfeitures at the time of grant and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. We analyze historical data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and record stock-based compensation expense for those awards expected to vest. We recognize term-based stock compensation expense using the straight-line method.

To estimate the expected life of term-based options, we have used the simplified method allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 107, *Share-Based Payment*. Our historical experience (subsequent to the Merger) is too limited to be able to reasonably estimate expected life and historical experience of options granted by Ceridian Holding subsequent to the Merger.

Predecessor

To determine fair value, we analyzed historical employee exercise and termination data to estimate the expected life assumption. We believed that historical data represented the best estimate of the expected life of a new employee option. We also stratified our employee population based upon distinctive exercise behavior patterns. The risk-free interest rate used was based on the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues. The estimated volatility of our common stock was based on historical daily volatility levels of our common shares. We believed the historical data represented the best estimate of the volatility. Because we did not anticipate paying any cash dividends, we used an expected dividend yield of zero. The amount of stock-based compensation expense we recognized during a period was based on the portion of the awards that were ultimately expected to vest. We estimated option forfeitures at the time of grant and revised those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differed from those estimates. We analyzed historical data to estimate pre-vesting forfeitures and recorded stock-based compensation expense for those awards expected to vest.

Litigation

We are subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings, customer disputes, and tort claims. We account for these claims in accordance with SFAS 5, *Accounting for Contingencies*. We accrue for those expenses where information available prior to issuance of the financial statements indicates that it is probable that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

Income Taxes

We base our provision or benefit for income taxes on income recognized for financial statement purposes, which includes the effects of temporary differences between financial statement income and income recognized for tax return purposes. We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an amendment of FASB Statement 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the application of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, by establishing a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any part of the benefit of that position to be recognized in the financial statements. In addition to recognition, FIN 48 provides guidance concerning measurement, derecognition, classification, and disclosure of income tax positions. We adopted the new standard January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognized no adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits. We are continuing to follow our practice of classifying our interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of our income tax provision.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

We have international operations whereby the local currencies serve as functional currencies. We translate foreign currency assets and liabilities at the end-of-period exchange rates and foreign currency statements of operations at the weighted average exchange rates for each period. We report the effect of changes in the U.S. dollar carrying values of assets and liabilities of our international operations that are due to changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and their functional currency as foreign currency translation in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders equity and comprehensive income. Gains and losses from transactions and translation of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the international operation are recorded in results of operations as other (income) expense, net.

3. Merger

On November 9, 2007, the Sponsors completed the Merger for \$5,305.3 and was financed through a combination of borrowings under the Company s senior secured credit facilities, issuance of senior unsecured notes, available cash from the Ceridian Corporation and an equity contribution from the Sponsors. See Note 9 for discussion of our indebtedness.

The following summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price of the Merger based on estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of November 10, 2007. Our accounting for the Merger follows the requirements of SAB No. 54, Application of Pushdown Basis of Accounting in Financial Statements of Subsidiaries Acquired by Purchase and SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, which requires the purchase accounting treatment of the Merger be pushed down, resulting in the adjustment of all of our net assets to their respective fair values as of the Merger. We engaged outside appraisal firms to assist in determining the fair value of certain long-lived, tangible and identifiable intangible assets and used these appraisals for the purchase price allocation. This allocation is subject to further refinement until all pertinent information is obtained for the restructuring reserve and the final valuation of identifiable intangible assets.

Purchase Price:	
Fair market value of Ceridian Corporation common stock	\$ 5,305.3
Direct costs related to the Merger	4.5
Aggregate Purchase Price	\$ 5,309.8
Purchase Price assigned:	
Net working capital	\$ 650.7
Property, plant and equipment	88.0
Goodwill	3,544.5
Identifiable intangible assets	1,470.3
Other non-current assets	40.1
Deferred income taxes	(345.4)
Non-current liabilities and other	(138.4)
Total Purchase Price Assigned	\$ 5,309.8

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations as if the Merger occurred on January 1, 2006, after including certain pro forma adjustments for interest expense, depreciation and amortization, Sponsor fees, deferred revenue and deferred costs, and related income taxes. The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the combined results of operations had the Merger occurred at that date or the results of operations that may be obtained in the future.

	Pro Fo	ma
	Years Ended D	ecember 31
	2007	2006
Revenues	\$ 1,629.9	\$ 1,490.6
Net loss	\$ (108.3)	\$ (118.8)

4. INVESTING ACTIVITY

Derivative Instruments

Fuel Price Contracts

The revenue and net income of Comdata s business is exposed to variability based on changes in fuel (both diesel fuel and gasoline) prices. For a portion of its customers, Comdata earns fee revenue for card transactions based on a percentage of the total amount of each fuel purchase. An increase or decrease in the price of fuel increases or decreases the total dollar amount of fuel purchases and Comdata revenue. Accordingly, we estimate that for each 10¢ change in the average price per gallon of diesel fuel per year, Comdata revenue and pre-tax earnings are impacted by \$2.0, absent the effect of any diesel fuel price derivative contracts. In addition, we estimate that for each 10¢ change in the average price per gallon of gasoline per year, Comdata revenue and pre-tax earnings are impacted by \$0.5, absent the effect of any gasoline price derivative contracts.

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, we covered a portion of our diesel fuel price risk for the full year with diesel fuel price derivative instruments. The activity related to diesel fuel price derivative instruments was as follows:

	Suc	Successor Pred		edecessor	
		d From ber 10 to	Period From January 1 to	Years Decem	
		er 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Payments to counterparties	\$	0.5	\$ 1.0	\$ 2.9	\$ 8.2
Unrealized (gain) loss		(0.6)	1.0	(0.2)	1.1
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments	\$	(0.1)	\$ 2.0	\$ 2.7	\$ 9.3

Our diesel fuel price derivative instruments are carried at fair market value and were reported as a current liability of \$0.4 and \$0.1 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Investments and Acquisitions of Businesses

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we held the following publicly-held investments that were accounted for under SFAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities as available for sale, and privately-held investments that were accounted for on a cost basis which approximates fair value:

		Successor December 31, 2007		Predecessor December 31, 2006	
	Holding	Amount	% Owned	Amount	% Owned
The Ultimate Software Group, Inc.	Public	\$		\$ 5.1	under 5%
Asure Software, Inc.	Public	0.8	under 5%		
Priority Transportation	Private		under 5%	2.5	under 5%
iSarla, Inc.	Private			1.6	15.6%
ProfitPoint, Inc.	Private	0.8	under 5%	1.5	17.5%
Revelation Technologies, Inc.	Private				7.4%
Reach Financial, LLC	Private		15.0%		15.0%
Other	Private	0.1		0.2	
Total Investments		\$ 1.7		\$ 10.9	

Publicly held investments

Predecessor

In the period ended November 9, 2007, we sold our remaining 220,922 shares of The Ultimate Software Group, Inc. (Ultimate) common stock for proceeds of \$6.6 and a net gain of \$5.7. During 2006, we sold 120,000 shares of Ultimate common stock for proceeds of \$2.7 and a net gain of \$2.3. During 2005, we sold 290,789 shares of Ultimate common stock for proceeds of \$4.8 and a net gain of \$3.6. Gains and losses on sales of marketable securities are reported in other (income) expense, net in our consolidated statements of operations.

In the period ended November 9, 2007, the remaining 5,720,934 shares of iSarla stock were sold in exchange for cash of \$0.9, 1,056,838 shares of Asure Software Inc. (Asure) stock of which \$1.3 was recorded as an available for sale investment, and recorded a net gain of \$0.5. In addition, a subsequent payment is due to us, to be determined partially in one year from the transaction date and the remaining in 18 months from the transaction date. This payment is contingent upon Asure achieving certain net working capital balances and in the event of a total payout, we will receive \$0.2 in cash and 186,501 shares of Asure stock.

Table of Contents

The Ultimate and Asure securities were treated as available for sale securities. The carrying value of these securities had been adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the market price reported by the stock exchange that lists those securities. The amount of this change is reported as unrealized gain or loss from marketable securities in accumulated other comprehensive income. The cost of a marketable security sold is determined on the average cost method when reclassifying unrealized gains from AOCI into earnings. The cost and fair values of securities available for sale for the period ended November 10 to December 31, 2007, January 1 to November 9, 2007 and the year ended December 31, 2006 were as follows:

Period Ended November 10 to December 31, 2007 Successor	Cost	Unr	ross ealized 1 (Loss)	Fair Value
Asure	\$ 1.4	\$	(0.6)	\$ 0.8
Period Ended January 1 to November 9, 2007 Predecessor Asure	\$ 1.3	\$	0.1	\$ 1.4
At December 31, 2006 Predecessor				
Ultimate	\$ 0.9	\$	4.2	\$ 5.1

There are no material differences between the amount at which an investment is carried and the amount of underlying equity in net assets of the available for sale securities.

Acquisitions and divestures of businesses

Successor

As a result of purchase accounting related to the Merger, we recorded a current asset of \$4.2 related to the settlement of a contingent payment due to us from a 2006 asset sale. We also recorded a \$6.0 current liability and a \$3.3 long-term liability for expected payments due to the sellers from two Predecessor acquisitions.

Predecessor

In the period ended November 9, 2007, our HRS business acquired a provider of online payroll and recruitment solutions for \$0.7, with additional purchase obligations of up to \$4.1 depending on the performance of the business. We preliminarily allocated costs to intangible assets of \$4.0 and liabilities of \$3.3. Also, in the period ended November 9, 2007, our Comdata business acquired a provider of paperless fuel tax services designed to streamline fuel tax management and reporting processes. The cost of this stock purchase acquisition was \$9.9, net of cash acquired, with additional purchase price obligations of up to \$6.0 depending on the performance of the business. We preliminarily allocated costs to goodwill of \$3.5, other intangible assets totaling \$5.9, and net assets of \$0.5.

In 2006, we acquired two businesses, one in our HRS segment and one in our SVS segment, for a total purchase price of \$33.2, net of cash received. Combined, the acquisitions have additional purchase price obligations of up to \$7.0 depending on the performance of the businesses. We preliminarily allocated costs to goodwill of \$16.1, intangible assets of \$19.2, and net liabilities of \$2.1 in relation to these acquisitions. In addition, we acquired the remaining 80.1% equity interest in SASH Management, LLC (SASH), a mid-market provider of gift certificates and gift cards, for \$5.8 and preliminarily allocated costs to goodwill of \$2.9, other intangible assets of \$3.2, net assets of \$0.3 and eliminated a pre-existing minority interest in SASH of \$0.6.

In 2005, we acquired a business in our SVS segment for \$8.2 and recorded goodwill of \$5.1, other intangible assets of \$3.4 and net liabilities of \$0.3. During 2005, we also paid out \$1.8 in payments related to agreements on prior acquisitions.

Pro forma financial information relating to these acquisitions has not been presented because the impact was not material. The results of operations for the acquired businesses have been included in our consolidated reports of operations since the date of respective acquisition.

In the period ended November 9, 2007, a payroll platform within the HRS segment was sold for \$6.2 and we recognized a pre-tax gain of \$2.2. Due to a sale price adjustment in the third quarter of 2007, the proceeds and the gain from this sale were reduced by \$0.2. In the period ended November 9, 2007, a block of customer contracts were sold from SVS segment for \$1.4. We recognized a pretax gain of \$1.0.

We divested a portion of a business, including \$4.9 of allocated goodwill, in 2006 for a sales price of \$11.1 and a subsequent payment to us as noted in the Successor Period. We recognized a gain on the sale of the business of \$5.8 in 2006. We are not required to classify the results of operations of the divested business as a discontinued operation as it did not meet the criteria to qualify as a discontinued operation.

5. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

In connection with the Merger, we identified \$25.1 of costs the Company expects to incur associated with implementing its operating improvement plan. Of the total identified costs, \$22.0 relates to reductions in our workforce and \$3.1 relates to consolidations of our facilities. The costs of this restructuring plan are reflected in the purchase price of the Merger in accordance with FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 95-3, *Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination*. As of the Merger date, the operating improvement plan had not been finalized and therefore, the liability established is subject to change once the plan is finalized and the actual costs incurred. Changes to these estimates could increase or decrease the amount of the purchase price allocated to goodwill. For the period from November 10 to December 31, 2007, no monthly payments or adjustments have been made related to the restructuring reserve.

In addition, we recorded a \$5.1 reserve associated with a legal settlement regarding the Merger.

6. CUSTOMER FUNDS

Overview

In connection with our U.S. and Canadian payroll and tax filing services, we collect funds for payment of payroll and taxes; temporarily hold such funds in trust until payment is due; remit the funds to the clients employees and appropriate taxing authority; file federal, state and local tax returns; and handle related regulatory correspondence and amendments. In connection with our HRS benefits services operation, we receive funds on behalf of our customers for remittances to employees, insurance providers and others. Comdata also holds non-interest bearing funds in a trust for certain of its eCash customers.

We invest the U.S. customer funds primarily in high quality collateralized short-term investments or money market mutual funds. We may also invest these funds in U.S. Treasury and Agency securities, AAA rated asset-backed securities and corporate securities rated A3/A- or better. Our Canadian trust funds are invested in securities issued by the government and provinces of Canada, highly rated Canadian banks and corporations, asset-backed trusts and mortgages.

Ceridian Canada Customer Funds

In August 2007, Ceridian held CDN \$39.0 (\$41.5) of third-party- or non-bank-sponsored asset backed commercial paper (ABCP) in its customer funds investment portfolio. The Canadian market for third-party-sponsored ABCP suffered a liquidity disruption in mid-August 2007, following which a group of financial institutions and other parties agreed, pursuant to the Montreal Accord (the Accord), to a standstill period with respect to the ABCP sold by twenty-three conduit issuers. A Pan-Canadian Investors Committee (Investors Committee) was subsequently established to oversee the orderly restructuring of these instruments during this standstill period.

On December 23, 2007, the Investors Committee announced that an agreement in principle had been reached to restructure the subject ABCP whereby the ABCP notes held by Ceridian and other investors will be exchanged for longer-term notes that will more closely match the maturity dates of the underlying assets.

On March 17, 2008 the Investor s Committee filed an application under the Company s Creditors Arrangement Act (CCAA) asking the Court to call a meeting of ABCP note holders to vote on its plan to restructure trusts covered by the Accord. Under CCAA provisions, the plan must be approved by a majority of note holders as well as by note holders representing $66^{2}/3\%$ of the total aggregate principal of affected ABCP.

In the absence of an active market for third-party-sponsored ABCP during the standstill period or identification of a similar investment that trades in an active market, Ceridian has estimated the fair value of these assets as of the Merger date and December 31, 2007 using an internally developed valuation model. In creating the model, a considerable number of assumptions were made based on information available at the time. Key components of the model include assumptions that: the proposed restructuring will be successful and therefore the probability of success is not discounted; cash flows from the assets are realized on a going concern basis rather than through asset liquidation; the existing ABCP notes will be converted to into two classes of term floating rate notes at a combined par value equal to those of the original notes; 80% of the principal value of the new trust notes will be senior notes and 20% will be subordinated notes; Ceridian s share of the senior and subordinated notes will be in the same proportion as those of the overall trust; the senior notes will be AAA rated and bear interest at 4.25% and the subordinated notes will be unrated and bear interest at 5.75%; the notes will be secured by a combination of collateralized debt obligations (CDOs) and traditional securitized assets contributed by the individual ABCP trusts with a notional value equal to 100% of the value of the new notes; cash on hand in the new trust and cash flow from the assets going forward will first be dedicated to current and ongoing expenses of the new trust, including legal, accounting, consulting, underwriting, credit enhancement and other related structuring and operating expenses, including commitment fees paid on a CDN \$5,400.0 (\$5,744.7) margin facility available to the trust to cover collateral shortfalls; cash flow after expenses will next be available to service interest payments on the notes; the senior notes will be repaid in full before the subordinated notes receive principal payments; the underlying collateral in the new trust has an average coupon rate of 6%; principal cash flows from the trust collateral occur over a 15 year total life and 6.5 year average life; the blended average discount rate applied to all cash flows is 6.21%. In addition to the assumptions above, sensitivity analysis was run on the model assuming varying levels of default rates on the underlying collateral ranging between 0% and 10%; varying levels of coupon rates on the senior notes between 3.8% and 4.7% and varying levels of coupon rates on the subordinated notes between 5.3% and 6.2%.

Based on the above assumptions, we have recorded a \$4.4 write-down during the period ended November 9, 2007, reflecting our then best estimate of the other than temporary reduction in the fair value of these investments during that period. This write-down is included with the investment income from customer funds. For the period from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007 and as of the filing date of this report, no further write-down has been recorded.

Our estimate of the fair value of the ABCP investments at December 31, 2007 is subject to significant uncertainty, especially with regards to critical assumptions underlying our valuation model. The eventual resolution of these uncertainties could be such that the ultimate fair value of these investments may vary significantly from management s current best estimate.

Financial Statement Presentation

Investment income from invested customer funds constitutes a component of our compensation for providing services under agreements with our customers. Investment income from invested customer funds included in revenue amounted to \$20.5 and \$123.2 for the periods ended November 10 to December 31, 2007 and January 1 to November 9, 2007, respectively, and \$132.0 and \$105.5 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The investment income in the January 1 to November 9, 2007 period was reduced by the

\$4.4 write-down for ABCP. Investment income includes realized gains and losses from sales of customer funds investments and unrealized losses determined to be not other than temporary. We further discuss our accounting for this investment income in the section entitled Revenue Recognition of Note 2, Accounting Policies.

The amortized cost of customer funds for December 31, 2007 represents the original cost of assets acquired after November 9, 2007, and the fair value as of November 9, 2007 for assets acquired on or before the Merger date.

The amortized cost and fair values of investments of customer funds available for sale at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

	Amortized			Fair
Investments of Customer Funds at December 31, 2007 Successor	Cost	Gain	Loss	Value
Money market securities and other cash equivalent	\$ 2,061.4	\$	\$	\$ 2,061.4
Available for sale investments:				
U.S. government and agency securities	875.0	7.6	(0.2)	882.4
Canadian and provincial government securities	400.7	1.8	(0.0)	402.5
Corporate debt securities	336.7	0.5	(0.4)	336.8
Asset-backed securities	144.3		(0.4)	143.9
Mortgage-backed and other securities	13.0			13.0
Total available for sale investments	1,769.7	9.9	(1.0)	1,778.6
Invested customer funds	3,831.1	\$ 9.9	\$ (1.0)	3,840.0
Trust receivables	11.8			11.8
Total customer funds	\$ 3,842.9			\$ 3,851.8

	Amortized			Fair
Investments of Customer Funds at December 31, 2006 Predecessor	Cost \$ 2,929.0	Gain \$	Loss \$	Value
Money market securities and other cash equivalents	\$ 2,929.0	¢	Ф	\$ 2,929.0
Available for sale investments:	005 5	0.6	(12.4)	005.0
U.S. government and agency securities	937.7	0.6	(12.4)	925.9
Canadian and provincial government securities	374.4	8.8	(0.2)	383.0
Corporate debt securities	258.0	1.2	(1.6)	257.6
Asset-backed securities	62.9	0.2	(0.1)	63.0
Mortgage-backed and other securities	29.5	0.1	(0.1)	29.5
Total available for sale investments	1,662.5	10.9	(14.4)	1,659.0
Invested customer funds	4,591.5	\$ 10.9	\$(14.4)	4,588.0
Trust receivables	5.4		. ,	5.4
Total customer funds	\$ 4,596.9			\$ 4,593.4

The following represents the gross unrealized losses and the related fair value of the investments of customer funds available for sale, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2007.

	Less than 12 months				То	tal
	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities	\$ (0.2)	\$179.3	\$	\$	\$ (0.2)	\$179.3
Canadian and provincial government securities						
Corporate debt securities	(0.4)	130.7			(0.4)	130.7
Asset-backed securities	(0.4)	94.4			(0.4)	94.4
Mortgage-backed and other securities		8.5				8.5
Total available for sale investments	\$ (1.0)	\$ 412.9	\$	\$	\$ (1.0)	\$ 412.9

Management does not believe any individual unrealized loss as of December 31, 2007 represents an other-than-temporary impairment. The unrealized losses are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit deterioration. We currently have both the intent and ability to hold the securities for the time necessary to recover the amortized cost.

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities available for sale at December 31, 2007, by contractual maturity are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

	Decembe	er 31, 2007
Investments of Customer Funds by Maturity Date	Cost	Fair Value
Due in one year or less	\$ 2,371.2	\$ 2,371.2
Due in one to three years	621.1	623.6
Due in three to five years	501.0	504.1
Due after five years	337.8	341.1
Total	\$ 3.831.1	\$ 3,840.0

Total proceeds and gross realized gains and losses from the sale of investment securities available for sale, including calls of securities resulting in a gain or loss, for each of the periods were:

	Successor	Р	redecessor		
	Period From November 10 to	Period From January 1 to		rs ended ember 31	
	December 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005	
Proceeds	\$	\$ 4.8	\$1.7	\$ 130.6	
Gross gains				1.7	
Gross losses	\$	\$ (0.1)	\$1.7	\$	

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, NET

	Successor Dece	Pre mber 31	decessor
	2007		2006
Trade receivables from customers	\$ 766.5	\$	687.2
Interest receivable from invested customer funds	28.3		21.4
Tax receivables and prepayments	34.4		
Other	10.7		6.3
Total gross receivables	839.9		714.9
Less: reserve for sales adjustments	(7.0)		(9.0)
Less: long-term portion of trade receivables	(1.6)		(0.3)
Less: long-term portion of tax receivables	(0.4)		
Less: long-term portion of interest receivable from invested customer funds	(14.8)		(9.7)
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts	(12.3)		(13.7)
Trade and other receivables, net	\$ 803.8	\$	682.2

During 2006 and 2007, a portion of the trade receivables served as collateral under the Comdata receivables securitization facility discussed in Note 9, Financing. The aggregate amount served as collateral under this facility amounted to \$307.1 at December 31, 2006. During 2007, we terminated this securitization facility. The long-term portion of trade receivables is included in other noncurrent assets on our consolidated balance sheets. The carrying value of total gross receivables approximates fair value.

The interest earnings on invested customer funds are included in revenue as discussed in Note 6, Customer Funds.

The activity related to the allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows for each of the periods:

	Suc	cessor	Predecessor				
			Period From		Period From Y		ended
	Period From November 10 to		January 1	Decen	ıber 31		
			to				
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts	Decemb	er 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005		
Balance at beginning of period	\$	12.3	\$ 13.7	\$13.9	\$ 13.3		
Provision for doubtful accounts		1.0	2.8	5.3	11.2		
Charge-offs, net of recoveries		(1.0)	(4.2)	(5.5)	(10.6)		
Balance at end of period	\$	12.3	\$ 12.3	\$ 13.7	\$ 13.9		

8. CAPITAL ASSETS

	Successor Decen	Predecessor nber 31
	2007	2006
Property, Plant and Equipment		
Land	\$ 7.5	\$ 2.9
Machinery and equipment (accumulated depreciation of \$5.0 and \$198.1)	55.3	253.7
Buildings and improvements (accumulated depreciation of \$0.3 and \$45.3)	27.0	97.1
Total property, plant and equipment	89.8	353.7
Accumulated depreciation	(5.3)	(243.4)
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$ 84.5	\$ 110.3
Other Intangible Assets		
Customer lists and relationships (accumulated amortization of \$8.5 and \$41.6)	\$ 738.0	\$ 72.6
Trademarks (accumulated amortization of \$0.0 and \$1.0)	300.0	1.3
Technology (accumulated amortization of \$11.5 and \$183.1)	422.9	254.5
Non-compete agreements (accumulated amortization of \$0.1 and \$9.7)	4.0	13.0
Total other intangible assets	1,464.9	341.4
Accumulated amortization	(20.1)	(235.4)
Other intangible assets, net	\$ 1,444.8	\$ 106.0

Goodwill	Successor	Pre	decessor
At January 1, 2006		\$	936.5
Acquisitions			19.0
Translation and other adjustments			(2.9)
Balance at December 31, 2006			952.6
Acquisitions			3.5
Translation and other adjustments			31.0
Balance at November 9, 2007		\$	987.1
Merger	\$ 3,544.5		
Translation and other adjustments	(39.8)		
Balance at December 31, 2007	\$ 3,504.7		
	,		
Tax-deductible goodwill at December 31, 2006		\$	258.1
		Ŧ	
Tax-deductible goodwill at December 31, 2007	\$ 105.2		
Tax-actualitie good will at Determote 51, 2007	φ 105.2		

	Successor	Predecessor
Depreciation and Amortization		

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

	Period from November 10 to		Period from		ended 1ber 31
	Decemb	er 31, 2007	January 1 to November 9, 200'	2006 7	2005
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	\$	5.3	\$ 34.2	\$41.1	\$41.4
Amortization of other intangible assets		20.1	39.8	45.8	43.9
Total	\$	25.4	\$ 74.0	\$ 86.9	\$ 85.3

The weighted average remaining useful life of the other intangible assets is nine years excluding the trademark which has an indefinite life (twelve to fifteen years for customer lists and relationships, three to seven years for technology, and two years for the non-compete agreements). We estimate that amortization of other intangible assets held at December 31, 2007 will be \$138.1 for 2008, \$134.0 for 2009, \$125.4 for 2010, \$110.3 for 2011, and \$107.3 for 2012.

9. FINANCING

Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

The table below presents our debt and capital lease obligations, followed by a discussion of each of these obligations.

	Decemb	
Debt and Capital Lease Obligations	2007	2006
Senior secured credit facility	\$ 2,250.0	\$
Senior notes	1,300.0	
Ceridian revolving credit facility		11.6
Comdata receivables securitization facility		82.0
Ceridian U.K. overdraft facility		
Total revolving credit facilities and overdrafts	3,550.0	93.6
Capital lease obligations	2.6	6.9
Total debt and capital lease obligations	3,552.6	100.5
Less unamortized discount on senior notes	17.9	
Less short-term debt and current portions of long-term debt and capital lease obligations	2.6	16.6
Long-term obligations, less current portions	\$ 3,532.1	\$ 83.9

Merger

In connection with the Merger, we executed the following financing arrangements: the senior secured credit facility, the 11 ¹/4% senior notes due 2015 and the 12 ¹/4/ 13% senior toggle notes due 2015. These financial arrangements are summarized below. In addition, prior to the consummation of the Merger, we terminated our previous financing arrangements: the \$250.0 revolving five year credit facility dated November 18, 2005 and the \$150.0 Comdata Receivables Securitization Facility. In connection with the debt issuance, we paid \$84.8, of which \$66.9 was recorded as deferred financing fees and \$17.9 as a debt discount. The debt discount and deferred financing fees will be amortized using the interest method over the term of the related debt.

Successor

Senior Secured Credit Facility

As part of our Merger financing we entered into a senior secured credit facility with Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent, Deutsche Bank AG Canada Branch, as Canadian sub-agent, and with a syndicate of lenders. The terms of the senior facility are set forth below.

Borrowings

The senior secured credit facility provides for a \$2,250.0 term loan facility and a \$300.0 revolving credit facility. The term loan facility consists of a \$2,140.0 term loan to Ceridian Corporation (U.S. Term Loan) and a \$110.0 term loan to Ceridian Canada Holdings ULC (Canada Term Loan). The revolving credit facility is composed of a \$225.0 revolving loan facility available to Ceridian Corporation (U.S. Revolver) and \$75.0

multi-currency revolving loan facility available to Ceridian Corporation or Ceridian Canada LTD (Multi-Currency Revolver). The U.S. Revolver includes a \$75.0 letter of credit sub-facility and a \$75.0 swingline sub-facility. The Multi-Currency Revolver includes a \$25.0 multi-currency letter of credit and a \$25.0 multi-currency swingline sub-facility. At our option and subject to certain conditions, we may increase the credit facilities in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$300.0 without the consent of any person other than the institutions agreeing to provide all or any portion of such increase.

The U.S. Term Loan and Canada Term Loan were fully borrowed on the closing date. The term loans will amortize in quarterly installments of .25% of the original principal amount of the term loans beginning on the last day of the first full fiscal quarter ended after the first anniversary of the closing date. In the fifth year after the closing date, the term loans will amortize in quarterly installments of .50% of the original principal amount of the term loans will be .25% of the original principal term loans and quarterly amortization will be .25% of the original principle thereafter. Any unpaid balance outstanding on the term loans will be payable on November 9, 2014. Repayments and prepayments of the term loans may not be re-borrowed.

Revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed after the closing date until May 9, 2014, when all outstanding revolving loans are due and payable. Approximately \$296.8 of the revolving facilities was available on December 31, 2007. The amount available under the revolving facilities was reduced by \$3.2 as result of letter of credit outstanding at December 31, 2007.

Term loans may be prepaid and revolving loan commitments may be reduced, in whole or in part without premium or penalty, subject to minimum prepayment requirements, at our option, at any time upon one to three days prior notice. We are required to prepay the loans with the net proceeds of certain incurrence of indebtedness, certain asset sales, and a certain percentage of excess cash flow.

Loan commitments may be withdrawn only if an event of default has occurred. Events of default are described later in this note.

Interest

The interest rates under the senior secured credit facility for term loans and revolving loans are based, at our option, in the case of U.S. Dollar-denominated loans, on LIBOR plus 3.00% or the alternative base rate plus 2.00%, and in the case of alternate currency denominated loans, on the Canadian prime rate plus 2.00% or EURIBOR or Sterling LIBOR plus 3.00%. Swingline loans are based on the alternative base rate plus 2.00%. The applicable margins are in the case of revolving loans and swingline loans subject to reduction based upon the attainment of certain leverage ratios. The interest rate on the senior secured credit facility at December 31, 2007 was 8.24%. Overdue principal and interest bears interest at 2.00% above the rate then applicable to such loans under the term facility. With respect to LIBOR loans, each interest is payable on the last day of each relevant interest period, and, in any event, at least every three months. With respect to alternate base rate loans, interest is payable quarterly in arrears and at the maturity of the facility. Calculations of interest are based on a 360 day year (or 365/366 days in the case of alternate base rate loans or Canadian prime rate loans and 365 days in the case of the sterling LIBOR rate loans) for the actual days elapsed.

The senior facility had associated deferred financing costs that are being amortized at the effective interest rate of 8.21% for U.S. Revolver and Multi-Currency Revolver, 8.14% for the U.S. Term Loan and 8.28% for the Canada Term Loan.

Fees

The senior secured credit facility provides for the payment to the lenders of a commitment fee equal to .50% per annum on the average daily unused portion of the revolving loan commitments, subject to reduction based on the attainment of a certain leverage ratio, payable in arrears. For the purposes of this calculation

swingline loans are not considered to be a utilization of the revolving credit facility. The total fees accrued for the period November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007 was \$0.2.

The senior secured credit facility also provides for the payment to the lenders of a letter of credit fee at a per annum rate equal to the applicable margin then in effect with respect to Eurodollar loans under the revolving facility on the aggregate face amount of all outstanding letters of credit, less the amount of the fronting fee, payable quarterly in arrears. A fronting fee in an amount to be agreed (but not to exceed 0.125% per annum) on the face amount of each letter of credit shall be payable quarterly in arrears to the relevant issuing lender.

Collateral and guarantees

The loans under the senior secured credit facility, any incremental facility and under any swap agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by each of our domestic, wholly-owned restricted subsidiaries, excluding customer funds, immaterial subsidiaries and special purpose entities. The loans and guarantees under the senior secured credit facility are secured by a perfected first priority security interest, subject to certain exceptions, in substantially all of our and the subsidiary guarantors tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of the capital stock of each of our direct and indirect material subsidiaries, limited in the case of foreign subsidiaries with respect to the term loans, to 65% of the voting capital stock and 100% of the non-voting capital stock of material first-tier foreign subsidiaries, and a non-recourse pledge of the capital stock of Ceridian Corporation by Foundation Holdings, Inc.

Representations, Warranties and Covenants

The senior facility contains certain customary representations and warranties. In addition, the senior facility contains customary covenants restricting our ability and certain of our subsidiaries ability to, among other things: incur additional indebtedness, issue disqualified stock and preferred stock; create liens; declare dividends; redeem capital stock; make investments; engage in a materially different line of business; engage in mergers, consolidations, acquisitions, asset sales or other fundamental changes; engage in certain transactions with affiliates; enter into certain restrictive agreements; make prepayments on any senior notes or subordinated indebtedness; modify junior financing documentation; and make changes to our fiscal year. In addition, beginning with the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2008, the senior facility requires us to maintain the ratio of adjusted consolidated total debt to EBITDA below specified levels on a quarterly basis, which levels reduce over time. As of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants in the indenture governing the notes.

Events of Default

Events of default under the senior secured credit facility include, but are not limited to: failure to pay interest, principal and fees or other amounts when due; material breach of any representation or warranty; covenant defaults; cross defaults to other material indebtedness; events of bankruptcy, invalidity of security interests; a change of control, material judgments for payment of money; involuntary acceleration of any debt; and other customary events of default. There were no events of default as of December 31, 2007.

11¹/4% Senior Notes due 2015 and 12¹/4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes due 2015

Also in connection with the Merger we sold $825.0 \ 11^{1}/4\%$ Senior Notes due 2015 (the Senior Notes) and $475.0 \ 2\%/3\%$ Senior Toggle Notes due 2015 (the Senior Toggle Notes, and together with the Senior Notes, the Notes) pursuant to private offerings.

Interest

Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing on May 15, 2008, and the Notes mature on November 15, 2015. Interest on the Senior Notes accrues at a rate of 11¹/4% per annum and is payable in cash only. The initial interest payment on the Senior

Toggle Notes will be payable entirely in cash. For any subsequent interest payment prior to November 15, 2011, we may elect to pay interest on the Senior Toggle Notes, at our option, (i) entirely in cash (cash interest), (ii) entirely by increasing the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes (PIK interest) or (iii) by paying half the interest on the principal amount of Senior Toggle Notes in cash interest and half in PIK interest. Cash interest on the Senior Toggle Notes will accrue at a rate of $12^{1}/4\%$ per annum, and PIK interest on the Senior Toggle Notes will accrue at a rate of 13% per annum. After November 15, 2011, all interest payable on the Senior Toggle Notes will be cash interest.

The Senior Notes were issued at a discount of 1.4% thus the carrying value of the Notes as of December 31, 2007 is \$1,282.1. The effective interest rate used to amortize the discount was 11.7% for the Senior Notes and 12.8% for the Senior Toggle Notes.

Optional Redemption

At any time prior to November 15, 2011, we may redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest and an applicable make-whole premium. On or after November 15, 2011, the Senior Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at redemption prices decreasing from 105.625% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to par on November 15, 2013 and thereafter. On or after November 15, 2011, the Senior Toggle Notes may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at redemption prices decreasing from 106.125% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued and unpaid interest to par on November 15, 2013 and thereafter.

Prior to November 15, 2010, we may, at our option, redeem up to 35% of the outstanding Notes of either series with net cash proceeds from one or more equity offerings, so long as (i) we pay 111.25% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes redeemed or 112.25% of the principal amount of the Senior Toggle Notes redeemed, as applicable, plus accrued and unpaid interest, (ii) at least 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the applicable series of Notes remain outstanding after such redemption and (iii) we redeem the Notes within 180 days of completing such equity offering.

Change of Control Offer

Upon a change of control, we are required to offer to repurchase the Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount outstanding plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Covenants

The indenture governing the Notes limits our and our restricted subsidiaries ability to, among other things: pay dividends; redeem equity interests or make restricted payments or investments; restrict our subsidiaries from paying dividends or distributions; incur additional debt or issue disqualified stock and preferred stock; sell assets; engage in transactions with affiliates; create liens on assets; and to permit restricted subsidiaries to guarantee indebtedness. As of December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenants in the indenture governing the Notes.

Events of Default

The indenture governing the Notes also contains customary events of default, including but not limited to: failure to pay any principal or interest when due; failure to comply with obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the indenture or Notes; cross defaults with other material indebtedness of payment of principal or acceleration of principal payments; material unsatisfied judgments; events of bankruptcy; and invalidity of any guarantee. There were no events of default as of December 31, 2007.

As of March 31, 2008, we were in default as a result of the failure to deliver the annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 within 90 days after the end of such fiscal year and the related management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations. On April 4, 2008, we received a waiver to the above mentioned default for the Notes until April 30, 2008.

Guarantees

The Notes are unconditionally guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis by the subsidiaries of Ceridian Corporation that guaranteed the senior secured credit facility.

Registration Rights

The registration rights agreement requires us to use our best efforts to register the senior unsecured notes with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of an offer to exchange freely tradeable notes for the Notes. If we are unable to register the bonds by the 365th day after the Issue Date, additional interest will be payable at a rate of 0.25% per annum, increasing at rate of .025% per annum for each 90 day period the Notes remain unregistered, provided that in no event may the rate exceed 1.0% per annum. Under this formula the maximum amount of additional interest that Ceridian would pay in the first full year the bonds remain unregistered is \$8.1, and the maximum amount of additional interest would be \$13.0 for each additional year the bonds remain unregistered. We expect to be able to register the unsecured Notes on a timely basis.

Maturities of Debt

The expected minimum mandatory maturities of the debt are shown below:

Year	Amount
2008	\$ 0
2009	22.5
2010	22.5
2011	27.9
2012	39.7
Thereafter	\$ 3,437.4

We may be required to make additional payments on the term loans with the proceeds of certain incurrence of indebtedness, certain asset sales and a certain percentage of cash flow. No other mandatory redemption of the 11¹/4% Senior Notes, nor the 12¹/4%/13% Senior Toggle Notes is required prior to maturity except in the event of a change in control.

Fair Value of Debt

Based on the borrowing rates currently available to us for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities, the fair value of long-term debt is \$3,304.8 at December 31, 2007 and the carrying value is \$3,532.1.

Priority of Debt

In the event of liquidation, the senior secured credit facility has priority over the Notes with respect to the proceeds of Collateral.

Other Debt Financing

At December 31, 2007, Ceridian U.K. maintained two overdraft facilities totaling £7.5 million. There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2007. The £6.5 million overdraft facility has been extended to March 2009 and the £1.0 million overdraft facility expired in March 2008. Our practice has been to renew these facilities on an annual basis.

In addition to the facilities described in this section above, Ceridian Canada had available at December 31, 2007 a committed bank credit facility that provided up to CDN \$5.0 for issuance of letters of credit and it is renewed annually at the option of the bank. The amounts of letters of credit outstanding under this facility were CDN \$3.7 (\$3.7) at December 31, 2007.

Capital Lease Obligations

Our capital lease obligations are \$2.6 at December 31, 2007. The remaining payments are due in 2008.

Predecessor

Revolving Credit Facility

The domestic revolving credit facility that we entered into on November 18, 2005 (2005 Revolving Credit Facility) provided up to \$250.0 (subject to possible increase, at our request as authorized by our Board of Directors and upon bank approval, up to \$400.0) in a combination of advances and letters of credit until November 18, 2010. This facility included a sublimit for \$25.0 for swingline loans, a \$100.0 U.S. dollar equivalent sublimit for loans made in Canadian dollars to Ceridian Canada (Canadian subfacility), and a \$50.0 U.S. dollar equivalent sublimit for multicurrency borrowings in certain currencies. The Canadian subfacility was used to meet the ongoing working capital, capital expenditures and general corporate needs of Ceridian Canada. The interest rate on the Canadian subfacility was the Eurocurrency Rate plus 115.0 basis points. As of December 31, 2006, there were no borrowings against this subfacility. Advances under the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility were unsecured. The terms of the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility required that our consolidated debt must not exceed 50% of our consolidated net worth, as defined in the agreement, as of the end of any fiscal quarter and the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense on a rolling four quarter basis must be at least 2.75 to 1. The 2005 Revolving Credit Facility also contained covenants that, among other things, limit liens, subsidiary debt, contingent obligations, operating leases, minority equity investments and divestitures. The 2005 Revolving Credit Facility was terminated prior to the Merger.

Ceridian Canada s net borrowing under the Canadian subfacility was repaid as of September 30, 2007 and \$11.6 was outstanding as of December 31, 2006. The carrying amount approximated fair value.

Comdata Receivables Securitization Facility

In June 2007, Comdata renewed its existing \$150.0 receivables securitization facility by amending the agreements to extend the maturity date to June 12, 2010 with similar terms. Under this facility, Comdata sold receivables to a special purpose subsidiary, Comdata Funding Corporation, which resold the receivables to a third party commercial paper conduit (Conduit). The interest rate paid by Comdata was typically equal to the Conduit s pooled A-1/P-1 commercial paper rate (5.9% at September 30, 2007) plus program fees. However, in the event the Conduit was unable to sell commercial paper, the rate becomes the Prime rate or LIBOR plus 1.5% at Comdata s option. The amount outstanding at December 31, 2006 was \$82.0. The carrying amount approximated fair value. The aggregate amount of receivables serving as collateral amounted to \$307.1 at December 31, 2006. The amount outstanding is accounted for as long-term debt and the receivables remain on our consolidated balance sheet even though the receivables, up to the amount outstanding, are not available to satisfy claims of creditors. This facility was subject to financial covenants similar to those included in the 2005 Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts outstanding under this facility were repaid and the facility was terminated prior to the Merger.

Equity Activities

In the period from January 1 to November 9, 2007, we did not repurchase any of our common stock on the open market. During 2006, we repurchased 13,046,500 shares of our common stock for \$316.7 on the open market at an average net price of \$24.27 per share.

We issued 3,998,858 shares in the period from January 1 to November 9, 2007, in connection with the exercise of stock options and granting of restricted stock awards from treasury stock at a cost of \$94.3 and a weighted average price of \$23.58 per common share. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, we issued 8,656,078 shares in connection with the exercise of stock options and granting of restricted stock awards from treasury stock at a cost of \$196.1 and weighted average price of \$22.66 per common share.

Other Debt Financing

At December 31, 2006, Ceridian U.K. maintained two overdraft facilities totaling £7.5 million. There were no amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2006. The £6.5 million overdraft facility has been extended to March 2009 and the £1.0 million overdraft facility expired in March 2008. Our practice has been to renew these facilities on an annual basis.

In addition to the facilities described in this section above, Ceridian Canada had available at December 31, 2006 a committed bank credit facility that provided up to CDN \$5.0 million for issuance of letters of credit and it is renewed annually at the option of the bank. The amounts of letters of credit outstanding under this facility were CDN \$3.9 million (\$3.3) at December 31, 2006.

Capital Lease Obligations

Our capital lease obligations were \$6.9 at December 31, 2006.

10. RETIREMENT PLANS

We maintain defined benefit pension plans covering certain of our current and former U.S. and U.K. employees, as well as other postretirement benefit plans for U.S. retired employees that include heath care and life insurance benefits.

We have adopted SFAS 158, Employer s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans at December 31, 2006. This statement requires employers to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of each defined benefit pension and other postretirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position, recognize changes in that funded status in the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income and measure a plan s assets and its obligations that determine its funded status as of the end of the employer s fiscal year. Below is the incremental effect of applying SFAS 158 on individual line items in the consolidated balance sheet.

		Year Ended December 31, 2006					
	Before Application of Statement 158	Adj	justments	of St	application atement 158		
Prepaid Pension Asset	\$ 284.5	\$	(284.5)	\$			
Pension Liabilities	(38.3)		(8.5)		(46.8)		
Other Postretirement Liabilities	(47.2)		(7.6)		(54.8)		
Deferred Income Taxes	8.8		103.9		112.8		
Accumulated other comprehensive income	\$ 17.8	\$	196.6	\$	214.4		

Pension Benefits

We provide retirement income benefits to our employees through a combination of defined benefit and defined contribution plans. Our largest defined benefit pension plan (the U.S. defined benefit plan) is a contributory (salary reduction) defined benefit plan for certain current and former U.S. employees that closed to new participants on January 2, 1995. On September 10, 2007, Ceridian authorized the U.S. defined benefit plan

to be amended to (1) exclude from further participation in the U.S. defined benefit plan any participant or former participant who was not employed by the Corporation or another participating employer on January 1, 2008, (2) discontinue participant contributions to the U.S. defined benefit plan, and (3) freeze the accrual of additional benefits as of December 31, 2007. The measurement date for pension benefit plans is December 31.

Assets of the U.S. defined benefit plan are held in an irrevocable trust, do not include any Ceridian securities and consist principally of equity securities, U.S. government securities and other fixed income obligations. Benefits under this plan are generally calculated on final or career average earnings and years of participation in the plan. Most participating employees were required to permit salary reduction contributions to the plan on their behalf by the employer as a condition of active participation. Retirees and other former employees are inactive participants in this plan and constitute approximately 95% of the plan participants. This plan is funded in accordance with funding requirements under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, based on determinations of an independent consulting actuary. We also sponsor a nonqualified supplemental defined benefit plan (the nonqualified defined benefit plan), which is unfunded and provides benefits to selected U.S. employees in addition to the U.S. defined benefit plan. We expect to make contributions to the nonqualified defined benefit plan amounting to \$2.3 during 2008.

The investment policy for our U.S. defined benefit plan specifies the objective is to earn the highest possible total returns consistent with the preservation of capital and anticipated liquidity requirements while minimizing the volatility of returns. Target asset allocation ranges specified in the policy are designed to achieve policy objectives and are based upon actuarial and capital market studies performed by experienced outside consultants. On a regular basis we rebalance assets to maintain asset allocations within policy ranges. Within asset categories we use a range of passive and active investment management styles to achieve our U.S. defined benefit plan s investment objectives and hire outside managers to manage all assets. The U.S. defined benefit plan currently has no allocation to real estate, derivative instruments, or other alternative investment strategies; however a small amount of real estate and venture capital investments from prior investments is shown in Cash and Other Assets. Certain asset managers may use futures contracts within limitations to achieve objectives under their assigned investment mandate. Investment of the U.S. defined benefit plan assets in our securities is prohibited by the investment policy.

On May 31, 2006, we made an employer contribution of \$75.0 to our U.S. defined benefit plan from our existing cash balance. This significant contribution resulted in a remeasurement of the plan assets, liabilities and projected pension expenses under SFAS 87, Employers Accounting for Pensions, as of that date. At the time of the contribution, the discount rate used to value the liabilities increased from 5.5% to 6.25%. Accumulated other comprehensive loss was reduced by \$50.0 as a result of the cash contribution. We made no contribution in 2007 or 2005 to the U.S. defined benefit plan.

We provide retirement benefits for our employees in the U.K. through two plans (the U.K. Plans). The U.K. Plans contain both defined benefit and defined contribution elements. The assets held by the U.K. Plans on behalf of its defined benefit participants amounted to £28.6 million (\$57.2), at December 31, 2007 and consisted primarily of debt securities (36%) and equity securities (36%). We expect to make contributions to these plans amounting to £1.3 million (\$2.6) during 2008. The investment policy for the U.K. Plans are to have sufficient monies at all times to meet its obligations as and when they occur in the future. Effective in October 2003, the larger of the two plans was amended to freeze the defined benefit element and enhance the defined contribution element of the plan.

We account for our defined benefit plans (the U.S. defined benefit plan, nonqualified defined benefit plan and the U.K. Plans, collectively referred to as our defined benefit plans) using actuarial models required by present accounting rules under SFAS 87, Employers Accounting for Pensions. This model uses an attribution approach that generally spreads the effect of individual events over the service lives of the employees in such plans. These events include plan amendments and changes in actuarial assumptions such as the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, discount rate related to the benefit obligation, rate of active participants

compensation increases and mortality rates. The principle underlying the required attribution approach is that employees render service over their service lives on a relatively smooth basis and, therefore, the income statement effects of pensions are earned in, and should follow, the same pattern.

One of the principal components of the net periodic pension calculation is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The required use of expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may result in recognized pension income that is greater or less than the actual returns of those plan assets in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-term returns are designed to approximate the actual long-term returns that contribute to the settlement of the liability. Differences between actual and expected returns are recognized in the net periodic pension calculation over five years. We use long-term historical actual return information, the mix of investments that comprise plan assets, and future estimates of long-term investment returns by reference to external sources to develop our expected return on plan assets.

The discount rate assumption used for pension plan accounting is used to determine the benefit obligation and the interest portion of the net periodic pension cost (credit) for the following year. Beginning in 2005, we added additional sources that we analyzed to determine the discount rate used for determining the present value of future pension obligations. We employed a process that analyzed three independently prepared yield curves, taking into consideration the timing of the estimated defined benefit payments in arriving at a discount rate. A 25 basis point decrease in the discount rate would result in a \$0.6 annual increase in pension expense for all plans, including the FAS 106 plan. We determine the assumed rate of compensation increase based upon our long-term plans for such increases.

In the table below, we present the allocation of assets held for the U.S. defined benefit plan, which is the largest of our defined benefit plans representing over 91% of total assets in our defined benefit plans, as of the measurement date.

	Succ	essor	Prede	cessor	
	Decem	ber 31,	Decem	ber 31,	
	20	07	20	06	Target %
Domestic Equity	\$ 295.8	50.5%	\$ 301.7	49.5%	50% +/ 8%
Domestic Fixed Income	202.6	34.6%	206.8	33.9%	35% +/ 5%
International Equity	87.5	14.9%	101.0	16.6%	15% +/ 4%
Total Invested Assets	585.9	100.0%	609.5	100.0%	100%
Cash and Other Assets	11.3		5.9		
Total Assets	\$ 597.2		\$615.4		

The funded status of our defined benefit plans represents the difference between the projected benefit obligation and the plans assets at fair value. The projected benefit obligation of our defined benefit plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets by \$22.0 and \$46.8 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Under SFAS 158, we are required to record that unfunded status as a liability in our statement of financial position and recognize the change in that funded status in comprehensive income, net of deferred income taxes.

The projected future pension defined benefit plan payments for our defined benefit plans in each of the next five years and the five-year period following are included in the table below.

Years Ended December 31					
2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013-2017
\$47.7	\$48.4	\$48.8	\$49.7	\$50.7	\$257.4

The accompanying tables reflect the combined funded status and net periodic pension cost (credit) and combined supporting assumptions for the defined benefit elements of our defined benefit plans.

		ccessor od From	Prede Period From January	ecesso	r
Funded Status of Defined Benefit	Dece	nber 10 to mber 31,	1 to November 9,		ar ended ember 31,
Retirement Plans at Measurement Date	2	2007	2007		2006
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation During the Period					
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period	\$	697.9	\$ 706.8	\$	744.1
Service cost		0.5	2.7		3.3
Interest cost		5.8	34.5		41.5
Plan amendments			(16.6)		
Currency translation and other		(2.5)	11.2		6.9
Actuarial (gain) loss		(14.5)	12.1		(33.0)
Benefits paid and plan expenses		(9.9)	(52.8)		(56.0)
Projected benefit obligation at end of period	\$	677.3	\$ 697.9	\$	706.8
Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets During the Period					
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of period	\$	686.0	\$ 660.0	\$	550.3
Actual return on plan assets		(19.9)	59.6		81.2
Currency translation and other		(2.4)	9.8		4.9
Employer contributions		0.6	9.4		79.6
Benefits paid and plan expenses		(9.9)	(52.8)		(56.0)
Plan assets at fair value at end of period	\$	654.4	\$ 686.0	\$	660.0
Funded status of plan	\$	(22.9)	\$ (11.9)	\$	(46.8)

	Successor As of Dece	Predecessor nber 31	
Amounts recognized in Statement of Financial Position	2007	2006	
Current liability	\$ (2.3)	\$ (7.0)	
Noncurrent liability	(20.6)	(39.8)	
Deferred income tax	5.4	110.0	
Amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income			
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax	\$ 8.4	\$ 209.6	
The other comprehensive income related to pension hangfit plans is as follows:			

The other comprehensive income related to pension benefit plans is as follows:

	Successor	Р	Predecessor	
	Period From November 10 to	Period From January 1 to	Years ended December 31	
	December 31,	November 9,		
	2007	2007	2006	2005
Recognized net actuarial loss	\$	\$ (13.5)	\$ (15.5)	\$ (16.2)

Unrecognized loss (gain) arising during the period	13.8	(16.9)	(34.8)	16.9
Tax expense (benefit)	(5.4)	7.4	18.7	(0.4)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	\$ 8.4	\$ (23.0)	\$ (31.6)	\$ 0.3

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

	Suc	cessor		Predecessor		
Discount rate used to determine net benefit cost (credit) Rate of compensation increase Expected return on plan assets Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations Net Periodic Pension Cost (Credit) Service cost Interest cost Expected return on plan assets	Period From November 10 to December 31,		Period From January 1 to November 9,	Years ended December 31		
Assumption Used in Calculations 2 Discount rate used to determine net benefit cost (credit) Rate of compensation increase Expected return on plan assets Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations Succe Periodic Pension Cost (Credit) 2 Service cost S Interest cost Expected return on plan assets Net amortization and deferral Total before settlements/curtailments Effect of settlements/curtailments	007	2007	2006	2005		
Discount rate used to determine net benefit cost (credit)		6.22%	5.99%	5.76%	5.53%	
Rate of compensation increase		4.04%	4.04%	4.02%	4.00%	
Expected return on plan assets		6.99%	8.37%	8.47%	8.69%	
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligations		6.22%	5.99%	5.54%	5.53%	
	Pe F	cessor criod rom ber 10 to	Period From January 1 to	Predecessor Years Decem		
Net Periodic Pension Cost (Credit)		nber 31, 007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005	
Service cost	\$	0.5	\$ 2.7	\$ 3.3	\$ 4.1	
Interest cost		5.8	34.5	41.5	40.9	
Expected return on plan assets		(8.0)	(46.9)	(50.8)	(46.7)	
Net amortization and deferral			13.5	15.5	16.2	
Total before settlements/curtailments		(1.7)	3.8	9.5	14.5	
Effect of settlements/curtailments			2.1			
Total after settlements/curtailments	\$	(1.7)	\$ 5.9	\$ 9.5	\$ 14.5	

The accumulated benefit obligation of our defined benefit plans was \$669.8 and \$690.3 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The amount in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost during 2008 is not material.

Postretirement Benefits

We provide health care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees, including individuals who retired from operations we subsequently sold or discontinued. We sponsor several health care plans in the U.S. for both pre-and post-age 65 retirees. Our contributions to these plans differ for various groups of retirees and future retirees. Most retirees outside the U.S. are covered by governmental health care programs, and our cost is not significant. The measurement date for postretirement benefit plans is December 31. We implemented Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff Position No. (FSP) 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 in 2004, which addressed the accounting for the federal subsidy for the sponsors of single employer defined benefit postretirement healthcare plans that commenced in 2006.

The accompanying tables present the amounts and changes in the aggregate benefit obligation at the beginning and end of and for each of the last two measurement periods and the components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for U.S. plans for the periods November 10, 2007 through December 31, 2007, January 1, 2007 though November 9, 2007, and years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. We fund these costs as they become due.

Funded Status of Postretirement		ccessor od From	Pre Period From January	decessor	
	Noven	nber 10 to	1 to		r ended
Health Care and Life Insurance Plans	Decemb	oer 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	Deceml	ber 31, 2006
Change in Benefit Obligation					
At beginning of period	\$	58.3	\$ 54.8	\$	55.5
Service cost			0.1		0.1
Interest cost		0.5	2.6		2.9
Participant contributions		0.4	2.2		2.7
Actuarial gain		(1.4)	3.2		(0.3)
Benefits paid		(0.9)	(4.6)		(6.1)
At end of period	\$	56.9	\$ 58.3	\$	54.8
Change in Plan Assets					
At beginning of period	\$		\$	\$	
Company contributions		0.5	2.4		3.4
Participant contributions		0.4	2.2		2.7
Benefits paid		(0.9)	(4.6)		(6.1)
At end of period	\$		\$	\$	
Funded Status	\$	(56.9)	\$ (58.3)	\$	(54.8)

Successor As of Dec		decessor 1
2007		2006
\$ (4.4)	\$	(3.6)
(52.5)		(51.2)
(0.5)		2.8
\$ (0.9)	\$	4.8
	As of De 2007 \$ (4.4) (52.5) (0.5)	As of December 3 2007 \$ (4.4) \$ (52.5) (0.5)

The other comprehensive income related to postretirement benefits is as follows:

	Successor	Predecessor		r	
	Period From November 10 to	Period From January 1 to	Years Decem	ended Iber 31	
	December 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005	
Recognized net actuarial loss	\$	\$ (0.2)	\$ (0.3)	\$ (0.5)	
Unrecognized loss (gain) arising during the period	(1.4)	3.2	7.9	0.5	
Tax expense (benefit)	0.5	(1.1)	(2.8)		

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc Form S-4					
Other comprehensive income, net of tax	\$	(0.9)	\$ 1.9	\$ 4.8	\$

	Successor	Predecessor		r
		Period From		s ended
	Period From November 10 to	January 1 to	Decer	nber 31
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefits Cost (Credit)	December 31, 2007	November 9, 200'	7 2006	2005
Service cost	\$	\$ 0.1	\$ 0.1	\$ 0.1
Interest cost	0.5	2.6	2.9	3.0
Actuarial loss amortization		0.2	0.3	0.5
Net periodic benefit cost	\$ 0.5	\$ 2.9	\$ 3.3	\$ 3.6

The amount in accumulated other comprehensive income that is expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic postretirement benefit cost during 2008 is not material.

The assumed health care cost trend rate represents the rate at which health care costs are assumed to increase. The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the benefit obligation in 2007 is 9.0% for pre-age 65 retirees and 10.5% for post-age 65 retirees. These rates are assumed to decrease gradually to the ultimate health care cost trend rate of 5.0% in 2016 for both groups. A one percent increase in this rate would increase the benefit obligation at December 31, 2007 by \$4.0 and the aggregate service and interest cost for 2007 by \$0.2. A one percent decrease in this rate would decrease the benefit obligation at December 31, 2007 by \$3.8 and the aggregate service and interest cost for the 2007 measurement period by \$0.2. The weighted average discount rates used in determining the net periodic postretirement benefit cost were 6.00%, 5.75%, 5.50% and 6.00% for periods November 10 through December 31, 2007, January 1 through November 9, 2007, December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, 6.00% for January 1 through November 9, 2007, and 5.75% in 2006. We used the same discount rate for measuring our postretirement benefit plan obligations as for measuring our obligations under our U.S. defined benefit plans. Due to the small size of the participant base, the similarity in characteristics of expected payment obligations to the defined benefit plans participant base, and due to very little variability in interest rates over different time periods, using a different discount rate for the postretirement benefit obligation.

The projected future postretirement benefit payments and future receipts from the federal subsidy for each of the next five years and the five-year period following are included in the table below.

	Payments	Receipts
2008	\$ 4.8	\$ 0.4
2009	5.0	0.5
2010	5.2	0.5
2011	5.3	0.5
2012	5.3	0.5
2013-2017	26.2	2.4
6 1 C 4 . 1 1		

Defined Contribution Benefits

We sponsor defined contribution plans that provide retirement benefits to substantially all of our employees. Company contributions are based upon the contractual obligations of each respective plan. We recognized expense of \$2.8, \$17.5, \$17.3 and \$15.6 for the period November 10 to December 31, 2007, January 1 to November 9, 2007, and for the years ended 2006 and 2005, respectively, with regard to employer contributions to these plans.

11. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Successor

Overview

We maintained stock-based compensation plans for directors, employees and consultants of the Company.

The Ceridian Holding 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (2007 SIP), authorized the issuance of up to 10,540,540 common shares of Ceridian Holding in connection with awards of stock options and stock awards. Eligible participants in the 2007 SIP include our directors, employees and consultants. As of December 31, 2007, 3,329,729 shares were available for future grants under the 2007 SIP.

Stock options awarded under the 2007 SIP vest either annually on a pro rata basis over a five-year period or on a specific date if certain performance criteria are satisfied and certain equity values are attained. The stock option awards have 10-year contractual term and have an exercise price that is not less than the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant.

Performance Options

The performance-based options vest on the earlier to occur of a change in control or an initial public offering (IPO) in which the value of the stock is at least \$20 per share or higher. If the value of the common stock has not reached \$20 or higher per share at the time an IPO/change of control event occurs, the options expire unvested.

We used an integrated Monte Carlo simulation model and a trinomial lattice model to estimate the value of the performance options. The Monte Carlo model utilizes multiple input variables that determine the probability of satisfying the market conditions stipulated in the award. This probability is an input into the trinomial lattice model used to fair value the options. The weighted average assumptions used in estimating the value of the performance based options are as follows:

	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007
Expected volatility	45.0%
Expected dividend rate	
Risk-free interest rate	4.2%

The fair value of performance-based options granted during the period November 10 to December 31, 2007 had a weighted average value of \$5.56 per option. At December 31, 2007, there was \$20.0 of stock option compensation expense related to nonvested performance based awards not yet recognized.

We granted 3,605,405 performance-based options during the period from November 10 to December 31, 2007 with a weighted exercise price of \$10 per share. As of December 31, 2007, these options had a weighted contractual term of 9.86 years and the aggregate intrinsic value is not material.

Term Options

The fair value of the term-based stock options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Successor Period From November 10 to
	December 31, 2007
Expected life in years	6.50
Expected volatility	45.0%

Expected dividend rate Risk-free interest rate

3.9%

For the period November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007, we have used the simplified method allowed by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, *Share-Based Payment*, with the graded vesting approach to determine the expected life for the service based stock options.

The weighted average grant date fair value of term-based stock options granted during the period was \$5.04 per share. At December 31, 2007, there was \$12.9 of stock option compensation expense related to nonvested term based awards not yet recognized.

We granted 3,605,406 term-based options during the period from November 10 to December 31, 2007 with a weighted exercise price of \$10 per share. As of December 31, 2007, these options had a weighted contractual term of 9.86 years and the aggregate intrinsic value is not material.

For all stock options, the risk-free interest rate we use is based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues with remaining term equal to the contractual term of the option. The estimated volatility of Ceridian Holding common stock is based on the historical 120-month volatility for several comparable public companies as well as the six-year historical volatility of Predecessor Ceridian Corporation.

Predecessor

As a result of the Merger, all stock options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards outstanding at November 9, 2007 became fully vested and paid out. There are no shares remaining available for future grants related to the below plans.

We maintained stock-based compensation plans for non-employee directors, officers, employees, consultants and independent contractors.

The Ceridian Corporation 2004 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (2004 LTSIP), authorized the issuance of up to 6,000,000 common shares in connection with awards of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalents, performance awards, stock awards and other stock-based awards. Eligible participants in the 2004 LTSIP included our employees, officers, consultants, advisors and non-employee directors. As of December 31, 2006, 2,081,676 shares were available for future grants under the 2004 LTSIP.

The Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (2001 LTSIP) authorized the issuance of up to 27,000,000 common shares in connection with similar awards. Eligible participants in the 2001 LTSIP include our employees and non-employee directors, consultants and independent contractors. As of December 31, 2006, 1,483,557 shares were available for future grants under the 2001 LTSIP.

We had also granted non-qualified stock options to employees who were not executive officers or directors pursuant to the Ceridian Corporation 2002 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (2002 ESIP). The 2002 ESIP was terminated on May 12, 2004 in connection with the approval by our shareholders of the 2004 LTSIP. All outstanding awards under the 2002 ESIP remained in effect at the time of termination of this plan.

Stock options, restricted stock awards and restricted stock units awarded under the 2004 LTSIP, 2001 LTSIP and 2002 ESIP generally vested either annually on a pro rata basis over a three-year period or on a specific date if certain performance criteria are satisfied. Stock options generally had either a 5-year or 10-year term and had an exercise price that was not less than the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Prior to February 17, 2006, most stock option award agreements under these plans included a retirement feature that accelerates future vesting (service) dates to the retirement date for recipients who terminated employment and who were age 55 or older and have 10 years of qualified employment service. Subsequent to February 17, 2006, stock option and restricted stock unit award agreements under the 2004 LTSIP contained a retirement feature that permitted the continued vesting of such awards following a recipients retirement for recipients who terminated employment service. Restricted stock awards did not include such a retirement feature.

For stock option awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense was generally recognized evenly over the requisite service period of each individual vesting increment. As a result, in 2006 we recognized approximately \$1.3 of compensation expense attributed to retirement eligible employees who received grants prior to January 1, 2006. For restricted stock awards granted prior to January 1, 2006, compensation expense is generally recognized evenly over the requisite service period, which was usually the entire vesting period of each grant. Subsequent to January 1, 2006, compensation expense for all awards was recognized evenly over the requisite service period, which was usually the entire vesting period of each grant. The fair value of stock options and restricted stock units received by retirement eligible employees was expensed when granted.

The Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated 2001 Director Performance Incentive Plan (2001 DPIP), which expired in May 2005, authorized the issuance of common shares in connection with awards of stock options, restricted stock and deferred restricted stock units to our non-employee directors. All outstanding awards under the 2001 DPIP remained in effect at the time of expiration of this plan. Since the expiration of the 2001 DPIP, equity awards were made to non-employee directors under the 2004 LTSIP.

Prior to January 1, 2006, an annual grant of a non-qualified stock option to purchase 4,000 shares was made to each eligible non-employee director at the time of election or re-election to the Board at our annual stockholders meeting, with such grants becoming fully exercisable six months after the date of grant. The exercise price of the options was the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant, and the options expired in ten years. Effective January 1, 2006, the amount of shares underlying this annual grant of non-qualified stock options to non-employee directors was increased to 8,000 shares. Such grants vested annually on a pro rata basis over a three year period after the date of grant. The exercise price of the options was at the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant, and the options expired in five years.

Additionally, at least 50% of the annual Board retainer for each non-employee director was provided in the form of restricted stock, deferred restricted stock units or a combination of the two. Non-employee directors elected to receive up to 100% of their annual Board retainer and up to 100% of any Board committee chair fees in the form of restricted stock, deferred restricted stock units or a combination of the two. Such restricted stock and deferred restricted stock units were subject to forfeiture on a pro rata basis if a director s service on the Board terminated before December 31 in the year of grant other than following a change of control, and the restrictions on transfer of such awards lapsed at the conclusion of the director s service.

A one-time award of restricted stock was made to each non-employee director when the director first joins the Board with restrictions on transfer that ordinarily lapsed annually over a five-year period. Prior to January 1, 2006, the number of shares awarded had a fair market value equal to two and one-half times the then-current annual Board retainer paid to non-employee directors. Subsequent to January 1, 2006, the number of shares awarded had a fair market value of \$150,000.

We had reserved 500,000 common shares for issuance under the 2001 Savings-Related Share Option Plan (2001 SAYE) for our employees in the United Kingdom. At December 31, 2006, 51,015 shares of common stock remained eligible to be purchased under the 2001 SAYE. No future participation was permitted in this plan.

We generally used our treasury stock to address our obligations under our stock compensation plans.

The Ceridian Corporation Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) was terminated on December 15, 2005. The ESPP provided for the issuance of up to 1,600,000 newly issued or treasury common shares to our eligible U.S. employees. The purchase price of the common shares was 85% of the lesser of the fair market value on either the first day or the last day of the applicable three-month offering period. There were 419,359 common shares available under the ESPP at the time of termination.

Stock option activity in the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 was as follows:

	Shares	Weighted Ave Shares Exercise Pri	
Beginning options outstanding	9,376,024	\$	20.03
Granted	938,488	\$	33.11
Exercised (Jan. 1 through Nov. 8, 2007)	(3,845,959)	\$	19.19
Outstanding options payout (Nov. 9, 2007)	(5,912,868)	\$	22.36
Exercised due to Merger	(9,758,827)	\$	21.11
Forfeited or expired	(555, 685)	\$	23.09
Ending options outstanding		\$	
Ending options exercisable		\$	

Other information pertaining to options was as follows:

	Period Fro	m January 1 to	Years Decem	
	Novem	ber 9, 2007	2006	2005
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised	\$	133.8	\$ 66.3	\$ 35.5
Weighted average grant date fair value per share of stock options granted	\$	8.48	\$ 8.45	\$ 6.01
Cash received from the exercise of stock options	\$	75.4	\$ 150.8	\$ 88.3
Tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options	\$	30.7	\$ 22.1	\$ 11.7
The fair colors of these stands and in a string of a stand of the data of smart wine the T	1	:: . :	.4 4 6 11 .	

The fair value of these stock options was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

	Period From January 1 to	Years Decem	
	November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Expected life in years	3.79	4.23	3.90
Expected volatility	23.5%	32.8%	35.4%
Expected dividend rate			
Risk-free interest rate	4.6%	4.4%	4.1%

For the period ended November 9, 2007, we used a projected expected life for each award granted based on historical experience of our employees exercise behavior. We stratified our employee population based upon distinctive exercise behavior patterns. Expected volatility was based on historical daily volatility levels of our common shares. The risk-free interest rate was based on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues.

Restricted stock unit activity in the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 was as follows:

	Number of
	Restricted Stock Units
Beginning units outstanding	368,491
Granted	545,417
Converted (Jan. 1 through Nov. 8, 2007)	(119,180)
Converted due to Merger (Nov. 9, 2007)	(656,678)
Forfeited	(138,050)

Ending units outstanding Ending undelivered vested units

The intrinsic value of the converted restricted stock units during the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 was \$27.7. The intrinsic value of the converted restricted stock units during the year ended December 31, 2006 was less than \$0.1. There were no restricted stock units converted during the years ended December 31, 2005.

Restricted stock award activity in the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 was as follows:

			ted Average
	Number of Restricted Shares	Grant-Date Fair Value	
Beginning nonvested balance	299,264	\$	22.09
Granted	29,148	\$	32.03
Vested (Jan. 1 though Nov. 8, 2007)	(135,459)	\$	21.57
Vested due to Merger Nov. 9, 2007	(180,745)	\$	24.31
Total vested	(316,204)	\$	23.13
Forfeited	(12,208)	\$	18.79
Ending nonvested balance as of Nov. 9, 2007		\$	

The fair value of restricted stock vested during the period January 1 to November 9, 2007 and the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was \$7.3, \$2.6, and \$2.2, respectively.

A summary of information with respect to stock-based compensation is as follows:

	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31,	Pr Period From January 1 to November 9,	redecessor Years Decem	
	2007	2007	2006	2005
Stock-based compensation costs included in:				
Cost of revenue	\$	\$ 8.4	\$ 4.1	\$
Selling, general and administrative	0.3	35.7	16.5	2.5
Research and development		0.9	0.4	
Total stock-based compensation costs	0.3	45.0	21.0	2.5
Amounts capitalized				
Amounts charged against income, before income tax benefit	0.3	45.0	21.0	2.5
Income tax benefit related to stock-based compensation included in net earnings	0.1	17.1	7.2	1.0
Net compensation expense included in net earnings	\$ 0.2	\$ 27.9	\$ 13.8	\$ 1.5

12. SUPPLEMENTARY DATA TO STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Predecessor				
Period From	Years	ended		
January 1	January 1 December			
to				
November 9,				
2007	2006	2005		
	Period From January 1 to November 9,	Period From Years January 1 Decem to November 9,		

Other (Income) Expense, Net

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Asset write-downs	\$	\$ 0.3	\$ 0.3	\$ 9.1
Foreign currency (gain) loss		6.4 (0.2)	(0.9)	0.2
Gain on sale of assets	(0.0) (3.0)	(6.9)	(0.5)
Gain on sale of marketable securities		(6.2)	(2.3)	(4.3)
Other (income) expense	(0.0) (0.6)	(0.7)	
Total	\$	6.4 \$ (9.7)	\$ (10.5)	\$ 4.5

Asset write-downs

Predecessor

During 2007, we had asset write-downs for technology and property of \$0.3. During 2006, we had asset write-downs of \$0.3 for technology, all of which was due to abandonment of a technology project. During 2005, we had asset write-downs of \$9.1, of which \$7.8 was due to abandonment of technology projects.

Foreign currency remeasurement

Successor

To facilitate the Merger, we placed \$110.0 of U.S. dollar denominated debt in Ceridian Canada which will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. We incurred a \$6.6 foreign currency remeasurement loss from November 10 to December 31, 2007.

Gain on sale of assets and marketable securities

Predecessor

The gain on asset sales primarily relates to a \$2.0 gain on a payroll platform within the HRS segment, and a \$1.0 gain related to the sale of a customer list. The gain on marketable securities in 2007 relates to a \$5.7 gain on Ultimate stock sales and a \$0.5 gain on the iSarla stock sale.

During 2006, the gain on asset sale primarily relates to a 5.8 gain on the sale of a major portion of the 401(k) recordkeeping and administration business and 1.1 related to the sale of other assets. The gain on marketable securities in 2006 is due to sales of Ultimate stock. The gain of sale of marketable securities in 2005 is the result of Ultimate and USIH stock sales of 3.6 and 0.7, respectively.

13. INCOME TAXES

Successor

An enacted tax rate reduction in Canada resulted in a reduction to our tax expense of \$3.2. As of December 31, we consider our tax accruals adequate to cover any U.S. and international tax deficiencies not recoverable through deductions in future years.

Predecessor

Items that impacted the tax provision of the predecessor during 2007 include the merger and activities related to it and the sale of a business unit. The merger activities resulted in additional tax expense of \$10.3.

In 2006, the expiration of the statute of limitations on an international tax contingency and a Canadian tax rate reduction resulted in a reduction in our income tax expense of \$8.6 and \$2.8, respectively. During 2005, we favorably settled a significant tax issue that resulted in a \$13.0 reduction in tax expense. We also repatriated \$130.3 of earnings from Ceridian Canada pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 resulting in an additional tax expense of \$5.2. In addition, a former affiliate settled an audit that resolved our potential obligations from a previous spin-off transaction reducing our tax expense by \$5.9. Finally, the expiration of the statue of limitations and other adjustments to our tax contingency liabilities resulted in a \$6.2 reduction in our tax expense.

	Successor Period From November 10 to		Period From January 1 to	Predecessor Years ended December 31	
Components of Earnings and Taxes from Operations		mber 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Earnings Before Income Taxes		2007	2007	2000	2005
U.S.	\$	(18.6)	\$ 136.7	\$215.4	\$ 141.2
International		(0.6)	31.6	43.9	32.6
Total	\$	(19.2)	\$ 168.3	\$ 259.3	\$ 173.8
Income Tax Provision					
Current					
U.S.	\$	(2.0)	\$ 30.0	\$ 38.8	\$ 39.4
State and local		0.9	4.2	5.6	2.4
International		18.5	4.9	16.0	15.5
		17.4	39.1	60.4	57.3
Deferred					
U.S.		(4.7)	20.2	28.9	(10.9)
State and local		(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	(0.9)
International		(19.3)	12.9	(3.5)	0.4
		(24.2)	33.7	25.3	(11.4)
Total	\$	(6.8)	\$ 72.8	\$ 85.7	\$ 45.9

	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007			Predecessor			
			Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007	December 31			
Effective Rate Reconciliation							
U.S. statutory rate		35%	35%	35%	35%		
Income tax provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate	\$	(6.7)	\$ 58.9	\$ 90.8	\$ 60.8		
Tax on international earnings					(13.0)		
Tax settlements				(2.0)	(6.2)		
Tax on international statute expiration				(8.6)			
Tax sharing agreement settlements					(5.9)		
Merger related costs			5.5				
Meals and entertainment		0.1	0.7	0.9	1.0		
State income taxes, net of federal benefit and valuation allowance		0.4	3.8	5.1	3.5		
Foreign earnings repatriation			4.8		5.2		
Rate change		(3.2)					
Other		2.6	(0.9)	(0.5)	0.5		
Income tax provision (benefit)	\$	(6.8)	\$ 72.8	\$ 85.7	\$ 45.9		

Tax Effect of Items That Comprise a Significant Portion of the	Successor Decer	Successor Predecessor December 31	
Net Deferred Tax Asset and Deferred Tax Liability	2007		2006
Deferred Tax Asset			7 2 (
Employment related accruals	\$ 31.7	\$	53.6
Foreign tax credit carryover	11.1		
Accrued liabilities and other	28.6		18.6
Net operating loss carryforwards	32.6		26.9
Total gross deferred tax asset	104.0		99.1
Valuation allowance	(41.9)		(22.7)
	(+1.7)		(22.7)
Total deferred tax asset	62.1		76.4
Deferred Tax Liability			
Intangibles	(357.2)		(47.0)
Other	(44.3)		(27.3)
Total deferred tax liability	(401.5)		(74.3)
Net deferred tax asset/(liability)	\$ (339.4)	\$	2.1
Net Deferred Tax by Geography			
United States	(302.0)	\$	23.5
International	(37.4)		(21.4)
Total	\$ (339.4)	\$	2.1

Successor

At December 31, 2007, we had total net operating loss carryforwards of approximately \$398.2. Amounts available to reduce future taxable income include \$5.6 of U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards, \$375.9 of U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards, and \$ 16.7 of international net operating loss carryforwards. If unused, these carryforwards will expire between 2008 and 2027.

We have recorded valuation allowances related to certain state and international net operating losses, an international net capital loss carryforward, and excess US foreign tax credits because it is considered more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized. At December 31, 2007, the valuation allowance relating to state tax operating loss carryforwards was approximately \$28.1, the allowance related to international operating loss carryforwards was approximately \$0.8, the valuation allowance relating to net international capital loss carryforward is \$1.9 and the valuation allowance related to the excess foreign tax credits was \$11.1. We believe that the remainder of our deferred tax asset is realizable.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. With a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003. In addition, in the first quarter of 2008, we received a final determination of our 2004 and 2005 U.S. federal income tax returns. A small payment was made and there was minimal impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes the activity for unrecognized tax benefits:

Federal, State and Foreign Tax	Successor Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007	Predece Period I January November		
Beginning unrecognized tax balance	\$ 3.3	\$	3.4	
Increase prior period positions				
Increase current period positions	0.1		1.1	
Decrease current period positions			(0.1)	
Settlements				
Statutes expiring			(1.1)	
Ending unrecognized tax benefits	\$ 3.4	\$	3.3	

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 was \$3.4 including \$0.3 of accrued interest. Of the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, \$2.8 represents the amount that, if recognized, would favorably impact our effective income tax rate as of December 31, 2007. It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next 12 months; however, we can not reasonably estimate the amount of the change. We do not expect the change to have a significant impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

We consider earnings from international subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested and accordingly, we do not provide U.S. income taxes or withholding taxes on these earnings. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, we would be subject to both U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes payable offset by applicable foreign tax credits. As of December 31, 2007, as a result of transactions related to the merger and debt financing and the dividend paid in 2005 under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, we do not have any undistributed foreign earnings.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. With a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2003. During 2007, we received a final determination of our 2001 and 2002 U.S. federal income tax returns. A small refund was received and there was minimal impact on the consolidated financial statements.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees and Indemnifications

As a result of the sale of the SourceWeb Assets in 2004, we recorded a pre-tax charge and accrued a liability of \$19.2 representing the fair value of an associated guaranteed future minimum royalty obligation to Ultimate. As of December 31, 2007, the remaining liability was \$1.7. Future payments of principal and interest under this obligation will amount to \$1.7 in 2008.

Our general terms and conditions in customer contracts frequently include a statement indicating we will indemnify and hold our customer harmless from and against any and all claims alleging that the services and materials furnished by us violate any third party s patent, trade secret, copyright or other intellectual property right. We are not aware of any material pending litigation concerning these indemnities.

Leasing

We conduct substantially all of our operations in leased facilities. Most of our leases contain renewal options and require payments for taxes, insurance and maintenance.

Substantially all our leasing arrangements for equipment and facilities are operating leases and the rental payments under these leases are charged to operations as incurred. The amounts in the accompanying tables do not include capital lease obligations recorded as liabilities.

Our rental expense and sublease income for periods from November 10, to December 31, 2007, January 1 to November 9, 2007, years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 appear in the following table:

	Successor				
		d From ber 10 to	Period From January 1 to		ended 1ber 31
Rental Expense		er 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005
Rental expense	\$	7.1	\$ 45.5	\$51.4	\$ 53.0
Sublease rental income		(0.1)	(0.7)	(0.2)	(0.2)
Net rental expense	\$	7.0	\$ 44.8	\$ 51.2	\$ 52.8

Our future minimum noncancelable lease payments on existing operating leases at December 31, 2007, which have an initial term of more than one year, are presented in the following table:

Future Minimum Lease Payments	
2008	\$ 46.1
2009	37.7
2010	32.1
2011	25.1
2012	15.7
Thereafter	\$ 59.7

15. Related Party Transactions

Management Agreements

On May 30, 2007, we entered into two separate management agreements with and Fidelity National Financial Inc. (FNF) and THL Managers VI, LLC (THLM), an affiliate of Thomas H. Lee, L.P (THL Partners). Pursuant to these management agreements, FNF and THLM each, respectively, agreed to provide us with financial advisory, strategic and general oversight services. The agreements provide that we paid one time transaction fees of \$36.0 to each of THLM and FNF at the closing of the Merger. The agreements also provide that we will pay annual management fees to each of THLM and FNF in an amount equal to the greater of (a) \$2.0 million, or (b) 0.5 percent of Adjusted EBITDA, which for purposes of the management agreement is EBITDA as defined in our senior secured credit facilities, further adjusted to exclude the payments made pursuant to the management agreements and certain stock options or other equity compensation recognized under SFAS 123R. We also agreed under the management agreements to indemnify THLM and FNF as well as to pay certain expenses and fees incurred by THLM and FNF in connection with the Merger.

The agreements terminate upon the earlier of (a) seven years from the date of the agreement or (b) the consummation of an initial public offering of Ceridian. Upon the occurrence of an initial public offering, a lump sum payment equal to the net present value of the annual management fee for a seven year period, discounted using the 10-year treasury discount rate as of the date of determination, would be due to THLM and FNF.

During the period from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007, the Company recorded a combined management fee expense of \$0.8 due to THLM and FNF. The total of \$72.0 of transaction fees paid to THLM and FNF was recorded as an equity issuance cost of \$55.4 and deferred financing fees of \$16.6.

Preferred Stock Dividends

In connection with the Merger, 30,000,000 shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate were issued at \$10 per share. Subsequent to the Merger and as of December 31, 2007, 30,935 shares of preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate were issued to certain of our employees at \$10 per share. This preferred stock has a 13% cumulative dividend rate and we expect to fund the payment in future periods at the request of Ceridian Intermediate. As of December 31, 2007, Ceridian Intermediate had accrued and cumulative unpaid dividends of \$5.6.

Stock-Based Compensation

The 2007 SIP authorized the issuance of up to 10,540,540 common shares of Ceridian Holding in connection with awards of stock options and stock awards. Eligible participants in the 2007 SIP include our directors, employees and consultants.

16. LEGAL MATTERS

We are subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings, customer disputes, and tort claims. In some proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial expenditures on our part.

Some of these matters raise difficult and complex factual and legal issues, and are subject to many uncertainties, including the facts and circumstances of each particular action, and the jurisdiction, forum and law under which each action is proceeding. Because of this complexity, final disposition of some of these proceedings may not occur for several years. As such, we are not always able to estimate the amount of our possible future liabilities. There can be no certainty that we may not ultimately incur charges in excess of presently or established future financial accruals or insurance coverage. Although occasional adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, it is management s opinion that the final disposition of these proceedings will not, considering the merits of the claims and available reserves and insurance and based upon the facts and circumstances currently known, have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Securities Class Action

Since August 6, 2004, six shareholder lawsuits have been filed against Ceridian Corporation and certain of our former executive officers in the United States District Court, District of Minnesota. Those lawsuits were consolidated into a single case captioned *In re Ceridian Corporation Securities Litigation*, Case No. 04-cv-03704 PJS-RLE. This consolidated action purports to be a class action filed on behalf of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between April 17, 2003 through and including March 17, 2005, and allege claims against Ceridian and certain of our former executive officers under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act). Plaintiffs challenge the accuracy of certain public disclosures made by us regarding our financial performance, and in particular our accounting for revenue and expenses, accounting for capitalization, accounting for derivatives, accounting for long-term leases, and accounting for trademarks. Plaintiffs allege, in essence, that our series of restatements constituted a violation of Section 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. On May 25, 2006, the United States District Court, District of Minnesota granted our motion to dismiss the consolidated class action complaint and gave leave to the plaintiffs to file an amended complaint. An amended complaint was filed on July 14, 2006. Our motion to dismiss the amended consolidated class action complaint with prejudice was granted on June 5, 2007. Plaintiffs appealed that decision on July 3, 2007. Oral arguments at the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals are scheduled for April 14, 2008.

We continue to believe these claims are without merit and we intend to vigorously defend our position in this action. We cannot estimate the possible loss or range of loss from this matter.

Derivative Action

Since August 13, 2004, two shareholders have filed derivative suits on behalf of Ceridian Corporation against Ceridian Corporation, as nominal defendant, certain current and former directors and certain of our former executive officers in the United States District Court, District of Minnesota. *James Park, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al.*, and *Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al.*, and *Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al.*, and *Anthony Santiamo, Derivatively On Behalf of Ceridian Corporation v. Ronald L. Turner, et al.*, both served August 19, 2004. These complaints were consolidated into a single lawsuit. The consolidated lawsuit alleges that our Board of Directors as of August 2004 and certain of our former executive officers breached fiduciary duties, through abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corporate assets and unjust enrichment. The consolidated lawsuit, which relies on the same factual allegations as the purported class action shareholder lawsuits described above, is currently stayed. In connection with the settlement of *Sullivan v. Marinello, et al.*, Case No. 27-CV-07-12994, discussed below, the plaintiffs have agreed that the consolidated lawsuit will be dismissed with prejudice.

SEC Investigation

On January 22, 2004, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K, under Item 5, stating that we announced that we were responding to a document request from the Securities and Exchange Commission, and that we had been advised that the SEC had issued a formal order of investigation. In February 2004, we provided documents responsive to the SEC. In July 2004, we advised the SEC of the investigation being directed by the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. We kept the SEC advised on a regular basis of the Audit Committee s investigation. On December 10, 2004, we received a further formal confidential document request from the SEC. The second request broadened the areas of inquiry to include, among other things, our restatements, revenue recognition, capitalization, expense recognition, how we respond to any internal ethics complaints, and our accounting policies and procedures. The formal document requests state that the SEC investigation is a non-public, fact-finding inquiry, and that the investigations, on June 15, 2005, we received a subpoena from the SEC seeking certain additional documents that relate to some of the areas of inquiry identified above. The subpoena is consistent with investigations of this type and was anticipated. On January 8, 2007, we received a second subpoena seeking additional documents relating to the areas of inquiry identified above. We continue to fully cooperate with the SEC.

Universal Delaware, Inc. v. Ceridian Corporation and Comdata Corporation, Civil Action No. 07-1078-JKG (E.D. Pa.)

In March and April 2007, six representatives of owner-operated independent truck stops located in several states filed nearly identical complaints in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania against Ceridian and its wholly-owned subsidiary Comdata, alleging anticompetitive conduct with respect to trucker fleet card and point-of-sale systems businesses in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act, Sections 1 and 2. The plaintiffs seek class certification for the period March 2003 to the present for their claims and those of other owner-operated independent truck stops that would be part of the putative class. Excluded from the plaintiffs proposed class definition are the truck stops owned or operated by the following chains: (1) Flying J Inc., (2) Love s Travel Stops & Country Stores, Inc., (3) Petro Stopping Centers, LP, (4) Pilot Travel Centers LLC, (5) and TravelCenters of America LLC. Plaintiffs have not yet moved for class certification. Plaintiffs also seek (1) damages for the alleged overcharges paid by them and other members of the proposed class, trebled (2) pre- and post-judgment interest on the amount of those alleged damages, (3) unspecified injunctive relief, and (4) the costs of suit, including attorney s fees. We believe these claims are without merit and we intend to vigorously defend our positions in these actions. Pursuant to a tolling agreement, plaintiffs have agreed to voluntarily dismiss Ceridian from the litigation without prejudice, subject to their limited right at a later date to seek leave of court to rejoin Ceridian as a defendant.

Merger with Affiliate of Thomas H. Lee Partners and Fidelity National Financial, Inc.

Upon the announcement of the Merger involving Ceridian and affiliates of THL Partners and FNF, two suits pertaining to the pending Merger were filed against Ceridian and/or its Board of Directors.

On June 4, 2007, the Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association filed a purported class action complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery, Civil Action No. 2996-CC, against Ceridian, our directors, THL Partners, FNF, Parent and Merger Sub challenging the proposed transaction as inadequate and unfair to Ceridian s public stockholders. The complaint alleged that the directors breached their fiduciary duties and that THL Partners, FNF, Parent and Merger Sub aided and abetted the alleged breaches of fiduciary duty in entering into the Merger Agreement. The complaint sought, among other relief, class certification of the lawsuit, declaratory relief, an injunction against the proposed transaction, compensatory damages to the putative class, and an award of attorneys fees and expenses to plaintiff. On June 6, 2007, plaintiff moved for a preliminary injunction and expedited trial with respect to certain provisions of the Merger Agreement, including Section 7.1(j) thereof, which provided that buyers could terminate the Merger Agreement if a majority of the board s nominees were not elected at the annual meeting. On June 11, 2007, plaintiff filed a petition pursuant to Section 211 of the Delaware General Corporation Law seeking an order requiring Ceridian to hold an annual meeting of its shareholders following the adjudication of the validity of Section 7.1(j). The Court of Chancery scheduled the requested trial on the Section 211 claim and the validity of Section 7.1(j) of the Merger Agreement to take place simultaneously on August 1-2, 2007. The parties engaged in extensive expedited discovery of parties and third parties.

On June 26, 2007, plaintiff filed an amended complaint, expanding on the existing allegations, adding disclosure claims, and challenging the provision of the confidentiality agreements signed by potential bidders that precluded requesting a waiver of the standstill provisions. At the request of plaintiff, the Court scheduled a preliminary injunction hearing regarding the challenged standstill provisions and certain deal protections in the Merger Agreement to take place on August 3, 2007, immediately after the already scheduled August trial.

On July 12, 2007, the parties advised the Delaware Court of Chancery that they had reached a partial settlement of the actions. The parties agreed to settlement terms which included, among other things, (1) the entry of an order providing that the annual meeting of Ceridian stockholders would be held on September 12, 2007 at which meeting stockholders would be permitted to vote with respect to the election of directors and the Merger; (2) Ceridian eliminating the provision of the confidentiality agreements entered into with the third parties during the strategic alternatives process prohibiting the third parties from requesting that Ceridian amend or waive any part of the standstill provision of the confidentiality agreement; (3) amending the Merger Agreement to eliminate a provision permitting buyers to terminate the Merger Agreement upon an election of a new board of directors comprised of a majority of directors not nominated by the current board; and (4) amending the Merger Agreement to change the definition of superior proposal thereunder, decreasing the trigger from 66 2/3% to 40% of Ceridian s assets or stock. THL Partners and FNF and one other signatory requested and received waivers of the standstill provision.

In connection with the proposed settlement, the Court entered an order directing that the annual meeting would be held on September 12, 2007 at which meeting stockholders would be permitted to vote with respect to the election of directors and the Merger. The settlement was subject to Court approval. Plaintiff s counsel reported to the Court that the plaintiff had shared the terms of the proposed settlement with Pershing Square Capital Management, L.P. (Pershing Square) and Pershing Square provided input regarding the terms of the settlement. Plaintiff further reported to the Court that Pershing Square had advised plaintiff s counsel that it would not oppose the motion seeking approval of the settlement. As part of the settlement, the plaintiff reserved the right to assert certain claims relating to the termination fees, claims arising from conduct after July 11, 2007 and any disclosure issues that plaintiff raised with defendants no less than five days before Ceridian s definitive proxy statement was filed with the SEC which the parties were unable to resolve in good faith. Plaintiff s counsel submitted extensive comments regarding proposed additional and amended disclosures prior to the filing of this proxy statement, which Ceridian considered and responded to in preparing the proxy statement. There were no

disclosure issues raised by plaintiff in this process which the parties were not able to resolve in good faith. Upon final approval of the settlement and consummation of the Merger, it was agreed that the pending actions would be dismissed with prejudice.

On June 20, 2007, Patrick Sullivan brought a putative class action lawsuit in Minnesota state court, Case No. 27-CV-07-12994, against Ceridian s president and chief executive officer and members of its Board of Directors, along with THL Partners and FNF. The complaint alleges, among other things, breach of fiduciary duties by the individual defendants in connection with Ceridian s entry into the Merger Agreement. The complaint also alleges that THL Partners and FNF aided and abetted the alleged breaches. Among other things, the complaint challenges the Merger consideration offered to Ceridian shareholders as inadequate and challenges Section 7.1(j) of the Merger Agreement. The plaintiff seeks class certification and requests, among other things, an order enjoining consummation of the Merger. Plaintiff also seeks costs and disbursements of the action, including attorneys fees.

On August 2, 2007, the parties reached an agreement to settle the case. The terms of the settlement include an agreement by the Company to make certain additional disclosures, which were included in the Company s definitive proxy statement distributed to stockholders in connection with the Merger. The terms of the settlement also include, among other things, (i) an agreement by the plaintiff that the action will be stayed pending court approval of the proposed settlement of the actions brought in the Delaware Court of Chancery by the Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association; and (ii) dismissal with prejudice of the action upon court approval of the settlement of the Delaware litigation. Defendants also agreed not to object to a request by Minnesota plaintiff s counsel to the Minnesota court for attorneys fees in an amount not to exceed \$250,000 and agreed to pay costs of notice. Following the Delaware court s order finally approving the settlement of the Delaware litigation, plaintiff s counsel in this Minnesota litigation are preparing a stipulation of dismissal to be submitted following a motion for an award of attorneys fees.

Additional Matters

In addition to those described above, we are subject to claims and a number of judicial and administrative proceedings considered normal in the course of our current and past operations, including employment-related disputes, contract disputes, intellectual property disputes, government audits and proceedings, customer disputes, and tort claims. In some proceedings, the claimant seeks damages as well as other relief, which, if granted, would require substantial expenditures on our part. Although occasional adverse decisions (or settlements) may occur, it is management s opinion that the final disposition of these proceedings will not, considering the merits of the claims and available reserves and insurance and based upon the facts and circumstances currently known, have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

17. SEGMENT DATA

We operate in the information services industry principally in the U.S., Canada and United Kingdom, and provide products and services primarily to the human resource, transportation and retail services markets. Our businesses collect, manage and analyze data and process transactions on behalf of customers, report information resulting from such activities to customers, and provide customers with related products, software applications and services. Our technology-based products and services of these businesses are typically provided through long-term customer relationships that result in a high level of recurring revenue. Our HRS, SVS and Comdata business segments are distinguished primarily by reference to the markets served and the nature of the services provided.

Until December 2007, we had only two business segments, HRS and Comdata. Based on the guidance of SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, we concluded that due to modifications to our management reporting and changes in organizational alignment, two business segments exist within our former Comdata business segment. As a result, two new business segments are being reported, SVS and Comdata, that replace the former Comdata business segment.

HRS offers a broad range of services and software designed to help employers more effectively manage their work forces and information that is integral to human resource processes. These activities are conducted primarily in the U.S. and, to a lesser extent, through subsidiaries located in Canada and the United Kingdom.

SVS sells stored value cards and provides card-based services primarily to retailers in the form of gift cards, credits for product returns and retail promotions.

Comdata provides transaction processing, financial services and regulatory compliance services primarily to transportation industries.

Further information about our business segments is presented in the section of Note 2, Accounting Policies entitled Revenue Recognition.

The Other reporting element includes the unallocated amounts related to our corporate center operations. The assets of corporate center operations include cash and equivalents, trademark as well as deferred income tax and pension-related assets and liabilities. Expenses incurred by corporate center operations are charged or allocated to the business segments.

We measure business segment results by reference to earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) because interest income and interest expense are not allocated to our segments. Revenue from sales between business segments is not material and is eliminated upon consolidation.

	HRS	SVS	Comdata	Other	Total
Period from November 10 to December 31, 2007					
Revenue	\$ 175.6	\$ 15.2	\$ 46.2	\$	\$ 237.0
EBIT	27.9	(2.9)	2.7		27.7
Total assets before customer funds	3,057.6	482.0	2,168.7	406.7	6,115.0
Customer funds	3,816.7		35.1		3,851.8
Total assets at December 31, 2007	6,874.3	482.0	2,203.8	406.7	9,966.8
Depreciation and amortization	11.8	0.9	12.5	0.2	25.4
Expended for property, plant and equipment	3.2	0.2	0.5		3.9
Expended for technology	\$ 3.8	\$ 0.3	\$ 0.1	\$	\$ 4.2
Period from January 1 to November 9, 2007					
Revenue	\$ 956.9	\$ 162.0	\$ 289.0	\$	\$ 1,407.9
EBIT	\$ 956.9	\$ 162.0	\$ 289.0 105.0	\$	\$ 1,407.9 155.6
Total assets before customer funds	1,107.7	203.7	826.6	371.9	2,509.9
Customer funds	2,913.1	203.7	26.7	5/1.9	2,309.9
Customer runds	2,915.1		20.7		2,939.8
Total assets at November 9, 2007	4,020.8	203.7	853.3	371.9	5,449.7
Depreciation and amortization	4,020.8	9.2	10.5	0.3	74.0
Expended for property, plant and equipment	21.6	9.2 3.4	8.1	0.3	33.2
Expended for technology	\$ 13.2	\$ 0.9	\$ 6.7	\$	\$ 20.8
Expended for technology	φ 15.2	φ 0.7	φ 0.7	ψ	\$ 20.0
Year Ended December 31, 2006					
Revenue	\$ 1,099.8	\$ 153.8	\$ 311.5	\$	\$ 1,565.1
EBIT	98.2	15.8	137.8		251.8
Total assets before customer funds	1,240.4	231.9	700.3	168.4	2,341.0
Customer funds	4,570.9		22.5		4,593.4
Total assets at December 31,2007	5,811.3	231.9	722.8	168.4	6,934.4
Depreciation and amortization	68.1	7.9	9.9	1.0	86.9
Expended for property, plant and equipment	21.3	2.5	6.3	0.2	30.3
Expended for technology	\$ 15.8	\$ 1.3	\$ 4.7	\$ 0.9	\$ 22.7
Year Ended December 31, 2005					
Revenue	\$ 1.050.1	\$ 125.8	\$ 283.1	\$	\$ 1,459.0
EBIT	44.6	18.0	108.9	Ψ	171.5
Total assets before customer funds	1,253.9	160.7	635.2	262.4	2,312.2
Customer funds	4,322.2		19.0		4,341.2
	-,		-, 10		.,
Total assets at December 31.2007	5.576.1	160.7	654.2	262.4	6,653,4
	5,570.1	100.7	001.2	202.4	0,000.4

Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Depreciation and amortization	68.6	6.2	9.6	0.9	85.3
Expended for property, plant and equipment	23.5	2.2	5.1	0.6	31.4
Expended for technology	\$ 27.9	\$ 0.1	\$ 4.8	\$	\$ 32.8

	S	uccessor	Predecessor Period From				
Goodwill, net of amortization	Nov	riod From ember 10 to nber 31, 2007	Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007		ar ended ber 31, 2006		
HRS							
At beginning of period	\$		\$817.1	\$	814.5		
Acquisitions in the current period		2,278.4			5.5		
Translation and other adjustments		(39.8)	31.3		(2.9)		
At end of period	\$	2,238.6	\$ 848.4	\$	817.1		
Tax-deductible goodwill at end of period	\$	81.1	\$ 242.7	\$	222.2		
SVS							
At beginning of period	\$		\$ 64.2	\$	50.7		
Acquisitions in the current period		346.4			13.5		
Translation and other adjustments			(5.0)				
At end of period	\$	346.4	\$ 59.2	\$	64.2		
Tax-deductible goodwill at end of period	\$	12.5	\$ 13.5	\$	13.5		
Comdata							
At beginning of period	\$		\$ 71.3	\$	71.3		
Acquisitions in the current period		919.7	3.5				
Translation and other adjustments			4.7				
At end of period	\$	919.7	\$ 79.5	\$	71.3		
Tax-deductible goodwill at end of period	\$	11.6	\$ 25.9	\$	22.4		
Total goodwill							
At beginning of period	\$		\$ 952.6	\$	936.5		
Acquisitions in the current period		3,544.5	3.5		19.0		
Translation and other adjustments		(39.8)	31.0		(2.9)		
At end of period	\$	3,504.7	\$ 987.1	\$	952.6		
Tax-deductible goodwill at end of period	\$	105.2	\$ 282.1	\$	258.1		
Revenue by product and services are as follows:							

	Suc	cessor		Predecessor		
	Novem	Period From November 10 to December 31, 2007		Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007		ended 1ber 31 2005
HRS						
Payroll and Tax Services	\$	134.9	\$	711.8	\$ 790.4	\$ 739.8
Benefit Services		20.9		119.5	154.0	151.1
Lifeworks		19.8		125.6	155.4	159.2
Total HRS revenue		175.6		956.9	1,099.8	1,050.1

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

SVS	15.2	162.0	153.8	125.8
Comdata	46.2	289.0	311.5	283.1
Total Revenue	\$ 237.0	\$ 1,407.9	\$ 1,565.1	\$ 1,459.0

Our operations are conducted primarily in the U.S. and revenue from sales between U.S. and non-U.S. entities is not material. Operations in Canada and the United Kingdom relate almost entirely to the HRS segment. Geographic data for or at the end of each of the last three years, presented below, is determined by reference to the location of operation. No single customer accounted for 10% or more of our consolidated revenue for any of the periods presented.

Revenue by geographic area is as follows:

	Sue	ccessor			
	Noven	od From nber 10 to oer 31, 2007	Period From January 1 to November 9, 2007		ended 1ber 31 2005
Revenue					
U.S	\$	186.4	\$ 1,149.2	\$ 1,287.7	\$ 1,208.7
Canada		36.5	174.5	182.6	158.1
United Kingdom		14.1	84.2	94.8	92.2
Total revenue	\$	237.0	\$ 1,407.9	\$ 1,565.1	\$ 1,459.0

Reconciliation of EBIT to earnings (loss) before income taxes:

	Peri	ccessor od From nber 10 to	P Period From January 1 to		s ended mber 31
	Decem	ber 31, 2007	November 9, 2007	2006	2005
EBIT					
HRS	\$	27.9	\$ 39.3	\$ 98.2	\$ 44.6
SVS		(2.9)	11.3	15.8	18.0
Comdata		2.7	105.0	137.8	108.9
Total EBIT	\$	27.7	\$ 155.6	\$ 251.8	\$ 171.5
Interest income (expense), net (not allocated to business segments)		(46.9)	12.7	7.5	2.3
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	\$	(19.2)	\$ 168.3	\$ 259.3	\$ 173.8

Property, plant and equipment by geographic area are as follows:

	Successor As o	Successor Predec As of December 3	
	2007	2006	2005
Property, plant and equipment			
U.S.	\$ 64.2	\$ 93.3	\$106.6
Canada	12.6	10.3	8.4
United Kingdom	7.7	6.7	6.5
Total property, plant and equipment	\$ 84.5	\$110.3	\$ 121.5

18. SUPPLEMENTARY QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

		Predecessor							
	Successor		20	07			20	06	
	November 10	October 1							
	to	То	Third	Second	First	Fourth	Third	Second	First
	December 31	November 9	Quarter	Quarter	Quarter	Quarter	Quarter	Quarter	Quarter
Revenue	\$ 237.0	\$182.0	\$ 412.4	\$ 407.7	\$ 405.8	\$404.0	\$ 386.5	\$ 388.9	\$ 385.7
Costs and Expenses (1)									
Cost of revenue	128.2	105.6	232.8	226.8	216.8	218.2	213.6	213.1	207.5
S, G & A	70.8	102.5	112.1	116.4	120.2	103.7	112.8	108.6	115.0
R & D	4.0	6.2	7.3	6.5	6.7	6.2	7.7	6.7	8.0
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments	(0.1)	0.3		0.1	1.6	0.3	(0.7)	2.2	0.9
Other (income) expense, net	6.4	(1.4)	(3.1)	(3.8)	(1.3)	(0.8)	(5.6)	(2.5)	(1.6)
Interest income	(3.4)	(2.7)	(5.9)	(5.0)	(4.4)	(3.0)	(2.4)	(4.0)	(4.1)
Interest expense	50.3	0.8	1.4	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.7	1.3
Total costs and expenses	256.2	211.3	344.6	342.6	341.1	326.1	326.9	325.8	327.0
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	(19.2)	(29.3)	67.8	65.1	64.7	77.9	59.6	63.1	58.7
Income tax provision (benefit)	(6.8)	0.9	26.8	20.5	24.6	28.3	14.0	20.9	22.5
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (12.4)	\$ (30.2)	\$ 41.0	\$ 44.6	\$ 40.1	\$ 49.6	\$ 45.6	\$ 42.2	\$ 36.2

(1) Certain out-of-period adjustments were identified during each quarter of 2007 and 2006 that relate to prior periods. Upon identification of these out-of-period adjustments, we analyzed their effect and concluded that individually and in the aggregate, they were not significant enough to warrant a restatement of our quarterly results.

19. SUPPLEMENTAL GUARANTOR CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On November 9, 2007, the Company issued \$825.0 in principal amount of $11^{1}/4\%$ Senior Notes due 2015 and \$475.0 in principal amount of $12^{1}/4\%/13\%$ Senior Toggle Notes due 2015. In connection with these issuances, all of its domestic subsidiaries have guaranteed such debt (the Subsidiary Guarantors) on a joint and several, full and unconditional basis. No foreign subsidiaries (the Non Guarantor Subsidiaries) have guaranteed such debt.

The following tables present the condensed consolidating balance sheets of the Company (Parent), the Subsidiary Guarantors and the Non Guarantor Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 and the condensed consolidating statements of operations and cash flows for the 2007 Successor Period, the 2007 Predecessor Period and the years ending December 31, 2006 and 2005.

Consolidating Balance Sheet Successor

December 31, 2007

	Pa	arent	lbsidiary Iarantors	Guarantor sidiaries	Elin	ninations	Cor	solidated
ASSETS								
Current assets								
Cash and equivalents	\$	49.0	\$ 26.2	\$ 23.4	\$		\$	98.6
Trade and other receivables, net		38.7	666.2	30.4		68.5		803.8
Prepaids		20.0	31.0	9.1				60.1
Other current assets		(13.5)	22.6	2.9				12.0
Total current assets		94.2	746.0	65.8		68.5		974.5
Property, plant and equipment, net		21.5	42.5	20.5				84.5
Goodwill	1	,204.6	1,664.1	636.0				3,504.7
Other intangible assets, net		596.2	708.9	139.7				1,444.8
Deferred financing fees		62.7		2.6				65.3
Other noncurrent assets		551.5	291.0	128.1		(929.4)		41.2
Total assets before customer funds	2	,530.7	3,452.5	992.7		(860.9)		6,115.0
Customer funds	2	,518.6	124.9	1,208.3				3,851.8
Total assets	\$5	,049.3	\$ 3,577.4	\$ 2,201.0	\$	(860.9)	\$	9,966.8
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY								
Current liabilities								
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term obligations	\$	1.9	\$	\$ 0.7	\$		\$	2.6
Accounts payable		57.5	(53.1)	25.6		68.5		98.5
Drafts and settlements payable			233.7					233.7
Customer advances		0.9	36.9					37.8
Accrued interest		32.8						32.8
Deferred revenue		15.6	38.7	(1.0)				53.3
Deferred income taxes		(20.5)	34.9					14.4
Accrued taxes		1.5	0.3	9.3				11.1
Employee compensation and benefits		41.9	12.3	22.8				77.0
Other accrued expenses		39.3	37.6	7.2				84.1
Total current liabilities		170.9	341.3	64.6		68.5		645.3
Long-term obligations, less current portion	3	,422.1	01110	110.0		0012		3,532.1
Deferred income taxes		58.9	229.3	39.5				327.7
Employee benefit plans		81.3		2.7				84.0
Other noncurrent liabilities	1	,030.9	(157.4)	111.4		(929.4)		55.5
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations	4	,764.1	413.2	328.2		(860.9)		4,644.6
Customer funds obligations	2	,506.2	124.3	1,204.3				3,834.8
Total liabilities	7	,270.3	537.5	1,532.5		(860.9)		8,479.4
Stockholders equity								
Common stock								
Additional paid-in capital		.,049.1)	2,909.7	683.9				1,544.5
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)		(167.4)	136.9	18.1				(12.4)
Treasury common stock								
Accumulated other comprehensive income		(4.5)	(6.7)	(33.5)				(44.7)

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Total stockholders equity	(2,221.0)	3,039.9	668.5		1,487.4
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 5,049.3	\$ 3,577.4	\$ 2,201.0	\$ (860.9)	\$ 9,966.8

Consolidating Balance Sheet Predecessor

December 31, 2006

	Parent	lbsidiary Iarantors		Guarantor osidiaries	Elin	ninations	Сог	nsolidated
ASSETS								
Current assets								
Cash and equivalents	\$ 138.7	\$ 137.9	\$	18.1	\$		\$	294.7
Trade and other receivables, net	90.9	578.1		24.8		(11.6)		682.2
Prepaids	30.5	64.3		17.8				112.6
Other current assets	(5.0)	23.6		0.1				18.7
Total current assets	255.1	803.9		60.8		(11.6)		1,108.2
Property, plant and equipment, net	34.1	59.1		17.1				110.3
Goodwill	608.4	180.9		163.3				952.6
Other intangible assets, net	43.1	57.7		5.2				106.0
Deferred financing fees	0.7							0.7
Other noncurrent assets	260.9	378.6		15.9		(592.2)		63.2
Total assets before customer funds	1,202.3	1,480.2		262.3		(603.8)		2,341.0
Customer funds	3,493.1	108.4		991.9		(*****)		4,593.4
Total assets	\$ 4,695.4	\$ 1,588.6	\$	1,254.2	\$	(603.8)	\$	6,934.4
LIADH PHES AND STOCKHOLDEDS FOURTV								
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Current liabilities			¢	10.0	<i>•</i>		<i>•</i>	
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term obligations	\$ 4.3	\$ 50 5	\$	12.3	\$	(11.5)	\$	16.6
Accounts payable	25.5	59.5		20.2		(11.6)		93.6
Drafts and settlements payable		269.2						269.2
Customer advances	0.7	32.4						33.1
Accrued interest		0.4						0.4
Deferred revenue	36.4	106.0		20.2				162.6
Accrued taxes	(19.3)	21.9		6.3				8.9
Employee compensation and benefits	41.3	11.2		20.3				72.8
Other accrued expenses	29.8	31.6		2.9				64.3
Total current liabilities	118.7	532.2		82.2		(11.6)		721.5
Long-term obligations, less current portion	1.9	82.0						83.9
Deferred income taxes	(19.4)	19.4		27.7				27.7
Employee benefit plans	90.2			13.1				103.3
Other noncurrent liabilities	698.5	(77.2)		0.8		(592.2)		29.9
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations	889.9	556.4		123.8		(603.8)		966.3
Customer funds obligations	3,506.3	108.2		982.4				4,596.9
Total liabilities	4,396.2	664.6		1,106.2		(603.8)		5,563.2
Stockholders equity								
Common stock	1.5							1.5
Additional paid-in capital	107.6	744.9		71.5				924.0
Retained earnings	658.7	177.5		30.8				867.0
Treasury common stock	(260.8)							(260.8)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	(207.8)	1.6		45.7				(160.5)
Total stockholders equity	299.2	924.0		148.0				1,371.2
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 4,695.4	\$ 1,588.6	\$	1,254.2	\$	(603.8)	\$	6,934.4

Consolidating Statement of Operations Successor

Period from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Guarantors Subsidiaries		Con	solidated
Revenue	\$ 81.2	\$ 105.6	\$ 50.2	\$	\$	237.0
Costs and expenses						
Cost of revenue	40.6	61.3	26.3			128.2
Selling, general & administrative	24.4	29.6	16.8			70.8
Research & development	1.8	2.0	0.2			4.0
Loss on derivative instruments		(0.1)				(0.1)
Other (income) expense, net	0.1	(0.1)	6.4			6.4
Interest income	0.2	(3.4)	(0.2))		(3.4)
Interest expense	48.9	0.1	1.3			50.3
Earnings (loss) before taxes	(34.8)	16.2	(0.6))		(19.2)
Income tax provision (benefit)	(11.9)	5.8	(0.7))		(6.8)
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.9)	\$ 10.4	\$ 0.1	\$	\$	(12.4)

Consolidating Statement of Operations Predecessor

Period from January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue	\$ 430.9	712.5	\$ 264.5	\$	\$ 1,407.9
Costs and expenses					
Cost of revenue	274.8	375.9	131.3		782.0
Selling, general & administrative	212.6	142.7	96.0		451.3
Research & development	11.5	8.2	7.0		26.7
Loss on derivative instruments		2.0			2.0
Other (income) expense, net	(8.3)	(1.4)			(9.7)
Interest income	7.0	(23.9)	(1.1)		(18.0)
Interest expense	(0.3)	5.0	0.6		5.3
Earnings (loss) before taxes	(66.4)	204.0	30.7		168.3
Income tax provision (benefit)	(17.3)	77.5	12.6		72.8
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (49.1)	\$ 126.5	\$ 18.1	\$	\$ 95.5

Consolidating Statement of Operations Predecessor

Year ended December 31, 2006

	Parent	Guarantors		 Guarantor sidiaries	Eliminations	Co	nsolidated
Revenue	\$ 515.2	\$	765.6	\$ 284.3	\$	\$	1,565.1
Costs and expenses							
Cost of revenue	340.8		377.2	134.4			852.4
Selling, general & administrative	216.8		123.2	100.1			440.1
Research & development	8.9		13.4	6.3			28.6
Loss on derivative instruments			2.7				2.7
Other (income) expense, net	(1.6)		(8.0)	(0.9)			(10.5)
Interest income	14.6		(27.1)	(1.0)			(13.5)
Interest expense	(5.0)		8.5	2.5			6.0
Earnings (loss) before taxes	(59.3)		275.7	42.9			259.3
Income tax provision (benefit)	(24.6)		98.2	12.1			85.7
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (34.7)	\$	177.5	\$ 30.8	\$	\$	173.6

Consolidating Statement of Operations Predecessor

Year ended December 31, 2005

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenue	\$ 529.9	\$ 671.6	\$ 257.5	\$	\$ 1,459.0
Costs and expenses					
Cost of revenue	325.1	340.3	127.8		793.2
Selling, general & administrative	220.8	133.6	95.1		449.5
Research & development	12.8	11.7	4.2		28.7
Loss on derivative instruments	2.3	9.3			11.6
Other (income) expense, net	4.0	0.3	0.2		4.5
Interest income	13.3	(19.3)	(1.8)		(7.8)
Interest expense	(6.7)	11.8	0.4		5.5
Earnings (loss) before taxes	(41.7)	183.9	31.6		173.8
Income tax provision (benefit)	(35.5)	68.5	12.9		45.9
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (6.2)	\$ 115.4	\$ 18.7	\$	\$ 127.9

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Successor

Period from November 10, 2007 to December 31, 2007

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities					
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.8)	\$ 10.3	\$ 0.1	\$	\$ (12.4)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to					
net cash provided by operating activities:					
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	(17.5)	(3.6)	(3.1)		(24.2)
Depreciation and amortization	7.2	13.6	4.6		25.4
Provision for doubtful accounts	(0.2)	1.0	0.2		1.0
Net periodic pension costs	(1.2)				(1.2)
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments		(0.6)			(0.6)
Stock-based compensation	0.3				0.3
Foreign currency remeasurement loss			6.6		6.6
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Trade and other receivables	(26.8)	29.9	(3.9)		(0.8)
Accounts payable	(18.1)	(34.5)	5.9		(46.7)
Drafts and settlements payable		(77.3)			(77.3)
Deferred revenue	72.1	(10.3)	(22.1)		39.7
Employee compensation and benefits	35.0	0.5	(10.9)		24.6
Accrued taxes	14.0	0.7	(0.9)		13.8
Other current assets and liabilities	(50.6)	30.1	21.6		1.1
Net cash provided by (used for) operating					
activities	(8.6)	(40.2)	(1.9)		(50.7)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities					
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(2.0)	0.2	(2.1)		(3.9)
Expended for software and development costs	1.3	(3.4)	(2.1)		(4.2)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets		3.3			3.3
Net cash provided by (used for) investing					
activities	(0.7)	0.1	(4.2)		(4.8)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities					
Repayment of other debt and long-term					
obligations	(1.7)				(1.7)
Change in intercompany debt	4.4	(8.2)	3.8		
Acquisition of Ceridian Corporation	(5,305.3)				(5,305.3)
Proceeds from debt issuance	3,550.0				3,550.0
Stock issuance	1,600.0				1,600.0
Payment of debt issuance costs	(84.8)				(84.8)
Payment of equity issuance costs	(60.3)				(60.3)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities	(297.7)	(8.2)	3.8		(302.1)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash			(1.0)		(1.0)
Net Cash Flows (Used) Provided	(307.0)	(48.3)	(3.3)		(358.6)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	356.0	74.5	26.7		457.2
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 49.0	\$ 26.2	\$ 23.4	\$	\$ 98.6

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Predecessor

Period from January 1, 2007 to November 9, 2007

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Con	solidated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities						
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (49.1)	\$ 126.5	\$ 18.1		\$	95.5
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash						
provided by operating activities:						
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	35.4	(1.5)	(0.2)			33.7
Depreciation and amortization	23.8	40.8	9.4			74.0
Provision for doubtful accounts	(0.6)	3.1	0.3			2.8
Net periodic pension costs	9.0		(0.2)			8.8
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments		1.0				1.0
Gain on sale of marketable securities and other assets	(8.2)	(1.0)				(9.2)
Stock-based compensation	23.7	15.2	6.1			45.0
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	(30.7)					(30.7)
Asset abandonments		0.3				0.3
Other	1.9	1.8	(1.2)			2.5
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:						
Trade and other receivables	29.2	(119.0)	5.3			(84.5)
Accounts payable	25.1	24.2	1.2			50.5
Drafts and settlements payable		41.8				41.8
Deferred revenue	10.7	(5.0)	16.0			21.7
Employee compensation and benefits	(30.4)	0.5	11.8			(18.1)
Accrued taxes	(1.0)	(1.1)	(3.7)			(5.8)
Other current assets and liabilities	3.1	(8.5)	(15.5)			(20.9)
		. ,	, í			
Net cash provided by operating activities	41.9	119.1	47.4			208.4
Cash Flows from Investing Activities	41.9	117.1				200.4
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(8.1)	(13.9)	(11.2)			(33.2)
Expended for property, plant and equipment Expended for software and development costs	(10.4)	(8.6)	(11.2)			(20.8)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	14.2	0.9	(0.8)			14.3
Expended for acquisitions of investments and	14.2	0.9	(0.8)			14.5
businesses, less cash acquired		(0,7)	(0,7)			(10.4)
businesses, less casil acquired		(9.7)	(0.7)			(10.4)
Net cash used for investing activities	(4.3)	(31.3)	(14.5)			(50.1)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities						
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net		(82.0)	(12.0)			(94.0)
Repayment of other debt and long-term obligations	(8.8)		(0.3)			(9.1)
Change in internal debt	82.4	(69.1)	(13.3)			
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	30.7					30.7
Proceeds from stock option exercises and stock sales	75.4					75.4
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities	179.7	(151.1)	(25.6)			3.0
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash			1.2			1.2
5 5						
Net Cash Flows (Used) Provided	217.3	(63.3)	8.5			162.5
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	138.7	137.8	18.2			294.7
cush and equivalents at beginning of period	130.7	137.0	10.2			2) 1 .1
	¢ 256.0	ф 74 с	¢ 07.7	¢	¢	457.0
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 356.0	\$ 74.5	\$ 26.7	\$	\$	457.2

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Predecessor

Year ended December 31, 2006

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities					
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (34.7)	\$ 177.5	\$ 30.8	\$	\$ 173.6
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net					
cash provided by operating activities:					
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	22.6	6.2	(3.5)		25.3
Depreciation and amortization	53.8	24.0	9.1		86.9
Provision for doubtful accounts	1.3	3.3	0.7		5.3
Net periodic pension costs	6.3		0.4		6.7
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments		(0.2)			(0.2)
Gain on sale of marketable securities and other					
assets	(2.3)	(7.0)			(9.3)
Stock-based compensation	15.0	4.1	1.9		21.0
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	(22.1)				(22.1)
Asset abandonments	0.3				0.3
Other	1.4	0.2	0.2		1.8
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Trade and other receivables	2.7	(112.8)	(3.2)		(113.3)
Accounts payable	(6.9)	2.4	1.9		(2.6)
Drafts and settlements payable		36.5			36.5
Deferred revenue	14.8	31.1	8.4		54.3
Employee compensation and benefits	(8.7)	0.4	4.2		(4.1)
Accrued taxes	(3.4)	6.8	0.2		3.6
Contribution to retirement plan trust	(75.0)				(75.0)
Other current assets and liabilities	6.2	(29.2)	(4.0)		(27.0)
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities	(28.7)	143.3	47.1		161.7
Cash Flows from Investing Activities	(2017)	1.0.0	.,,,		10117
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(11.8)	(9.8)	(8.7)		(30.3)
Expended for software and development costs	(11.6)	(9.6)	(1.5)		(22.7)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	7.5	12.5	(110)		20.0
Expended for acquisitions of investments and	1.5	12.5			20.0
businesses, less cash acquired	(7.8)	(33.3)			(41.1)
businesses, iess cash acquired	(7.0)	(55.5)			(11.1)
	(00.7)	(40.2)	(10.2)		(74.1)
Net cash used for investing activities	(23.7)	(40.2)	(10.2)		(74.1)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities	(5.0)	27.0	(20.5)		(7.5)
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net	(5.0)	27.0	(29.5)		(7.5)
Repayment of other debt and long-term obligations	(5.8)	(1500)	(4.1)		(5.8)
Change in internal debt	160.9	(156.8)	(4.1)		(21(0)
Repurchase of common stock	(316.8)				(316.8)
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	22.1				22.1
Proceeds from stock option exercises and stock	150.0				150.0
sales	150.8				150.8
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities	6.2	(129.8)	(33.6)		(157.2)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash			1.4		1.4
Net Cash Flows (Used) Provided	(46.2)	(26.7)	4.7		(68.2)
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	184.9	164.5	13.5		362.9

Edgar Filing: Al	3R Informati	on Se	ervices,	Inc Fo	rm S-4		
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 138.7	\$	137.8	\$	18.2	\$ \$	294.7

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows Predecessor

Year ended December 31, 2005

	Parent	Subsidiary Guarantors	Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Eliminations	Consolidated
Cash Flows from Operating Activities					
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (6.2)	\$ 115.4	\$ 18.7	\$	\$ 127.9
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net					
cash provided by operating activities:					
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	(11.6)	(1.2)	1.4		(11.4)
Depreciation and amortization	57.4	18.9	9.0		85.3
Provision for doubtful accounts	1.2	8.8	1.2		11.2
Net periodic pension costs	10.7		0.9		11.6
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments		1.1			1.1
Gain on sale of marketable securities and other					
assets	(4.3)				(4.3)
Stock-based compensation	2.5	0.0			2.5
Asset abandonments	8.2	0.9	0.0		9.1
Other	2.4	2.6	0.3		5.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:	(1.0)	(0.0.5)			07.0
Trade and other receivables	(1.0)	(82.5)	(2.1)		(85.6)
Accounts payable	8.9	10.7	0.7		20.3
Drafts and settlements payable	• •	79.3			79.3
Deferred revenue	3.8	14.0	1.6		19.4
Employee compensation and benefits	8.8	0.7	0.6		10.1
Accrued taxes	3.6	4.5	5.1		13.2
Other current assets and liabilities	(2.1)	7.3	(0.9)		4.3
Net cash provided by operating activities	82.3	180.5	36.5		299.3
Cash Flows from Investing Activities					
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(21.3)	(2.1)	(8.0)		(31.4)
Expended for software and development costs	(19.9)	(10.7)	(2.2)		(32.8)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	2.6	28.9			31.5
Expended for acquisitions of investments and					
businesses, less cash acquired	(0.4)	(9.9)	(0.1)		(10.4)
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities	(39.0)	6.2	(10.3)		(43.1)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities					
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net	(0.7)	(20.2)	32.4		11.5
Repayment of other debt and long-term obligations	(11.2)				(11.2)
Change in internal debt	220.3	(102.9)	(117.4)		
Repurchase of common stock	(222.3)				(222.3)
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation					
Proceeds from stock option exercises and stock					
sales	92.2				92.2
Net cash provided by (used for) financing					
activities	78.3	(123.1)	(85.0)		(129.8)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash			2.2		2.2
Net Cash Flows (Used) Provided	121.6	63.6	(56.6)		128.6
Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	63.3	100.9	70.1		234.3
equi vacino ar cognining or period	55.5	100.9	/ 0.1		23 1.3

Edgar Filing: AB	3R Informati	on S	ervices,	lnc Fo	orm S-4		
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 184.9	\$	164.5	\$	13.5	\$ \$	362.9

20. Subsequent Events

Legal Proceedings

Flying J, Inc., et al. v. TA Operating Corporation now known as TA Operating LLC d/b/a TravelCenters of America LLC; Pilot Travel Centers LLC; Pilot Corporation; and Comdata Network, Inc., United States District Court for the District of Utah, Central Division, Case No. 1:06CV00030

In January 2008, Flying J filed a motion seeking to add Comdata as a defendant to the action it originally filed against TravelCenters of American (TA) and Pilot. In March, that motion was granted and the new complaint was filed on March 18, 2008. Defendants have sixty days to answer the complaint. Flying J alleges that Comdata, TA and Pilot engaged in an unlawful boycott against Flying J in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act. Flying J further alleges that the alleged boycott amounts to a conspiracy and that the alleged conspiracy violates Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Flying J makes similar state claims under the laws of Utah and further alleges civil conspiracy and tortious interference. As to Comdata only, Flying J makes allegations of unlawful monopolization and unlawful attempts to monopolize. Flying J seeks injunctive relief as well as an unspecified amount of damages, prejudgment interest and costs of litigation, including attorney fees. We currently believe these claims have no merit and intend to defend ourself vigorously.

Merger with Affiliate of Thomas H. Lee Partners and Fidelity National Financial, Inc.

As noted in the Note 16, Legal Matters, on June 4, 2007, the Minneapolis Firefighters Relief Association filed a purported class action complaint in the Delaware Court of Chancery, Civil Action No. 2996-CC, against the predecessor company, our directors, THL Partners, FNF, Parent and Merger Sub challenging the proposed transaction as inadequate and unfair to predecessor company s public stockholders.

Following notice to the class and a hearing, an amended settlement was approved by the court on February 25, 2008. The Court s order included dismissal of the Delaware litigation with prejudice and the release of a broad set of claims against the defendants by the entire plaintiff class of the predecessor company stockholders, including the named plaintiff in this action. Barring any appeals, the Court of Chancery s order finally approving the settlement will become non-appealable 30 days after the order s date. In connection with the settlement during the first quarter of 2008, the parties reached an agreement on an award of attorneys fees and expenses to plaintiff s counsel, in the amount of \$5.1, as set forth in a proposed stipulated order filed with the Court on March 19, 2008.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions)

		Predecessor onths Ended rch 31
	2008	2007
Revenue	\$ 406.5	\$ 405.8
Costs and Expenses		
Cost of revenue	224.0	216.8
Selling, general and administrative	125.0	120.2
Research and development	7.2	6.7
Loss on derivative instruments		1.6
Other (income) expense, net	3.2	(1.3)
Interest income	(2.0)	(4.4)
Interest expense	78.3	1.5
Total costs and expenses	435.7	341.1
Earnings (loss) before income taxes	(29.2)	64.7
Income tax provision (benefit)	(7.1)	24.6
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.1)	\$ 40.1

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions)

	March 31, 2008	December 31, 2007
ASSETS		
Current assets		
Cash and equivalents	\$ 150.7	\$ 98.6
Trade and other receivables, less reserves and allowance for doubtful accounts of \$12.5 and \$12.3	858.9	803.8
Prepaids	81.1	60.1
Other current assets	11.1	12.0
Total current assets	1,101.8	974.5
Property, plant and equipment, net	86.0	84.5
Goodwill	3,489.5	3,504.7
Other intangible assets, net	1,412.5	1,444.8
Deferred financing fees, net	64.5	65.3
Other noncurrent assets	43.9	41.2
Total assets before customer funds	6,198.2	6,115.0
Customer funds	4,246.9	3,851.8
Total assets	\$ 10,445.1	\$ 9,966.8
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY Current liabilities		
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term obligations	\$ 7.0	\$ 2.6
Accounts payable	114.7	98.5
Drafts and settlements payable	303.3	233.7
Customer advances	42.8	37.8
Accrued interest	67.8	32.8
Deferred revenue	75.0	53.3
Deferred income taxes	6.1	14.4
Accrued taxes	9.0	11.1
Employee compensation and benefits	66.0	77.0
Other accrued expenses	90.5	84.1
Total current liabilities	782.2	645.3
Long-term obligations, less current portion	3,527.0	3,532.1
Deferred income taxes	328.0	327.7
Employee benefit plans	80.9	84.0
Other noncurrent liabilities	56.3	55.5
Total liabilities before customer funds obligations	4,774.4	4,644.6
Customer funds obligations	4,196.6	3,834.8

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Total liabilities	8,971.0	8,479.4
Stockholders equity		
Common stock, \$.01 par, authorized 100,000 shares, issued 50,000 shares		
Paid-in capital	1,546.5	1,544.5
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)	(34.5)	(12.4)
Accumulated other comprehensive income	(37.9)	(44.7)
Total stockholders equity	1,474.1	1,487.4
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$ 10,445.1	\$ 9,966.8

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CERIDIAN CORPORATION

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions)

		Predecessor onths Ended rch 31
	2008	2007
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.1)	\$ 40.1
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)	(15.4)	1.3
Depreciation and amortization	44.5	21.8
Amortization of debt issuance costs	1.7	
Provision for doubtful accounts	2.4	0.8
Net periodic pension and postretirement cost (benefit)	(1.2)	0.6
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivative instruments	(0.4)	1.5
Gain on sale of marketable securities		(1.2)
Stock-based compensation	0.5	5.2
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation		(9.8)
Foreign currency remeasurement loss	3.2	
Other	0.5	0.2
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of changes related to acquisitions:		
Trade and other receivables	(59.8)	(29.5)
Accounts payable	13.0	(8.2)
Drafts and settlements payable	69.6	28.9
Deferred revenue	25.2	1.1
Employee compensation and benefits	(11.6)	(3.3)
Accrued taxes	(2.6)	15.4
Other current assets and liabilities	19.4	(6.7)
Net cash provided by operating activities	66.9	58.2
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Expended for property, plant and equipment	(4.4)	(10.9)
Expended for technology	(8.1)	(10.9)
Proceeds from sales of businesses and assets	0.1	2.1
Expended for acquisitions of businesses and assets, less cash acquired	(0.5)	(9.9)
Expended for dequisitions of businesses and assess, loss easil acquired	(0.5)	(5.5)
Net cash used for investing activities	(12.9)	(23.9)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Revolving credit facilities and overdrafts, net		(7.3)
Repayment of other debt and long-term obligations	(2.9)	
Tax benefits from stock-based compensation	(2.9)	(2.7) 9.8
Proceeds from stock issuance	1.5	9.8
	1.3	48.5
Proceeds from stock option issuance		48.3

Edgar Filing: ABR Information Services, Inc. - Form S-4

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities	(1.4)	48.3
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH	(0.5)	
NET CASH FLOWS PROVIDED Cash and equivalents at beginning of period	52.1 98.6	82.6 294.7
Cash and equivalents at end of period	\$ 150.7	\$ 377.3

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Ceridian Corporation

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Ceridian Holding Corp.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

March 31, 2008

(Unaudited)

(Dollars in millions)

1. Organization

On November 9, 2007, Foundation Holdings, Inc. and Foundation Merger Sub Inc., affiliates of the Sponsors, completed the Merger. Upon the consummation of the Merger, Ceridian Corporation merged with and into Foundation Merger Sub Inc. and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Foundation Holdings, Inc. (Foundation Holdings), a company whose common stock is owned by Ceridian Intermediate Corp (Ceridian Intermediate Corp (Ceridian Intermediate common stock is owned by Ceridian Holding). The Sponsors and their co-investors, including certain members of management, acquired 13% cumulative preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate (19% of the combined equity value) and common stock of Ceridian Holding (81% of the combined equity value). The preferred stock of Ceridian Intermediate will be senior to the common stock of Ceridian Holding in terms of dividends and upon liquidation.

Although Ceridian Corporation (also referred to in this report as the Company, we, our and us) continued as the same legal entity after the Merger, the application of push down accounting represents the termination of the old accounting entity and the creation of a new one. As a result, the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and cash flows are presented for two periods: Predecessor and Successor, which related to the period preceding the Merger and the period succeeding the Merger, respectively.

Ceridian Corporation is an information services company principally in the human resource, transportation and retail markets. We are comprised of three business segments: Human Resource Solutions (HRS), Stored Value Solutions (SVS) and Comdata (Comdata). The HRS segment enables customers to outsource a broad range of employment processes, such as payroll, tax filing, human resource information systems, employee self-service, time and labor management, benefits administration, employee assistance and work-life programs, recruitment and applicant screening, and post-employment health insurance portability compliance. We have HRS operations primarily in the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom. The SVS business segment sells stored value cards and provides card-based services primarily to retailers in the form of gift cards, credits for product returns and retail promotions. The Comdata business segment provides transaction processing, financial services and regulatory compliance services primarily to transportation industries. SVS and Comdata s operations are located primarily in the United States. Our businesses are more fully described in Note 17, Segment Data of our Annual Financial Information report, for the year ended December 31, 2007 (the 2007 Annual Financial Report).

2. Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Commission s regulations for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and notes required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements.

The accounting policies we follow are set forth in Note 2, Accounting Policies , in the 2007 Annual Financial Report. The following notes should be read in conjunction with such policies and other disclosures in the 2007 Annual Financial Report. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

In the opinion of management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements contained herein reflect all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, except as set forth in these notes to consolidated financial statements) necessary to present fairly our financial position as of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 (Successor) and 2007 (Predecessor) and our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2008 (Successor) and 2007 (Predecessor).

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and our reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates that could significantly affect our results of operations or financial condition involve the assignment of fair values to goodwill and other intangible assets and testing for impairment, the capitalization, amortization and impairment testing of technology, the valuation of certain customer fund investments and noncurrent assets, the determination of our liability for pensions and postretirement benefits, costs associated with restructuring operations, the determination of fair value and estimated expected life related to stock options granted, and the resolution of tax matters and contingencies. Further discussion on these estimates can be found in related disclosures elsewhere in this report and in our 2007 Annual Financial Report.

Changes in Presentation

We have reclassified certain prior period amounts to conform to the current period s presentation. For the quarter ended March 31, 2007, we decreased selling, general and administration expense by \$2.7, increased cost of revenue by \$2.5 and increased research and development by \$0.2. These reclassifications were made to properly classify compensation related expenses to the appropriate consolidated statement of operations line item.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability, and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy. On February 2, 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 157-2 which delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for one year for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities except those that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). SFAS No. 157 and FSP No. FAS 157-2 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company has elected a partial deferral of SFAS No. 157 under the provisions of FSP No. FAS 157-2 related to the measurement of fair value used when evaluating goodwill, other intangible assets and other long-lived assets for impairment and valuing asset retirement obligations and liabilities for exit or disposal activities. The impact of partially adopting SFAS No. 157 did not have a material effect on the results of our operations or financial position. For the portion of SFAS No. 157 that will become effective January 1, 2009, we are currently evaluating the impact on our non-financial assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. SFAS No. 159 allows entities to choose, at specified election dates, to measure eligible financial assets and liabilities at fair value in situations in which they are not otherwise required to be measured at fair value. If a company elects the fair value option for an eligible item, changes in that item s fair value in subsequent reporting periods must be recognized in current period earnings. SFAS No. 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to draw comparison between entities that elect different

measurement attributes for similar assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company did not elect the fair value option for any of its existing financial assets and liabilities.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. SFAS No. 160 amends Accounting Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 51 and establishes standards of accounting and reporting on noncontrolling interests in consolidated statements, provides guidance on accounting for changes in the parent s ownership interest in a subsidiary, and establishes standards of accounting of the deconsolidation of a subsidiary due to the loss of control. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and is not expected to have an effect on the results of operations or financial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), Business Combinations. The objective of this statement is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a business combination and its effects. To accomplish that, this statement establishes principles and requirements for how the acquirer: recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree; recognizes and measures the goodwill acquired in the business combination or a gain from a bargain purchase; and determines what information to disclose to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which amends and expands the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, to provide an enhanced understanding of an entity s use of derivative instruments, how they are accounted for under SFAS No. 133 and their effect on the entity s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 and we are currently evaluating the impact of this new standard.

3. Merger

On November 9, 2007, the Sponsors completed the Merger for \$5,305.3 which was financed through a combination of borrowings under the Company s senior secured credit facilities, issuance of senior unsecured notes, available cash from the Ceridian Corporation and an equity contribution from the Sponsors. See Note 8 for discussion of our indebtedness.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations as if the Merger occurred on January 1, 2007, after including certain pro forma adjustments for interest expense, depreciation and amortization, Sponsor fees, deferred revenue and deferred costs, and related income taxes. The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the combined results of operations had the Merger occurred at that date or the results of operations that may be obtained in the future.

	Pro Forma	
	Three Months Ended March 31, 2007	
Revenues	\$ 398.3	
Net loss	\$ (26.1)	
4. Investing Activity		

Fuel Price Derivative Instruments

In the first quarter of 2008, we did not enter into any fuel price derivative instruments. In February, 2007, we entered into fuel derivative instruments covering approximately 30% of our diesel fuel price risk for 2007

which expired on December 31, 2007. These diesel fuel price derivative instruments were not accounted for as hedges under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The activity related to diesel fuel derivative instruments for three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 was as follows:

	Successor	Pred	ecessor	
		Three Months Ended March 31		
	2008	2	007	
Payments to counterparties	\$ 0.4	\$	0.1	
Unrealized (gain) loss	(0.4)		1.5	
Loss on derivative instruments	\$	\$	1.6	

Our diesel fuel price derivative instruments are carried at fair market value. We reported no asset or liability as of March 31, 2008 and reported a liability of \$0.4 at December 31, 2007.

Publicly-Held Investment

As of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, we held Asure Software Inc. securities. These securities are a publicly-held investment that are accounted for under SFAS No. 115, Accounting for certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities and are treated as an available for sale investment. The carrying value of these securities is adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the current market price. The amount of this change is reported as unrealized gain or loss from marketable securities in accumulated other comprehensive income.

The cost and fair values of available for sale securities at March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 were as follows:

	March 31, 2008	December 31 2007		
Cost	\$ 1.4	\$	1.4	
Gross unrealized loss	(0.9)		(0.6)	
Fair value	\$ 0.5	\$	0.8	

Acquisitions and Divestitures of Businesses

Successor

In the first three months of 2008, our HRS business acquired customer contracts for \$0.5. The final purchase price is subject to adjustment for one year from the acquisition date, up to a maximum of \$0.8 based on actual customer conversions.

In the first three months 2007, our Comdata business acquired a provider of paperless fuel tax services designed to streamline fuel tax management and reporting processes. The cost of this stock purchase acquisition was \$10.0, with additional purchase price obligations of up to \$6.0 depending on the performance of the business. As a result of purchase accounting related to the Merger, the additional purchase price obligation of \$6.0 was recorded as a current liability for the expected payment to the seller.

5. Customer Funds

In connection with our U.S. and Canadian payroll and tax filing services, we collect funds for payment of payroll and taxes; temporarily hold such funds in trust until payment is due; remit the funds to the clients employees and appropriate tax jurisdictions; file federal, state and local tax returns; and handle related regulatory correspondence and amendments. In connection with our HRS benefits services operation, we receive funds on behalf of our customers for remittances to employees, insurance providers and others. Comdata also holds non-interest bearing funds in

Table of Contents

a trust for certain of its customers.

We invest the U.S. customer funds primarily in high quality collateralized short-term investments or money market mutual funds. We may also invest these funds in U.S. Treasury and Agency securities, AAA rated asset-backed securities and corporate securities rated A3/A- or better. Our Canadian trust funds are substantially invested in certain debt securities issued by the government and provinces of Canada, highly rated Canadian banks and corporations, asset-backed trusts and mortgages.

Investment income from invested customer funds constitutes a component of our compensation for providing services under agreements with our customers. Investment income from invested customer funds included in revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 amounted to \$38.1 and \$42.5, respectively. Investment income includes realized gains and losses from sales of customer fund investments.

The amortized cost and fair value of available for sale investments of customer funds at March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Investments of Customer Funds at March 31, 2008

	Amortized		J nrealized	Fair
	Cost	Gain	Loss	Value
Money market securities and other cash equivalents	\$ 2,484.7	\$	\$	\$ 2,484.7
Available for sale investments:				
U.S. government and agency securities	814.4	22.9	(0.1)	837.2
Canadian and provincial government securities	388.2	13.4		401.6
Corporate debt securities	325.7	4.7	(0.3)	330.1
Asset-backed securities	160.2	1.5		161.7
Mortgage-backed and other securities	11.0	0.1		11.1
Total available for sale investments	1,699.5	42.6	(0.4)	1,741.7
Invested customer funds	4,184.2	\$42.6	\$ (0.4)	4,226.4
Trust receivables	20.5			20.5
Total customer funds	\$ 4,204.7			\$ 4,246.9

Investments of Customer Funds at December 31, 2007

	Amortized		Amortized Gross Unrealized	
	Cost	Gain	Loss	Value
Money market securities and other cash equivalents	\$ 2,061.4	\$	\$	\$ 2,061.4
Available for sale investments:				
U.S. government and agency securities	875.0	7.6	(0.2)	882.4
Canadian and provincial government securities	400.7	1.8		402.5
Corporate debt securities	336.7	0.5	(0.4)	336.8
Asset-backed securities	144.3		(0.4)	143.9
Mortgage-backed and other securities	13.0			13.0
Total available for sale investments	1,769.7	9.9	(1.0)	1,778.6
Invested customer funds	3,831.1	\$ 9.9	\$ (1.0)	3,840.0
Trust receivables	11.8			11.8
Total customer funds	\$ 3,842.9			\$ 3,851.8

The following represents the gross unrealized losses and the related fair value of the investments of customer funds available for sale, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at March 31, 2008.

	12 months or Less than 12 months more T			Tot	al	
	Unrealized Losses		Unrealized Losses		Unrealized Losses	Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities	\$ (0.1)	\$ 21.6	\$	\$	\$ (0.1)	\$ 21.6
Corporate debt securities	(0.3)	8.3			(0.3)	8.3
Total available for sale investments	\$ (0.4)	\$ 29.9	\$	\$	\$ (0.4)	\$ 29.9

Management does not believe any individual unrealized losses as of March 31, 2008 represent an other-than-temporary impairment. The unrealized losses are primarily attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit deterioration. We currently have both the intent and ability to hold the securities for the time necessary to recover the amortized cost.

The amortized cost and fair value of investment securities available for sale at March 31, 2008, by contractual maturity are shown below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Investments of Customer Funds by Maturity Date at March 31, 2008

	Amortized Cost	Fair Value
Due in one year or less	\$ 2,833.5	\$ 2,836.5
Due in one to three years	636.5	652.4
Due in three to five years	413.7	425.5
Due after five years	300.5	312.0
Invested customer funds	\$ 4,184.2	\$ 4,226.4

Discussion of the fair value measurement of invested customer funds is contained in Note 11, Fair Value Measurements.

6. Restructuring and Other Charges

In connection with the Merger, we identified costs that we expect to incur associated with implementing our operating improvement plan. The costs of this restructuring plan are reflected in the purchase price of the Merger in accordance with FASB Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 95-3, *Recognition of Liabilities in Connection with a Purchase Business Combination*. As of the Merger date, the operating improvement plan had not been finalized and therefore, the liability established is subject to change once the plan is finalized and the actual costs incurred. Changes to these estimates could increase or decrease the amount of the purchase price allocated to goodwill. The following table summarizes the activity related to the restructuring reserve.

	Employee	Other Costs	Total
	Cost	Costs	Total
Balance as of December 31, 2007	\$ 22.0	\$ 3.1	\$ 25.1
Adjustment to the restructuring reserve recorded in connection with the Merger	3.5		3.5
Restructuring and other integration charges incurred			
Paid year to date	(0.5)		(0.5)

Balance as of March 31, 2008

\$ 25.0 \$ 3.1 \$ 28.1

The total restructuring reserve balance of \$28.1 primarily relates to our HRS business segment. Of the total, \$27.4 relates to our HRS business segment, \$0.3 relates to our SVS business segment and \$0.4 relates to our Comdata business segment.

7. Capital Assets

	arch 31, 2008	Dec	ember 31, 2007
Property, Plant and Equipment			
Land	\$ 7.5	\$	7.5
Machinery and equipment (accumulated depreciation of \$6.4 and \$5.0)	58.7		55.3
Buildings and improvements (accumulated depreciation of \$1.7 and \$0.3)	27.9		27.0
Total property, plant and equipment	94.1		89.8
Accumulated depreciation	(8.1)		(5.3)
Property, plant and equipment, net	\$ 86.0	\$	84.5
Other Intangible Assets			
Customer lists and relationships (accumulated amortization of \$22.0 and \$8.5)	\$ 731.0	\$	738.0
Trademarks, non-amortized	300.0		300.0
Technology (accumulated amortization of \$32.1 and \$11.5)	432.3		422.9
Non-compete agreements (accumulated amortization of \$0.7 and \$0.1)	4.0		4.0
Total other intangible assets	1,467.3		1,464.9
Accumulated amortization	(54.8)		(20.1)
Other intangible assets, net	\$ 1,412.5	\$	1,444.8
Goodwill			
Balance at December 31, 2007	\$ 3,504.7		
Merger related	2.9		
Acquisitions			
Translation and other adjustments	(18.1)		
Balance at March 31, 2008	\$ 3,489.5		

8. Debt

Debt and Capital Lease Obligations	March 31, 2008	December 31, 2007
Senior secured credit facility, interest rate of 6.0% at March 31, 2008 and 8.2% at December 31, 2007	\$ 2,250.0	\$ 2,250.0
Senior notes maturing on November 15, 2009, interest rate of 11 ¹ /4% on \$825.0 and 12 ¹ /4% on \$475.0	1,300.0	1,300.0
Ceridian revolving credit facility		
Ceridian U.K. overdraft facility		
Total revolving credit facilities and overdrafts	3,550.0	3,550.0
Capital lease obligations	1.4	2.6
Total debt and capital lease obligations	3,551.4	3,552.6
Less unamortized discount on senior notes	17.4	17.9

Table of Contents

Edgar Filing: ABR Information	Services, Inc Form S-4
-------------------------------	------------------------

Less short-term debt and current portions of long-term debt and capital lease obligations	7.0	2.6
Long-term obligations, less current portions	\$ 3,527.0	\$ 3,532.1

With the exception of the matter discussed below, we were in compliance with the covenants under the senior secured credit facility and the indenture governing the senior notes. The delivery of the Company s 2007 Annual Financial Report was not provided within 90 days of the end of the fiscal year, the time required by the credit agreement and indenture. We obtained a waiver with respect to the deliver of the 2007 Annual Financial Report from our lenders under the credit agreement, and delivered the 2007 Annual Financial Report on April 28, 2008, thus curing the non-compliance.

9. Equity and Stock-Based Compensation

Successor

In the first quarter of 2008, \$1.2 of Ceridian Holding common stock and \$0.3 of Ceridian Intermediate preferred stock was issued to certain employees of Ceridian Corporation and the \$1.5 of gross proceeds was contributed to Ceridian Corporation.

We participate in a stock-based compensation plan for directors, employees and consultants of the Company under the Ceridian Holding 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (2007 SIP). We recognized \$0.5 in stock-based compensation related to the 2007 SIP in the first quarter of 2008. There were no stock option grants in the first quarter of 2008 and as of March 31, 2008, there were 3,329,729 shares available for future grants under the 2007 SIP.

Predecessor

In the first quarter of 2007, we issued 2,820,900 shares of Predecessor Ceridian Corporation stock in connection with the exercise of stock options, vesting of restricted stock units and granting of restricted stock awards from treasury stock at a cost of \$66.5 and weighted average price of \$23.56 per common share.

As a result of the Merger, all stock options, restricted stock units, and restricted stock awards outstanding at November 9, 2007 became fully vested and paid out. There are no shares remaining available for future grants related to the Predecessor plans. Stock-based compensation expense was \$5.2 for the three months ended March 31, 2007. In the first quarter of 2007, we made stock option grants of 796,871 shares, restricted stock unit grants of 524,067 shares and restricted stock award grants of 24,318 shares.

10. Retirement Plans

The components of net periodic cost for our defined benefit pension plans and for our postretirement benefit plans are included in the following tables.

	Successor Three Mon Marc	
	2008	2007
Net Periodic Pension Cost (Benefit)		
Service cost	\$	\$ 0.8
Interest cost	8.7	10.0
Expected return on plan assets	(10.8)	(13.6)
Net amortization and deferral		4.0
Net periodic pension cost (benefit)	(2.1)	1.2
Settlements		2.0
Total pension cost (benefit)	\$ (2.1)	\$ 3.2
Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost		
Service cost	\$	\$
Interest cost	0.9	0.8
Actuarial loss amortization		

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost	\$ 0.9	\$ 0.8

The \$2.0 pension settlement in the first quarter of 2007 related to lump sum payments to plan participants in exchange for their rights to receive specified pension benefits. The settlement of pension obligations is recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 88, Employers Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits.

11. Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 clarifies the principle that fair value should be based on the assumptions market participants would use when pricing an asset or liability, and establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the information used to develop those assumptions. Under the standard, fair value measurements would be separately disclosed by level within the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value framework requires the categorization of assets and liabilities into three levels based upon the assumptions (inputs) used to price the assets or liabilities. Level 1 provides the most reliable measure of fair value, whereas Level 3 generally requires significant management judgment. The three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than those included in Level 1. For example, quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in inactive markets.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting management s own assumptions about the inputs used in pricing the asset or liability. As of March 31, 2008, the fair values of our financial assets are categorized as follows:

	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Assets				
Available-for-sale securities	\$ 0.5	\$ 0.5(a)	\$	\$
Invested customer fund assets	4,226.4	4,194.3(a)		32.1(b)
Total assets at fair value	\$ 4,226.9	\$ 4,194.8	\$	\$ 32.1

(a) Based on the quoted market price of the securities.

(b) Based on an internal valuation of the investment.

The Level 3 customer fund asset represents Ceridian Canada s investment in CDN \$39.0 (\$37.9) of third-party- or non-bank-sponsored asset backed commercial paper (ABCP) in its customer funds investment portfolio. The Canadian market for third-party-sponsored ABCP suffered a liquidity disruption in mid-August 2007, following which a group of financial institutions and other parties agreed, pursuant to the Montreal Accord (the Accord), to a standstill period with respect to the ABCP sold by twenty-three conduit issuers. A Pan-Canadian Investors Committee (Investors Committee) was subsequently established to oversee the orderly restructuring of these instruments during this standstill period.

In the absence of an active market for third-party-sponsored ABCP, Ceridian has estimated the fair value of these assets using an internally developed valuation model. The model includes several key assumptions such as: the successful completion of the restructuring, the timing of the return of principle, the discount rate, the type of restructured notes received, and the percentage of asset recovery.

Our estimate of the fair value of the ABCP investments at March 31, 2008 is subject to significant uncertainty, especially with regards to critical assumptions underlying our valuation model. The eventual resolution of these uncertainties could be such that the ultimate fair value of these investments may vary significantly from management s current best estimate.

The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of assets classified as Level 3 measurements and identifies the net loss we recognized during the first quarter of 2008 on such assets that were included in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2008:

	 stomer d Assets
Balance as of January 1, 2008	\$ 34.6
Total gains (losses):	
Included in net loss	(1.5)
Included in other comprehensive income	(1.0)
Purchases, issuances and settlements	
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3	
Balance as of March 31, 2008	\$ 32.1
Total loss for the three months ended March 31, 2008 included in net loss related to assets still held as of	
March 31, 2008	\$ (1.5)

Gains and losses recognized for the customer fund asset valued using Level 3 measurements are reported in revenue as part of interest income on customer funds.

12. Supplementary Data to Statements of Operations

	Successor	Prede	ecessor	
		Three Months Ended March 31		
	2008	20	007	
Other (Income) Expense, Net				
Foreign currency loss	\$ 3.3	\$	0.1	
Asset write-downs			0.1	
Gain on sale of assets	(0.1)			
Gain on sale of marketable securities			(1.2)	
Other income			(0.3)	
Total	\$ 3.2	\$	(1.3)	

Successor

Foreign currency remeasurement

To facilitate the Merger, we placed \$110.0 of U.S. dollar denominated debt in Ceridian Canada which will be repaid through payments from a legal entity with a functional currency in Canadian dollars. We incurred a \$3.2 foreign currency remeasurement loss related to the item in the first quarter of 2008.

Predecessor

Gain on sale of marketable securities

The gain on marketable securities for the three months ended March 31, 2007 relates to a \$1.2 gain on the Ultimate Software Group, Inc. stock sales.

13. Comprehensive Income

	Successor Predecessor Three Months Ended March 31	
	2008	2007
Net earnings (loss)	\$ (22.1)	\$ 40.1
Items of other comprehensive income before income taxes:		
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment	(14.8)	2.5
Change in unrealized gain (loss) from marketable securities	(0.3)	0.6
Change in unrealized gain from invested customer funds	33.4	1.5
Change in pension liability adjustment		2.0
Less realized gain on marketable securities		(1.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before income taxes	18.3	5.4
Income tax impact, net	(11.5)	(1.2)
Other comprehensive income after income taxes	6.8	4.2
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$ (15.3)	\$ 44.3

14. Income Taxes

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an amendment of FASB Statement 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the application of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, by establishing a threshold condition that a tax position must meet for any part of the benefit of that position to be recognized in the financial statements. In addition to recognition, FIN 48 provides guidance concerning measurement, derecognition, classification, and disclosure of income tax positions. We adopted the standard in the first quarter of 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognized no adjustment in the liability for unrecognized income tax benefits. We are continuing to follow our practice of classifying our interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of our income tax provision.

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2007 was \$3.4 including \$0.3 of accrued interest, respectively. Of the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits, \$2.8 represents the amount that, if recognized, would favorably impact our effective income tax rate. It is expected that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next 12 months; however, we can not reasonably estimate the amount of the change. We do not expect the change to have a significant impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and foreign jurisdictions. With a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to U. S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by ta